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PARTI

Item 1. Business

We were incorporated as a Delaware corporation in 1994. Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are made available free of
charge through our website, located at http://www.davita.com, as soon as reasonably practicable afler the reports are filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The SEC also maintains a website at hitp.//www.sec.gov where these reports and other information
about us can be obtained. The contents of our website are not incorporated by reference into this report.

Overview of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

The Company consists primarily of two major lines of business, dialysis and related lab services and HealthCare Partners (HCP). The largest line of
business is our U.S. dialysis and related lab services business, which is a leading provider of kidney dialysis services in the U.S. for patients suffering from
chronic kidncy failure, also known as cnd stage rcnal discase (ESRD). Our other major line of business is HCP, which is a paticnt- and physician-focuscd
intcgratcd health carc delivery and management company with nearly three decadcs of providing coordinated, outcomes-based medical carc in a cost-cffective
manner. The Company also opcrates various other ancillary scrvices and stratcgic initiatives, which includes our intcrnational dialysis operations.

For financial information about our reportable segments please read “Note 25—Segment Reporting” to the consolidated financial statements included in

this report.

U.S. dialysis and related lab services business
Our U.S. dialysis and related lab services business is a leading provider of kidney dialysis services for patients suffering from chronic kidney failure
or ESRD. As of December 31, 2013, we provided dialysis and administrative services in the U.S. through a network of 2,074 outpatient dialysis centers in 45
states and the District of Columbia, serving a total of approximately 163,000 patients. We also provide acute inpatient dialysis services in approximately 1,000
hospitals and related laboratory services throughout the U.S. Our U.S. dialysis and related lab services business accounted for approximately 66% of our
2013 consolidated net revenues. All references in this document to dialysis and related lab services refer only to our U.S. dia]ysis and related lab services
business.

HealthCare Partners business

HCP is a patient- and physician-focused integrated health care delivery and management company with nearly threc decades of experience providing
coordinated, outcomes-based medical care in a cost-effective manner. Through capitation contracts with some of the nation’s leading health plans, as of
December 31, 2013, HCP had approximately 764,000 members under its care in southern California, central and south Florida, southern Nevada, central
New Mcxico and central Arizona. Of these, approximately 265,000 individuals were patients enrolled in Medicarc Advantage. The remaining approximatcly
499,000 individuals were managed care members whose health coverage is provided through their employer or who have individually acquired health coverage
directly from a health plan or as a result of their eligibility for Medicaid benefits. In addition to its managed care business, during the year ended December 31,
2013, HCP provided care in all markets, except Arizona, to over 472,000 patients whose health coverage is structured on a fee-for-service (FFS) basis,
including patients enrolled through traditional Medicare and Medicaid programs, preferred provider organizations and other third-party payors.
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The patients of HCP’s associated physicians, physician groups and independent practice associations (IPAs) benefit from an integrated approach to
medical care that places the physician at the center of patient care. As of December 31, 2013, HCP delivered services to its members via a network of over
3,000 associated group and other network primary care physicians, 204 network hospitals, and several thousand associated group and network specialists.
Together with hundreds of case managers, registered nurses and other care coordinators, these medical professionals utilize a comprehensive information
technology system, sophisticated risk management techniques and clinical protocols to provide high-quality, cost-effective care to HCP’s members.

Ancillary services and strategic initiatives businesses
As of December 31, 2013, our ancillary services and strategic initiatives consisted primarily of pharmacy services, disease management services,
vascular access services, ESRD clinical research, physician services, direct primary care and our international dialysis operations. Our ancillary services and
strategic initiatives, including our international operations accounted for approximately 7% of our consolidated net revenues for the year ended December 31,
2013, and relate primarily to our core business of providing kidney care services.

The dialysis and related lab services business

Industry overview
The loss of kidney function is normally irreversible. Kidney failure is typically caused by Type I and Type II diabetes, high blood pressure, polycystic
kidncy discasc, long-term autoimmune attack on the kidney and prolonged urinary tract obstruction. ESRD is the stage of advanced kidncy impairment that
requires continued dialysis treatments or a kidney transplant to sustain life. Dialysis is the removal of toxins, fluids and salt from the blood of patients by
artificial means. Patients suffering from ESRD generally require dialysis at least three times a week for the rest of their lives.

According to United Statcs Renal Data System, there were approximatcly 430,000 ESRD dialysis patients in thc U.S. in 2011 and the undcrlying ESRD
dialysis patient population has grown at an approximate compound rate of 4.0% from 2000 to 2011, the latest period for which such data is available. The
growth rate is attributable to the aging of the population, increased incidence rates for diseases that cause kidney failure such as diabetes and hypertension,
lower mortality rates for dialysis patients and growth rates of minority populations with higher than average incidence rates of ESRD.

Since 1972, the federal government has provided health care coverage for ESRD patients under the Medicare ESRD program regardless of age or
financial circumstances. ESRD is the first and only disease state eligible for Medicare coverage both for dialysis and dialysis-related services and for all
benefits available under the Medicare program. For patients with Medicare coverage, all ESRD payments for dialysis treatments are made under a single
bundled payment rate. See page 5 for further details.

Although Medicare reimbursement limits the allowable charge per treatment, it provides industry participants with a relatively predictable and recurring
revenue stream for dialysis services provided to patients without commercial insurance. For the year ended December 31, 2013, approximately 90% of our total
dialysis patients were covered under some form of government-based programs, with approximately 79% of our dialysis patients covered under Medicare and

Medicare-assigned plans.

Treatment options for ESRD
Treatment options for ESRD are dialysis and kidney transplantation.
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Dialysis options
*  Hemodialysis
Hemodialysis, the most common form of ESRD treatment, is usually performed at a freestanding outpatient dialysis center, at a hospital-based
outpatient center, or at the patient’s home. The hemodialysis machine uses an artificial kidney, called a dialyzer, to remove toxins, fluids and salt from the
patient’s blood. The dialysis process occurs across a semi-permeable membrane that divides the dialyzer into two distinct chambers. While blood is circulated
through one chamber, a pre-mixed fluid is circulated through the other chamber. The toxins, salt and excess fluids from the blood cross the membrane into the
fluid, allowing cleansed blood to return back into the patient’s body. Each hemodialysis treatment that occurs in the outpatient dialysis centers typically lasts
approximately three and one-half hours and is usually performed three times per week.

Hospital inpatient hemodialysis services are required for patients with acute kidney failure primarily resulting from trauma, patients in early stages of
ESRD and ESRD patients who require hospitalization for other reasons. Hospital inpatient hemodialysis is generally performed at the patient’s bedside or in a
dedicated treatment room in the hospital, as needed.

Some ESRD patients who are healthier and more independent may perform home-based hemodialysis in their home or residence through the use of a
hemodialysis machine designed specifically for home therapy that is portable, smaller and easier to use. Patients receive training, support and monitoring from
registered nurses, usually in our outpatient dialysis centers, in connection with their dialysis treatment. Home-based hemodialysis is typically performed with
greater frequency than dialysis treatments performed in outpatient dialysis centers and on varying schedules.

»  Peritoneal dialysis

Peritoneal dialysis uses the patient’s peritoneal or abdominal cavity to eliminate fluid and toxins and is typically performed at home. The most common
methods of peritoneal dialysis are continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD), and continuous cycling peritoneal dialysis (CCPD). Because it does not
involve going to an outpatient dialysis center three times a week for treatment, peritoneal dialysis is an alternative to hemodialysis for patients who are
healthier, more independent and desire more flexibility in their lifestyle. However, peritoneal dialysis is not a suitable method of treatment for many patients,
including patients who are unable to perform the necessary procedures and those at greater risk of peritoneal infection.

CAPD introduces dialysis solution into the patient’s peritoneal cavity through a surgically placed catheter. Toxins in the blood continuously cross the
peritoneal membrane into the dialysis solution. After several hours, the patient drains the used dialysis solution and replaces it with fresh solution. This
procedure is usually repeated four times per day.

CCPD is performed in a manner similar to CAPD, but uses a mechanical device to cycle dialysis solution through the patient’s peritoneal cavity while
the paticnt is slecping or at rest.

»  Kidney transplantation

Although kidney transplantation, when successful, is generally the most desirable form of therapeutic intervention, the shortage of suitable donors, side
effects of immunosuppressive pharmaceuticals given to transplant recipients and dangers associated with transplant surgery for some patient populations limit
the use of this treatment option.

Dialysis and related lab services we provide

Outpatient hemodialysis services
As of December 31, 2013, we operated or provided administrative services through a network of 2,074 outpatient dialysis centers in the U.S. that are
designed specifically for outpatient hemodialysis. In 2013, our
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overall network of U.S. outpatient dialysis centers increased by 120 primarily as a result of acquisitions and the opening of new dialysis centers, net of center
closurcs and divestitures, representing a total increase of approximatcly 6.1% from 2012,

As a condition of our enrollment in Medicare for the provision of dialysis services, we contract with a nephrologist or a group of associated
nephrologists to provide medical director services at each of our dialysis centers. In addition, other nephrologists may apply for practice privileges to treat their
patients at our centers. Each center has an administrator, typically a registered nurse, who supervises the day-to-day operations of the center and its staff. The
staff of each center typically consists of registered nurses, licensed practical or vocational nurses, patient care technicians, a social worker, a registered
dietician, biomedical technician support and other administrative and support personnel.

Under Medicare regulations, we cannot promote, develop or maintain any kind of contractual relationship with our patients that would directly or
indirectly obligate a patient to use or continue to use our dialysis services, or that would give us any preferential rights other than those related to collecting
payments for our dialysis services. Our total patient tumover which is based upon all causes averaged approximately 26% in 2013 and 30% in 2012.
However, in 2013, the overall number of patients to whom we provided services in the U.S. increased by approximately 6% from 2012, primarily from the
opening of new dialysis centers and acquisitions, continued growth within the industry and lower mortality rates.

Hospital inpatient hemodialysis services
As of December 31, 2013, we provided hospital inpatient hemodialysis services, excluding physician services, to patients in approximately 1,000
hospitals throughout thc U.S. We render these scrvices bascd on a contracted per-trcatment fee that is individually negotiated with cach hospital. When a
hospital requests our services, we typically administer the dialysis treatment at the patient’s bedside or in a dedicated treatment room in the hospital, as needed.
In 2013, hospital inpatient hemodialysis services accounted for approximately 4.5% of our total U.S. dialysis treatments.

Home-based hemodialysis services
Many of our outpatient dialysis centers offer certain support services for dialysis patients who prefer and are able to perform either home-based
hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis in their homes. Home-bascd hemodialysis support services consist of providing cquipment and supplies, training, patient
monitoring, on-call support services and follow-up assistance. Registered nurses train patients and their families or other earegivers to perform either home-
based hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis.

ESRD laboratory services
We own two separately incorporated, licensed, clinical laboratories which specialize in ESRD patient testing. These specialized laboratories provide
routine laboratory tests for dialysis and other physician-prescribed laboratory tests for ESRD patients and are an integral component of overall dialysis
services that we provide. Our laboratories provide these tests predominantly for our network of ESRD patients throughout the U.S. These tests are performed
to monitor a patient’s ESRD condition, including the adequacy of dialysis, as well as other medical conditions of the patient. Our laboratories utilize
information systems which provide information to certain members of the dialysis centers’ staff and medical directors regarding critical outcome indicators.

Management services

We currently operate or provide management and administrative services to 29 outpatient dialysis centers located in the U.S. in which we either own a
minority equity investment or are wholly-owned by third parties. These services are provided pursuant to management and administrative services agreements.
Management fees are established by contract and are recognized as earned typically based on a percentage of revenues or cash collections generated by the
outpatient dialysis centers.
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Quality care
We employ 235 clinical service teammates in our dialysis and related lab services business. The primary focus of this group is assuring and facilitating
processes that aim to achieve superior clinical outcomes at our centers.

Our physician leadership in the Office of the Chief Medical Officer (OCMO) for our dialysis and related lab services business includes nine senior
nephrologists, led by our Chief Medical Officer, with a variety of academic, clinical practice, and clinical research backgrounds. Our Physician Council is
an advisory body to senior management. The Physician Counsel is currently composed of eight physicians with extensive experience in clinical practice in
addition to the members of OCMO and currently eight Group Medical Directors.

Sources of revenue—concentrations and risks

Our U.S. dialysis and related lab services business net revenues represent approximately 66% of our consolidated net revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2013. Our dialysis and related lab services revenues are derived primarily from our core business of providing kidney dialysis services, the
administration of pharmaceuticals, related laboratory services and to a lesser extent management fees generated from providing management and administrative

services to certain outpatient dialysis centers, as discussed above.

The sources of our dialysis and related lab services revenues are principally from government-based programs, including Medicare and Medicare-
assigned plans, Medicaid and Medicaid-assigned plans and commercial insurance plans.

The following table summarizes our U.S. dialysis and related lab services revenues by source for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Revenue
EEPCC"[IECS
Medicare and Medicare-assigned plans 58%
Medicaid and Medicaid-assigned plans 5%
Other government-based programs 3%
Total government-based programs 66%
34%

Commercial (including hospital inpatient dialysis services)

Total dialysis and related lab services revenues 100%

The following table summarizes our U.S. dialysis and related lab services revenues by modality for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Revenue
percentages
Outpatient hemodialysis centers 79%
Peritoneal dialysis and home-based hemodialysis 16%
Hospital inpatient hemodialysis 5%
.Total dialysis and related lab services revenues 100%

Medicare revenue )
For patients with Medicare coverage, all ESRD payments for dialysis treatments are made under a single bundled payment rate which provides a fixed
payment rate to encompass all goods and services provided during the dialysis treatment, including certain pharmaceuticals that were historically separately
reimbursed to the dialysis providers, such as Epogen ® (EPO), vitamin D analogs and iron supplements, irrespective of the lcvel of
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pharmmaceuticals administered to the patient or additional services performed. Most lab services that used to be paid directly to laboratories are also included in
the bundlcd payment. The bundicd payment rate is also adjustcd for certain paticnt characteristics, a gcographic usage index and ccrtain other factors.

An important provision in the law is an annual adjustment, or market basket update, to the ESRD Prospective Payment System base rate (PPS). Absent
action by Congress, the PPS base rate is automatically updated annually by a formulaic inflation adjustment.

On November 9, 2012, CMS issued the final ESRD PPS rule for 2013 (2013 ESRD Rule). The base rate was increased by 2.3%, resulting from a
market basket increase of 2.9% less a productivity adjustment of 0.6%. This increase in the ESRD PPS base rate was largely offset by the Budget Control Act
of 2011 (BCA) sequestration as discussed below. The 2013 ESRD Rule implemented the reduction in bad debt payments to dialysis facilities (as well as to all
other providers that are eligible for bad debt payments) mandated under the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 and added new quality

reporting measures.

As a result of the BCA and subsequent activity in Congress, a $1.2 trillion sequestcr (across-the-board spending cuts) in discretionary programs took
effect in 2013. In particular, a 2% reduction in Medicare payments took effect on April 1, 2013. The across-the-board spending cuts pursuant to the
sequestration have adversely affected and will continue to adversely affect operating results.

Section 632(a) of the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (ATRA) mandated that the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) reduce dialysis
payments beginning in January 2014 to reflect the Secretary’s estimate of changes in patient utilization data from 2007 to 2012 for erythropoiesis stimulating
agents (ESAs), other drugs and biologicals that would have been paid for separately under the composite rate system, and laboratory services that would have
been paid for separately under the composite rate system. According to ATRA, the Secretary of HHS had to use the most recently available data on average
sales prices and changes in prices for drugs and biologicals reflected in the ESRD market basket percentage increase factor.

The final 2014 ESRD PPS rule (2014 ESRD Rule) was formally published by CMS on December 2, 2013. According to the 2614 ESRD Rule, drug
utilization cuts mandated by ATRA of 12% will be phased in over a three or four year period depending upon future decisions to be made by CMS. The 2014
ESRD Rule provides that there will be no changes to reimbursement levels for 2014 and 20135, largely due to an offset from a market basket increase. While no
net reimbursement reductions are planned for 2014 and 2015 under the 2014 ESRD Rule, it is anticipated that future reductions will occur in 2016, 2017 or
both. If these future reductions are implemented as currently anticipated they could negatively affect our operating results.

We anticipate that we will continue to experience increases in our operating costs in 2014 that will outpace any Medicare reimbursement rate changes that
we receive, which could significantly impact our operating results. We expect to continue experiencing increases in operating costs that are subject to inflation,
such as labor and supply costs, regardless of whether there is a compensating inflation-based increase in Medicare payment rates or in payments under the
bundled payment rate system.

The CMS Center for Medicare & Medicaid Innovation (Tnnovation Center) is currently working with various healthcare providers to develop and
implement accountable care organizations (ACOs) and other innovative models of care for Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries. We are currently uncertain of
the extent to which these models of care, including ACOs, Bundled Payments for Care Improvement Initiative, Comprehensive ESRD Care Model (which
includes the development of ESRD Scamlcss Care Organizations (ESCOs)), the Comprchensive Primary Care Initiative, the Duals Demonstration, or other
models, will impact the health care market. Our U.S. dialysis business may choose to participate in one or several of these models either as a partner with
other providers or independently. We are currently seeking to participate in the Comprehensive ESRD Care Model with the Innovation Center. Even if we do not
participate in this or other programs, some of our patients may be assigned to a program, in which case the quality and cost of care that we furnish will be
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included in an ACO’s or other program’s calculations. As new models of care emerge, we may be at risk for losing our Medicare patient base, which would
have a materially adverse effect on our operating results. Other initiatives in the government or private sector may arise, including the development of models
similar to ACOs, IPAs and integrated delivery systems or evolutions of those concepts which could adversely impact our business.

In addition, under ESRD PPS, beginning January 1, 2016, oral-only medications will be included in the bundled ESRD payment rate to dialysis
centers. Inadequate pricing could have a significant negative financial impact on our dialysis facilities given the volume and value of these drugs.

ESRD paticnts receiving dialysis services become eligible for primary Mcdicarc coverage at various times, depending on their age or disability status, as
well as whether they are covered by a commercial insurance plan. Generally, for a patient not covered by a commercial insurance plan, Medicare becomes the
primary payor for ESRD patients receiving dialysis services either immediately or after a three-month waiting period. For a patient covered by a commercial
insurance plan, Medicare generally becomes the primary payor after 33 months, which includes a three month waiting period, or earlier if the patient’s
commercial insurance plan coverage terminates. When Medicare becomes the primary payor, the payment rate we receive for that patient shifts from the
commercial insurance plan rate to the Medicare payment rate.

Medicare pays 80% of the amount set by the Medicare system for each covered dialysis treatment. The patient is responsible for the remaining 20%. In
most cases, a secondary payor, such as Medicare supplemental insurance, a state Medicaid program or a eommercial health plan, covers all or part of these
balances. Some patients, who do not qualify for Medicaid but otherwise cannot afford secondary insurance, can apply for premium payment assistance from
charitable organizations through a program offered by the American Kidney Fund. We and other dialysis providers support the American Kidney Fund and
similar programs through voluntary contributions. If a patient does not have secondary insurance coverage, we are generally unsuccessful in our efforts to
collect from the patient the remaining 20% portion of the ESRD composite rate that Medicare does not pay. However, we are able to recover some portion of this
unpaid patient balance from Medicare through an established cost reporting process by identifying these Medicare bad debts on each center’s Medicare cost

report.

Medicaid revenue
Medicaid programs are state-administered programs partially funded by the federal government. These programs are intended to provide health coverage
for patients whose income and assets fall below state-defined levels and who are otherwise uninsured. These programs also serve as supplemental insurance
programs for co-insurance payments duc from Medicaid-cligiblc patients with primary coverage undcr the Medicarc program. Some Mcdicaid programs also
pay for additional services, including some oral medications that are not covered by Medicare. We are enrolled in the Medicaid programs in the states in which
we conduct our business.

Commercial revenue

Before a patient becomes eligible to have Medicare as their primary payor for dialysis services, a patient’s commercial insurance plan, if any, is
responsible for payment of such dialysis services. Although commercial payment rates vary, average commercial payment rates are generally significantly
higher than Medicare rates. The payments we receive from commercial payors generate nearly all of our profits. Payment methods from commercial payors can
in‘clude a single lump-sum per treatment, referred to as bundled rates, or in other cases separate payments for treatments and pharmaceuticals, if used as part
of the treatment, referred to as FFS rates. Commercial payment rates are the result of negotiations between us and insurers or third-party administrators. Our
out-of-nctwork payment ratcs arc on average higher than in-network payment ratcs. In 2013, we continued to enter into some commercial contracts, covering
certain patients that will primarily pay us a single bundled payment rate for all dialysis services provided to these patients. However, some of the contracts
will pay us for certain other services and pharmaceuticals in addition to the bundled payment. These contracts typically contain

8




Table of Contents

annual price escalator provisions. We are continuously in the process of negotiating agreements with our commercial payors and if our negotiations result in
overall commercial rate reductions in excess of our commercial rate increases, our revenues and operating results could be negatively impacted. In addition, if
there is an increase in job losses in the U.S., or depending upon changes to the healthcare regulatory system including the impact of health care insurance
exchanges, we could experience a decrease in the number of patients covered under commercial insurance plans.

Approximatcly 34% of our dialysis and related lab services revenucs and approximately 10% of our dialysis patients werc associated with commercial
payors for the year ended December 31, 2013. Commercial patients as a percentage of our total dialysis patients remained approximately 10% in 2013 and
2012. Less than 1% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues are due directly from patients. No single commercial payor accounted for more than 10%
of total dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013.

In March 2012, HHS issued two final rules related to the establishment of health care insurance exchanges that began operating in January 2014. These
exchanges will provide a marketplace for eligible individuals and small employers to purchase health care insurance and a Notice of Benefit and Payment
Parameters for 2014. We believe the establishment of health care insurance exchanges could result in a reduction in patients covered by commercial insurance
or an increase of patients covered through the health care insurance exchanges under more restrictive commercial plans with lower reimbursement rates. To the
cxtent that thc implementation of such exchangcs results in a reduction in patients covercd by commercial insurance or a reduction in reimbursement rates for
our services from commercial and/or government payors, this could have a material impact on our operating results.

Revenue from EPO and other pharmaceuticals
The percentage of revenue that we generate from separately billable pharmaceuticals as a result of operating under Medicare’s single bundled payment
rate system continues to decline, since pharmaceuticals, including EPO, are included in the ESRD single bundled payment. In addition, a significant
percentage of our payor contracts covering commercial patients also pay us under a single bundled rate for all dialysis services provided to these patients.
Approximately 5% of our total dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 are associated with the administration of
separatcly-billablc physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals.

EPO is an ESA, a genctically-engineercd form of a naturally occurring protein that stimulates the production of red blood cclls. EPO is used in
connection with all forms of dialysis to treat anemia, a medical complication most ESRD patients experience. The administration of EPO, where separately
billable, accounted for approximately 3% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013. EPO is produced by a single
manufacturer, Amgen. Any interruption of supply or product cost increases could adversely affect our operations.

In December 2012, we entered into an amendment to our agreement with Amgen. Under the terms of the original agreement before the amendment, we
were required to purchase EPO in amounts necessary to meet no less than 90% of our requirements of ESAs and are still required to do so after 2013. In
addition, all of the other conditions specified in the original agreement entered into in November 2011 still apply.

Evaluations on the utilization and reimbursement for ESAs, which have occurred in the past and may occur in the future, and related actions by the
U.S. Congress and federal agencies, could result in further restrictions on the utilization and reimbursement for ESAs. Additionally, commercial payors have
also incrcasingly examined their administration policies for EPO and, in some cascs, have modified those policics. Changes in labeling of EPO and other
pharmaceuticals in a manner that alters physician practice pattems or accepted clinical practices, changes in private and governmental payment criteria,
including the introduction of EPO administration policies or the conversion to alternate types of administration of EPO or other pharmaceuticals that result in

further
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decreases in utilization of EPO for patients covered by commercial payors could have a material impact on our operating results. Further increased utilization
of EPO for paticnts for whom the cost of EPO is included in a bundled reimbursemecnt rate, or further decreascs in reimbursement for EPO and other
pharmaceuticals that are not included in a bundled reimbursement rate, could also have a material impact on our opcrating results.

Physician relationships
An ESRD patient generally seeks treatment at an outpatient dialysis center near his or her home where his or her treating nephrologist has practice
privileges. Our relationships with local nephrologists and our ability to meet their needs and the needs of their patients are key factors in the success of our
dialysis operations. Approximately 4,800 nephrologists currently refer patients to our outpatient dialysis centers. As is typical in the dialysis industry, one or a
few physicians, including the outpatient dialysis center’s medical director, usually account for all or a significant portion of an outpatient dialysis center’s
patient base.

Participation in the Medicare ESRD program requires that dialysis services at an outpatient dialysis center be under the general supervision of a medical
director who is a licensed physician. We have engaged physicians or groups of physicians to serve as medical directors for each of our outpatient dialysis
centers. At some outpatient dialysis centers, we also separately contract with one or more other physicians to serve as assistant or associate medical directors or
to direct specific programs, such as home dialysis training programs. We have approximately 900 individual physicians and physician groups under contract
to provide medical director services.

Medical directors for our dialysis centers enter into written contracts with us that specify their duties and fix their compensation generally for periods of
ten years. The compensation of our medical directors is the result of arm’s length negotiations and generally depends upon an analysis of various factors such
as the physician’s duties, responsibilities, professional qualifications and experience, among others.

Our medical director contracts for our dialysis centers generally include covenants not to compete. Also, when we acquire an outpatient dialysis center
from one or more physicians or where one or more physicians own minority interests in our outpatient dialysis centers, these physicians have agreed to refrain
from owning interests in other competing outpatient dialysis centers within a defined geographic area for various time periods. These non-compete agreements
restrict the physicians from owning or providing medical director services to other outpatient dialysis centers, but do not prohibit the physicians from referring
patients to any outpatient dialysis center, including competing centers. Many of these non-compete agreements continue for a period of time beyond expiration
of the corresponding medical director agreements, although some expire at the same time as the medical director agreement. Occasionally, we experience
competition from a new outpatient dialysis center established by a former medical director following the termination of his or her relationship with us.

If a significant number of physicians, including an outpatient dialysis center’s medical directors, were to cease referring patients to our outpatient
dialysis centers, our business could be adversely affected.

Government regulation

Our dialysis operations are subject to extensive federal, state and local governmental regulations. These regulations require us to meet various standards
rclating to, among other things, government payment programs, dialysis facilitics and cquipment, management of centers, personncl qualifications,
maintenance of proper records, and quality assurance programs and patient care.

Because we are subject to a number of governmental regulations, our business could be adversely impacted by:

*  Loss or suspension of federal certifications;

*  Loss or suspension of licenses under the laws of any state or governmental authority from which we generate substantial revenues;
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»  Exclusion from government healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid;

+  Significant reductions or lack of inflation-adjusted increases in payment rates or reduction of coverage for dialysis and ancillary services and
related pharmaceuticals;

*  Fines, damages and monetary pcnaltics for anti-kickback law violations, Stark Law violations, submission of false claims, civil or criminal
liability bascd on violations of law or othcr failures to meet regulatory requirements;

*  Claims for monetary damages from patients who believe their protected health information (PHI) has been used or disclosed in violation of federal
and state patient privacy laws;

= Mandated changes to our practices or procedures that significantly increase operating expenses; or

*  Rcfunds of payments reccived from govemment payors and government health care program bencficiaries because of any failures to mect
applicable requirements.

We expect that our industry will continue to be subject to substantial regulation, the scope and effect of which are difficult to predict. Our activities could
be reviewed or challenged by regulatory authorities at any time in the future. This regulation and scrutiny could have a material adverse impact on us.

Licensure and certification

Our dialysis centers are certified by CMS, as is required for the receipt of Medicare payments. In some states, our outpatient dialysis centers also are
required to secure additional state licenses and permits. Govemmental authorities, primarily state departments of health, periodically inspect our centers to
determine if we satisfy applicable federal and state standards and requirements, including the conditions of participation in the Medicare ESRD program.

To date, we have not experienced significant difficulty in maintaining our licenses or our Medicaid certifications. However, we have experienced some
delays in obtaining Medicare certifications from CMS.

CMS continues to study the regulations applicable to Medicare certification to provide dialysis services. On April 15, 2008, CMS issued new
regulations for Medicare-certified ESRD facilities to provide dialysis services, referred to as Conditions for Coverage. The Conditions for Coverage were
effective October 14, 2008, with some provisions having a phased in implementation date of February 1, 2009. The regulations are patient, quality and
outcome focused. Among other things, they establish performance expectations for facilities and staff, eliminate certain procedural requirements, and promote
continuous quality improvement and patient safety measures. We have established an interdisciplinary work group that includes a comprehensive auditing
process to monitor our continued compliance with the Conditions for Coverage.

Federal anti-kickback statute .
The federal anti-kickback statute contained in the Social Security Act imposes criminal and civil sanctions on persons who receive, make, offer or

solicit payments in return for:
*  The referral of a patient covered by Medicare, Medicaid or similar federal and state programs; )
*  The ordering or purchasing of items or services that are paid for in whole or in part by Medicare, Medicaid or similar federal and state programs;
or
*  Arranging for or recommending the ordering or purchasing of such items.
Federal criminal penalties for the violation of the federal anti-kickback statute include imprisonment, fines and exclusion of the provider from future

participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Violations of the federal anti-kickback statute are punishable by imprisonment for up to five years and
fines of up to $25,000 or both. Larger fines can be imposed upon corporations under the provisions of the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and
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the Alternate Fines Statute. Individuals and entities convicted of violating the federal anti-kickback statute are subject to mandatory exclusion from
participation in Mcdicare, Mcdicaid and other federal healthcare programs for a minimum of five ycars. Civil penalties for violation of this law includc up to
$50,000 in monetary penalties per violation, repayments of up to three times the total payments between the parties and suspension from future participation in
Mcdicarc and Medicaid. Court dccisions have also hcld that the statute is violatcd whenever once of the purposcs of remuneration is to induce referrals. The
Health Reform Acts amended the federal anti-kickback statute to lower the standard of proof for the intent requirement that the government must make in order
to obtain a conviction. The government does not have to prove that the defendant knew of the existence of the federal anti-kickback statute or had the specific
intent to violate it. In addition, the Health Reform Acts amended the federal anti-kickback statute to provide that any claims submitted from an arrangement
that violates the federal anti-kickback statute are false claims under the False Claims Act.

Regulations issued by HHS create exceptions or “safe harbors” for some business transactions and arrangements. Transactions and arrangements
structured within these safe harbors are deemed to not violate the federal anti-kickback statute. A business transaction or arrangement must satisfy every
element of a safe harbor to be protected by that safe harbor. Transactions and arrangements that do not satisfy all elements of a relevant safe harbor do not
nccessarily violate the statute, but can be subjcct to greater scrutiny by enforcement agencies.

Our medical directors refer patients to our dialysis centers, and these arrangements, by which we pay them for their medical director services, must be
in compliance with the federal anti-kickback statute in order to avoid scrutiny under the statute. Among the available safe harbors is one for personal services
furnished for fair market value. However, most of our agreements with our medical directors do not satisfy all seven of the requirements of the personal
services safe harbor. We believe that because of the nature of our medical directors’ duties, it is impossible to satisfy the anti-kickback safe-harbor
requirement that services provided under an agreement on a part-time basis must specify the schedule of intervals of service, and their precise length and the
cxact chargc for such intervals. Accordingly, while we believe that our agrecments with our medical dircctors for our dialysis centers satisfy as many of the
elements of this safe harbor as we believe is reasonably possible, our arrangements do not qualify for safe harbor protection, as precise scheduling is not
possible. We also note that there is little guidance available as to what constitutes fair market value for medical director services. We believe that our agreements
do not violate the federal anti-kickback statute; however, since the arrangements do not satisfy all of the requirements for safe harbor protection, these
arrangcmcnts could be challcnged.

We own a controlling interest in numerous U.S. dialysis related joint ventures. For the year ended December 31, 2013, these joint ventures represented
approximately 21% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues. We may continue to increase the number of our joint ventures. Our relationships with
physicians and other referral sources relating to these joint ventures must comply with a federal anti-kickback statute safe harbor in order to avoid scrutiny
under the statute. Although there is a safe harbor for certain investment intcrests in small cntitics, our joint ventures do not satisfy all of the rcquircments for
safe harbor protection. Under the federal anti-kickback statute, failure to comply with a safe harbor does not render an arrangement illegal. Instead, an
arrangement that does not operate within a safe harbor may be subject to anti kickback statute scrutiny on a case-by-case basis. Based upon the foregoing,
physician joint ventures that fall outside the safe harbors are not, by definition, prohibited by law. Instead, such joint ventures require case-by-case evaluation
under the federal anti-kickback statute.

We have structured our joint ventures to satisfy as many safe harbor requirements as we believe are commercially reasonable. For example, we believe
that thesc investments arc offercd on a fair market valuc basis and provide retumns to the physician investors only in proportion to their actual investment in
the venture. We believe that our joint venture arrangements do not violate the federal anti-kickback statute; however, since the arrangements do not satisfy all
of the requirements for safe harbor protection, these arrangements could be subject to challenge. In that regard, we have been advised by the attorneys
conducting the 2010 and 2011 U.S. Attomey Physician Relationship Investigations that they belicve that some or all of our joint ventures do not comply with
the federal anti-kickback statute and the False Claims Act. We disagree that our joint venture
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structure, which we believe is widely used in the dialysis industry and other segments of the healthcare industry substantially in the form that we use it,
violates the federal anti-kickback statute or the False Claims Act. However, we have recently agreed with the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of
Colorado, the Civil Division of the United States Department of Justice and the Office of the Inspector General to a framework for a global resolution for both
the 2010 and 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations, which includes unwinding a limited subset of joint ventures that were created through
partial divestiture to nephrologists, and our agreement to not enter into this type of partial divestiture joint venture with nephrologists in the future, The final
scttlcment remains subjcct to negotiation of specific terms.

As of December 31, 2013, we lease space for approximately 702 of our dialysis centers from entities in which physicians, hospitals or medical groups
hold ownership interests and we sublease space to referring physicians at approximately 233 of our dialysis centers. These arrangements must comply with a
federal anti-kickback statute safe harbor in order to avoid scrutiny under the statute. We believe that we meet the elements of the safe harbor for space rentals
in all material respects. Therefore, we believe that our physician lease arrangements should not be subject to scrutiny or challenge under the federal anti-

kickback statute.

Some medical directors and other referring physicians may own our common stock. We believe that these interests materially satisfy the requirements of
the safe harbor for investments in large publicly traded companies for the federal anti-kickback statute. Therefore, we believe that these investment
arrangements should not be subject to scrutiny or challenge under the federal anti-kickback statute.

Because we are purchasing and selling items and services in the operation of our dialysis centers that may be paid for, in whole or in part, by Medicare,
Medicaid or other federal or state healthcare program and because we acquire certain items and services at a discount, we must structure these arrangements in
compliancc with a federal anti-kickback statutc safe harbor in order to avoid scrutiny under the statutc. Subject to certain requiremcnts and limitations,
discounts representing reductions in the amounts we are charged for items or services based on arm’s-length transactions can qualify for safe harbor protection
if we fully and accurately report the discounts in the applicable Medicare cost reports. While some of the safe harbor criteria are subject to interpretation, we
believe that our vendor contracts with discount provisions are in compliance with the federal anti-kickback statute discount safe harbor. Therefore, we believe
that our discounted vendor contracts should not be subject to scrutiny or challenge under the federal anti-kickback statute.

Stark Law

A federal law, known as the Stark Law, prohibits a physician who has a financial relationship, or who has an immediate family member who has a
financial relationship, with entities providing DHS, from referring Medicare patients to such entities for the furnishing DHS, unless an exception applies.
Stark Law DHS include home health services, outpatient prescription drugs, inpatient and outpatient hospital services and clinical laboratory services. The
Stark Law also prohibits the DHS entity receiving a prohibited referral from filing a claim or billing for the services arising out of the prohibited referral. The
prohibition applies regardless of the reasons for the financial relationship and the referral; unlike the federal anti-kickback statute, intent to induce referrals is
not required. Sanctions for violation of the Stark Law include denial of payment for claims for services provided in violation of the prohibition, refunds of
amounts collected in violation, a civil penalty of up to $15,000 for each service arising out of the prohibited referral, exclusion from the federal healthcare
programs, including Medicare and Medicaid and a civil penalty of up to $100,000 against parties that enter into a scheme to circumvent the Stark Law
prohibition. Stark Law violations also can form the basis for Falsec Claims Act liability. The types of financial arrangemcnts between a physician and a DHS
entity that trigger the self-referral prohibitions of the Stark Law are broad and include direct and indirect ownership and investment interests and compensation

arrangements.

CMS has adopted implementing regulations under the Stark Law, (collectively, known as the Stark Regulations). CMS has not yet adopted
implementing regulations regarding application of the Stark Law to Medicaid, but has indicated that it anticipates issuing additional regulations regarding the

application of the Stark Law to Medicaid referrals.
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The definition of DHS under the Stark Law excludes services paid under a composite rate, even if some of the components bundled in the composite rate
are DHS. Although the new ESRD bundled payment system is no longer titled a composite rate, we believe that the former composite rate payment system and
the current bundled system are both composite systems excluded from the Stark Law. Since most services furnished to Medicare beneficiaries provided in our
dialysis centers are reimbursed through a composite or bundled rate, the services performed in our facilities generally are not DHS, and the Stark Law referral
prohibition does not apply to those services. The definition of DHS also excludes inpatient dialysis performed in hospitals that are not certified to provide
ESRD services. Consequently, our arrangements with such hospitals for the provision of dialysis services to hospital inpatients do not trigger the Stark Law

referral prohibition.

In addition, although prescription drugs are DHS, there is an exception in the Stark Regulations for EPO and other specifically enumerated dialysis
drugs when furnished in or by an ESRD facility, in compliance with the federal anti-kickback statute and applicable billing requirements. The exception is
available only for drugs included on a list of CPT/HCPCS codes published by CMS, and in the case of home dialysis, the exception applies only to EPO,
Aranesp® and equivalent drugs dispensed by the facility for use at home. While we believe that most drugs furnished by our dialysis centers are covered by
the cxception, dialysis centers may administer drugs that arc not on the list of CPT/HCPCS codes and thereforc do not meet this exception. In order for a
physician who has a financial relationship with a dialysis center to order one of these drugs from the center and for the center to obtain Medicare

reimbursement, another exception must apply.

We have entered into several types of financial relationships with referring physicians, including compensation arrangements. We believe that the
compensation arrangements under our medical director agreements satisfy the personal services arrangement exception to the Stark Law. While we believe that
the compensation provisions included in our medical director agreements, which are the result of arm’s length negotiations, result in fair market value
payments for medical director services, an enforcement agency could nevertheless challenge the level of compensation that we pay our medical directors. If the
arrangement does not meet a Stark Law exception, we could in the future be required to change our practices, face civil penalties, pay substantial fines, return
certain payments received from Medicare and beneficiaries or otherwise experience a material adverse effect as a result of a challenge to payments made
pursuant to referrals from these physicians under the Stark Law.

Some of our dialysis centers are leased from entities in which referring physicians hold interests and we sublease space to referring physicians at some
of our dialysis centers. The Stark Law provides an exception for lease arrangements if specific requirements are met. We believe that our leases and subleases
with referring physicians satisfy the requirements for this exception.

Some medical directors and other referring physicians may own our common stock. We believe that these interests satisfy the Stark Law exception for
investments in large publicly traded companies.

Some of our referring physicians also own equity interests in entities that operate our dialysis centers. None of the Stark Law exceptions applicable to
physician ownership interests in entities to which they make DHS referrals apply to the kinds of ownership arrangements that referring physicians hold in
several of our subsidiaries that operate dialysis centers. Accordingly, these dialysis centers cannot bill Medicare for DHS referrals from physician owners. If
the dialysis centers bill for DHS referred by physician owners, the dialysis center would be subject to the Stark Law penalties described above.

While we believe that most of our operations do not implicate the Stark Law, particularly under the ESRD bundled payment system, and that to the
extent that our dialysis centers furnish DHS, they either meet an exception or do not bill for services that do not meet a Stark Law exception, if CMS
determined that we have submitted claims in violation to the Stark Law, we would be subject to the penalties described above. In addition, it might be
necessary to restructure existing compensation agreements with our medical directors and to repurchase or to request the sale of ownership interests in
subsidiaries and partnerships held by referring physicians or, alternatively, to refuse to accept referrals for DHS from these physicians. Any such penalties
and restructuring could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

14




Table of Contents

If any of the business transactions or arrangements, including those described above, were found to violate the federal anti-kickback statute of Stark
Law, we could face criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other state and
federal healthcare programs. Any findings that we have violated these laws could have a material adverse impact on our operations.

Fraud and abuse under state law

Many states in which we operate dialysis centers have statutes prohibiting physicians from holding financial interests in various types of medical
facilities to which they refer patients. Some of these statutes could be interpreted as prohibiting physicians who hold shares of our publicly traded stock from
referring patients to our dialysis centers if the centers use our laboratory subsidiary to perform laboratory services for their patients. Some states also have
laws similar to the federal anti-kickback statute that may affect our ability to receive referrals from physicians with whom we have financial relationships,
such as our medical directors. Some state anti-kickback statutes also include civil and criminal penalties. Some of these statutes include exemptions
applicable to our medical directors and other physician relationships or for financial interests limited to shares of publicly traded stock. Some, however,
include no explicit exemption for medical director services or other services for which we contract with and compensate referring physicians or for joint
ownership interests of the type held by some of our referring physicians or for financial interests limited to shares of publicly traded stock. If these statutes are
interpreted to apply to referring physicians with whom we contract for medical director and similar services, to referring physicians with whom we hold joint
ownership interests or to physicians who hold interests in DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. limited solely to our publicly traded stock, we may be required to
terminate or restructure some or all of our relationships with or refuse referrals from these referring physicians and could be subject to civil and administrative
sanctions, refund requirements and exclusions from government healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid. Such events could negatively affect
the decision of referring physicians to refer patients to our centers.

The False Claims Act
The False Claims Act (FCA) is a means of policing false bills or false requests for payment in the healthcare delivery system. In part, the FCA
authorizes the imposition of up to three times the government’s damages and civil penalties on any person who:
»  Knowingly presents or causes to be presented to the federal government, a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval;
*  Knowingly makes, uses or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by the federal
government;
»  Conspircs to defraud the federal government by getting a false or fraudulent claim allowed or paid; or
»  Knowingly makes, uscs or causcs to be made or uscd, a false rccord or statement to conceal, avoid or decreasc an obligation to pay or transmit
moncy or property to the federal government.

In addition, amendments to the FCA impose severe penalties for the knowing and improper retention of overpayments collected from government payors.
Within 60 days of identifying an overpayment, a provider is required to notify CMS or the Medicare Administrative Contractor of the overpayment and the
reason for it and retumn the overpayment. These amendments could subject our procedures for identifying and processing overpayments to greater scrutiny. We
have made significant investments in additional resources to accelerate the time it takes to identify and process overpayments and we may be required to make

additional investments in the future. Acceleration in our ability to identify and process overpayments could result in us refunding overpayments to government
or other payors sooner than we have in the past. A significant acceleration of these refunds could have a material adverse affect on our operating cash flows.
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The penalties for a violation of the FCA range from $5,500 to $11,000 for each false claim plus three times the amount of damages caused by each
such claim which generally means the amount received directly or indirectly from the government. The federal government has used the FCA to prosecute a
wide variety of alleged false claims and fraud allegedly perpetrated against Medicare and state healthcare programs, including coding errors, billing for
services not rendered, the submission of false cost reports, billing for services at a higher payment rate than appropriate, billing under a comprehensive code
as well as under one or more component codes included in the comprehensive code and billing for care that is not considered medically necessary. The Health
Reform Acts provide that a violation of the federal anti-kickback statute can form the basis for liability under the FCA. Some courts have held that filing
claims or failing to refund amounts collected in violation of the Stark Law can form the basis for liability under the FCA. In addition to the provisions of the
FCA, which provide for civil enforcement, the federal government can use several criminal statutes to prosecute persons who are alleged to have submitted
false or fraudulent claims for payment to the federal government.

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996 and its implementing privacy and security regulations, as amended by the
federal Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH Act), (collectively referred to as HIPAA), requires us to provide certain
protcctions to paticnts and their hcalth information undcr the Protccted Health Information, or PHI. HIPAA requircs us to afford paticnts ccrtain rights regarding
their PHI, and to limit uses and disclosure of their PHI existing in any media form (electronic and hardcopy). HIPAA also requires us to implement
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards with respect to electronic PHI. We believe our HIPAA Privacy and Security Program sufficiently address
HIPAA requirements. Penalties for impermissible use or disclosure of PHI were increased by the HITECH Act by imposing tiered penalties of up to $50,000
per violation and up to $1.5 million per year for the same type of violation. In addition, if PHI of 500 or more individuals is improperly used or disclosed, we
would be required to report the improper use or disclosure to the Department of Health and Human Services, which would post the violation on its website. If
there were improper use or disclosure of PHI of more than 500 individuals in the same jurisdiction, we would be required to report the improper use or
disclosure to the media. Improper use or disclosure could result in significant fines and reputational damage.

Healthcare reform
In March 2010, broad health care reform legislation was enacted in the U.S. Although many of the provisions of the legislation did not take effect
immediately and continue to be implemented, and some may be modified before being implemented, the reforms could have an impact on our business in a
number of ways. We cannot predict how employers, private payors or persons buying insurance might react to these changes or what form many of these
regulations will take before implementation.

The law requires that all non-grandfathered individual and small group health plans sold in a state, including plans sold through state exchanges, cover
essential health benefits (EHBs) in ten general categories. The scope of the benefits are intended to equal the scope of benefits under a typical employer plan.

In December 2011, the Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight published an Essential Health Benefits Bulletin (EHB Bulletin)
describing the approach it was taking regarding the implementation of the EHB Bulletin requirement. For the two year transition period (from 2014 through
2015) the law requires states to define an EHB benchmark plan that must be covered by plans in the state. States that do not define an EHB benchmark plan
must use the small group plan with the largest enrollment in the state.

On February 25, 2013, HHS issued the final rule governing the standards applicable to EHB Bulletins, new definitions, actuarial value requirements
and methodology, and published a list of plan benchmark options that states can use to develop EHBs. The rule describes specific coverage requirements that:
(1) prohibit discrimination against individuals because of pre-existing or chronic conditions on health plans applicable to EHBs; (ii) ensure network adequacy
of essential health providers, and (iii) prohibit benefit designs that limit enrollment and that prohibit access to care for enrollees.
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Other regulations

Our dialysis and related lab services operations are subject to various state hazardous waste and non-hazardous medical waste disposal laws. These
laws do not classify as hazardous most of the waste produced from dialysis services. Occupational Safety and Health Administration regulations require
employers to provide workers who are occupationally subject to blood or other potentially infectious materials with prescribed protections. These regulatory
requirements apply to all healthcare facilities, including dialysis centers, and require employers to make a determination as to which employees may be
exposed to blood or other potentially infectious materials and to have in effect a written exposure control plan. In addition, employers are required to provide or
cmploy hepatitis B vaccinations, personal protective equipment and other safety devices, infection control training, post-exposure cvaluation and follow-up,
waste disposal techniques and procedures and work practice controls. Employers are also required to comply with various record-keeping requirements. We
believe that we are in material compliance with these laws and regulations. ‘

A few states have certificate of nced programs regulating the establishment or expansion of healthcare facilities, including dialysis centers. We belicve
that we are in material compliance with all applicable state certificate of need laws.

Capacity and location of our U.S. dialysis centers
Typically we are able to increase our capacity by extending hours at our existing dialysis centers, expanding our existing dialysis centers, relocating our

dialysis centers, developing new dialysis centers and by acquiring dialysis centers. The development of a typical outpatient dialysis center by us generally
requires approximatcly $2.5 million for lcaschold improvements, cquipment and first-ycar working capital. Based on our experience, a ncw dialysis center
typically opens within a year after the property lease is signed, normally achieves operating profitability in the second year after Medicare certification and
normally reaches maturity within three to five years. Acquiring an existing outpatient dialysis center requires a substantially greater initial investment, but
profitability and cash flows are generally initially more timely and predictable. To a limited extent, we enter into agreements to provide management and
administrative services to outpatient dialysis centers in which we either own a minority equity investment, or are wholly-owned by third parties in return for
management fees, which are typically based on a percentage of revenues or cash collections of the managed center’s operations.

The table below shows the growth of our U.S. dialysis operations by number of dialysis centers.

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Number of centers at beginning of year 1,954 1,809 1,612 1,530 1,449
Acquired centers 26 93 170m 41 19
Developed centers 98 70 65 65 78
Net change in centers with management and administrative services agreements* 4 (8) | — 8@
Sold and closed centers** 5) a @) 10) ®)
Closed centers*** (3) 9) 7 (14) _ (16)
Number of centers at end of year 2,074 1,954 1,809 1,612 1,530

(1) In 2011, we acquircd 113 dialysis centers and divested a total of 30 centers in conncction with our acquisition of DSI Renal Inc. (DSI1).

(2) During 2009, we made minority equity investments in 6 centers and we entered into 2 additional management and administrative service agreements.

* Represents dialysis centers in which we either own a minority equity investment, or are wholly-owned by third parties.

**  Represents dialysis centers that were sold and/or closed for which patients were not retained.

*** Represents dialysis centers that were closed for which the majority of patients were retained and transferred to one of our other existing outpaticnt dialysis

centers.
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As of December 31, 2013, we operated or provided administrative services to a total of 2,074 U.S. outpatient dialysis centers. A total of 2,045 such
centers arc consolidated in our financial statements. Of the remaining 29 unconsolidated U.S. outpatient dialysis centers, we own a minority cquity investment
in 22 centers and provide management and administrative services to seven centers that are wholly-owned by third parties. The locations of the 2,045 U.S.
outpaticnt dialysis centcrs consolidated in our financial statements at December 31, 2013 werc as follows:

State Centers State Centers State Centers
California 244 New York 42 Nebraska 15
Texas 176 New Jersey 39 Massachusetts 13
Florida 156 Wisconsin 38 Mississippi 11
Georgia 116 Colorado 37 District of Columbia 10
Ohio 106 Oklahoma 35 Idaho 9
Pennsylvania 92 Kentucky 34 West Virginia 5
Illinois 81 Arkansas 32 Utah 4
Michigan 72 South Carolina 30 New Mexico 4
North Carolina 65 Washington 29 Maine 3
Virginia 60 Louisiana 28 South Dakota 3
Tennessee 55 Kansas 26 New Hampshire 3
Maryland 54 Arizona 25 North Dakota 2
Indiana 54 Connecticut 23 Rhode Island 1
Alabama 53 lowa 22 Montana 1
Missouri 52 Oregon 2]

Minnesota 44 Nevada 20

HealthCare Partners business ,
Industry overview

U.S. healthcare spending has increased steadily over the past twenty years. These increases have been driven, in part, by the aging population of the
baby boomer generation, lack of healthy lifestyle both in terms of exercise and diet, rapidly increasing costs in medical technology and pharmaceutical
research, and provider reimbursement structures that may promote volume over quality in a FFS environment. These factors, as well as the steady growth of
the U.S. population, have made the healthcare industry a growing market. In 2012, CMS reported that health carc accounted for 17.2% of the U.S. economy.
According to CMS, healthcare spending increased 3.7% to reach $2.8 trillion in 2012. Comprising an estimated 13% of the federal budget and more than one-
fifth of total national hcalth expenditures in 2012, Mcdicare is frequently the focus of discussions on how to moderatc the growth of both federal spending and
health care spending in the U.S.

Growth in Medicare spending is expected to continue due to population demographics. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, from 1970 through 2012,
the overall U.S. population grew 54% while the number of Mcdicare cnrollces grew by more than 140% over that time period. As an incrcasing number of the
baby boomers become eligible for Medicare, the senior market is expected to be 20% of the total U.S. population by 2050 according to the Congressional
Budget Office.

Medicare Advantage is an alternative to the traditional FFS Medicare program, which permits Medicare beneficiaries to receive benefits from a managed
care health plan. Medicare Advantage plans contract with CMS to provide benefits at least comparable to those offered under the traditional FFS Medicare
program in exchange for a fixed monthly premium payment per member from CMS. The monthly premium varies based on the county in which the member
resides, as adjusted to reflcct the plan members’ demographics and the members’ risk scorcs. Individuals who clect to participate in the Medicare Advantage
program typically receive greater benefits than traditional FFS Medicare Part B beneficiaries, including additional preventive services, vision, dental and
prescription drug benefits, and typically have lower deductibles and co-payments than traditional FFS Medicare.
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Managed care health plans were developed, primarily during the 1980s, in an attempt to mitigate the rising cost of providing healthcare benefits to
populations covered by traditional health insurance. These managed care health plans enroll members through their employers, under federal Medicare benefits
or through state Medicaid programs. As a result of the prevalence of these health plans, many seniors now becoming eligible for Medicare have been interacting
with managed care companies through their employers for the last 30 years. Individuals turning 65 now are likely to be far more familiar with the managed
care setting than previous Medicare populations. According to the Kaiser Family Foundation, in 2013, Medicare Advantage represents only 28% of total
Mcdicare members, creating a significant opportunity for additional Mcdicarc Advantage penctration of newly eligible scniors.

In an effort to reduce the number of uninsured and to begin to control healthcare expenditures, President Obama signed The Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (the Health Reform Acts) into law in March 2010,
which were affirmed, in substantial part, by the U.S. Supreme Court in June 2012. The Health Reform Acts provide for a reduction of up to 32 million
uninsured individuals by 2019, while potentially increasing Medicaid coverage by up to 16 million individuals and net commercial coverage by 16 million
individuals. CMS projects that the total number of uninsured Americans will fall to 23 million in 2021 from 47 million in 201 1. These previously uninsured
Amcricans and potentially ncwly cligible Medicaid bencficiaries represent a significant new market opportunity for health plans. We belicve that health plans
looking to cover these newly eligible individuals under fixed premium arrangements will seek provider arrangements that can effectively manage the cost and
quality of the carc being provided to these newly eligible individuals.

In 2006, Medicare began to pay Medicare Advantage health plans under a bidding process. Plans bid against county-level benchmarks established by
Medicare based on the prior year’s Medicare Advantage county payment rate and increased by the projected national growth rate in per capita Medicare
spending. Those payment rates were at least as high as per capita FFS Medicare spending in each county and often substantially higher because Congress set
floors to raisc the lowcst rates to stimulate plan growth in arcas where plans historically had not found it profitable to enter. If a plan’s bid is higher than the
benchmark, enrollees pay the difference in the form of a monthly premium. If the bid is lower than the benchmark, the Medicare program retains 25% of the
difference as savings and the plan receives 75% of the difference as a rebate, which must be returned to enrollees in the form of additional benefits or reduced
premiums. Plan payments are also adjusted based on enrollees’ risk profiles. The formula for base payment is a combination of the base rate for the enrollee’s

county of residence, multiplied by the enrollee’s risk score.

One of the primary ways in which the Health Reform Acts will fund increased health insurance coverage is through cuts in Medicare Advantage
reimbursement. County benchmarks are transitioning to a system in which each county’s benchmark in 2017 will be a certain percentage (ranging from 95%
to 115%) of FFS. In a March 2013 report to Congress, the Medicare Payment Advisory Commission (MedPAC) estimated that 2013 Medicare Advantage
benchmarks, bids, and payments would average 110%, 96%, and 104% of FFS spending, respectively.

Despite the fact that the plan bids average less than FFS spending, payments for enrollecs in these plans usually cxceed FFS spending because the
benchmarks are high relative to FFS spending. For example, HMOs as a group bid an average of 92% of FFS spending, yet 2013 payments for HMO enrollees
are estimated to average 103% of FFS spending because the benchmarks, including the quality bonuses, average 110% of FFS spending.

As a result of the above, plans would generally have to bid significantly lower than FFS or the Medicare Advantage benchmark for CMS to begin to
save money on Medicare Advantage. As result of the transition of county benchmarks to 95% to 115% of FFS, Medicare Advantage benchmarks on average
are expected to be reduced to parity with FFS by 2017 as compared to 110% of fee for-service today. Given that CMS will retain 25% of the difference of any
plans bid bclow benchmark, the overall Medicare Advantage program should rcalize savings as compared to FFS in 2017, which would result in lower
payments to Medicare Advantage plans and to HCP.
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Many health plans recognize both the opportunity for growth from senior members as well as the potential risks and costs associated with managing
additional senior members. In regions operated by HCP and numerous other markets, many health plans subcontract a significant portion of the responsibility
for managing patient care to integrated medical systems such as HCP. These integrated health care systems, whether medical groups or IPAs, offer a
comprchensive medical delivery system and sophisticated care management know-how and infrastructure to more efficicntly provide for the health carc necds
of the population enrolled with that health plan. While reimbursement models for these arrangements vary around the country, health plans in California,
Florida, Nevada, New Mexico and Arizona often prospectively pay the integrated health care system a fixed Per Member Per Month (PMPM) amount, or
capitation payment, which is often based on a percentage of the amount received by the health plan. The capitation payment is for much—and sometimes
virtually all—of the care needs of the applicable membership. Capitation payments to integrated health care systems, in the aggregate, represent a prospective
budget from which the system manages care-related expenses on behalf of the population enrolled with that system. To the extent that these systems manage
care-related expenses under the capitated levels, the system realizes an operating profit. On the other hand, if care-rclated expenses exceed projected levels, the
system will realize an operating deficit. Since premiums paid represent a significant amount per person, there is a significant revenue opportunity for an
integrated medical system like HCP that is able to effectively manage its costs under a capitated arrangement. This is particularly the case for Medicare
Advantage members for whom revenue to a system can be substantial given the higher expected morbidity and cost associated with a Medicare Advantage

member.

Integrated medical systems, such as HCP, that have scale are positioned to spread an individual member’s cost experience across a wider population and
realize the benefits of pooling medical risk among large numbers of patients. In addition, integrated medical systems with years of managed care experience can
utilize their sizeable medical experience data to identify specific medical care and quality management strategies and interventions for potential high cost cases
and aggressively manage them to improve the health of its population base and, thus, lower cost. Many integrated medical systems, like HCP, have also
established physician performance metrics that allow them to monitor quality and service outcomes achieved by participating physicians in order to reward
efficient, high quality care delivered to members and initiate improvement efforts for physicians whose results can be enhanced.

Healthcare reform

The U.S. healthcare system, including the Medicare Advantage program, is subject to a broad array of new laws ahd regulations as a result of the
Health Reform Acts. The Health Reform Acts are considered by some to be the most dramatic change to the U.S. healthcare system in decades. The Supreme
Court found that the individual mandate to obtain health insurance coverage under this legislation is constitutional and also found that the expanded Medicaid
benefit included in the legislation is constitutional if states can opt out of the expanded Medicaid benefit without losing their funding under the current
Mcdicaid program. This Icgislation made significant changes to thc Medicare program and to the health insurance market overall. The Health Reform Acts
reflect sweeping legislation that, once fully implemented, may have a significant impact on the U.S. health care system generally and the operations of HCP’s
business. There are numerous steps required to implement the Health Reform Acts, and Congress may seek to alter or eliminate some of their provisions.

One provision of the Health Reform Acts required CMS to establish a Medicare Shared Savings Program (MSSP) that promotes accountability and
coordination of care through the creation of Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs). The program allows certain providers and suppliers (including
hospitals, physicians and other designated professionals) to voluntarily form ACOs and work together along with other ACO participants to invest in
infrastructure and redesign delivery processes to achieve high quality and efficient delivery of services. HCP recently entered into an agreement with CMS to
participate in the Medicare Shared Savings Program in California, Florida and Nevada beginning in 2014. Under this program, HCP will strive to attain
improved clinical outcomes to its Mcdicare fee for service patients in a more cost-effective manner, and will have the opportunity to share with CMS in any

financial savings created.
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Payor environment
Government programs
HCP derives a significant portion of its revenues from services rendered to beneficiaries of Medicare (including Medicare Advantage), Medicaid, and
other governmental healthcare programs.

Medicare. The Medicare program was established in 1965 and became effective in 1967 as a federally funded U.S. health insurance program for
persons aged 65 and older, and it was later expanded to include individuals with ESRD and certain disabled persons, regardiess of income or age. Since its
formation, Medicare has grown to a $560 billion program in 2011, covering approximately 48 million Americans and, based on the growing number of
eligible beneficiaries and increases in the cost of health care, CMS projects that Medicare program funding will grow to $1.1 trillion by 2022.

Initially, Medicare was offered only on a FFS basis. Under the Medicare FFS payment system, an individual can choose any licensed physician
enrolled in Medicare and use the services of any hospital, health care provider or facility certified by Medicare. CMS reimburses providers, based on a fee
schedule, if Medicare covers the service and CMS considers it medically necessary.

FFS Medicare is paid according to a physician fee schedule (PFS) set each year by CMS in accordance with formulas mandated by Congress. CMS is
required to limit the growth in spending under the PFS by a predetermined sustained growth rate (SGR). If implemented as mandated, the SGR would result in
significant payment reductions under the PFS. CMS announced that the estimated PFS update for 2014 would be reduced by 24.4% due to the SGR formula.

- Every year sincc 2003, Congrcss has delayed application of the SGR but we cannot predict whether they will continuc to do so. Congress most recently delayed
application of the SGR in the Pathway for SGR Reform Act (SGR Act) which was signed by President Obama on December 26, 2013. Pursuant to the SGR
Act, the negative impact of the SGR is further delayed for a temporary 3-month period which began on January 1, 2014. The SGR Act gives physicians a
0.5% reimbursement increase during the 3 month delay period. However, the SGR Act also extends a 2% Medicare sequestration cut mandated by the Budget
Control Act of 2011 and the Sequestration Transparency Act of 2012 for an additional two years beyond the original expiration date of 2021.

There is pressure for Congress to implement a permanent solution to the SGR reductions. The House Committee on Way and Means and the Senate
Committee of Finance released SGR repeal proposals in early November 2013, and the two committees have since met to revise their respective bills. Although
the original proposals each called for a 10-year freeze on Medicare physician payments, the most recent incarnation of the House bill provides a 0.5% update
for 2014-2016. The current form of the Scnate bill, howcver, retains the full 10-year payment freeze. We cannot predict whether the SGR will be repealced or if
another formula would be substituted and what form that might take. Repeal of the SGR could be offset by further reductions in Medicare payments.

As a result of the BCA and subsequent activity in Congress, a $1.2 trillion sequester (across-the-board spending cuts) in discretionary programs took
effect in 2013. In particular, a 2% reduction in Medicare payments took effect on April 1, 2013. The across-the-board spending cuts pursuant to the
sequestration have adversely affected HCP and will continue to adversely affect their operating results.

Medicare Advantage. Medicare Advantage is a Medicare health plan program developed and administered by CMS as an alternative to the original FFS
Medicare program. Under the Medicare Advantage program, Medicare beneficiaries may choose to receive benefits under a managed care health plan that
provides benefits at least comparable to those offered under the original Medicare FFS payment system in exchange for which the health plan receives a
monthly per patient premium payment from CMS. The Medicare Advantage monthly premium varies based on the county in which the member resides, and
is adjusted to reflect the demographics and estimated risk profile of the members that enroll. Once a person is authorized by CMS to participate in
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Medicare Advantage, health plans compete for enrollment based on benefit design differences such as co-payments or deductibles, availability of preventive
care, attractiveness of and access to a network of hospitals, physicians and ancillary providers and premium contribution or, most often in Medicare
Advantage plans, the absence of any monthly premium. In certain parts of the country, many health plans that provide Medicare Advantage benefits
subcontract with integrated medical systems such as HCP to transfer the responsibility for managing patient care.

In 2004, CMS adopted a risk adjustment payment system for Medicare Advantage health plans in which the participating health plans’ premiums are
adjusted based on the actual illness burden of the members that enroll. The model bases a portion of the total CMS reimbursement payments on various
clinical and demographic factors, including hospital inpatient diagnoses, additional diagnosis data from ambulatory treatment settings, hospital outpatient
department and physician visits, gender, age and Medicaid eligibility. CMS requires that all managed care companies capture, collect and submit the
necessary diagnosis code information to CMS twice a year for reconciliation with CMS’s internal database. Medical providers, such as HCP, provide this
diagnosis code information to health plan customers for submission to CMS. Under this system, the risk-adjusted portion of the total CMS payment to the
Medicare Advantage plans will equal the local rate set forth in the traditional demographic rate book, adjusted to reflect the plan members’ gender, age and
morbidity. See “—Governmental regulation” below.

Most Medicare beneficiaries have the option to enroll in private health insurance plans that contract with Medicare under the Medicare. Advantage
.program. According to the Kaiser Family Foundation, the share of Medicare beneficiaries in such plans has risen rapidly in recent years; it reached
approximately 27% in 2012 from approximately 13% in 2004. Plan costs for the standard benefit package can be significantly lower or higher than the
corresponding cost for beneficiaries in the traditional Medicare FFS payment program, but prior to the Health Reform Acts, private plans were generally paid a
higher average amount, and they used the additional payments to reduce enrollee cost-sharing requirements, provide extra benefits, and/or reduce Medicare
premiums. These enhancements were valuable to enrollees, but also resulted in higher Medicare costs overall and higher premiums for all Medicare Part B
beneficiaries and not just those enrolled in Medicare Advantage plans. The Health Reform Acts require that future payments to plans be based on benchmarks
in a range of 95% to 115% of local FFS Medicare costs, with bonus amounts payable to plans meeting high quality-of-care standards. In addition, beginning
in 2014, health plans offering Medicare Advantage will be required to spend at least 85% of their premium dollars on medical care, the so-called medical loss
ratio (MLR). Since HCP is not a health plan, it is not subject to the 85% MLR requirement. However, payments that health plans make to HCP will apply in
full towards the health plans’ 85% MLR requirement. If a health plan does not meet the 85% MLR requirement, it must provide a rebate to its customers. Any
such shortfalls will not impact amounts paid by health plans to HCP.

Medicaid. Medicaid is a federal entitlement program administered by the states that provides health care and long-term care services and support to low-
income Americans. Medicaid is funded jointly by the states and the federal government. The federal government guarantees matching funds to states for
qualifying Medicaid expenditures based on each state’s federal medical assistance percentage, which is calculated annually and varies inversely with average
personal income in the state. Subject to federal rules, each state establishes its own eligibility standards, benefit packages, payment rates and program
administration within broad federal statutory and regulatory guidelines. Every state Medicaid program must balance a number of potentially competing
demands, including the need for quality care, adequate provider access, and cost-effectiveness. In an effort to improve quality and provide more uniform and
cost-effective care, many states have implemented Medicaid managed care programs to improve access to coordinated health care services, including
preventative care, and to control health care costs. Under Medicaid managed care programs, a health plan receives capitation payments from the state. The
health plan, in turn, arranges for the provision of health care services by contracting with a network of medical providers, such as HCP. HCP has entered into
capitation agreements with health plans to manage approximately 96,000 Medicaid managed care members in its southern California and Florida markets.
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Commercial payors
According to the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, in 2009 approximately 61% of non-clderly U.S. citizens received their health carc benefits through
their employer, which contracted with health plans to administer these health care benefits. Patients enrolled in health plans offered through an employment
setting are generally referred to as commercial members. Nationally, commercial employer-sponsored health plan enrollment was approximately 167 million as
of 2011. Under the Health Reform Acts, beginning in 2014, many uninsured individuals and many individuals who receive their health insurance benefits
through small employers may purchase their health care benefits through insurance exchanges in which health plans compete directly for individual or small
group members’ enrollment. HCP derives a significant amount of its enrollment from commercial members; however, these members represent a

disproportionately small share of HCP’s operating profits.

Whether in the Medicare Advantage, commercial or Medicaid market, managed care health plans seek to provide a coordinated and efficient approach to
managing the health care needs of their enrolled populations. By negotiating with providers, such as pharmacies, hospitals and physicians, and indirectly
trying to influence physicians’ behavior through various incentive and penalty schemes, managed care companies attempt to enhance their profitability by
limiting their medical costs. These health plans have shown success in mitigating certain components of medical cost, but we believe they are limited by their
indirect relationship with physicians, who in the aggregate direct most of their patients’ health care costs. We believe that physician-led and professionally-
managed integrated medical systems such as HCP’s have a greater opportunity to influence cost and improve quality due to the close coordination of care at the-
most effective point of contact with the patient—the primary care physician. '

Capitation and FFS revenue
There are a number of different models under which an intcgrated medical system receives payment for managing and providing health care scrvices to

its members.

Fee-for-service structure. Under traditional FFS reimbursement, physicians are paid a specified FFS that they provide during a patient visit. Under
this structure, physician compensation is solely related to the volume of patient visits and procedures performed, thus offering limited financial incentive to
focus on cost containment and preventative care. FFS revenues are derived primarily from HCPs physician services and hospice care.

Capitation structure. Under capitation, payors pay a fixed amount per enrolled member, thereby subcontracting a significant portion of the
responsibility and risks for managing patient care to physicians. Global capitation represents a prospective budget from which the provider system then
manages care-rclated expenscs including payments to associated providers outside the group, such as hospitals and specialists. Compared to traditional FFS
models, we believe that capitation arrangements better align provider incentives with both quality and efficiency of care for a population of patlents We believe
that this approach improves the quality of the experience for paticnts and the potential profitability for cfficient care providers.

Since premiums paid represent a significant amount per person, the revenue and, when costs are effectively managed, profit opportunity available to an
integrated medical system under a capitated arrangement can be significant. This is particularly the case for patients with multiple diseases and senior
members. We believe that the advantages, savings and efficiencies made possible by the capitated model are most pronounced when the care demands of the
population are the most severe and require the most coordination, such as for the senior population or patients with chronic, complex and follow-on diseases.
While organized coordination of care is central to the capitated model, it is also well suited to the implementation of preventative care and disease management
over the long-term since physicians have a financial incentive to improve the overall health of their patient population.
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The inherent risk in assumption of global care risk relates to potential losses if a number of individual patients’ medical costs exceed the expected
amount. This risk is especially significant to individual practitioners or smaller physician groups who lack the scale required to spread the risk over a broad -
population. HCP has the scale, comprehensive medical delivery resources, significant infrastructure to support practicing physicians, and demonstrated care
management know-how to spread the risk of losscs over a large paticnt population.

Global model.

In Florida, New Mexico and Arizona, HCP may contract directly with health plans under global capitation arrangements that include hospital services,
because state law permits HCP to assume financial responsibility for both professional and institutional services.

In California, entities that maintain full or restricted licenses under the California Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 (Knox-Keene) are
permitted to assume financial responsibility for both professional and institutional services. As described below, in December 2013 HCP obtained a restricted
Knox-Keene health care service plan license and therefore may enter into global capitation arrangements with health plans through which HCP will assume
financial responsibility for both professional and institutional services.

In Nevada, HCP enters into global capitation arrangements to assume financial responsibility for both professional and institutional services, however,
according to the Nevada Division of Insurance (NDI), the NDI has not opined on whether it is appropriate for an entity like HCP to enter into global capitation
arrangements to assume financial responsibility for the provision of both professional and institutional services to either Medicare Advantage enrollees or
enrollees of commercial hcalth plans. Neverthcless, NDI representatives are awarc of HCP’s contracting practices and have not taken any actions to qucstion
such practices. If NDI were to determine that HCP has been inappropriately taking global risk for institutional and professional services in Nevada without
having the necessary Nevada state insurance license to do so, we may be required to obtain such a license to resolve such violations and we could be subject to
civil and criminal liability. Because of the current global capitation to HCP, and HCP’s assumption of ncarly the entire professional and institutional risk in
Nevada, Florida, New Mexico and Arizona, HCP’s health plan customers function primarily to support HCP in undertaking markcting and sales efforts to
cnroll members and processing claims in these states.

Risk-sharing model. In California, HCP currently utilizcs a capitation model in several different forms. While there are variations specific to cach
arrangement, HealthCare Partners Affiliates Medical Group and HealthCare Partners Associates Medical Group, Inc. (collectively HCPAMG), medical groups
that have entered into management services agreements with HCP, have historically contracted with health plans to receive a PMPM or percentage of premium
(POP) capitation payment for professional (physician) services and assumed the financial responsibility for professional services. In some cases, the health
plans separately enter into capitation contracts with third parties (typically hospitals) who directly receive a capitation payment and assume contractual
financial responsibility for institutional (hospital) services. In other cases, the health plan does not pay a capitation payment to the hospital, but rather
administers and pays fee-for-service claims for hospital expenses. In both cases, HCPAMG has been responsible under its health plan agreements for
managing the care dollars associated with both the professional and institutional scrvices provided for in the HCPAMG capitation payment. In the casc of
institutional services and as a result of its managed care-related administrative services agreements with hospitals, HCPAMG has recognized a percentage of
the surplus of institutional revenues less institutional expense as HCPAMG net revenues and has also been responsible for some percentage of any short-fall in
the event that institutional expenses exceed institutional revenues. In connection with HCP’s obtaining a restricted Knox-Keene license in California,
substantially all of the California health plan contracts, along with the revenues received under such contracts, have been assigned from HCPAMG to the
Knox-Keene licensee. In addition, HCP now has the legal authority to transition these health plan contracts to global capitation arrangements in which HCP is
responsible for arranging professional and institutional services in exchange for a single capitation payment. HCP is in the process of evaluating and
identifying which risk-sharing arrangements,
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if any, will be converted to giobal capitation arrangements, subject to HCP’s and the applicable heaith plan’s satisfactory negotiation and approval. Completion
of such evaluation and possible conversion is expected to occur over time.

Government regulation
In addition to the laws and regulations to which our dialysis and related lab services business is subject, the internal operations of HCP and its
contractual refationships with healthcare providers such as hospitals, other healthcare facilities, and healthcare professionals are subject to extensive and
incrcasing rcgulation by numerous fcdcral, state, and local government cntities. Thesc laws and rcgulations often arc interpreted broadly and cnforced
aggressively by multiple‘ government agencies, including the Office of Inspector General (OIG), the U.S. Department of Justice; and various state authorities.
Many of these laws and regulations are the same as those that impact our dialysis and related lab services business. For example:

= HCP’s financial relationships with healthcare providers including physicians and hospitals could subject HCP to sanctions and penalties under
the federal anti-kickback statute;

»  The referral of Medicare patients by HCP-associated physicians for the provision of DHS may subject the parties to sanctions and penalties under
the federal Stark Law; )

*  HCP’s financial relationships and those of its associated physicians may subject the parties to penalties and sanctions under state fraud and
abuse law;

*  HCP’s submission of claims to governmental payors such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs for services provided by its associated
physicians and clinical personnel may subject HCP to sanction and penalties under the FCA; and

*  HCP’s handling of electronic PHI may subject HCP to sanctions and penalties under the federal HIPAA of 1996 and its implementing privacy
and security regulations, as amended by the HITECH Act, collectively referred to as HIPAA, and state medical privacy laws which often include
penalties and restrictions that are more severe than those which arise under HIPAA.

A finding that claims for services were not covered or not payable, or the imposition of sanctions associated with a violation of any of these healthcare
laws and regulations, could result in criminal or civil penalties and exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state healthcare
programs and could have a material adverse effect on HCP’s business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot guarantee that the
arrangements or business practices of HCP will not be subject to government scrutiny or be found to violate certain healthcare laws. Government audits,
investigations and prosecutions, even if we are ultimately found to be without fault, can be costly and disruptive to HCP’s business. Moreover, changes in
healthcare legislation or government regulation may restrict HCP’s existing operations, limit their expansion or impose additional compliance requirements and
costs, any of which could have a material adverse effect on HCP’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The following includes brief descriptions of some, but not all, of the laws and regulations that, in addition to those described in relation to our dialysis
and related lab services business, affect HCP. For a discussion of the laws and regulations to which the U.S. dialysis and related lab services business is
subject that also affect HCP, see “The dialysis and related lab services business—Government regulation” above.

Licensing, certification, accreditation and related laws and guidelines. HCP clinical personnel are subject to numerous federal, state and local
licensing laws and regulations, rclating to, among other things, professional credentialing and professional ethics. Since HCP clinical personnel perform
services in medical office settings, hospitals and other types of healthcare facilities, HCP may indirectly be subject to laws applicable to those entities as well |
as ethical guidelines and operating standards of professional trade associations and private accreditation commissions, such as the American Medical
Association and the Joint Commission. There are penalties for non-compliance with these Jaws and standards, including loss of professional license, civil or
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criminal fines and penalties, loss of hospital admitting privileges, federal health care program disenrollment, loss of billing privileges, and exclusion from
participation in various governmental and other third-party healthcare programs. '

Professional licensing requirements. HCP’s clinical personnel including physicians must satisfy and maintain their professional licensing in the
states where they practice medicine. Activities that qualify as professional misconduct under state law may subject them to sanctions, including the loss of
their licenses and could subject HCP to sanctions as well. Some state boards of medicine impose reciprocal discipline, that is, if a physician is disciplined for
having committed professional misconduct in one state where he or she is licensed, another state where he or she is also licensed may impose the same
discipline even though the conduct occurred in another state. Therefore, if an HCP-associated physician is licensed in multiple states, sanctions or loss of
licensure in one state may result in sanction or the loss of licensure in another state. Professional licensing sanctions may also result in exclusion from
participation in governmental healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, as well as other third-party programs.

Corporate practice of medicine and fee splitting. Three states in which HCP operates, California, Nevada and Arizona have laws that prohibit
business entities, such as our Company and our subsidiaries, from practicing medicine, employing physicians to practice medicine or exercising control over
medical decisions by physicians, known collectively as the corporate practice of medicine. These states also prohibit entities from engaging in certain
arrangements, such as fee-splitting, with physicians. In some states these prohibitions are expressly stated in a statute or regulation, while in other states the

prohibition is a matter of judicial or regulatory interpretation.

In California, a violation of the corporate practice of medicine prohibition constitutes the unlawful practice of medicine, which is a public offense
punishable by fines and other criminal penalties. In addition, any physician who participates in a scheme that violates California’s corporate practice of
medicine prohibition may be punished for aiding and abetting a lay entity in the unlawful practice of medicine. In Nevada, violation of the corporate practice
of medicine rules by a lay entity also constitutes the unlawful practice of medicine. This violation is a felony punishable by fines and other criminal penalties.
Physicians in Nevada can similarly be punished for aiding and abetting in the unlicensed practice of medicine. In Arizona, although state statutes establish
professional corporations for the provision of professional services including medical services, state statutes and regulations do not specifically address the
corporate practice of medicine prohibition or proscribe penalties for its violation. Accordingly, a violation of the corporate practice of medicine prohibition as
set forth in Arizona case law would be deemed illegal and result in the voiding of the offending employment or contractual relationship at issue.

In California, Nevada and Arizona, where the corporate practice of medicine is prohibited, HCP has historically operated by maintaining long-term
management contracts with multiple associated professional organizations which, in turn, employ or contract with physicians to provide those professional
medical services required by the enrollees of the payors with which the professional organizations contract. Under these management agreements, HCP
performs only non-medical administrative services, does not represent that it offers medical services, and does not exercise influence or control over the
practice of medicine by the physicians or the associated physician groups with which it contracts. For example, in California, HCP has full-service
management contracts with HealthCare Partners Affiliates Medical Group and HealthCare Partners Associates Medical Group, Inc. (collectively HCPAMG).
The HCPAMG entities are owned by California-licensed physicians and professional medical corporations and contract with physicians to provide
professional medical services. In Nevada, HCP’s Nevada subsidiaries have similar management agreements with Nevada professional corporations that
employ and contract with physicians to provide professional medical services.

In Arizona, HCP arranges for the provision of patient care services through an independent practice association named Arizona Integrated Physicians
(AIP). AIP is a professional corporation that contracts with independent physicians and medical group practices. In this way, the professional medical services
required by HCP members in Arizona are provided by an Arizona professional entity (AIP) and structured to be in compliance with Arizona’s corporate

practice of medicine laws.
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Some of the relevant laws, regulations, and agency interpretations in California, Nevada and Arizona have been subject to limited judicial and regulatory
interpretation. Moreover, state laws are subject to change. Regulatory authorities and other parties, including HCP’s associated physicians, may assert that,
despite the management agreements and other arrangements through which HCP operates, we are engaged in the prohibited corporate practice of medicine or
that HCP’s arrangcments constitute unlawful fce-splitting. If this werce to occur, we could be subject to civil or criminal penaltics, HCP’s agrecements could be
found legally invalid and unenforceable (in whole or in part), or we could be required to restructure its contractual arrangements.

If we were required to restructure HCP's operating structures in California, Nevada or Arizona due to determination that a corporate practice of medicine
violation existed, such a restructuring might include revisions of the California and Nevada management services agreements, which might include a
modification of the management fee, and/or establishing an alternative structure. For example, Nevada or Arizona might have to obtain the equivalent of a
California Knox-Keene license in such state in order to comply with the corporate practice of medicine rules while contracting directly with payors and, in
turn, physicians, to providc physician serviccs to the payors” enrollecs. In California, HCP’s restricted Knox-Keene licensc has created potential flexibility for
HCP in the event regulatory authorities seck to enforce corporate practice of medicine or fee splitting laws based upon current management services
rclationships with HCPAMG. HCP’s restricted Knox-Kcene liccnse allows the HCP-owned licensed entity to contract with or employ physicians as a result of
an exemption from California’s corporate practice of medicine laws applicable to Knox-Keene licensees.

Knox-Keene. The California Department of Managed Health Care (DMHC) licenses and regulates health care service plans (HCSPs) such as health
plans pursuant to Knox-Keene. In addition to administering Knox-Keene’s various patient’s rights protections for HCSP-enrolled individuals, the DMHC is
responsible for ensuring the financial sustainability over time of HCSPs and other regulated entities. As such, the DMHC is charged with continually
monitoring the financial health of regulated entities. The DMHC’s Division of Financial Oversight conducts examinations of the fiscal and administrative
affairs of licensed HCSPs to protect consumcrs and providcrs from potential insolvencics. Financial examination reviews include examinations of cash flow,
premium receivables, intercompany transactions and medical liabilities. The examination also ensures that there is adequate tangible net equity (TNE), as
determined according to calculations included in Knox-Keene. The TNE regulations for organizations holding a Knox-Keene license, like HCP, vary
depending on circumstances, but generally require any licensee to have on hand in cash or cash equivalents a minimum of the greater of (i) $1 million; (ii) the
sum of 2% of the first $150 million of annualized premium revenues plus 1% of annualized premium revenues in excess of $150 million; or (iii) the sum of
8% of the first $150 million of annualized health care expenditures (except those paid on a capitated basis or managed hospital payment basis); plus 4% of the
annualized health care expenditures, except those paid on a capitated basis or managed hospital payment basis, which are in excess of $150 million; plus 4%
of annualized hospital expenditures paid on a managed hospital payment basis. In its sole discretion, DMHC may require, as a condition to obtaining or
maintaining an HCSP license, that a licensee accept certain contractual undertakings such that the licensee is obligated to maintain TNE in amounts greater
than the minimum amount described above. Such contractual undertakings may require 130% or more of TNE to be maintained by a licensee.

The DMHC interprets Knox-Keene to apply to both HCSPs and downstream contracting entities, including provider groups that enter into global risk
contracts with licensed HCSPs. A global risk contract is a health care services contract in which a downstream contracting entity agrees to provide both
professional (e.g., medical group) services and institutional (e.g., hospital) services subject to an at-risk or capitated reimbursement methodology. According to
DMHC, cntitics that accept global risk must obtain a restricted Knox-Keene licensc as did a subsidiary of HCP in December 2013.

Under a restricted Knox-Keene license, entities may enter into global risk contracts with other licensed HCSPs. Holders of restricted Knox-Keene
licenses must comply with the same financial requirements as HCSPs with full licenses, including demonstrating specific fevels of TNE, but are granted
waivers from meeting marketing and other terms of full Knox-Keene licensure. The consequences of operating without a license include civil penalties,
criminal penalties and the issuance of cease and desist orders.
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One of HCP’s subsidiaries (the Plan) applied for a restricted Knox-Keene license on April 26, 2013, which was approved by DMHC on December 31,
2013. This allows HCP to contract directly with HCSPs to simplify its historic contractual and financial structure and to facilitate expansion into new
markets in California. Under the Knox-Keene license, the Plan is prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends or making any distribution of cash or
property to the Plan’s parent, affiliates, or shareholders, if such a distribution would cause the Plan to fail to maintain TNE, result in insufficient working
capital or cash flow as required by DMHC regulation, or result in the Plan being unable to provide or arrange health care services. In addition, the Plan is
subject to DMHC oversight and must seek approval before incurring any debt or guaranteeing any debt relating to the Plan’s parent, affiliates, or shareholders.
The Plan must also submit proposcd global capitation contracts to DMHC for approval. Thus, HCP and the Plan arc now subject to additional regulatory
burdens, including: (i) regulatory oversight of operations, (ii) the need to seek approval for all material business changes, (iii) significant requirements to
maintain certain TNE levels, and (iv) other operating limitations imposed by the Knox-Keene Act and its regulations.

HCP services

Approximately 91% of HCP’s operating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 were derived from multi-year capitation contracts with health
plans. Under these contracts, HCP’s health plan customers delegate full responsibility for member care to physicians and health care facilities that are part of
HCP’s network. In return, HCP receives a PMPM fee for each HCP member. As a result, HCP has financial and clinical accountability for a population of
members. In California, HCP does not assume direct financial risk for institutional (hospital) services, but is responsible for managing the care dollars
associated with both the professional (physician) and institutional services being provided for the PMPM fee attributable to both professional and institutional
services. In those cases and as a result of its managed care-related administrative services agreements with hospitals, HCP recognizes the surplus of
institutional revenues less institutional expense as HCP net revenues and is also responsible for any short-fall in the event that institutional expenses exceed
institutional revenucs. In addition to revenues recognized for financial reporting purposes, HCP measures its total care dollars undcr management which
includes the PMPM fee payable to third parties for institutional (hospital) services where HCP manages the care provided to its members by hospitals and
other institutional provides, which fces arc not included in Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) revenues. For the year cnded Deccmber 31,
2013, HCP’s total consolidated operating revenues were $3.2 billion and total care dollars under management were $4.1 billion.

HCP provides complete medical care through a network of participating physicians and other health care professionals. Through its group model, HCP
employs, directly (where permitted by state law) and through its associated physician groups, approximately 460 associated group full-time primary care
physicians who practice in clinics that are operated by HCP. Through its IPA model, HCP contracts with approximately 3,100 additional network primary
care physicians who provide care for HCP’s members in an independent office setting. These physicians are complemented by a network of several thousand
specialists and ancillary providers and 204 network hospitals that provide specialty or institutional care to the patients of HCP’s associated physicians,
physician groups and IPAs. '

In order to comply with local regulations prohibiting the corporate practice of medicine, many of HCP’s group physicians are employed by associated
medical groups with which HCP has entered into long-term management agreements, while, in other states, the physicians are employed directly by HCP. The
largest of these HCP managed medical groups is HCPAMG, which employs, directly or indircctly, over 600 full-time primary care physicians, specialists and
hospitalists. See “—Governmental Regulations—Corporate Practice of Medicine and Fee Splitting” above.

HCP does not own hospitals, although hospitals are an essential part of its provider network. In most cases, however, HCP contracts or otherwise aligns
with hospitals to manage the utilization, rcadmission and cost of hospital scrvices. Most HCP patients receive specialty care through HCP’s network bascd on

referrals made by
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their primary care physician. These specialists may be reimbursed based on capitation, case rates or on a discounted FFS rate.

A typical FFS primary care physician might treat up to 30 to 40 patients per day. In contrast, HCP group physicians typically see 18 to 20 patients per
day, which we belicve is a morc appropriatc benchmark to ensure there is sufficient time to understand all of the patients’ clinical nceds. HCP care tcams,
including nurses, engage in outreach to patients in order help monitor the fragile and high risk patients, and help improve adherence to physicians’ care plans.
During these visits, HCP’s physicians, nurses and educators use the time to educate patients and manage their health care needs. The goal of this preventative
care delivery model is to keep patients healthy. Education improves self-management and compliance which allows the patient to recognize early signs of their
disease and seek appropriate care. We believe this translates into earlier intervention, which in turn leads to fewer emergency room visits, fewer hospital
admissions and fewer hospital bed days (the most expensive location for health care). This clinical model seeks to provide early diagnosis of disease or
deterioration in a chronic and complex condition and provide preventive care to maintain optimal health and avert unnecessary hospitalization. Clinic-based
casc managers and hospitalists coordinate with the primary care physicians to ensure that patients are receiving propcr care whether they are in the clinic, in
the hospital or are not regularly accessing health care. Physicians and case managers encourage patients to regularly visit the clinics in order to enhance their
day-to-day health and diagnose any .illness or deterioration in condition as early as possible.

HCP’s information technology system, including HCP’s electronic health record and data warehouse, is designed to support the HCP delivery model
with data-driven opportunities to improve the quality and cost effectiveness of the care received by its members. Using informatics technology, HCP has
created disease registries that track large numbers of patients with defined medical conditions. HCP applies the data from these registries to manage the care for
patients with similar medical conditions which we believe leads to a better medical outcome. We believe its approach to using this data is effective because the
information is communicated by the patient’s physician rather than the health plan or disease management companies. '

HCP employs a wide variety of other information applications in order to service IPA and network providers using web connectivity. The HCP Connect!
on-line portal provides web-based eligibility, referrals, electronic claims submission and explanation of benefits, and other communication vehicles for
individual physician offices. The success of this suite of applications has enhanced HCP’s ability to manage its IPA networks, and has resulted in significant
back-office efficiencies for HCP and its associated physician groups. HCP has further expanded its ability to share key utilization and clinical data with its
internal and contracted physicians and specialists through the Physician Information Portal and the Clinical Viewer. Through these secure web portals, a
physician is able to obtain web-based, point of care information regarding a patient, including diagnosis history, provide quality indicators, historical risk-
adjustment coding information, pharmacy medication history, and other key information. In addition to its web-portals geared towards physicians, HCP has
recently introduced a patient on-line portal to enable HCP’s patients to securely view their own clinical information, schedule physician appointments and
interact electronically with their physicians. HCP believes these tools help to lead to high quality clinical outcomes, create internal efficiencies, and enhance the
satisfaction of its associated physicians and patients.

In addition, HCP uses its data to carefully track high utilizing patients through robust data warehousing and data mining technologies. HCP filters the
data warehouse to identify and reach out to patients with high-utilization patterns who are inefficiently using resources such as visiting an emergency room
when either a same-day appointment or urgent care center would be more appropriate and satisfactory for the member. High utilizing patients are identified and
tracked as part of HCP’s electronic health record by their physician and HCP’s care management staff. Specific care plans are attached to each of these
patients and tracked carefully for full compliance. The objective is to proactively manage their care at times when these patients are either not compliant with
the care plan or when changing circumstances require care managers to develop new and more suitable care plans. By using these resources, HCP has
achieved improvements in quality of care, satisfaction and cost.
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We believe HCP is well positioned to profitably leverage marketplace demands for greater provider accountability, measurable quality results and cost
effective medical care. We believe that HCP’s business model is likely to continue to be an attractive alternative for health plans looking for high quality, cost
effective delivery systems, physicians seeking an attractive practice environment and patients interested in a highly integrated approach to managing their
medical care. Additionally, we believe that the scale of HCP’s business allows it to spread capitation risk over a large population of members, invest in
comprehensive analytic and health care information tools as well as clinical and quality measurement infrastructure, and recognize administrative and
operating efficiencies. For these reasons, we believe that HCP offers patients, physicians and health plans a proven platform for addressing many of the most
pressing challenges facing the U.S. health carc system, including rising medical costs.

We also believe HCP has the ability to demonstrably improve medical outcomes and patient satisfaction while effectively managing costs through the
following unique competitive strategies and internal progress and systems: :

«  HCP’s clinical leadership and associated group and network physicians devote significant efforts to ensuring that HCP’s members receive the
most appropriate care in the most appropriate manner.

»  HCP is committed to maximizing its patients’ satisfaction levels.

*  HCP has the scale and, combined with its strong reputation and high quality patient care, that makes it an attractive partner for health plans
comparcd to smaller provider groups that may have a higher risk of default and may not have thc samc resources to devote to develop the same
level of patient care.

*  HCP has nearly three decades of experience in managing complex disease cases for its population of patients. As a result, HCP has developed a
rich dataset of patient care experiences and outcomes which permits HCP to proactively monitor and intervene in improving the care of its
members.

«  HCP’s senior management team possesses substantial experience with the healthcare industry with average experience of nearly 35 years, as of
December 31, 2013.

Locations of HCP clinics
As of December 31, 2013, HCP managed a total of 196 medical clinics, of which 68 clinics were located in California, 62 clinics were located in
Florida, 49 clinics were located in Nevada and 17 clinics were located in New Mexico. As described above, HCP members in Arizona receive services at
independent physician and medical group practice offices. In this way, HCP does not directly manage clinics in Arizona.

Ancillary services and strategic initiatives business

Ancillary services and strategic initiatives, which include our international dialysis operations, as described below, accounted for approximately 7% of
our total consolidated net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 and consist primarily of the following as of December 31, 2013:

*  Pharmacy services. DaVita Rx is a pharmacy that provides oral medications to DaVita’s patients with ESRD. The main objectives of the
pharmacy arc to improve clinical outcomes by facilitating incrcascd paticnt compliance and to providc our patients a convenient way to fill their
prescription needs by delivering the prescriptions to the center where they are treated. Revenues are recognized as prescriptions are filled and
shipped to patients. On January 8, 2013, we entered into an agreement with Fresenius Medical Care (FMC) and began to provide certain pharmacy
scrvices to FMC’s paticnts in the U.S. in late 2013.

«  Disease management services. VillageHealth provides advanced care management services to health plans and government agencies for
employees/members diagnosed with chronic kidney disease (CKD) or ESRD. Through a combination of clinical coordination, medical claims
analysis and information technology, we endeavor to assist our customers and patients in obtaining superior renal health care
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and improved clinical outcomes, as well as helping to reduce overall medical costs. Revenues are typically based upon an established contract fee
and are recognized as earned over the contract period and can include additional fees for cost savings recognized by certain customers. In 2013,
VillageHealth also operated a Medicare Advantage ESRD Special Needs Plan in partnership with a payor that works with CMS to provide ESRD
patients full service health care. We are at risk for all medical costs of the program in excess of the capitation payments.

*  Vascular access services. Lifcline providcs management and administrative services to physician-owned vascular access clinics that provide
surgical and interventional radiology services for dialysis patients. Lifeline also is the majority-owner of four vascular access clinics and one
wholly-owned vascular access clinic. Management fees generated from providing management and administrative services are recognized as earned
typically based on a percentage of revenues or cash collections generated by the clinics. Revenues associated with the vascular access clinic that is
majority-owned are recognized in the period when physician scrvices are provided.

*  ESRD clinical research programs. DaVita Clinical Research conducts research trials principally with dialysis patients and provides
administrative support for research conducted by DaVita-associated nephrology practices. Revenues are based upon an established fee per study,
as determined by contract with drug companies and other sponsors and are recognized as eamed according to the contract terms.

*  Physician services. DaVita Nephrology Partners offers practice managément and administrative serviccs to physicians who specialize in
nephrology under management and administrative services agreements. Practice management and administrative services typically include
operations management, IT support, billing and collections, credentialing and coding, and other support functions. Management fees generated
from providing practice management and administrative services to physician practices are recognized as earned typically based upon cash
collcctions gencrated by the practiccs. '

»  Direct primary care. Paladina Health is a healthcare services organization that operates membership-based primary care clinics mainly through
employer-based on-site and newer-site clinics. The clinics offer patients more personalized and improved access to primary care physicians,
including unlimited visits and same-day or next-day appointments. Physicians focus on clinical outcomes and patient satisfaction. Revenues are
recognized over the membership period.

International dialysis operations

As of December 31, 2013, we operated or provided administrative services to a total of 73 outpatient dialysis centers located in ten countries outside of
the U.S. serving approximately 5,400 patients. Our international dialysis operations continue to be in a start-up phase in which we have been developing and
acquiring dialysis centers in various strategic markets, since the commencement of our international operations during the fourth quarter of 2011. Our overall
net revenues generated from our international operations were less than 1% of our consolidated net revenues during 2013. Our international operations are
included as a component of our ancillary services and strategic initiatives.

The table below summarizes the number and locations of our international outpatient dialysis centers.

2013 2012
Number of centers at beginning of year 36 11
Acquired centers 38 13
Developed centers 2 9
Managed centers —_ 3
Closed centers [€] —
Number of centers at end of year _n 36
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The locations of our international outpatient dialysis centers are as follows:

Malaysia 21
India 13
Germany 10
Poland 8
Colombia 7
Portugal 4
Taiwan 4
China 2
Saudi Arabia 2
Singapore 2

S

Competition
U.S. and International dialysis competition

The U.S. dialysis industry has consolidated significantly over time but still remains highly competitive, particularly in terms of acquiring existing
outpatient dialysis centers. We continue to face a high degree of competition in the U.S. dialysis industry from large and medium-sized providers who compete
directly with us for the acquisition of dialysis businesses, relationships with physicians to act as medical directors and for individual patients. In addition, as
we continue our international dialysis expansion into various international markets, we will face competition from large and medium-sized providers for these
acquisition targets as well. Because of the ease of entry into the dialysis business and the ability of physicians to be medical directors for their own centers,
competition for growth in existing and expanding markets is not limited to large competitors with substantial financial resources. Acquisitions, developing new
outpatient dialysis centers, patient retention and physician relationships are a critical component of our growth strategy and our business could be adversely
affected if we are not able to continue to make acquisitions on reasonable terms, continue to develop new dialysis centers, maintain or establish new
relationships with physicians or if we experience significant patient attrition to our competitors. Competition for qualified physicians to act as medical
directors and for inpatient dialysis services agreements with hospitals is also intense. Occasionally, we have also experienced. competition from former medical
directors or referring physicians who have opened their own dialysis centers. In addition, we experience competitive pressures in connection with negotiating
contracts with commercial healthcare payors.

The two largest dialysis companies, FMC and our company, account for approximately 71% of outpatient dialysis patients in the U.S. with our
company serving approximatcly 35% of the total outpatient dialysis patients. Approximately 44% of the centers not owncd by us or FMC arc owned or |
controlled by hospitals or non-profit organizations. Hospital-based and non-profit dialysis units typically are more difficult to acquire than physician-owned
centers. )

FMC also manufactures a full line of dialysis supplies and equipment in addition to owning and operating outpatient dialysis centers worldwide. This
may give FMC cost advantages over us because of their ability to manufacture their own products. However, FMC has been one of our largest suppliers of
dialysis products and equipment over the last several years. In January 2010, we entered into an agreement with FMC which committed us to purchase a
certain amount of dialysis equipment, parts and supplies from FMC through 2013. In addition, in August 2006 in connection with the DVA Renal Healthcare
acquisition, we also entered into a product supply agreement with Gambro Renal Products, Inc. (Gambro) that requires us to purchase a certain amount of our
hemodialysis non-equipment product supplies, such as dialyzers, at fixed prices through 2015. Our purchases of products in these categories generally
offered by both FMC and Gambro represent approximately 4% of our total U.S. dialysis operating expenses. During 2013, we purchased hemodialysis
products and supplies from Gambro representing approximately 2% of our total U.S. dialysis operating expenses.
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HCP’s competition
HCP’s business is highly competitive. HCP competes with managed care organizations, hospitals, medical groups and individuat physicians in its
markets. HCP compctcs with other primary carc physician groups or physicians who contract with health plans for membership. Health plans contract with
care providers on the basis of costs, reputation, scope, efficiency and stability. Individual members select a primary care physician at the time of membership
with the health plan. Location, name recognition, quality indicators and other factors go into that decision. For example, in Califomia, HCP competes with
both Permanente Medical Group, which is the exclusive provider for Kaiser, and Heritage Provider Network. However, HCP’s principal competitors for
members and health plan contracts vary by market.

Corporate compliance program

Our businesses are subject to extensive federal, state and local government regulations. Management has designed and implemented a corporate
compliance program as part of our commitment to comply fully with all applicable laws and regulations and to maintain the high standards of conduct we
expect from all of our teammates. We continuously review this program and enhance it as necessary. The primary purposes of the program include:

»  Assessing and identifying risks for existing and new businesses, such as HCP;

» Increasing, through training and education, the awareness of our teammates and affiliated professionals of the necessity of complying with all
applicable laws, regulations and company policies and procedures;

» Auditing and monitoring the activities of our operating units and business support functions on a regular basis to identify potential instances of
noncompliance in a timely manner; and

+  Ensuring that we take steps to resolve instances of noncompliance or to address areas of potential noncompliance as promptly as we become aware
of them.

We have a code of conduct that cach of our tcammates and affiliated professionals must follow and we have a confidential toll-frce hotline for teammates
and patients to report potential instances of noncompliance. Our Chief Compliance Officer administers the compliance program. The Chief Compliance
Officer reports directly to our Chief Operating Officer and to the Compliance Committee of our Board of Directors.

Insurance

We maintain insurance for property and general liability, professional liability, directors’ and officers’ liability, workers compensation and other
coverage in amounts and on terms deemed adequate by management based on our actual claims experience and expectations for future claims. Future claims
could, however, exceed our applicable insurance coverage. Physicians practicing at our dialysis centers are required to maintain their own malpractice
insurance and our medical directors are required to maintain coverage for their individual private medical practices. Our liability policies cover our medical
directors for the performance of their duties as medical directors at our outpatient dialysis centers. HCP also maintains general and professional liability
insurance through various independent and related parties. HCP has purchased its primary general and professional liability insurance from California
Mcdical Group Insurance in which HCP owns a 67% cquity intcrest.
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patient decreases from the employer group health plan rate to the lower Medicare payment rate. We have seen an increase in the number of patients who have
government-based programs as their primary payors which we believe is largely a result of improved mortality and recent economic conditions which have a
negative impact on the percentage of patients covered under commercial insurance plans. To the extent there are sustained or increased job losses in the U.S.,
independent of whether general economic conditions might be improving, we could experience a continued decrease in the number of patients covered under
commercial plans. We could also experience a further decrease if changes to the healthcare regulatory system result in fewer patients covered under commercial
plans or an increase of patients covered under more restrictive commercial plans with lower reimbursement rates. In addition, our continuous process of
negotiations with commercial payors under existing or potentially new agreements could result in a decrease in the number of patients under commercial plans
to the extent that we cannot reach agreement with commercial payors on rates and other terms, resulting in termination or non-renewals of existing agreements or
our inability to enter into new ones. If there is a significant reduction in the number of patients under higher-paying commercial plans relative to government-
based programs that pay at lower rates, it would have a material adverse effect on our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

Changes in the structure of and payment rates under the Medicare ESRD program, including the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, the
Budget Control Act of 2011 and other healthcare reform initiatives, could substantially reduce our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

Approximately 48% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues for the ycar ended December 31, 2013 was generated from patients who have
Medicare as their primary payor. For patients with Medicare coverage, all ESRD payments for dialysis treatments are made under a single bundled payment
rate which provides a fixed payment rate to encompass all goods and services provided during the dialysis treatment, including pharmaceuticals that were
historically separately reimbursed to the dialysis providers, such as EPO, vitamin D analogs and iron supplements, irrespective of the level of
pharmaceuticals administered or additional services performed. Most lab services that used to be paid directly to laboratories are also included in the bundled
payment. The bundled payment rate is also adjusted for certain patient characteristics, a geographic usage index and certain other factors. '

The current bundled payment system presents certain operating, clinical and financial risks, which include:

«  Risk that our rates are reduced by CMS. CMS issued the 2014 final rule for the ESRD PPS, which phases in over three to four years the 12% cut
mandated by ATRA. Although no reimbursement reduction is expected in 2014 or 2015 under the final ESRD PPS rule, it is anticipated that
future reductions will occur no later than 2017. If these future reductions are implemented as currently anticipated, they could ncgatively impact
our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

< Risk that incrcascs in our operating costs will outpace the Medicare rate increases we receive. We expect to continue expericncing increases in
operating costs that are subject to inflation, such as labor and supply costs, regardless of whether there is a compensating inflation-based increase
in Medicare payment rates or in payments under the bundled payment rate system.

»  Risk of federal budget sequestration cuts. As a result of the BCA and subsequent activity in Congress, a $1.2 trillion sequester (across-the-board

spending cuts) in discretionary programs took effect on March [, 2013. In particular, a 2% reduction to Medicare payments took effect on
April 1, 2013. The across-the-board spending cuts pursuant to the sequester have affected and will continue to adversely affect our revenues,
earnings and cash flows.

*  Risk that we may not be able to comply with the CMS ESRD Quality Incentive Program requirements. Beginning in payment year 2016, CMS
proposed to adopt two new clinical and reporting measures, continue using six existing clinical and reporting measures, revise two existing clinical
and reporting measures, and expand one cxisting reporting measure. The final rule establishes calendar ycar 2014 as the performance period for all
of the quality measures. To the extent we are not able to meet CMS’s quality measures, it could have a material adverse effect on our revenues,

earnings and cash flows.
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+  Risk that CMS will inadequately price oral-only ESRD drugs for inclusion in the bundle. Under the ESRD PPS, beginning January 1, 2016,
certain oral-only ESRD drugs will be included in the ESRD bundled payment to dialysis facilities. Inadcquate pricing could havc a significant
financial impact on our dialysis facilities given the volume and value of these drugs we use.

For additional details regarding the risks we face for failing to adhere to our Medicare and Medicaid regulatory compliance obligations, see the risk factor
below under the heading “If we fail to adhere to all of the complex government regulations that apply to our business, we could suffer severe consequences that
would substantially reduce our revenues, earnings, cash flows and stock price”.

Health care reform could substantially reduce our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

We cannot predict how employers, private payors or persons buying insurance might react to the changes brought on by broad U.S. health care reform
lcgislation or what form many of these regulations will takc beforc implementation.

The health care reform legislation introduced health care insurance exchanges which provide a marketplace for eligible individuals and small employers
to purchase health care insurance. Although we cannot predict the short or long term effects of these measures, we believe the health care insurance exchanges
could result in a reduction in patients covered by commercial insurance or an increase of patients covered through the exchanges under more restrictive
commercial plans with lower reimbursement rates. To the extent that the implementation of such exchanges results in a reduction in patients covered by
commercial insurance or a reduction in reimbursement rates for our services from commercial and/or government payors, our revenues, earnings and cash

flows could be adversely affccted.

In addition, the health care reform legislation introduced severe penalties for the knowing and improper retention of overpayments collected from
government payors and reduced the timeline to file Medicare claims. As a result, we made significant initial investments in new resources to accelerate the time
it takes us to identify and process overpayments and we deployed significant resources to reduce our timeline and improve our claims processing methods to
ensure that our Medicare claims are filed in a timely fashion. We may be required to make additional investments in the future. Failure to timely identify and
return overpayments may result in significant additional penalties, which may have a negative impact on our revenues, earnings and cash flows. Failure to file
a claim within the one year window could result in payment denials, adversely affecting our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

The health care reform legislation also added several new tax provisions that, among other things, imposc various fces and excise taxes, and limit
compensation deductions for health insurance providers and their affiliates. These rules could negatively impact our cash flow and tax liabilities.

The CMS Center for Medicare & Medicaid Innovation (Innovation Center) is currently working with various healthcare providers to develop and
implement ACOs and other innovative models of care for Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries. We are currently uncertain of the extent to which these models
of care, including ACOs, Bundled Payments for Care Improvement Initiative, Comprehensive ESRD Care Model (which includes the development of
ESCOs), the Comprehensive Primary Care Initiative, the Duals Demonstration, or other models, will impact the health care market. Our U.S. dialysis
business may choose to participate in one or several of these models either as a partner with other providers or independently. We are currently seeking to
participate in the Comprehensive ESRD Care Model with the Innovation Center. Even if we do not participate in this or other programs, some of our patients
may be assigned to a program, in which case the quality and cost of care that we furnish will be included in an ACO’s or other programs’ calculations. As
new models of care emerge, we may be at risk for losing our Medicare patient base, which would have a materially adverse effect on our revenues, earnings
and cash flow. Other initiatives in the government or private sector may arise, including the development of models similar to ACOs, IPAs and integrated
delivery systems or evolutions of those concepts which could adversely impact our business.
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CMS instituted screening procedures which we expect will delay the Medicare contractor approval process, potentially causing a delay in
reimbursement. We anticipate the new screening and enrollment requirements will require additional personnel and financial resources and will potentially
delay the enrollment and revalidation of our centers which in tun will delay payment. These delays may negatively impact our revenues, earnings and cash

flows.

Other reform measures allow CMS to place a moratorium on new enrollment of providers and to suspend payment to providers upon a credible
allegation of fraud from any source. These types of reform measures, as well as other measures, could adversely impact our revenues, earnings and cash

flows depending upon the scope and breadth of the implementing regulations.

There is also a considerable amount of uncertainty as to the prospective implementation of the federal healthcare reform legislation and what similar
measures might be enacted at the state level. The enacted reforms as well as future legislative changes could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, including lowering our reimbursement rates and increasing our expenses.

Changes in state Medicaid or other non-Medicare government-based programs or payment rates could reduce our revenues, earnings and cash
flows.

Approximately 18% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 was generated from patients who have state
Medicaid or other non-Medicare government-based programs, such as coverage through the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), as their primary coverage. As
state governments and other governmental organizations face increasing budgetary pressure, we may in turn face reductions in payment rates, delays in the
receipt of payments, limitations on enrollee eligibility or other changes to the applicable programs. For example, certain state Medicaid programs and the VA
have recently considered, proposed or implemented payment rate reductions.

The VA recently adopted Medicare’s bundled PPS pricing methodology for any veterans receiving treatment from non-VA providers under a new national
contracting initiative. Since we are a non-VA provider, these reimbursements are now tied to a percentage of Medicare reimbursement, and we have additional
exposure to any dialysis reimbursement changes made by CMS. Approximately 2% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2013 was generated by the VA. We entered into a five-year Nationwide Dialysis Services contract with the VA which is subject to one-year
renewal periods, consistent with all provider agreements with the VA under this contract. These agreements provide for the right of the VA to terminate the
agrcements without causc on short notice. Should the VA not renew or cancel these agreements for any reason, we may ceasc accepting paticnts under this
program and may be forced to close centers, which could adversely affect our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

State Medicaid programs are increasingly adopting Medicare-like bundled payment systems, but sometimes these payment systems are poorly defined
and are implemented without any claims processing infrastructure, or patient or facility adjusters. If these payment systems are implemented without any
adjusters and claims processing changes, Medicaid payments will be substantially reduced and the costs to submit such claims may increase, which will
have a negative impact on our revenues, earnings and cash flows. In addition, some state Medicaid program eligibility requirements mandate that citizen
enrollees in such programs provide documented proof of citizenship. If our patients cannot meet these proof of citizenship documentation requirements, they
may be denied coverage under these programs, resulting in decreased patient volumes and revenue. These Medicaid payment and enrollment changes, along
with similar changes to other non-Medicare government programs could reduce the rates paid by these programs for dialysis and related services, delay the
receipt of payment for services provided, and further limit eligibility for coverage which could adversely affect our revenues, earnings and cash flows.
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Changes in clinical practices, payment rates or regulations impacting EPO and other pharmaceuticals could adversely affect our operating
results, reduce our revenues, earnings and cash flows and negatively impact our ability to care for patients.

Medicare bundles EPO into the prospective payment system such that dosing variations do not change the amount paid to a dialysis facility. Although
some Medicaid programs and other payors suggest movement towards a bundled payment system inclusive of EPO, some non-Medicare payors continue to
pay for EPO separately from the treatment rate. The administration of EPO and other pharmaceuticals that are separately billable accounted for approximately
5% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013, with EPO alone accounting for approximately 3% of our dialysis
and related lab services revenues during that period. Changes in physician clinical practices that result in further decreased utilization of prescribed
pharmaceuticals or changes in payment rates for those pharmaceuticals could reduce our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

Evaluations on the utilization and reimbursement for ESAs, which have occurred in the past and may occur in the future, and related actions by the
U.S. Congress and federal agencies, could result in further restrictions on the utilization and reimbursement for ESAs. Additionally, commercial payors have
increasingly examined their administration policies for EPO and, in some cases, have modified those policies. Changes in labeling of EPO and other
pharmaceuticals in a manner that alters physician practice patterns or accepted clinical practices, changes in private and governmental payment criteria,
including the introduction of EPO administration policies or the conversion to alternate types of administration of EPO or other pharmaceuticals that result in
further decreases in utilization of EPO for patients covered by commercial payors could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, earnings and cash
flows. Further increased utilization of EPO for patients for whom the cost of EPO is included in a bundled reimbursement rate, or further decreases in
reimbursement for EPO and other pharmaceuticals that are not included in a bundled reimbursement rate, could also have a material adverse effect on our

revenues, earnings and cash flows.

Additionally, as a result of the current high level of scrutiny and controversy, we may be subject to increased inquiries or audits from a variety of
" governmental bodies or claims by third parties. Although we believe our anemia management practices and other pharmaceutical administration practices have
been compliant with existing laws and regulations, increased inquiries or audits from governmental bodies or claims by third parties would require
management’s attention, and could result in significant legal expense. Any negative findings could result in substantial financial penalties or repayment
obligations, the imposition of certain obligations on and changes to our practices and procedures as well as the attendant financial burden on us to comply
with the obligations, or exclusion from future participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, and could have a material adverse effect on our revenues,

earnings and cash flows.

Changes in EPO pricing could materially reduce our earnings and cash flows and affect our ability to care for our patients.

Future increases in the cost of EPO without corresponding increases in payment rates for EPO from commercial payors and without corresponding
increases in the Medicare bundled rate could have a material adverse effect on our earnings and cash flows and ultimately reduce our income. In
November 2011, we entered into a seven year Sourcing and Supply Agreement with Amgen USA Inc., pursuant to which we committed to purchase EPO in
amounts necessary to meet no less than 90% of our requirements for ESAs. As long as we meet certain conditions, the agreement limits Amgen’s ability to
unilaterally decide to increase the price for EPO during the term of the agreement. Our agreement with Amgen for EPO provides for discounted pricing and
rebates for EPO. However, some of the rebates are subject to various conditions including but not limited to future pricing levels of EPO by Amgen and data
submission by us. In addition, the rebates are subject to certain limitations. We cannot predict whether, over the seven year term of the agreement, we will
continue to receive the rebates for EPO that we have received in the past, or whether we will continue to achieve the same levels of rebates within that structure
as we have historically achieved. In the initial years of the agreement, however, the total rebate opportunity is less than what was provided in the agreement that

expired at the end of 2011, however,
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the opportunity for us to earn discounts and rebates increases over the term of the agreement. Factors that could impact our ability to qualify for rebates
provided for in our agreement with Amgen in the future include, but are not limited to, our ability to track certain data elements. We cannot predict whether we
will be able to meet the applicable qualification requirements for receiving rebates. Failure to meet certain targets and earn the specified rebates could have a
material adverse effect on our earnings and cash flows.

We are the subject of a number of investigations by the federal government and two private civil suits, any of which could result in substantial
penalties or awards against us, the imposition of certain obligations on our practices and procedures, exclusion from future participation in the
Medicare and Medicaid programs and possible criminal penalties.

We are the subject of a number of investigations by the federal government. We have received subpoenas or other requests for documents from the federal
government in connection with the Vainer private civil suit, the 2010 U.S. Attorney physician rclationship investigation, the 2011 U.S. Attorney physician
relationship investigation and the 2011 U.S. Attorney Medicaid investigation. Certain current and former members of our Board, as well as executives and
other teammates have been subpoenaed to testify before a grand jury in Colorado related to the 2011 U.S. Attorney physician relationship investigation. (See
Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements of this report for additional details regarding these matters.)

With respect to the Vainer private civil suit, after investigation, the federal government did not intervene and is not actively pursuing this private civil
suit. With respect to the Swoben civil suit, the United States Department of Justice declined to intcrvenc after its review of the allcgations contained in the
Third Amended Complaint and is not actively pursuing this private civil suit other than its partial intervention for the purpose of settlement with and
dismissal of the initial defendant in this proceeding. In each of these private civil suits, a relator filed a complaint against us in federal court under the qui tam
provisions of the FCA (and in the Swoben matter, provisions of the California False Claims Act, as wcll) and pursued the claims independently after the
government declined to intervene. The parties are engaged in active litigation in the Vainer private civil suit. With regard to the Swoben private civil suit, in
July 2013, the court granted HCP’s motion and dismissed with prejudice all of the claims in the Third Amended Complaint, and in October 2013 the plaintiff
filed an appeal of the dismissal, which is currently pending. (See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements of this report for additional details regarding

these matters).

Wec are cooperating with HHS’s OIG and those offices of the U.S. Attorncy pursuing the matters mentioned above. As noted elsewhere in this report on
Form 10-K, we have agreed to a framework for a global resolution with the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of Colorado, the Civil Division of
the United States Department of Justice and the Office of the Inspector General for both the 2010 and the 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship
Investigations. The settlement will include the payment of approximately $389 million, entry into a corporate integrity agreement, the appointment of an
independent compliance monitor, and the imposition of certain other business restrictions related to a subset of our joint venture arrangements, We have agreed
to unwind a limited subset of joint ventures that were created through partial divestiture to nephrologists, and agreed not to enter into this type of partial
divestiture joint venture with nephrologists in the future. The final settlement remains subject to negotiation of specific terms, and we can make no assurances

as to the final outcome.

If we fail to adhere to all of the complex government regulations that apply to our business, we could suffer severe consequences that would
substantially reduce our revenues, earnings, cash flows and stock price.

Our dialysis operations are subject to extensive federal, state and local government regulations, including Medicare and Medicaid payment rules and
regulations, federal and state anti-kickback laws, the physician self-referral law (Stark Law) and analogous state self-referral prohibition statutes, Federal
Acquisition Regulations, the FCA and federal and state laws regarding the collection, use and disclosure of patient health information and the storage,
handling and administration of pharmaceuticals. The Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement rules related to claims submission, enrollment and licensing
requirements, cost reporting, and payment processes
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impose complex and extensive requirements upon dialysis providers as well. A violation or departure from any of these legal requirements may result in
government audits, lower reimbursements, significant fines and penaltics, the potential loss of certification, recoupment cfforts or voluntary repayments.

We endeavor to comply with all legal requirements, however, there is no guarantee that we will be able to adhere to all of the complex government
regulations that apply to our business. For example, we have experienced past security breaches with regard to patient health information and there canbe no
assurance that we will not suffer security breaches in the future. We further endeavor to structure all of our relationships with physicians to comply with state
and federal anti-kickback and physician self-referral laws. We utilize considerable resources to monitor the laws and implement necessary changes. However,
the laws and regulations in thesc arcas are complex and oftcn subject to varying interpretations. For example, if an cnforcement agency were to challenge the
level of compensation that we pay our medical directors or the number of medical directors whom we engage, we could be required to change our practices, face
criminal or civil penalties, pay substantial fines or otherwise experience a material adverse effect as a result of a challenge to these arrangements. In addition,
amendments to the FCA impose severe penalties for the knowing and improper retention of overpayments collected from government payors. These
amendments could subject our procedures for identifying and processing overpayments to greater scrutiny. We have made significant investments in new
resources to decrease the time it takes to identify and process overpayments and we may be required to make additional investments in the future. An
acceleration in our ability to identify and process overpayments could result in us refunding overpayments to government and other payors more rapidly than

we have in

the past which could have a material adverse effect on our operating cash flows. Additionally, amendments to the federal anti-kickback statute in the health
reform law make anti-kickback violations subject to FCA prosecution, including gqui fam or whistleblower suits.

If any of our operations are found to violate these or other government regulations, we could suffer severe consequences that would have a material
adverse effect on our revenues, earnings, cash flows and stock price, including:

Suspension or termination of our participation in government payment programs;

Refunds of amounts received in violation of law or applicable payment program requirements;

Loss of required government certifications or exclusion from government payment programs;

Loss of licenses required to operate health care facilities or administer pharmaceuticals in some of the states in which we operate;
Reductions in payment rates or coverage for dialysis and ancillary services and related pharmaceuticals;

Fines, damages or monetary penalties for anti-kickback law violations, Stark Law violations, FCA violations, civil or criminal liability based on
violations of law, or other failures to meet regulatory requirements;

Enforcement actions by governmental agencies and/or state claims for monetary damages by patients who believe their protected health information
has been uscd, disclosed or not properly safeguarded in violation of federal or statc paticnt privacy laws, including HIPAA;

Mandated changes to our practices or procedures that significantly increase operating expenses;

Imposition of and compliance with Corporate [ntegrity Agreements that could subject us to ongoing audits and reporting requirements as well as

" increased scrutiny of our billing and business practices which could lead to potential fines;

Termination of relationships with medical directors; and
Harm to our reputation which could impact our business relationships, affect our ability to obtain financing and decreasc acccss to new busincss
opportunities.
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Delays in state Medicare and Medicaid certification of our dialysis centers could adversely affect our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

Before we can begin billing for patients treated in our outpatient dialysis centers who are enrolled in government-based programs, we are required to
obtain state and federal certification for participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. As state agencies responsible for surveying dialysis centers on
behalf of the state and Medicare program face increasing budgetary pressure, certain states are having difficulty keeping up with certifying dialysis centers in
the normal course resulting in significant delays in certification. If state governments continue to have difficulty keeping up with certifying new centers in the
normal course and we continue to experience significant delays in our ability to treat and bill for services provided to patients covered under government
programs, it could cause us to incur write-offs of investments or accelerate the recognition of lease obligations in the event we have to close centers or our
centers’ operating performance deteriorates, and it could have an adverse effect on our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

If our joint ventures were found to violate the law, we could suffer severe consequences that would have a material adverse effect on our
revenues, earnings and cash flows. )

As of December 31, 2013, we owned a controlling interest in numerous dialysis-related joint ventures, which represented approximately 21% of our U.S.
dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013. In addition, we also owned minority equity investments in several other
dialysis related joint ventures. We may continue to increase the number of our joint ventures. Many of our joint ventures with physicians or physician groups
also have certain physician owners providing medical director services to centers we own and operate. Because our relationships with physicians are governed
by the federal and state anti-kickback statutes, we have sought to structure our joint venture arrangements to satisfy as many federal safe harbor requirements
as we believe are commercially reasonable. However, our joint venture arrangements do not satisfy all of the elements of any safe harbor under the federal anti-
kickback statute. Arrangements that do not meet all of the elements of a safe harbor are not automatically prohibited under the federal anti-kickback statute
but are susceptible to government scrutiny. We have recently agreed to a framework for a global resolution with the United States Attorney’s Office for the
District of Colorado, the Civil Division of the United States Department of Justice and the Office of the Inspector General for both the 2010 and the 2011 U.S.
Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations, including the payment of approximately $389 million, entry into a corporate integrity agreement, the
appointment of an independent compliance monitor, and the imposition of certain other business restrictions related to a subset of our joint venture
arrangements. Under the terms of the frarmework for resolution, we have agreed to unwind a limited subset of joint ventures that were created through partial
divestiture to nephrologists, and agreed not to enter into this type of partial divestiturc joint venture with nephrologists in the futurc. The final scttlement
remains subject to negotiation of specific terms, and we can make no assurances as to the final outcome.

There are significant estimating risks associated with the amount of dialysis revenues and related refund liabilities that we recognize and if we
are unable to accurately estimate our revenues and related refund liabilities, it could impact the timing and the amount of our revenues
recognition or have a significant impact on our operating results.

. There are significant estimating risks associated with the amount of dialysis and related lab services revenues and related refund liabilities that we
recognize in a reporting period. The billing and collection process is complex due to ongoing insurance coverage changes, geographic coverage differences,
differing interpretations of contract coverage, and other payor issucs. Detcrmining applicable primary and secondary covcrage for approximatcly 163,000 U.S.
patients at any point in time, together with the changes in patient coverage that occur each month, requires complex, resource-intensive processes. Errors in
determining the correct coordination of benefits may result in refunds to payors. Revenues associated with Medicare and Medicaid programs are also subject to
estimating risk related to the amounts not paid by the primary government payor that will ultimately be collectible from other government programs paying
secondary coverage, the patient’s commercial health plan secondary coverage or the patient. Collections, refunds and payor retractions
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typically continue to occur for up to three years and longer after services are provided. We generally expect our range of U.S. dialysis and related lab services
revenues cstimating risk to be within 1% of net revenues for the segment, which can represcnt as much as 5% of dialysis adjusted opcrating income. If our
estimates of dialysis and related lab services revenues and related refund liabilities are materially inaccurate, it could impact the timing and the amount of our
revenucs rccognition and have a significant impact on our opcrating results.

Our ancillary services and strategic initiatives, including our international dialysis operations, that we invest in now or in the future may
generate losses and may ultimately be unsuccessful. In the event that one or more of these activities is unsuccessful, we may have to write off our
investment and incur other exit costs.

Our ancillary services and strategic initiatives currently include pharmacy services, disease management services, vascular access services, ESRD
clinical rescarch programs, physician scrvices, direct primary carc and our international dialysis opcrations. We cxpect to add additional service offerings and
pursue additional strategic initiatives in the future as circumstances warrant, which could include healthcare services not related to dialysis. Many of these
initiativces require or would require investments of both management and financial resources and can generate significant losses for a substantial period of time
and may not become profitable. There can be no assurance that any such strategic initiative will ultimately be successful. Any significant change in market
conditions, or business performance, or in the political, legislative or regulatory environment, may impact the economic viability of any of these strategic
initiatives. If any of our ancillary services or strategic initiatives, including our international dialysis operations, do not perform as planned, we may incur a
material write-off or an impairment of our investment, including goodwill, in one or more of these activities or we could incur significant termination costs if

we were to exit a certain line of business.

If a significant number of physicians were to cease referring patients to our dialysis centers, whether due to regulatory or other reasons, it would
have a material adverse effect on our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

We believe that physicians prefer to have their patients treated at dialysis centers where they or other members of their practice supervise the overall care
provided as medical director of the center. As a result, the primary referral source for most of our centers is often the physician or physician group providing

medical director services to the center.

Our medical director contracts are for fixed periods, generally ten years, and at any given time a large number of them could be up for renewal at the
same time. Medical dircetors have no obligation to extend their agrecments with us and if we are unable to enforce noncompetition provisions contained in
terminated medical director agreements, our former medical directors may choose to provide medical director services for competing providers or establish their
own dialysis centers in competition with ours. Neither our current nor former medical directors have an obligation to refer their patients to our centers.

Opportunities presented by our competitors or different affiliation models in the changing healthcare environment, such as an increase in the number of
physicians becoming employed by hospitals or a perceived decrease in the quality of service levels at our centers may negatively impact a medical director’s
decision to enter into or extend his or her agreement with us, refer patients to our centers or otherwise negatively impact treatment volumes.

In addition, we may take actions to restructure existing relationships or take positions in negotiating extensions of relationships to assure compliance
with the anti-kickback statute, Stark Law and other similar laws. If the terms of any existing agreement are found to violate applicable laws, we may not be
successful in restructuring the relationship which could lead to the early termination of the agreement, or cause the physician to stop referring patients to our
dialysis centers. These actions in an effort to comply with applicable laws and regulations could negatively impact the decision of physicians to extend their
medical director agreements with us or to refer their patients to us. If a significant number of physicians were to cease referring patients to our dialysis centers,
our revenues, earnings and cash flows would be substantially reduced.

43




Yable of Contents

Current economic conditions as well as further disruptions in the financial markets could have a material adverse effect on our revenues,
earnings and cash flows and otherwise adversely affect our financial condition.

Current economic conditions could adversely affect our business and our profitability. Among other things, the potential decline in federal and state
revenues that may result from such conditions may create additional pressures to contain or reduce reimbursements for our services from Medicare, Medicaid
and other government sponsored programs. Increasing job losses or slow improvement in the unemployment rate in the U.S. as a result of current or recent
economic conditions has and may continue to result in a smaller percentage of our patients being covered by an employer group health plan and a larger
percentage being covered by lower paying Medicare and Medicaid programs. Employers may also begin to select more restrictive commercial plans with lower
reimbursement rates. To the extent that payors are negatively impacted by a decline in the economy, we may experience further pressure on commercial rates, a .
further slowdown in collections and a reduction in the amounts we expect to collect. In addition, uncertainty in the financial markets could adversely affect the
variable interest rates payable under our credit facilities or could make it more difficult to obtain or renew such facilities or to obtain other forms of financing
in the future, if at all. Any or all of these factors, as well as other consequences of the current economic conditions which cannot currently be anticipated,
could have a matcrial adversc effcct on our revenucs, earnings and cash flows and otherwisc adversely affect our financial condition.

If there are shortages of skilled clinical personnel or if we experience a higher than normal turnover rate, we may experience disruptions in our
business operations and increases in operating expenses.

We are experiencing increased labor costs and difficulties in hiring nurses due to a nationwide shortage of skilled clinical personnel. We compete for
nurses with hospitals and other health care providers. This nursing shortage may limit our ability to expand our operations. In addition, changes in
certification requirements or increases in the required staffing levels for skilled clinical personnel can impact our ability to maintain sufficient staff levels to
the extent our teammates are not able to meet new requirements or we experience a higher than normal turnover rate due to increased competition for qualified
clinical personnel. If we are unable to hire skilled clinical personnel when needed, or if we experience a higher than normal turnover rate for our skilled clinical
personnel, our operations and treatment growth will be negatively impacted, which would result in reduced revenues, earnings and cash flows.

Our business is labor intensive and could be adversely affected if we are unable to maintain satisfactory relations with our employees or if union
organizing activities result in significant increases in our operating costs or decreases in productivity.

Our business is labor intensive, and our results are subject to variations in labor-related costs, productivity and the number of pending or potential
claims against us related to labor and employment practices. If political efforts at the national and local level result in actions or proposals that increase the
likelihood of union organizing activities at our facilities or if union organizing activities increase for other reasons, or if labor and employment claims,
including the filing of class action suits, trend upwards, our operating costs could increasc and our employcc relations, productivity, earnings and cash flows
could be adversely affected.

Upgrades to our billing and collections systems and complications associated with upgrades and other improvements to our billing and collections
systems could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, cash flows and operating results.

We are continuously performing upgrades to our billing systems and expect to continue to do so in the near term. In addition, we continuously work to
improve our billing and collections performance through process upgrades, organizational changes and other improvements. We may experience difficulties in
our ability to successfully bill and collect for services rendered as a result of these changes, including a slow-down of collections, a reduction in the amounts
we expect to collect, increased risk of retractions from and refunds to
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commercial and government payors, an increase in our provision for uncollectible accounts receivable and noncompliance with reimbursement regulations.
The failure to successfully implement upgrades to the billing and collection systems and other improvements could have a material adverse effect on our

revenues, cash flows and operating results.

Our ability to effectively provide the services we offer could be negatively impacted if certain of our suppliers are unable to meet our needs or if
we are unable to effectively access new technology, which could substantially reduce our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

We have significant suppliers that are either the sole or primary source of products critical to the services we provide, including Amgen, Baxter
Healthcare Corporation, NxStage Medical, Inc. and others or to which we have committed obligations to make purchases including Gambro and FMC. If any
of these suppliers are unable to meet our needs for the products they supply, including in the event of a product recall or shortage, and we are not able to find
adequate alternative sources, or if some of the drugs that we purchase are not reimbursed or not adequately reimbursed by commercial payors or through the
bundled payment rate by Medicare, our revenues, earnings and cash flows could be substantially reduced. In addition, the technology related to the products
critical to the scrvices we providc is subject to ncw devclopments and may result in superior products. If we arc not able to acccss supcrior products on a cost-
effective basis or if suppliers are not able to fulfill our requirements for such products, we could face patient attrition which could substantially reduce our

revenues, earnings and cash flows.

Risk factors related to HCP:
HCP is subject to many of the same risks to which our dialysis business is subject.

As a participant in the healthcare industry, HCP is subject to many of the same risks to which our dialysis business is subject to as described in the
risk factors set forth above in this Part I, Item 1A, any of which could materially and adversely affect HCP’s revenues, earnings or cash flows. Among these
risks are the following:

«  The healthcare business is heavily regulated and changes in laws, regulations, or government programs could have a material impact on HCP;

*  Failure to comply with complex governmental regulations could have severe consequences to HCP, including, without limitation, exclusion from
governmental payor programs like Medicare and Medicaid;

¢ HCP could become the subject of governmental investigations, claims, and litigation;
¢ HCP may be unable to continue to explore potential acquisition candidates, make acquisitions or successfully integrate such acquisitions into its
business, and such acquisitions may include liabilities of which HCP was not aware; and

«  As aresult of the broad scope of HCP’s medical practice, HCP is exposed to medical malpractice claims, as well as claims for damages and other
expenses, that may not be covered by insurance or for which adequate limits of insurance coverage may not be available.

Under most of HCP’s agreements with health plans, HCP assumes some or all of the risk that the cost of providing services will exceed its
compensation.

Substantially all of HCP’s revenue is derived from fixed PMPM fees paid by health plans under capitation agreements with HCP or its associated
physician groups. Whilc there arc variations specific to each arrangement, HCPAMG generally contracts with health plans to rcccive a PMPM fee for
professional services and assumes the financial responsibility for professional services only. In some cases, the health plans separately enter into capitation
contracts with third parties (typically hospitals) who receive directly a PMPM fee and assume contractual financial responsibility for hospital services. In

other cases, the health plan does not pay any portion
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of the PMPM fee to the hospital, but rather administers claims for hospital expenses itself. In both scenarios, HCP enters into managed care-related
administrative services agreements or similar arrangements with those third parties (hospitals) under which HCP agrees to be responsible for utilization review,
quality assurance, and other managed care-related administrative functions and claim payments. As compensation for such administrative services, HCP is
entitled to receive a percentage of the amount by which the institutional capitation revenue received from health plans exceeds institutional expenses; any such
risk-share amount to which HCP is entitled is recorded as medical revenues and HCP is also responsible for any short-fall in the event that institutional
cxpenscs cxceed institutional revenucs. To the cxtent that members require more carc than is anticipatcd, aggregate fixed PMPM amounts, or capitation
payments, may be insufficient to cover the costs associated with treatment. If medical expenses exceed estimates, except in very limited circumstances, HCP
will not be able to increase the PMPM fee received under these risk agreements during their then-current terms and could, directly or indirectly through its
contracts with its associated physician groups, suffer losses with respect to such agreements.

Changes in HCP’s or its associated physician groups’ anticipated ratio of medical expense to revenue can significantly impact HCP’s financial results.
Accordingly, the failure to adequately predict and control medical expenses and to make reasonable estimates and maintain adequate accruals for incurred but
not reported claims, may have a material adverse effect on HCP’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Historically, HCP’s and its associated physician groups’ medical expenses as a percentage of revenue have fluctuated. Factors that may cause medical

cxpensces to exceced estimatces includc:

e the health status of members;

*  higher than expected utilization of new or existing healthcare services or technologies;

» anincrease in the cost of healthcare services and supplies, including pharmaceuticals, whether as a result of inflation or otherwise;

= changes to mandated benefits or other changes in healthcare laws, regulations, and practices;

= periodic renegotiation of provider contracts with specialist physicians, hospitals, and ancillary providers;

»  periodic renegotiation of contracts with HCP’s associated primary care physicians;

*  changes in the demographics of the participating members and medical trends;

«  contractual or claims disputes with providers, hospitals, or other Service providers within a health plan’s network;

» the occurrence of catastrophes, major epidemics, or acts of terrorism; and

»  plans with declining premiums.

Risk-sharing arrangements that HCP-associated physician groups have with health plans and hospitals could result in their costs exceeding the
corresponding revenues, which could reduce or eliminate any shared risk profitability.

Most of the agreements between health plans and HCP and its associated physician groups contain risk-sharing arrangements under which the
physician groups can earn additional compensation from the health plans by coordinating the provision of quality, cost-effective healthcare to members.
However, such arrangements may require the physician group to assume a portion of any loss sustained from these arrangements, thereby reducing HCP’s net
income. Under these risk-sharing arrangements, HCP and its associated physician groups are responsible for a portion of the cost of hospital services or other
services that are not capitated. The terms of the particular risk-sharing arrangement allocate responsibility to the respective parties when the cost of services
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exceeds the related revenue, which results in a deficit, or permit the parties to share in any surplus amounts when actual costs are less than the related revenue.
The amount of non-capitated medical and hospital costs in any period could be affected by factors beyond the control of HCP, such as changes in treatment
protocols, new technologies, longer lengths of stay by the patient, and inflation. To the extent that such non-capitated medical and hospital costs are higher
than anticipated, revenue may not be sufficient to cover the risk-sharing deficits the health plans and HCP are responsible for, which could reduce HCP’s
revenues and profitability. Certain of HCP’s agreements with health plans stipulate that risk-sharing pool deficit amounts are carried forward to offset any
future years’ surplus amounts HCP would otherwise be entitled to receive. HCP accrues for any such risk-sharing deficits.

Although HCP seeks to contractually reduce or eliminate its liability for risk-sharing deficits, risk-sharing deficits could significantly impact HCP’s
profitability.

Renegotiation, renewal, or termination of capitation agreements with health plans could have a significant impact on HCP’s future profitability.

Under most of HCP’s and its associated physician groups’ capitation agreements with health plans, the health plan is gencrally permitted to modify the
benefit and risk obligations and compensation rights from time to time during the terms of the agreements. If a health plan exercises its right to amend its
benefit and risk obligations and compensation rights, HCP and its associated physician groups are generally allowed a period of time to object to such
amendment. If HCP or its associated physician group so objects, under some of the risk agreements, the relevant health plan may terminate the applicable
agreement upon 60 to 90 days written notice. If HCP or its associated physician groups enter into capitation contracts or other risk sharing arrangements with
unfavorable economic terms, or a capitation contract is amended to include unfavorable terms, HCP could, directly or indirectly through its contracts with its
associated physician groups, suffer losses with respect to such contract. Since HCP does not negotiate with CMS or any health plan regarding the benefits to
be provided under their Medicare Advantage plans, HCP often has just a few months to familiarize itself with each new annual package of benefits it is
expected to offer. Depending on the health plan at issue and the amount of revenue associated with the health plan’s risk agreement, the renegotiated terms or
termination may have a material adverse cffect on HCP’s and DaVita’s future revenues and profitability.

Laws regulating the corporate practice of medicine could restrict the manner in which HCP is permitted to conduct its business and the failure to
comply with such laws could subject HCP to penalties or require a restructuring of HCP.

Some states have laws that prohibit business entities, such as HCP, from practicing medicine, employing physicians to practice medicine, exercising
control over medical decisions by physicians (also known collectively as the corporate practice of medicine) or engaging in certain arrangements, such as fee-
splitting, with physicians. In some states these prohibitions are expressly stated in a statute or regulation, while in other states the prohibition is a matter of
judicial or regulatory interpretation. Of the states in which HCP currently operates, California and Nevada prohibit the corporate practice of medicine.

In California and Nevada, HCP operates by maintaining long-term contracts with its associated physician groups which are each owned and operated
by physicians and which employ or contract with additional physicians to provide physician services. Under these arrangements, HCP provides management
services, receives a management fee for providing non-medical management services, does not represent that it offers medical services, and does not exercise
influence or control over the practice of medicine by the physicians or the associated physician groups.

In addition to the above management arrangements, HCP has ccrtain contractual rights relating to the orderly transfer of equity interests in certain of its
associated California and Nevada physician groups through succession agreements and other arrangements with their physician equity holders. However,

such equity
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interests cannot be transferred to or held by HCP or by any non-professional organization. Accordingly, neither HCP nor HCP’s subsidiaries directly own any
equity interests in any physician groups in California and Nevada. In the event that any of these associated physician groups fails to comply with the
management arrangement or any management arrangement is terminated and/or HCP is unable to enforce its contractual rights over the orderly transfer of
equity interests in its associated physician groups, such events could have a material adverse effect on HCP’s business, financial condition or results of

operations.

It is possible that a state regulatory agency or a court could determine that HCP’s agreements with physician equity holders of certain managed
California and Nevada associated physician groups as described above, either independently or coupled with the management services agreements with such
associated physician groups are in violation of the corporate practice of medicine doctrine. As a result, these arrangements could be deemed invalid, potentially
resulting in a loss of revenues and an adverse effect on results of operations derived from such associated physician groups. Such a determination could force
a restructuring of HCP’s management arrangements with associated physician groups in California and/or Nevada, which might include revisions of the
management services agreements, including a modification of the management fee and/or establishing an alternative structure, which would permit HCP to
contract with a physician network without violating the corporate practice of medicine prohibition. There can be no assurance that such a restructuring would
be feasible, or that it could be accomplished within a reasonable time frame without a material adverse effect on HCP’s operations and financial results. In
December 2013, HCP obtained a restricted Knox-Keene license in California pursuant to the California Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 (the
Knox-Keene Act), which permits HCP to contract with a physician network in California without violating the corporate practice of medicine prohibition.
However, HCP’s Nevada associated physician groups and HCP, as well as those physician equity holders of associated physician groups who are subject to
succcssion agreements with HCP, could be subjcct to criminal or civil penaltics or an injunction for practicing medicinc without a license or aiding and

abetting the unlicensed practice of medicine.

If HCP’s agreements or arrangements with any physician equity holder(s) of associated physicians, physician groups, or IPAs are deemed
invalid under state law, including laws against the corporate practice of medicine, or federal law, or are terminated as a result of changes in state
law, or if there is a change in accounting standards by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) or the interpretation thereof affecting
consolidation of entities, it could impact HCP’s consolidation of total revenues derived from such associated physician groups.

HCP’s financial statements are consolidated and include the accounts of its majority-owned subsidiaries and certain non-owned HCP-associated and
managed physician groups, which consolidation is effectuated in accordance with applicable accounting standards. Such consolidation for accounting and/or
tax purposes does not, is not intended to, and should not be deemed to, imply or provide to HCP any, control over the medical or clinical affairs of such
physician groups. In the event of a change in accounting standards promulgated by FASB or in interpretation of its standards, or if there were an adverse
determination by a regulatory agency or a court, or a change in state or federal law relating to the ability to maintain present agreements or arrangements with
such physician groups, HCP may not be permitted to continue to consolidate the total revenues of such organizations. A change in accounting for consolidation
with respect to HCP’s present agreement or arrangements would diminish HCP’s reported revenues but would not he expected to materially adversely affect its
reported results of operations, while regulatory or legal rulings or changes in law interfering with HCP’s ability to maintain its present agreements or
arrangements could materially diminish both rcvenues and results of operations.
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If HCP’s associated physician group is not able to satisfy the California Department of Managed Health Care’s financial solvency
requirements, HCP’s associated physician group could become subject to sanctions and HCP’s ability to do business in California could be
limited or terminated.

The California DMHC has instituted financial solvency regulations. The regulations are intended to provide a formal mechanism for monitoring the
financial solvency of capitated physician groups. Under the regulations, HCP’s associated physician group is required to, among other things:

*  Maintain, at all times, a minimum cash-to-claims ratio (where cash-to-claims ratio means the organization’s cash, marketable securities, and
certain qualified receivables, divided by the organization’s total unpaid claims liability). The regulation currently requires a cash-to-claims ratio of
0.75.

«  Submit periodic reports to the DMHC containing various data and attestations regarding performance and financial solvency, including incurred
but not reported calculations and documentation, and attestations as to whether or not the organization was in compliance with the Knox-Keene Act
requirements related to claims payment timeliness had maintained positive tangible net equity (i.e., at least $1.00), and had maintained positive
working capital (i.e., at least $1.00).

In the event that a physician organization is not in compliance with any of the above criteria, the organization would be required to describe in a report
submitted to the DMHC the reasons for non-compliance and actions to be taken to bring the organization into compliance. Further, under these regulations, the
DMHC can make public some of the information contained in the reports, including, but not limited to, whether or not a particular physician organization met
cach of the critcria. In the cvent HCP’s associated physician group is not able to mect certain of the financial solvency requirements, and fails to meet
subsequent corrcctive action plans, HCP’s associated physician group could be subjcct to sanctions, or limitations on, or removal of; its ability to do busincss
in California.

Reductions in Medicare Advantage health plan reimbursement rates stemming from recent healthcare reforms and any future related
regulations may negatively impact HCP’s business, revenue and profitability.

A significant portion of HCP’s revenue is directly or indircetly derived from the monthly premium payments paid by CMS to health plans for medical
services provided to Medicare Advantage enrollees. As a result, HCP’s results of operations are, in part, dependent on government funding levels for Medicare
Advantage programs. Any changes that limit or reduce Medicare Advantage reimbursement levels, including those recently approved and effective in 2014,
such as reductions in or limitations of reimbursement amounts or rates under programs, reductions in funding of programs, expansion of benefits without
- adequate funding, climination of coverage for certain benefits, or elimination of coverage for certain individuals or treatments under programs, could have a
material adverse effect on HCP’s revenues, earnings and cash flows. We expect the Medicare provider reimbursement cuts that we currently face will reduce
HCP’s Medicare Advantage reimbursement levels by approximately 6% to 9% in 2014.

The Health Reform Acts contain a number of provisions that negatively impact Medicare Advantagc plans, which may each have an adverse effect on
HCP’s revenues, earnings, and cash flows. These provisions include the following:
*  Medicare Advantage benchmarks for 2011 were frozen at 2010 levels. Beginning in 2012, Medicare Advantage benchmark rates are being phased
down from prior levels to levels that are between 95% and 115% of the Medicare FFS costs, depending on a plan’s geographic area. Failure to
mect these revised benchmarks may have a significant negative impact on HCP’s revenues, earnings and cash flows.

*  Rebates received by Medicare Advantage plans that underbid based on payment benchmarks will be reduced, with larger reductions for plans
failing to receive ccrtain quality ratings.
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¢ The Secretary of the HHS has been granted the explicit authority to deny Medicare Advantage plan bids that propose significant increases in cost
sharing or decreases in benefits. If the bids submitted by HCP plans are denied, this would have a significant negative impact on HCP’s revenues,

earnings and cash flows.

»  Beginning in 2014, Medicare Advantage plans with medical loss ratios below 85% are required to pay a rebate to the Secretary of HHS. The rebate
amount will be the total revenue under the contract year multiplied by the difference between 85% and the plan’s actual medical loss ratio. The
Secretary of HHS will halt enrollment in any plan failing to meet this ratio for three consecutive years, and terminate any plan failing to meet the
ratio for five consecutive years. If an HCP-contracting Medicare Advantage plan experiences a limitation on enrollment or is otherwise terminated
from the Medicare Advantage program, HCP may suffer materially adverse consequences to its business or financial condition.

«  Since January 1, 2011, cost-sharing for certain services (such as chemotherapy and skilled nursing care) has been limited to the cost-sharing
permitted under the original FFS Medicare program, which could reduce HCP’s revenues, earnings and cash flows by reducing the amount that
enrollees are permitted to pay for such services.

+  Prescription drug plans are now required to cover all drugs on a list developed by the Secretary of HHS, which could increase the cost of
providing carc to Mcdicarc Advantage enrollecs, and thereby reduce HCP’s revenues. The Mcdicare part D premium subsidy for high-income
beneficiaries has been reduced by 25%, which could lower the number of Medicare Advantage enrollees, which would have a negative impact on
HCP’s revenues, earnings and cash flows.

*  Beginning in 2014, CMS is required to increase coding intensity adjustments for Medicare Advantage plans, which is expected to reduce CMS
payments to Medicare Advantage plans, which in turn will likely reduce the amounts payable to HCP and its associated physicians, physician
groups, and IPAs under its capitation agreements. President Obama’s proposed budget for Fiscal Year 2014 further increases the coding intensity
adjustments, which may further reduce HCP’s revenues, earnings and cash flows.

The BCA and the Sequestration Transparency Act of 2012 have reduced by 2% the Net Capitation Payments that CMS pays to Medicare Advantage
plans. This reduction to Medicare Advantage plans may result in reductions in payments to HCP’s associated physicians, physician groups, and IPAs, who
directly or indirectly contract with such Medicare Advantage plans. Reductions in payments to HCP’s associated physicians, physician groups, and [PAs
could have an adverse effect on HCP’s revenues, earnings, and cash flows.

On April 1, 2013, CMS published its final 2014 “Call Letter” —CMS’s annual notice to health plans regarding the Medicare Advantage payment
mcthodology and estimated rates for 2014. In a reversal of its previous cstimates, which called for a 2.2% reduction in thec 2014 Medicarc Advantagc rates,
CMS included in its final 2014 Call Letter an estimated 3.3% increase in the 2014 Medicare Advantage rates. This reversal was the result of CMS’s new
assumption that Congressional action would prospectively fix the Medicare physician fee schedule’s SGR formula. By assuming an imminent solution to the
SGR formula’s automatic rate reductions, CMS was able to base its 2014 Medicare Advantage estimates on an assumed 0% change in the Medicare physician
fee schedule rates for 2014. As noted above, this change in CMS’s assumption has a dramatic positive impact on the estimated Medicare Advantage rates for
2014. Although a congressionally mandated change to the SGR formula, as described above, would potentially have a significant positive impact on HCP’s
Medicare Advantage revenues and net income, the likelihood of increasing medical costs and the uncertainty of Congressional action mitigate against the
positive impact of CMS’s recent Medicare Advantage estimates.

In addition to the unccrtainty surrounding whether Congress will be able to resolve the SGR formula’s automatic rate reductions, there is uncertainty
regarding both Medicare Advantage payment rates and beneficiary enrollment, which, if reduced as a result of the implementation of the Health Reform Acts,

would reduce HCP’s
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overall revenues and net income. For example, although the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) predicted in 2012 that Medicare Advantage participation
would drop precipitously by 2020, in 2013 the CBO reversed its prediction and instead predicted that enrollment in Mcdicare Advantage could incrcasc by up
to 50% in the next decade. Uncertainty over Medicare Advantage enrollment and payment rates present a continuing risk to HCP’s business.

Finally, although the Health Reform Acts provide for reductions in payments to Medicare Advantage plans, the Health Reform Acts also provide for
bonus payments to Medicare Advantage plans with four or five star quality ratings. In November 2011, CMS announced a three-year demonstration project
with an alternative bonus structure that awards bonuses to plans with three or more stars. However, the Government Accountability Office (GAO) and
MedPAC have criticized the demonstration project. Therefore, Congress may act to curb the CMS-initiated bonus structure. If Congress does take such action
and succcssfully curbs the bonus structure, HCP’s Medicare Advantage and other revenues and net income would likely decrease.

HCP’s operations are dependent on competing health plans and, at times, a health plan’s and HCP’s economic interests may diverge.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, 67% of HCP’s consolidated capitated medical revenues were eamned through contracts with three health plans.

HCP expects that, going forward, substantially all of its revenue will continue to be derived from these and other health plans. Each health plan may
immediately terminate any of HCP’s contracts and/or any individual credentialed physician upon the occurrence of certain events. They may also amend the
material terms of the contracts under certain circumstances. Failure to maintain the contracts on favorable terms, for any reason, would materially and
adversely affect HCP’s results of operations and financial condition. A material decline in the number of members could also have a material adverse effect on

HCP’s results of operations.

Notwithstanding each health plan’s and HCP’s current shared interest in providing service to HCP’s members who are enrolled in the subject health
plans, the health plans may have different and, at times, opposing economic interests from those of HCP. The health plans provide a wide range of health
insurance services across a wide range of geographic regions, utilizing a vast network of providers. As a result, they and HCP may have different views
regarding the proper pricing of services and/or the proper pricing of the various service providers in their provider networks, the cost of which HCP bears to
the extent that the services of such service providers are utilized. These health plans may also have different views than HCP regarding the efforts and
expenditures that they, HCP, and/or other service providers should make to achieve and/or maintain various quality ratings. In addition, several health plans
have purchased or announced their intent to purchase provider organizations. If health plans with which HCP contracts make significant purchases, they may
not continue to contract with HCP or contract on less favorable terms or seek to prevent HCP from acquiring or entering into arrangements with certain
providcrs. Similarly, as a result of changes in laws, rcgulations, consumecr preferences, or other factors, the health plans may find it in their best interest to
provide health insurance services pursuant to another payment or reimbursement structure. In the event HCP’s interests diverge from the interests of the health
plans, HCP may havc limited recoursc or altcrnative options in light of its dependence on these health plans. There can be no assurances that HCP will
continue to find it mutually beneficial to work with the health plans. As a result of various restrictive provisions that appear in some of the managed care
agreements with health plans, HCP may at times have limitations on its ability to cancel an agreement with a particular health plan and immediately thereafter
contract with a competing health plan with respect to the same service area.
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HCP and its associated physicians, physician groups and IPAs and other physicians may be required to continue providing services following
termination or renegotiation of certain agreements with health plans.

There are circumstances under federal and state law pursuant to which HCP and its associated physician groups IPAs, and other physicians could be
obligated to continue to provide medical services to HCP members in their care following a termination of their applicable risk agreement with health plans and
termination of the receipt of payments thereunder. In certain cases, this obligation could require the physician group or IPA to provide care to such member
following the bankruptcy or insolvency of a health plan. Accordingly, the obligations to provide medical services to HCP members (and the associated costs)
may not terminate at the time the applicable agreement with the health plan terminates, and HCP may not be able to recover its cost of providing those services
from the health plan, which could have a material adverse effect on HCP’s financial condition, results of operations, and/or cash flows.

HCP operates primarily in Arizona, California, Florida, Nevada and New Mexico, and may not be able to successfully establish a presence in
new geographic regions. )

HCP derives substantially all of its revenue from operations in Arizona, California, Florida, Nevada and New Mexico (Arizona, California, Florida,
Nevada and New Mexico are hereinafter referred to as the Existing Geographic Regions). As a result, HCP’s exposure to many of the risks described herein is
not mitigated by a greater diversification of geographic focus. Furthermore, due to the concentration of HCP’s operations in the Existing Geographic Regions, it
may be adversely affected by economic conditions, natural disasters (such as earthquakes or hurricanes), or acts of war or terrorism that disproportionately
affect the Existing Geographic Regions as compared to other states and geographic markets.

To expand the operations of its network outside of the Existing Geographic Regions, HCP must devote resources to identifying and exploring such
perceived opportunities. Thereafter, HCP must, among other things, recruit and retain qualified personnel, develop new offices, establish potentially new
relationships with one or more health plans, and establish new relationships with physicians and other healthcare providers. The ability to establish such new
relationships may be significantly inhibited by competition for such relationships and personnel in the health care marketplace in the targeted new geographic
regions. Additionally, HCP may face the risk that a substantial portion of the patients served in a new geographic area may be enrolled in a Medicare FFS
program and will not desire to transition to a Medicare Advantage program, such as those offered through the health plans that HCP serves, or they may enroll
with other health plans with whom HCP does not contract to provide services, which could reduce substantially HCP’s perceived opportunity in such
geographic area. In addition, if HCP were to seek expansion outside of the Existing Geographic Regions, HCP would be required to comply with laws and
regulations of states that may differ from the ones in which it currently operates, and could face competitors with greater knowledge of such local markets.
HCP anticipates that any geographic expansion may require it to make a substantial investment of management time, capital, and/or other resources. There can
be no assurance that HCP will be able to establish profitable operations or relationships in any new geographic markets.

Reductions in the quality ratings of the health plans HCP serves could have an adverse effect on its results of operations, financial condition,
and/or cash flow.

As a result of the Health Reform Acts, HCP anticipates that the level of reimbursement each health plan receives from CMS will be dependent, in part,
upon the quality rating of the Medicare plan that such health plan serves. Such ratings are expected to impact the percentage of any cost savings rebate and any
bonuscs camcd by such health plan. Sincc a significant portion of HCP’s revenue is expected to be calculated as a pereentage of CMS reimbursements reccived
by these health plans with respect to HCP members, reductions in the quality ratings of a health plan that HCP serves could have an adverse effect on its
results of operations, financial condition, and/or cash flows. In addition, CMS has announced its intention to terminate any plan that has a rating
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of less than three stars for three consecutive years. Medicare Advantage plans with five stars are permitted to conduct enrollment throughout the year and
enrollees in plans with 4.5 or fewer stars are permitted to change plans during the year. Currently, HCP does not contract with any five star plans. Given each
health plan’s control of its plans and the many other providers that serve such plans, HCP believes that it will have limited ability to influence the overall
quality rating of any such plan. Accordingly, since low quality ratings can potentially lead to the termination of a plan that HCP serves, HCP may not be able
to prevent the potential termination of a contracting plan or a shift of patients to other plans based upon quality issues which could, in turn, have an adverse
effect on HCP’s results of operations, financial condition, and/or cash flows.

HCP’s records and submissions to a health plan may contain inaccurate or unsupportable information regarding risk adjustment scores of
members, which could cause HCP to overstate or understate its revenue and subject it to various penalties.

HCP, on behalf of itself and its associated physicians, physician groups and IPAs, submits to health plans claims and encounter data that support the
risk adjustment factor, or RAF, scores attributable to members. These RAF scores determine, in part, the revenue to which the health plans and, in turn, HCP
is entitled for the provision of medical care to such members. The data submitted to CMS by each health plan is based on medical charts and diagnosis codes
prepared and submitted by HCP. Each health plan generally relies on HCP to appropriately document and support such RAF data in HCP’s medical records.
Each health plan also relies on HCP to appropriately code claims for medical services provided to members. HCP may periodically review medical records and
may find inaccurate or unsupportable coding or otherwise inaccurate records. Erroneous claims and erroneous encounter records and submissions could result
in inaccurate PMPM fee revenue and risk adjustment payments, which may be subject to correction or retroactive adjustment in later periods. This corrected
or adjusted information may be reflected in financial statements for periods subsequent to the period in which the revenue was recorded. HCP might also need
to refund a portion of the revenue that it received, which refund, depending on its magnitude, could damage its relationship with the applicable health plan and
could have a material adverse effect on HCP’s results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

CMS audits Mcdicare Advantage plans for documentation to support RAF-related payments for members choscn at random. The Medicare Advantage
plans ask providers to submit the underlying documentation for members that they serve. It is possible that claims associated with members with higher RAF
scores could be subject to more scrutiny in a CMS audit. HCP has experienced increases in RAF scores attributable to its members, and thus there is a
possibility that a Medicare Advantage plan may seek repayment from HCP as a result of CMS payment adjustments to the Medicare Advantage plan. The
plans also may hold HCP liable for any penalties owed to CMS for inaccurate or unsupportable RAF scores provided by HCP.

CMS has indicated that, starting with payment year 2011, payment adjustments will not be limited to RAF scores for the specific Medicare Advantage
enrollees for which errors are found but may also be extrapolated to the entire Medicare Advantage plan subject to a particular CMS contract. CMS has
described its audit process as plan-year specific and stated that it will not extrapolate audit results for plan years prior to 2011.

CMS has not specifically stated that payment adjustments as a result of one plan year’s audit will not be extrapolated to prior plan years. There can be
no assurance that a health plan will not be randomly selected or targeted for review by CMS or that the outcome of such a review will not result in a material
adjustment in HCP’s revenue and profitability, even if the information HCP submitted to the plan is accurate and supportable. Since the CMS rules,
regulations, and statements regarding this audit program are still not well defined and, in some cases, have not been published in final form, there is also a
risk that CMS may adopt new rules and regulations that are inconsistent with their existing rules, regulations, and statements.
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A failure to accurately estimate incurred but not reported medical expense could adversely affect HCP’s profitability.

Patient care costs include estimates of future medical claims that have been incurred by the patient but for which the provider has not yet billed HCP.
These claim estimates are made utilizing actuarial methods and are continually evaluated and adjusted by management, based upon HCP’s historical claims
experience and other factors, including an independent assessment by a nationally recognized actuarial firm. Adjustments, if necessary, are made to medical
claims expense when the assumptions used to determine HCP’s claims liability changes and when actual claim costs are ultimately determined.

Due to the inherent uncertainties associated with the factors used in these estimates and changes in the patterns and rates of medical utilization,
materially different amounts could be reported in HCP’s financial statements for a particular period under different conditions or using different, but still
reasonable, assumptions. It is possible that HCP’s estimates of this type of claim may be inadequate in the future. In such event, HCP’s results of operations
could be adversely impacted. Further, the inability to estimate these claims accurately may also affect HCP’s ability to take timely corrective actions, further
exacerbating the extent of any adverse effect on HCP’s results.

HCP faces certain competitive threats which could reduce HCP’s profitability and increase competition for patients.
HCP faces ccrtain compcetitive thrcats based on certain fcatures of the Mcdicarc programs, including the following:

*  Asarcsult of the direct and indirect impacts of the Hcalth Reform Acts, many Medicare beneficiaries may decide that an original FFS Medicarc
program is more attractive than a Medicare Advantage plan. As a result, enrollment in the health plans HCP serves may decrease.

*  Managed care companies offer alternative products such as regional preferred provider organizations (PPOs) and private FFS plans. Medicare
PPOs and private FFS plans allow their patients more flexibility in selecting physicians than Medicare Advantage health plans, which typically
require patients to coordinate care with a primary care physician. The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003
has encouraged the creation of regional PPOs through various incentives, including certain risk corridors, or cost reimbursement provisions, a
stabilization fund for incentive payments, and special payments to hospitals not otherwise contracted with a Medicare Advantage plan that treat
regional plan enrollees. The formation of regional Medicare PPOs and private FFS plans may affect HCP’s relative attractiveness to existing and
potential Medicare patients in their service areas.

e The payments for the local and regional Medicare Advantage plans are based on a competitive bidding process that may indirectly cause a
decrease in the amount of the PMPM fec or result in an increasc in benefits offered.

«  The annual enrollment process and subsequent lock-in provisions of the Health Reform Acts may adversely affect HCP’s level of revenue growth
as it will limit the ability of a health plan to market to and enroll new Medicare beneficiaries in its established service areas outside of the annual
enrollment period.

«  CMS allows Medicare beneficiaries who are enrolled in a Medicare Advantage plan with a quality rating of 4.5 stars or less to enroll in a 5-star
rated Medicare Advantage plan at any time during the benefit year. None of the plans HCP serves are 5-star rated. Therefore, HCP may face a
competitive disadvantage in recruiting and retaining Medicare beneficiaries.

In addition to the competitive threats intrinsic to the Medicare programs, competition among health plans and among healthcare providers may also have
a negative impact on HCP’s profitability. For example, HCP’s Existing Geographic Regions have become increasingly attractive to health plans that may
compete with HCP,
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including the health plans with which HCP and its associated physicians, physician groups, and IPAs currently compete. HCP may not be able to continue to
compete profitably in the healthcare industry if additional competitors enter the same market. If HCP cannot compete profitably, the ability of HCP to compete
with other service providers that contract with competing health plans may be substantially impaired. Similarly, HCP’s Existing Geographic Regions have also
become increasingly attractive to HCP’s competitors due to the large populations of Medicare beneficiaries. HCP may not be able to continue to compete
effectively if additional competitors enter the same regions.

HCP competes directly with various regional and local companies that provide similar services in HCP’s Existing Geographic Regions. HCP’s
competitors vary in size and scope and in terms of products and services offered. HCP believes that some of its competitors and potential competitors may be
significantly larger than HCP and have greater financial, sales, marketing, and other resources. Furthermore, it is HCP’s belief that some of its competitors
may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves.

A disruption in HCP’s healthcare previder networks could have an adverse effect on HCP’s operations and profitability.

In any particular service area, healthcare providers or provider networks could refuse to contract with HCP, demand higher payments, or take other
actions that could result in higher hcalthcarc costs, disruption of bencfits to HCP’s members, or difficulty in meeting applicablc regulatory or accreditation
requirements. In some service areas, healthcare providers or provider networks may have significant market positions. If healthcare providers or provider
networks refuse to contract with HCP, use their market position to negotiate favorable contracts, or place HCP at a competitive disadvantage, then HCP’s
ability to market or to be profitable in those service areas could be adversely affected. HCP’s provider networks could also be disrupted by the financial
insolvency of a large provider group. Any disruption in HCP’s provider networks could result in a loss of members or higher healthcare costs.

HCP’s revenues and profits could be diminished if HCP fails to retain and attract the services of key primary care physicians.

Key primary care physicians with large patient enrollment could retire, become disabled, terminate their provider contracts, get lured away by a
competing independent physician association or medical group, or otherwise become unable or unwilling to continue practicing medicine or contracting with
HCP or its associated physicians, physician groups, or IPAs. In addition, HCP’s associated physicians, physician groups and IPAs could view the busincss
model as unfavorable or unattractive to such providers, which could cause such associated physicians, physician groups or IPAs to terminate their
relationships with HCP. Moreover, given limitations relating to the enforcement of post-termination noncompetition covenants in California, it would be
difficult to restrict a primary care physician from competing with HCP’s associated physicians, physician groups, or IPAs. As a result, members who have
been served by such physicians could choose to enroll with competitors’ physician organizations or could seek medical care elsewhere, which could reduce
HCP’s revenues and profits. Moreover, HCP may not be able to attract new physicians to replace the services of terminating physicians or to service its

growing membership.

Participation in Accountable Care Organization programs is new and subject to federal regulation, supervision, and evelving regulatery
developments and may result in financial liability.

The Health Reform Acts establish MSSP for ACOs, which took effect in January 2012. Under the MSSP, eligible organizations are accountable for the
quality, cost and overall care of Medicare beneficiaries assigned to an ACO and may be eligible to share in any savings below a specified benchmark amount.
The Secretary of HHS is also authorized, but not required, to use capitation payment models with ACOs. HCP is evaluating ACOs in which it might
participate through one or more of its subsidiaries and expects to participate in one or more ACOs in the future. The continued development and expansion of

ACOs will have an uncertain impact on HCP’s rcvenue and profitability.
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The ACO programs are new and therefore operational and regulatory guidance is limited. It is possible that the operations of HCP’s subsidiary ACOs
may not fully comply with current or future regulations and guidelines applicable to ACOs, may not achieve quality targets or cost savings, or may not attract
or retain sufficient physicians or patients to allow HCP to meet its objectives. Additionally, poor performance could put the HCP ACOs at financial risk with a
potential obligation to CMS. Traditionally, other than FFS billing by the medical clinics and healthcare facilities operated by HCP, HCP has not directly
contracted with CMS and has not operated any health plans or provider sponsored networks. Therefore, HCP may not have the necessary experience,
systems, or compliance to successfully achieve a positive return on its investment in the ACOs or to avoid financial or regulatory liability. To date,
demonstration projects using healthcare delivery models substantially similar to an ACO have not resulted in savings. HCP believes that its historical
experience with fully delegated managed care will be applicable to operation of its subsidiary ACOs, but there can be no such assurance.

California hospitals may terminate their agl"eements with HCPAMG or reduce the fees they pay to HCP.

In California, HCPAMG maintains significant hospital arrangements designed to facilitate the provision of coordinated hospital care with those services
provided to members by HCPAMG end its associated physicians, physician groups, and IPAs. Through contractual arrangements with certain key hospitals,
HCPAMG provides utilization review, quality assurance, and other management services related to the provision of patient care services to members by the
contracted hospitals and downstream hospital contractors. In the event that any one of these key hospital agreements is amended in a financially unfavorable
manner or is otherwise terminated, such events could have a material adverse effect on HCP’s financial condition, and results of operations.

HCP’s professional liability and other insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover HCP’s potential liabilities.

HCP maintains primary profcssional liability insurance and other insurance coverage through California Medical Group Tnsurance Company, Risk
Retention Group, an Arizona corporation in which HCP is a majority owner, and through excess coverage contracted through third-party insurers. HCP
believes such insurance is adequatc based on its revicw of what it believes to be all applicablc factors, including industry standards. Nonetheless, potential
liabilities may not be covered by insurance, insurers may dispute coverage or may be unable to meet their obligations, the amount of insurance coverage and/or
related reserves may be inadequate, or the amount of any HCP self-insured retention may be substantial. There can be no assurances that HCP will be able to
obtain insurance coverage in the future, or that.insurance will continue to be available on a cost-effective basis, if at all. Moreover, even if claims brought
against HCP are unsuccessful or without merit, HCP would have to defend itself against such claims. The defense of any such actions may be time-
consuming and costly and may distract HCP management’s attention. As a result, HCP may incur significant expenses and may be unable to effectively

operate its business.

Changes in the rates or methods of third-party reimbursements may adversely affect HCP operations.

Any negative changes in governmental capitation or FFS rates or methods of reimbursement for the services HCP provides could have a significant
adverse impact on HCP’s revenue and financial results. Since governmental healthcare programs generally reimburse on a fee schedule basis rather than on a
charge-related basis, HCP generally cannot increase its revenues from these programs by increasing the amount it charges for its services. Moreover, if HCP’s
costs increase, HCP may not be able to recover its increased costs from these programs. Government and private payors have taken and may continue to take
steps to control the cost, eligibility for, use, and delivery of healthcare services due to budgetary constraints, and cost containment pressures as well as other
financial issues. HCP believes that these trends in cost containment will continue. These cost containment measures, and other market changes in non-
governmental insurance plans have generally restricted HCP’s ability to recover, or shift to non-governmental payors, any increased costs that HCP
experiences. HCP’s business and financial operations may be matenially affected by these cost containment measures, and other market changes.
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HCP’s business model depends on numerous complex management information systems and any failure to successfully maintain these systems
or implement new systems could materially harm HCP’s operations and result in potential violations of healthcare laws and regulations.

HCP depends on a complex, specialized, and integrated management information system and standardized procedures for operational and financial
information, as well as for HCP’s billing operations. HCP may experience unanticipated delays, complications, or expenses in implementing, integrating, and
operating these integrated systems. Moreover, HCP may be unable to enhance its existing management information system or implement new management
information systems where necessary. HCP’s management information system may require modifications, improvements, or replacements that may require
both substantial expenditures as well as interruptions in operations. HCP’s ability to implement and operate its integrated systems is subject to the availability
of information technology and skilled personnel to assist HCP in creating and maintaining these systems.

HCP’s failure to successfully implement and maintain all of its systems could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and
results of operations. For example, HCP’s failure to successfully operate its billing systems could lead to potential violations of healthcare laws and
regulations. If HCP is unable to handle its claims volume, or if HCP is unable to pay claims timely, HCP may become subject to a health plan’s corrective
action plan or de-delegation until the problem is corrected, and/or termination of the health plan’s agreement with HCP. This could have a material adverse
effect on HCP’s operations and profitability. In addition, if HCP’s claims processing system is unable to process claims accurately, the data HCP uses for its
incurred but not received (IBNR) estimates could be incomplete and HCP’s ability to accurately estimate claims liabilities and establish adequate reserves
could be adversely affected. Finally, if HCP’s management information systems are unable to function in compliance with applicable state or federal rules and
regulations, including, without limitation, medical information confidentiality laws such as HIPAA, possible penalties and fmcs due to this lack of
compliance could have a material adverse effect on HCP’s financial condition, and results of operations.

Federal and state privacy and information security laws are complex and HCP may be subject to government or private actions due to privacy
and security breaches.

HCP must comply with numecrous federal and statc laws and rcgulations governing the collection, disscmination, access, usc, security and privacy of
PHI, including HIPAA and its implementing privacy and security regulations, as amended by the federal HITECH Act and collectively referred to as HIPAA.
In the event that HCP’s non-compliance with existing or new laws and regulations related to PHI results in privacy or security breaches, HCP could be subject
to monetary fines, civil suits, civil penalties or criminal sanctions and requirements to disclose the breach publicly. '

HCP may be impacted by eligibility changes to government and private insurance programs.

Due to potential decreased availability of healthcare through private employers, the number of patients who are uninsured or participate in governmental
programs may increase. The Health Reform Acts will increase the participation of individuals in the Mcdicaid program in states that elcct to participate in the
expanded Medicaid coverage. A shift in payor mix from managed care and other private payors to government payors as well as an increase in the number of
uninsured patients may result in a reduction in the rates of reimbursement to HCP or an increase in uncollectible receivables or uncompensated care, with a
corresponding decrease in net revenue. Changes in the eligibility requirements for governmental programs such as the Medicaid program under the Health
Reform Acts and state decisions on whether to participate in the expansion of such programs also could increase the number of patients who participate in such
programs and the number of uninsured patients. Even for those patients who remain in private insurance plans, changes to those plans could increase patient
financial responsibility, resulting in a greater risk of uncollectible receivables. These factors and events could have a material adverse effect on HCP’s
business, financial eondition, and results of operations. '
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Negative publicity regarding the managed healthcare industry generally or HCP in particular could adversely affect HCP’s results of operations
or business.

Negative publicity regarding the managed healthcare industry generally, the Medicare Advantage program or HCP in particular, may result in increased
regulation and legislative review of industry practices that further increase HCP’s costs of doing business and adversely affect HCP’s results of operations or

business by:
+ requiring HCP to change its products and services;

*  increasing the regulatory, including compliance, burdens under which HCP operates, which, in turn, may neganvely impact the manner in which
HCP provides services and increase HCP’s costs of providing services;

+ adverscly affecting HCP’s ability to market its products or services through the imposition of furthcr regulatory restrictions regarding the manner
in which plans and providers market to Medicare Advantage enrollees; or

*  adversely affecting HCP’s ability to attract and retain members.

Risk factors related to our overall business and ownership of our common stock:

Disruptions in federal government operations and funding create uncertainty in our industry and could have a material adverse effect on our
revenues, earnings and cash flows and otherwise adversely affect our financial condition.

A substantial portion of our revenues is dependent on federal healthcare program reimbursement, and any disruptions in federal government operations
could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, earnings and cash flows. Although the government passed a budget for fiscal year 2014, there is no
guarantee that the U.S. government will be able to pass the federal budget for subsequent fiscal years. In addition, if the U.S. government defaults on its debt,
there could be broad macroeconomic effects that could raise our cost of borrowing funds, and delay or prevent our future growth and expansion. Any future
federal government shutdown, U.S. government default on its debt and/or failure of the U.S. government to enact annual appropriations for fiscal year 2014
could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, earnings and cash flows. Additionally, disruptions in federal government operations may negatively
impact regulatory approvals and guidance that are important to our operations, and create uncertainty about the pace of upcoming health care regulatory
developments.

Changes in CMS diagnosis and inpatient procedure coding require us to make modifications to processes and information systems, which could
result in significant development costs and which if unsuccessful could adversely affect our revenues, earnings and cash flows.

CMS has mandated the use of new patient codes for reporting medical diagnosis and inpatient procedures, referred to as ICD-10. CMS is requiring all
providers, payors, clearinghouses, and billing services to utilize ICD-10 when submitting claims for payment. ICD-10 will affect diagnosis and inpatient
procedure coding for everyone covered by HIPAA, not just those who submit Medicare or Medicaid claims. Claims for services provided on or after October 1,
2014 must use ICD-10 for medical diagnosis and inpatient procedures or they will not be paid.

We anticipate that if our services, processes or information systems or those of our payors do not comply with ICD-10 requirements at any future date,
it could potentially delay or even reduce reimbursement payments to us. These delays or reductions could negatively impact our revenues, earnings and cash

flows.
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We may engage in acquisitions, mergers or dispositions, which may affect our results of operations, debt-to-capital ratio, capital expenditures or
other aspects of our business, and if businesses we acquire have liabilities we are not aware of, we could suffer severe consequences that would
materially and adversely affect our business.

Our business strategy includes growth through acquisitions of dialysis centers and other businesses. We may engage in acquisitions, mergers or
dispositions, which may affect our results of operations, debt-to-capital ratio, capital expenditures, or other aspects of our business. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to identify suitable acquisition targets or merger partners or that, if identified, we will be able to acquire these targets on
acceptable terms or-agree to terms with mcrger partners. There can also be no assurance that we will be successful in completing any acquisitions, mergers or
dispositions that we announce, or integrating any acquired business into our overall operations. There is no guarantee that we will be able to operate acquired
businesses successfully as stand-alone businesses, or that any such acquired business will operate profitably or will not otherwise adversely impact our
results of operations. Further, we cannot be certain that key talented individuals at the business being acquired will continue to work for us after the
acquisition or that they will be able to continue to successfully manage or have adequate resources to successfully operate any acquired business.

Businesses we acquire may have unknown or contingent liabilities or liabilities that are in excess of the amounts that we originally estimated, and may
have other issues, including those related to internal controls over financial reporting or issues that could affect our ability to comply-with healthcare laws and
regulations and other laws applicable to our expanded business. As a result, we cannot make any assurances that the acquisitions we consummate will be
successful. Although we gencrally seck indemnification from the scllers of busincsses we acquire for matters that arc not properly disclosed to us, we arc not
always successful. In addition, even in cases where we are able to obtain indemnification, we may discover liabilities greater than the contractual limits, the
amounts held in escrow for our benefit (if any), or the financial resources of the indemnifying party. In the event that we are responsible for liabilities
substantially in excess of any amounts recovered through rights to indemnification or alternative remedies that might be available to us, or any applicable
insurance, we could suffer severe consequences that would substantially reduce our earnings and cash flows or otherwise materially and adversely affect our

business.

If we are not able to continue to make acquisitions, or maintain an acceptable level of non-acquired growth, or if we face significant patient
attrition to our competitors or a reduction in the number of our medical directors or associated physicians, it could adversely affect our business.

Acquisitions, patient retention and medical director and physician retention are an important part of our growth strategy. We face intense competition
from other companies for acquisition targets. In our U.S. dialysis business, we continue to face increased competition from large and medium-sized providers
which compete directly with us for acquisition targets as well as for individual patients and medical directors. In addition, as we continue our international
dialysis expansion into various international markets, we will face competition from large and medium-sized providers for these acquisition targets as well.
Because of the ease of entry into the dialysis business and the ability of physicians to be medical directors for their own centers, competition for growth in
existing and expanding markets is not limited to large competitors with substantial financial resources. Occasionally, we have experienced competition from
former medical directors or referring physicians who have opened their own dialysis centers. In addition, Fresenius, our largest competitor, manufactures a
full line of dialysis supplies and equipment in addition to owning and operating dialysis centers. This may give it cost advantages over us because of its
ability to manufacture its own products. If we are not able to continue to make acquisitions, continue to maintain acceptable levels of non-acquired growth, or
if we face significant patient attrition to our competitors or a reduction in the number of our medical directors or associated physicians, it could adversely

affect our business.
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HCP operates in a different line of business from our historical business. We may face challenges managing HCP as a new business and may
not realize anticipated benefits.

As a result of the HCP transaction, we are now significantly engaged in a new line of business. We may not have the expertise, experience, and resources
to pursue all of our businesses at once, and we may be unable to successfully operate all businesses in the combined Company. The administration of HCP
will require implementation of appropriate operations, management, and financial reporting systems and controls. We may experience difficuities in effectively
implementing these and other systems. The management of HCP will require the focused attention of our management team, including a significant
commitment of its time and resources. The need for management to focus on these matters could have a material and adverse impact on our revenues and
operating results. If the HCP operations are less profitable than we currently anticipate or we do not have the experience, the appropriate expertise, or the
resources to pursue all businesses in the combined company, the results of operations and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to successfully maintain an effective internal control over financial reporting or if the internal control of HCP over financial reporting
were found to be ineffective, the integrity of our, and/or HCP’s, financial reporting could be compromised which could result in a material adverse

effect on our reported financial results.

The integration of HCP into our internal control over financial reporting has required and will continue to require significant time and resources from our
management and other personnel and will increase our compliance costs. Failure to maintain an effective intemal control environment could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to accurately report our financial results and the market’s perception of our business and our stock price.

The market price of our common stock may be affected by factors different from those affecting the shares of our common stock prior to
consummation of the HCP transaction.

Our historical business differs substantially from that of HCP. Accordingly, the results of operations of the combined company and the market price of
our common stock may be affected by factors different from those that previously affected the independent results of operations of each of the Company and

HCP.

Expansion of our operations to and offering our services in markets outside of the U.S. subjects us to political, economical, legal, operational and
other risks that could adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

We are continuing an expansion of our operations by offering our services outside of the U.S., which increases our exposure to the inherent risks of
doing business in intemational markets. Depending on the market, these risks include, without limitation, those relating to:

*  changcs in the local cconomic cnvironment;

* political instability, armed conflicts or terrorism;

«  social changes;

* intellectual property lcgél protections and remedies;

+  trade regulations; .

«  procedures and actions affecting approval, production, pricing, reimbursement and marketing of products and services;

» foreign currency;
¢ repatriating or moving to other countries cash generated or held abroad, including considerations relating to tax-efficiencies and changes in tax

laws;
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*  export controls;

« lack of reliable legal systems which may affect our ability to enforce contractual rights;

¢ changes in local laws or rcgulations;

¢ potentially longer ramp-up times for starting up new operations and for payment and collection cycles;

¢ financial and operational, and information technology systems integration; and '

«  failure to comply with U.S. or lbcal laws that prohibit us or our intermediaries from making improper payments to foreign officials for the

purpose of obtaining or retaining business.

Additionally, some factors that will be critical to the success of our international business and operations will be different than those affecting our
domestic business and operations. For example, conducting international operations requires us to devote significant management resources to implement our
controls and systems in new markets, to comply with local laws and regulations and to overcome the numerous new challenges inherent in managing
international operations, including those based on differing languages, cultures and regulatory environments, and those related to the timely hiring, integration

- and retention of a sufficient number of skilled personnel to carry out operations in an environment with which we are not familiar.

We anticipate expanding our international operations through acquisitions of varying sizes or through organic growth, which could increase these risks.
Additionally, though we might invest material amounts of capital and incur significant costs in connection with the growth and devclopment of our
international operations, there is no assurance that we will be able to operate them profitably anytime soon, if at all. As a result, we would expect these costs to
be dilutive to our earnings over the next several years as we start-up or acquire new operations.

These risks could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The level of our current and future debt could have an adverse impact on our business and our ability to generate cash to service our
indebtedness depends on many factors beyond our control.

We have substantial debt outstanding, we incurred a substantial amount of additional debt in connection with the HCP transaction and we may incur
additional indebtedness in the future. The high level of our indebtedness, among other things, could:

¢ make it difficult for us to make payments on our debt securities;
*  increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

«  require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of
our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and investments and other general corporate purposes;

«  limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the markets in which we operate;
=  expose us to interest rate volatility that could adversely affect our earnings and cash flow and our ability to service our indebtedness;
»  place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

= limit our ability to borrow additional funds.

Our ability to make payments on our indebtedness and to fund planned capital expenditures and expansion efforts, including any strategic acquisitions
we may make in the future, will depend on our ability to generate cash. This, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive,
regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.
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We cannot provide assurance that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future or that future borrowings will be available
to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to service our indebtedness or to fund other liquidity needs. If we are unable to generate sufficient funds to service
our outstanding indebtedness, we may be required to refinance, restructure, or otherwise amend some or all of such obligations, sell assets, or raise additional
cash through the sale of our equity. We cannot make any assurances that we would be able to obtain such refinancing on terms as favorable as our existing
financing terms or that such restructuring activities, sales of assets, or issuances of equity can be accomplished or, if accomplished, would raise sufficient

funds to mect these obligations.

The borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities are guaranteed by a substantial portion of our direct and indirect wholly-owned domestic
subsidiaries and are secured by a substantial portion of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.’s and its subsidiaries’ assets.

‘We may be subject to liability claims for damages and other expenses not covered by insurance that could reduce ouyr earnings and cash flows.

Our operations and how we manage the Company may subject the Company, as well as its officers and directors to whom the Company owes certain
defense and indemnity obligations, to litigation and liability for damages. Our business, profitability and growth prospects could suffer if we face negative
publicity or we pay damagcs or defense costs in connection with a claim that is outside the scope or limits of covcrage of any applicable insurance coverage,
including claims related to adverse patient events, contractual disputes, professional and general liability, and directors’ and officers’ duties. In addition, we
have received several notices of claims from commercial payors and other third parties related to our historical billing practices and the historical billing
practices of the centers acquired from Gambro Healthcare and other matters related to their settlement agreement with the Department of Justice. Although the
ultimate outcome of these claims cannot be predicted, an adverse result with respect to one or more of these claims could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of opcrations, and cash flows. We currently maintain insurance coverage for those risks we deem are appropriate to insure against
and make determinations about whether to self-insure as to other risks or layers of coverage. However, a successful claim, including a professional liability,
malpracticc or ncgligence claim which is in excess of any applicablc insurance coverage, or that is subject to our sclf-insurancc retentions, could have a
material adverse effect on our earnings and cash flows.

In addition, if our costs of insurance and claims increase, then our eamings could decline. Market rates for insurance premiums and deductibles have
been steadily increasing. Our earnings and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected by any of the following:
« the collapse or insolvency of our insurance carriers;
«  further increases in premiums and deductibles;
< increases in the number of liability claims against us or the cost of settling or trying cases related to those claims; or

«  aninability to obtain one or more types of insurance on acceptable terms, if at all.

Provisions in our charter documents, compensation programs and Delaware law may deter a change of control that our stockholders would
otherwise determine to be in their best interests.

Our charter documents include provisions that may deter hostile takeovers, delay or prevent changes of control or changes in our management, or limit
the ability of our stockholders to approve transactions that they may otherwise determine to be in their best interests. These include provisions prohibiting our
stockholders from acting by written consent; requiring 90 days advance notice of stockholder proposals or nominations to our Board of Directors; and
granting our Board of Directors the authority to issue preferred stock and to determine the rights and preferences of the preferred stock without the need for
further stockholder approval.
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Most of our outstanding employee stock-based compensation awards include a provision accelerating the vesting of the awards in the event of a change
of control. Wc also maintain a change of control protcction program for our employecs who do not have a significant number of stock awards, which has becn
in place since 2001, and which provides for cash bonuses to the employees in the event of a change of control. Based on the market price of our common stock
and shares outstanding on December 31, 2013, these cash bonuses would total approximately $533 million if a change of control transaction occurred at that
price and our Board of Directors did not modify this program. These change of control provisions may affect the price an acquirer would be willing to pay for

our Company. /

We are also subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law that, subject to exceptions, would prohibit us from engaging in any
business combinations with any interested stockholder, as defined in that section, for a period of three years following the date on which that stockholder
became an interested stockholder.

These provisions may discourage, delay or prevent an acquisition of our Company at a price that our stockholders may find attractive. These
provisions could also make it morc difficult for our stockholders to clect directors and take other corporatc actions and could limit the price that investors
might be willing to pay for shares of our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

For our U.S. dialysis and relatcd lab scrvice business, we own the land and buildings for 26 of our outpatient dialysis centers. We also own the
buildings for six other outpatient dialysis centers and the building at one of our Florida labs and we own two separate land parcels and subleasc a total of four
properties to third-party tenants. In addition, we also own the land and building for our corporatc headquarters. Our remaining outpatient dialysis centers are
located on premises that we lcase.

For HCP, we own the land and buildings for nine of our clinics. We also own the building for one other clinic and we own one separate land parcel. Our
remaining clinics are located on premises that we lease.

Our leases for our dialysis and related lab scrvices and for HCP gencrally cover periods from five to fifteen years and typically contain rencwal options
of five to ten years at the fair rental value at the time of renewal. Our leases are generally subject to periodic consumer price index increases, or contain fixed
cscalation clauses. Our outpatient dialysis centers range in size from approximately 500 to 33,000 squarc feet, with an average size of approximately 7,000
square feet. HCP’s clinics range in size from approximately 800 to 102,000 square feet, with an average size of approximately 10,000 square feet.
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Offiee

U.S. Dialysis and related lab service and other ancillary business:

The following is a summary of our business, administrative offices, laboratories and pharmacies:

Corporate Headquarters
Corporate Headquarters
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Business Office
Business Office
Business Office
Business Office
Business Office
Business Office
Business Office
DaVita Rx

DaVita Rx

DaVita Rx Pharmacy and Office

Laboratory

Laboratory Warehouse and Office

Laboratory
Laboratory Office

HCP’s business:

approvals would generally be necessary for expansion or relocation.

Business Office

Business Office

Business Office

Business Office

Business Office

Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Officc
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office
Administrative Office

Location

Denver, CO
Denver, CO
Vemon Hills, IL
Washington, DC
Tempe, AZ
Centennial, CO
El Segundo, CA
Tacoma, WA
Malvemn, PA
Brentwood, TN
Franklin, TN
Irvine, CA
Federal Way, WA
Orlando, FL

“Coppell, TX

San Bruno, CA
DeLand, FL
DeL.and, FL

Ft. Lauderdale, FL
Miami, FL

El Segundo, CA
Rochester, NY
Chicago, IL
Boston, MA
Costa Mesa, CA
St. Petersburg, FL.
Ft. Lauderdale, FL
Orlando, FL

Fort Harrison, FL
Coral Springs, FL
Costa Mesa, CA -
Irvine, CA
Arcadia, CA

Las Vegas, NV
Torrance, CA

Los Angeles, CA
Albuquerque, NM
Phoenix, AZ
Peoria, AZ

Square Feet

240,000
70,000
33,000

4,000
4,000
23,000
81,000
120,000
120,000
95,000
10,000
65,000
187,000
68,000

121,000
22,000
40,000

68,000
43,000
1,000

11,000
4,000
4,000
4,000
5,000

36,000
2,000
2,000
2,000
4,000

27,000
9,000

16,000

37,000

204,000

46,000

138,000

14,000

6,000

Expiration

Owned

2018

2019

2016

2016

2018

2014 through 2023
2021

2022

2021

2014

2015

2023

2014 through 2020
2019

2015 through 2017
Owned

2015

2014

2014

2016
2016
2015
2017
2016
2020
2017
2014
2018
2018
2018
2014
2019
2015 through 2016
2015 through 2021
2014 through 2015
2016
2019
2016

Some of our outpatient dialysis centers are opcrating at or near capacity. However, we believe that we have adequate capacity within most of our existing
dialysis centers to accommodatc additional patient volume through increased hours and/or days of operation, or, if additional space is availablc within an
existing facility, by adding dialysis stations. We can usually relocate existing centers to larger facilities or open new centers if existing centers reach capacity.
With respect to relocating centers or building new centers, we believe that we can generally lease space at economically reasonable rates in the areas planned for
each of these centers, although there can be no assurances in this regard. Expansion of existing centers or relocation of our dialysis centers is subject to review -
for compliance with conditions relating to participation in the Mcdicarc ESRD program. In states that requirc a certificate of need or center license, additional
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"Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Inquiries by the Federal Government and Certain Related Civil Proceedings

Vainer Private Civil Suit: In December 2008, we received a subpoena for documents from the OIG relating to the pharmaceutical products Zemplar,
Hectorol, Venofer, Ferrlecit and EPO, as well as other related matters. The subpoena covered the period from January 2003 to December 2008. We have been in
contact with the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the Northem District of Georgia and the U.S. Department of Justice in Washington, DC since November 2008
relating to this matter, and have been advised that this was a civil inquiry. On June 17, 2009, we learned that the allegations underlying this inquiry were
made as part of a civil complaint filed by individuals and brought pursuant to the qui tam provisions of the federal False Claims Act. On April 1, 2011, the
U.S. District Court for the Northem District of Georgia ordered the case to be unsealed. At that time, the Departrent of Justice and U.S. Attorney’s Office filed
a notice of declination stating that the federal government would not be intervening and not pursuing the relators’ allegation in litigation. On July 25, 2011, the
relators, Daniel Barbir and Dr. Alon Vainer, filed their amended complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Norther District of Georgia, purportedly on
behalf of the federal government. The allegations in the complaint relate to our drug administration practices for our dialysis operations for Vitamin D and iron
agents for a period from 2003 through 2010. The complaint seeks monetary damages and civil penalties as well as costs and expenses. We are vigorously
defending this matter and intend to continue to do so. We can make no assurances as to the time or resources that will be needed to devote to this litigation or its

final outcome.

2010 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigation : In May 2010, we received a subpoena from the OIG’s office in Dallas, Texas. The civil
subpocna covers the period from January 2005 to May 2010, and seeks production of a wide range of documents rclating to our dialysis operations, including
documents related to, among other things, financial relationships with physicians and joint ventures, and whether those relationships and joint ventures
comply with the federal anti-kickback statute and the False Claims Act. We have been advised by the attomeys conducting this civil investigation that they
believe that some or all of our joint ventures do not comply with the anti-kickback statute and the False Claims Act. We disagree that our joint venture
structure generally, which we believe is widely used in the dialysis industry and other segments of the healthcare industry substantially in the form that we use
it, violates the federal anti-kickback statute or the False Claims Act. As to individual transactions, we made significant effort to ensure that our joint venture
structures and process complied with the rules, but we are talking with the government about addressing their concerns. The focus of this investigation
overlaps substantially with the 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigation described below. We have agreed to a framework for a global
resolution with the United States Attomey’s Office for the District of Colorado, the Civil Division of the United States Department of Justice and the Office of
the Inspector General for both the 2010 and the 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations. The final settlement remains subject to negotiation of
specific terms. The settlement will include the payment of approximately $389 million, entry into a corporate integrity agreement, the appointment of an
independent compliance monitor, and the imposition of certain other business restrictions related to a subset of our joint venture arrangements. Under the terms
of the framework for resolution, we have agreed to unwind a limited subset of joint ventures that were created through partial divestiture to nephrologists, and
agreed not to enter into this type of partial divestiture joint venture with nephrologists in the future. In 2013, we accrued an estimated loss contingency reserve
of $397 million related to this matter. The final settlement remains subject to negotiation of specific terms and will continue to require management’s attention
and significant legal expense. We can make no assurances as to the final outcome.

2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigation : In August 2011, we announced we had learned that the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District
of Colorado would be investigating certain activities of our dialysis business in connection with information being provided to a grand jury. This investigation
relates to our relationships with physicians, including our joint ventures, and whether those relationships and joint ventures comply with the federal anti-
kickback statute, and overlaps substantially with the 2010 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigation described above. As noted above, we have
agreed to a framework for a global resolution with the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of Colorado, the Civil Division of the United

65




Table of Contents

States Department of Justice and the Office of the Inspector General for both the 2010 and the 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations. The
final settlement remains subject to negotiation of specific terms and will continue to require management’s attention and significant legal expense. We can make

no assurances as to the final outcome.

2011 U.S. Attorney Medicaid Investigation: In October 2011, we announced that we would be receiving a request for documents, which could include
an administrative subpoena from the Office of Inspector General for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Subsequent to our announcement of
this 2011 U.S. Attorney Medicaid Investigation, we received a request for documents in connection with the inquiry by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the
Eastern District of New York. The request relates to payments for infusion drugs covered by Medicaid composite payments for dialysis. We believe this
inquiry is civil in naturc. We do not know thc time period or scope. We understand that certain other providers that opcrate dialysis clinics in New York may
be receiving or have received a similar request for documents. We arc cooperating with the government and are producing the requested documents.

Swoben Private Civil Suit: In April 2013, our HCP subsidiary was served with a civil complaint filed by a former employee of SCAN Health Plan
(SCAN), a health maintenance organization (HMO). On July 13, 2009, pursuant to the qui fam provisions of thc fedcral Falsc Claims Act and the California
False Claims Act, James M. Swoben, as relator, filed a qui tam action in the United States District Court for the Central District of California purportedly on
behalf of the United States of America and the State of California against SCAN, and certain other defendants whose identities were under seal. The
allegations in the complaint relate to alleged overpayments received from government healthcare programs. In or about August 2012, SCAN entered into a
settlement agreement with the United States of America and the State of California. The United States and the State of California partially intervened in the
action for the purposc of settlement with and dismissal of the action against SCAN. In or about Novembcr 2011, the relator filed his Third Amended
Complaint under seal alleging violations of the federal False Claims Act and the California False Claims Act, which named additional defendants, including
HCP and certain health insurance companies (the defendant HMOs). The allegations in the complaint against HCP relate to patient diagnosis coding to
determine reimbursement in the Medicare Advantage program, referred to as Hierarchical Condition Coding (HCC) and Risk Adjustment Factor (RAF)
scores. The complaint sought monetary damages and civil penalties as well as costs and expenses. The United States Department of Justice reviewed these
allegations and in January 2013 declined to intervene in the case. On June 26, 2013, HCP and the defendant HMOs filed their respective motions to dismiss
the Third Amended Complaint pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and 9(b), challenging the legal sufficiency of the claims asserted in the
complaint. On July 30, 2013, the court granted HCP’s motion and dismissed with prcjudice all of the claims in the Third Amended Complaint and judgment
was entered in September 2013. The court specifically determined that further amendments to the complaint would be futile because, in part, the allegations
were publicly discloscd in reports and other sources relating to audits conducted by the Centers of Medicare & Medicaid Services. In October 2013, the
plaintiff appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit and the court’s disposition of the appeal is pending.

Except for the private civil complaints filed by the relators as described above, to our knowledge, no proceedings have been initiated against us at this
time in connection with any of the inquiries by the federal government. Although we cannot predict whether or when proceedings might be initiated or when
these matters may be resolved, it is not unusual for inquiries such as these to continue for a considerable period of time through the various phases of
document and witness requests and on-going discussions with regulators. Responding to the subpoenas or inquiries and defending the Company in the relator
proceedings will continue to require management’s attention and significant legal expense. Any negative findings in the inquiries or relator proceedings could
result in substantial financial penalties or awards against us, exclusion from future participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs and, to the extent
criminal proccedings may be initiated against us, possible criminal penalties. At this time, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of thesc inquiries, or the
potential outcome of the relators’ claims (except as described above), or the potential range of damages, if any.
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Haverhill Retirement System Shareholder Derivative Civil Suit : On May 17, 2013, Haverhill Retirement System (Haverhill), a shareholder of the
Company, filed a shareholder derivative lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Colorado against the directors of the Company and against the
Company, as nominal defendant. The complaint alleges, among other things, our directors breached fiduciary duties to the Company relating to the inquiries
by the federal government described above, the Vainer qui tam private civil suit described above and the Woodard qui tam private civil suit for which we
previously announced a settlement in July 2012. On January 7, 2014, the court consolidated the Haverhill action and the Clark action described below and
appointed Haverhill lead plaintiff. The consolidated action is captioned In re DaVita HealthCare Partners, Inc. Derivative Litigation and will be referred to as

such going forward.

Clark Shareholder Derivative Civil Suit: As we previously disclosed, on August 7, 2012, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Colorado against certain of our current and former directors and executives and against the Compary, as nominal defendant. The
complaint alleged, among other things, that such officers and directors breached fiduciary duties to the Company relating to substantially the same matters
that are now the subject of the Haverhill shareholder derivative civil suit described above. As we also previously disclosed, on October 19, 2012, the court
ordered that the Clark case be administratively closed, subject to being reopened upon a showing of good cause by any party. As described above, the court
granted Haverhill’s motion consolidating the actions and appointed Haverhill lead plaintiff. The consolidated action is captioned In_re DaVita HealthCare
Partners, Inc. Derivative Litigation and will be referred to as such going forward.

Other )
We have received several notices of claims from commercial payors and other third parties related to historical billing practices and claims against DVA
Renal Healthcare (formerly known as Gambro Healthcare), a subsidiary of the Company, related to historical Gambro Healthcare billing practices and other
matters covered by its 2004 settlement agreement with the Department of Justice and certain agencies of the U.S. government. We have received no further
indication that any of these claims are active, and some of them may be barred by applicable statutes of limitations. To the extent any of these claims might
proceed, we intend to defend against them vigorously; however, we may not be successful and these claims may lead to litigation and any such litigation may
be rcsolved unfavorably. At this time, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of thesc matters or the potential range of damages, if any.

A wage and hour claim, which has been styled as a class action, is pending against us in the Superior Court of California. We were served with the
complaint in this lawsuit in April 2008, and it has been amended since that time. The complaint, as amended, alleges that we failed to provide meal periods,
failed to pay compensation in lieu of providing rest or meal periods, failed to pay overtime, and failed to comply with certain other California Labor Code
requircments. In Scptember 2011, the court deniced the plaintiffs’ motion for class certification. Plaintiffs appcaled that decision. In January 2013, the Court of
Appeals affirmed the trial court’s decision on some claims, but remanded the case to the trial court for clarification of its decision on one of the claims. We
have reached an agrcement with the plaintiffs to settle the claim that was remanded to the trial court, and the court has preliminarily approved that scttlement.
The amount of the settlement is not material to our consolidated financial statements. We intend to continue to vigorously defend against the remaining claims.
Any potential scttlement of the remaining claims is not anticipated to be material to our consolidated financial statements.

In October 2007, we were contacted by the Attorncy General’s Office for the State of Nevada. The Attorncy Gencral’s Office informed us that it was
conducting a civil and criminal investigation of our operations in Nevada and that the investigation related to the billing of pharmaceuticals by our dialysis
business, including EPO. In February 2008, the Attorney General’s Office informed us that the civil and criminal investigation had been discontinued. The
Attomey General’s Office further advised us that Nevada Medicaid intended to conduct audits of ESRD dialysis providers in Nevada and that such audits

would relate to the issues that were the subject
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of the investigation. To our knowledge, no court proceedings have been initiated against us at this time. Any negative audit findings could resultin a
substantial repayment by us. At this time, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of this matter or the potential range of damages, if any.

In addition to the foregoing, we are subjcct to claims and suits, including from time to time, contractual disputes and profcssional and general liability
claims, as well as audits and investigations by various government entities, in the ordinary course of business. We believe that the ultimate resolution of any
such pending proceedings, whether the underlying claims are covered by insurance or not, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,

results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol DVA. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the
high and low closing prices for our common stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange. The closing prices represent the high and low on a post-split
basis, which took effect in the third quarter of 2013. All prior closing prices have been adjusted to reflect the effects of the stock split.

High Low

Year ended December 31, 2013:

1st quarter $61.68 $54.15

2nd quarter 65.60 58.66

3rd quarter 60.62 53.76

4th quarter 63.39 55.03
Year ended December 31, 2012:

1st quarter $45.09 $ 3857

2nd quarter 49.11 40.12

3rd quarter 51.81 47.40

4th quarter 57.49 51.72

The closing price of our common stock on January 31, 2014 was $64.93 per share. According to Computershare, our registrar and transfer agent, as of
January 31, 2014, there were 12,044 holders of record of our common stock. We have not declared or paid cash dividends to holders of our common stock
since 1994. We have no current plans to pay cash dividends and we are restricted from paying dividends under the terms of our Senior Secured Credit
Facilities and the indentures govermning our senior notes. Also, see the heading “Liquidity and capital resources” under “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

Stock Repurchases
The following table summarizes our repurchases of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2013:

Total Number Approximate Dollar Value
Total Number of Sharcs Purchased as  of Shares that May Yet Be
of Average Part of Publicly Purchased Under the
Shares Price Paid Announccd Plans or Plans or Programs
Periad Purchased per Share Programs(1) (in millions)
Oct 1—Dec 31, 2013 — — — 3 358.2

On November 3, 2010, the Board of Directors authorized $800 million for repurchases of our common stock. This stock repurchase program has no
expiration date. We are authorized to make purchases from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, depending upon
market conditions and other considerations. However, we are subject to share repurchase limitations under the terms of the Senior Secured Credit

Q)

Facilities and the indentures governing our senior notes.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following financial and operating data should be read in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements filed as part of this report. The following table presents selected consolidated financial
and operating data for the periods indicated. Effective January 1, 2012 we were required to present our provision for uncollectible accounts related to patient
service revenues as a deduction from our patient service revenues, which changed the classification of our provision for uncollectible accounts related to patient
service revenues. These selected consolidated financial results have been recast for all prior periods presented to reflect the retrospective application of these new
prescntation and disclosurc requircments for patient scrvice revenues.

On November 1, 2012, we completed our acquisition of HCP whereby HCP became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The total
consideration paid for all of the outstanding common units of HCP was approximately $4.71 billion, which consisted of $3.65 billion in cash, nct of cash
acquired, and 18,760,624 shares of our common stock valued at approximately $1.06 billion. During 2013, we paid an additional $5.3 million in cash for
post-closing working capital adjustments. In addition, we paid approximately $137 million to the common unit holders of HCP as a result of HCP achieving
certain financial performance targets in 2012. In 2013, we reached an agreement with the representative of the former owners and option holders of HCP to
settle certain post-closing adjustments, including the 2013 contingent earn-out obligation for approximately $68.8 million. The operating results of HCP are
included in our consolidated results beginning November 1, 2012.

Year cnded December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except share data)

Income statement data:

Net revenucs $ 11,764,050 $ 8,186,280 $ 6,731,806 $ 6,219,610 $ 5,898,801
Opcrating cxpenscs and charges(1) 10213916 6.889.196 5,577,093 5.225.802 4,964 120
Operating income 1,550,134 1,297,084 1,154,713 993,808 934,681
Debt cxpense (429,943) (288,554) (241,090) (181,607) (185,755)
Debt refinancing and redemption charges — (10,963) — (74,382) —
Other income, net 4.787 3737 2,982 3419 3,706
Income from continuing operations before incotne taxcs 1,124,978 1,001,304 916,605 741,238 752,632
Income tax expensc 381.013 359,845 325292 258,874 276,099
Income from continuing operations 743,965 641,459 591,313 482,364 476,533
Income from opcrations of di inued operations, net of tax(2) : (139) (222) (13,162) 1,855 3,226
Loss on disposa! of discontinucd opcrations, nct of tax(2) 13.375 — (4,756) — —
Net income $ 757,201 $ 641,237 $ 573,395 $ 484,219 $ 479,759
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling intcrests (123.755) (105.220) (95.394) (78.536) (57.075)
Net income attributabie to DaVita HealthCare Pariners Inc. $ 633.446 $ 536,017 $___478.001 $___ 405683 $ 422 684
Basic income from inuing operations per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partniers Inc.(2)(3) 3 2.95 3 2.79 $ 2.62 $ 1.99 3 2.02
Diluted iocome from inuing operations per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.(2)3) $ 2.89 $ 2.74 by 2.57 $ 1.96 $ 2.01
Weighted avcrage sharcs outstanding:(3) '
Basic 209.939.000 192,036,000 189,316,000 203,009,000 207,208,600
Diluted 214.764 000 195.942.000 193,064,000 206.118.000 208.3351000
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(4) 2.73:1 3.17:1 3.39:1 3.43:1 3.56:1
Balance sheet data:
Working capital $ 1,010,229 $ 870,625 $ 1,128,492 $ 1,698.509 $ 1,255580
Total assels 17,098,877 16,014,633 8,903,808 8,114,424 7,558,236
Long-tcrm debt 8,141,231 8,326,534 4,417,624 4,233,850 3,532,217
4,432479 3,763,137 2,141,075 1,978,422 2,135,066

Total DaVita HealthCarc Partners Inc. sharcholders’ equity(3)
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Operating cxpenses and charges in 2013 include a loss contingency reserve of $397,000, a ingent eam-out obligati lj of $56,977 that increased opcerating income and an adjustment to reduce a tax

asset associated with the HCP acquisition escrow provisions of $7,721. In addition, 2012 included $85,837 for a lega! setticment and related expenses, and $30,753 of transaction expenses associated with the

acquisition of HCP.
Income from operations of discontinued operati net of tax includes the op of HomeChoice which was divested on February 1. 2013. The income from operations of discontinued operations in 2011 also

includes $24,000 of a non-cash goodwill impairment charge related to this business. In addition, during 2011, we divested a total of 28 outpaticnt dialysis centers in conjunction with a consent order issucd by the

Federal Trade Commission on Seplember 30, 2011 in order for us to plete (he acquisition of DST. In addition, we pleted the salc of two additional cenlters that were previously pending state regulatory
approval in conjunction with the acquisition of DSI on October 31, 201 I. The operating results of the historical DaVita HealthCarc Partners Inc. divested centers are reflecicd as discontinued uper‘duons in our
lidatcd financial for all periods presented. In addition, the operating results for the historical DSI divested centers are reflected as discontinued operation in our lidated fi i

beginning Scptember 1, 2011,

In the third quarter of 2013, the Board of Dircctors approved a two-for-onc stock split of our common stock in the form of a stock dividend payablc on Scptember 6, 2013 to
2013. Our common stock began trading on a post-split basis on Scptember 9, 2013. All share and per share data for all periods presented have been adjusted Lo reflect the effects of the stock split. Share repurchases
consisted of 7,589,372 shares of common stock for $323.348 in 2011, 17,837,520 sharcs of common stock for $618.496 in 2010 and 5,805,238 sharcs of common stock for $153,495 in 2009. Sharcs issucd in
connection with stock awards were 1,928,137 in 2013, 2,375,571 in 2012, 2,520,518 in 2011, 3,542,768 in 2010 and 4,208,608 in 2009.

The ratio of camings to fixed charges was computed by dividing camings by fixcd charges. Eamings for this purposc is defined as pretax income from contmumg operations adjusted by adding back fixcd charges
cxpenscd during the period. Fixed charges include debt expensc (interest expensc and the write-off and amortization of deferred fi ing costs), the csti d intercst p of rental cxpensc on operating leascs,

and capitalized interest.

kholders of record on August 23,
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K including this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
contains statements that are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. All statements that do not concern historical
facts are forward-looking statements and include, among other things, statements about our expectations, beliefs, intentions and/or strategies for the
future. These forward-looking statements include statements regarding our future operations, financial condition and prospects, expectations for
treatment growth rates, revenue per treatment, expense growth, levels of the provision for uncollectible accounts receivable, operating income, cash
flow, operating cash flow, estimated tax rates, capital expenditures, the development of new dialysis centers and dialysis center acquisitions,
government and commercial payment rates, revenue estimating risk and the impact of our level of indebtedness on our financial performance and
including earnings per share. These statements involve substantial known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to
differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements, including but not limited to, risks resulting from the concentration of profits
generated by higher-paying commercial payor plans for which there is continued downward pressure on average realized payment rates, and a
reduction in the number of patients under such plans, which may result in the loss of revenues or patients, a reduction in government payment rates
under the Medicare ESRD program or other government-based programs, the impact of health care reform legislation that was enacted in the U.S. in
March 2010, the impact of the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 2014 Medicare Advantage benchmark structure, the impact of the
American Taxpayer Relief Act, the impact of disruptions in federal government operations and funding, changes in pharmaceutical or anemia
management practice patterns, payment policies, or pharmaceutical pricing, legal compliance risks, including our continued compliance with complex
government regulations and current or potential investigations by various government entities and related government or private-party proceedings,
including risks relating to the final resolution of the 2010 and 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations such as restrictions on our
business and operations required by a corporate integrity agreement and other settlement terms, and the financial impact thereof, continued increased
competition from large and medium-sized dialysis providers that compete directly with us, our ability to maintain contracts with physician medical
directors, changing affiliation models for physicians, and the emergence of new models of care introducéd by the government or private sector that
may erode our patient base and reimbursement rates such as accountable care organizations (ACOs), independent practice associations (IPAs) and
integrated delivery systems, or to businesses outside of dialysis and HCP'’s business, our ability to complete acquisitions, mergers or dispositions that
we might be considering or announce, or to integrate and successfully operate any business we may acquire or have acquired, including HCP, or to
expand our operations and services to markets outside the U.S., variability of our cash flows, the risk that we might invest material amounts of capital
and incur significant costs in connection with the growth and development of our international operations, yet we might not be able to operate them
profitably anytime soon, if at all, risks arising from the use of accounting estimates, judgments and interpretations in our financial statements, loss of
key HCP employees, potential disruption from the HCP transaction making it more difficult to maintain business and operational relationships with
customers, partners, associated physicians and physician groups, hospitals and others, the risk that laws regulating the corporate practice of
medicine could restrict the manner in which HCP conducts its business, the fact that HCP faces certain competitive threats that could reduce its
profitability, the risk that the cost of providing services under HCP’s agreements may exceed our compensation, the risk that reductions in
reimbursement rates, including Medicare Advantage rates, and future regulations may negatively impact HCP's business, revenue and profitability, the
risk that HCP may not be able to successfully establish a presence in new geographic regions or successfully address competitive threats that could
reduce its profitability, the risk that a disruption in HCP’s healthcare provider networks could have an adverse effect on its operations and profitability,
the risk that reductions in the quality ratings of health maintenance organization plan customers of HCP could have an adverse effect on HCP's
business, or the risk that health plans that acquire health maintenance organizations may not be willing to contract with HCP or may be willing to
contract only on less favorable terms, and the other risk factors set forth in Part 11, Item 1 4. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We base our
forward-looking statements on information currently available to us, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of changes in underlying factors, new information, future events or otherwise.
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The following should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and “ltem I. Business”.

Company overview

The Company consists primarily of two major lines of business, dialysis and related lab services and HealthCare Partners. The largest line of business
is our U.S. dialysis and related lab services business, which is a leading provider of kidney dialysis services in the U.S. for patients suffering from chronic
kidney failure, also known as ESRD. Our other major line of business is HCP, which is a patient- and physician-focused integrated health care delivery and
management company with nearly threc decadcs of providing coordinatcd, outcomcs-based medical carc in a cost-effcctive manner. The Company also opcrates
various other ancillary services and strategic initiatives, which includes our international dialysis operations.

On November 1, 2012, we completed our acquisition of HCP pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 20, 2012, whereby HCP became
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. HCP is one of the country’s largest operators of medical groups and physician networks generating approximately
$3.2 billion in revenues and approximately $385 million in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2013. The operating results of HCP are included
in our consolidated financial results from November 1, 2012.

The total consideration paid for all of the outstanding common units of HCP was approximately $4.71 billion, which consisted of $3.65 billion in
cash, net of cash acquired, and 18,760,624 shares of our common stock valued at approximately $1.06 billion. During 2013, we paid an additional $5.3
million in cash for post-closing working capital adjustments. In addition, we paid approximately $137 million to the common unit holders of HCP as a result
of HCP achicving ccrtain financial performance targcts in 2012. In 2013, we rcachced an agrecment with the representative of the former owners and option
holders of HCP to settle certain post-closing adjustments, including the 2013 contingent earn-out obligation for approximately $68.8 million.

Our overall financial performance was once again strong for 2013, excluding the estimated loss contingency reserve we accrued in connection with the
2010 and 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations, and was characterized by strong treatment volume growth, primarily from acquisitions
and non-acquired growth rates, cost control initiatives in our dialysis business, a decline in the utilization of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals and a full
year of operations from our HCP business, which experienced solid growth in its senior capitated members.

Some of our major accomplishments and financial operating performance indicators in 2013 and year over year were as follows:

« improved clinical outcomes in our U.S. dialysis operations;

*  HCP gencrated incremental operating income of $318 million in 2013 as a result of a full year of opcrations being included in our consolidated
financial statements;

= consolidated net revenue growth of approximately 43.7% primarily as a result of a full year of operations of HCP, which contributed 33.2% of the
increase, and an increase of 8.0% related to our U.S. dialysis operations;

* anincreasc of approximately 7.2% in the overall numbcr of U.S. dialysis related treatments;
» normalized non-acquired dialysis treatment growth of 5.1%;

»  consolidated operating income growth of approximately 19.5%, which includes the impact of various unusual adjustments as described below.
Excluding these itcms adjusted consolidated opcrating income would have incrcased by 34.2%; and

«  strong operating cash flows of $1,773 million.
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Howecver, we believe that 2014 will be challenging as we undertake initiatives to mitigate increases in clinical costs that we cxpect to experience duc to
inflation and other factors without any corresponding increasc in our dialysis Medicarc reimbursement rates. HCP also faces significantly lower Medicarc
Advantage reimbursement rates from risk recalibration. In addition, Congress could still make significant changes to Medicare and Medicaid under the health
carc rcform Icgislation that was cnacted in the U.S. and there is uncertainty around the potential negative impact of healthcare insurance exchanges. The
utilization of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals and pharmaceutical cost could also have a significant impact on our operating results. We also remain
committed to our international expansion plans that will continue to require significant investment in 2014. In addition, if the percentage of .our dialysis
patients with commercial payors continues to deteriorate or if we experience a decrease in our overall commercial rates, our operating results could be adversely

affected.
Following is a summary of consolidated operating results for reference in the discussion that follows. The operating results of HCP are included in our
opcrating results effective November 1, 2012. )

Year ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
(dollar amounts rounded to nearest miltion)

Net revenues: :
Patient service revenues $ 8,307 $7,352 $6,471
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts (293) (235) (190)
Net patient scrvice rcvenues 8,014 7,117 6,281
Capitated revenues ' 2,987 481 45
Other revenues 763 588 406
Total net consolidated revenues $11,764 100% $8,186 100% $6,732 100%

Operatiﬁg expenses and charges:

Patient care costs $ 8,198 70% $5,584 68% $ 4,634 69%

Gencral and administrative 1,177 10% 889 11% 685 10%
Depreciation and amortization 529 4% 342 4% 264 4%
Provision for uncollectible accounts ' 5 — 4 — 3 —
Equity investment income (35) — (16) — 9 —
Loss contingency reserve and other legal settlements 397 3% 86 1% — —
Contingent earn-out obligation adjustment 7 — — — — —
Total operating expenses and charges 10,214 87% 6,889 84% 5,577 83%

Operating income $ 1,550 13% $1,297 16% $1,155 17%

74



Table of Contents

The following table summarizes consolidated net revenues:

Yecar ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
{dollar amounts rounded to nearcst million)

Net revenues:

Dialysis and related lab services patient service revenues $ 8,033 $ 7,317 $ 6,474
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts (28 . (234) (190)
Dialysis and related lab services net patient service revenues 7,752 7,083 6,284
Other revenues 12 12 11
Total net dialysis and related lab services revenues 7,764 7,095 6,295
HCP capitated revenues 2,920 - 419 —
HCP net patient service revenues (less provision for uncollectible accounts of $12 and $2,
respectively) 220 34 —
Other revenue 56 - 24 —
Total net HCP revenues 3,196 477 —
Other-ancillary services and strategic initiatives revenues’ ' 709 563 401
Other-capitated revenues 67 62 45
Other-ancillary services and strategic initiatives net patient service revenues (less provision for
uncollectible accounts) 76 17 8
Total net other-ancillary services and strategic initiatives revenues 852 642 454
Total net segment revenues 11,812 8,214 6,749
Elimination of intersegment revenues (48 (28) an
Consolidated net revenues $11,764 $ 8,186 $§ 6,732
The following table summarizes consolidated operating income and adjusted consolidated operating income:
Year ended
2013 2012 - 2011
(dollar amounts rounded to nearest million)
Dialysis and related lab services $ 1,212 $ 1,378 $ 1,236
HCP services 385 67 —
Other—ancillary services and strategic initiatives loss (39) (65) (34)
Total segment operating income : 1,558 1,380 1,202
Reconciling items:
Contingent cam-out obligations 57 — —
Corporate support costs 67 (52) (CY)]
Adjustment to reduce a tax asset associated with HCP acquisition escrow provisions ®) — —
Transaction expenses — (31) —
Consolidated operating income 1,550 1,297 1,155
Reconciliation of non-GAAP measure:
Add:
Loss contingency reserve and other legal settlements ’ 397 86 —
Contingent earn-out obligation adjustment (&) — —
Transaction expenses — . 31 —
Adjustment to reduce a tax asset associated with HCP acquisition escrow provisions 8 — —
Adjusted consolidated operating income $ 1,898 $ 1,414 $ 1,155

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2013, we have excluded $397 million of accruals related to an estimated loss contingency reserve. In addition, we have
also excluded $57 million related to a decrease in HCP’s
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2013 contingent earn-out obligation and an adjustment of $8 million to reduce a tax asset associated with the HCP acquisition escrow provisions. For the
year ended December 31, 2012, we have excluded $86 million of expenses related to a legal settlement and we have also excluded $31 million of
transaction expenses associated with the acquisition of HCP from operating expenses and operating income. These are non-GAAP measures and are not
intended as substitutes for the GAAP equivalent measures. We have presented these adjusted amounts because management believes that these
presentations enhance a user’s understanding of our normal consolidated operating income by excluding: (i) accruals totaling $397 million for an
estimated loss contingency reserve related to the 2010 and 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations (see note 17 to the consolidated
financial statcments); (if) an unusual adjustment of $57 million for a decrease in HCP’s 2013 contingent carn-out obligation; (iii) an adjustmcent to reduce
a tax asset associated with the HCP acquisition escrow provisions that was established as a receivable to offset any potential tax liabilities; (iv) $86
million of expenses relating to a legal settlement we reached in 2012 with the U.S. District Court in the Eastern District of Texas to resolve federal program
claims regarding erythropoietin (EPO) that were or could have been raised in the complaint relating to historical EPO practices dating back to 1997; and
(v) an unusual amount of transaction expenses totaling $31 million associated with the acquisition of HCP in 2012. We therefore consider these adjusted
consolidated operating income amounts meaningful and comparable to our normal prior period results.

Consolidated net revenues

Consolidated net revenues for 2013 increased by approximately $3,578 million or approximately 43.7% from 2012. This increase in consolidated net
revenues was due to an incrcase in dialysis and related lab services net revenues of approximately $669 million, principally due to strong volume growth
from additional trcatments from non-acquired growth and dialysis center acquisitions and from an increase of $8 in the average dialysis revenue per treatment,
primarily from an increase in our Medicare reimbursements, net of the impact of sequestration and an increase in some of our average commercial payment
rates, partially offset by a decline in the intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals that are billed separately. Consolidated net revenues also increased
by $2,719 million as a result of the inclusion of a full year of operations for HCP, which benefited from an increase in its senior capitated members. In
addition, revenue increased by approximately $210 million for our ancillary services and strategic initiatives driven primarily from growth in our pharmacy
services and from our international operations. :

Consolidated net revenues for 2012 increased by approximately $1,454 million or approximately 21.6% from 2011. This increase in consolidated net
revenues was due to an increase in dialysis and related lab services net revenues of approximately $800 million, principally due to strong volume growth from
additional trcatments from non-acquircd growth and dialysis centcr acquisitions and from an increase of $2 in the avcrage dialysis revenue per trcatment,
primarily due to an increase in our Medicare reimbursements, partially offset by an increase in the provision for uncollectible accounts of $45 million.
Consolidated net revenues also increased by $477 million as a result of the acquisition of HCP on November 1, 2012 and increased by approximately $188
million associated with the ancillary services and strategic initiatives driven primarily from growth in our pharmacy services and from our disease

managemecnt services.

Consolidated operating income

Consolidated operating income of $1,550 million for 2013 increased by approximately $253 million, or 19.5% from 2012, which includes the
estimated loss contingency reserve of $397 million, a contingent earn-out obligation adjustment of $57 million and an adjustment to reduce a tax asset
associated with the HCP acquisition escrow provisions of $8 million in 2013 and 2012, also includes the $86 million legal settlement and related expenses
and the $31 million of transaction expenscs associated with the acquisition of HCP. Excluding these items from their respective petiods, adjusted consolidated
operating income would have increased by $484 million, or 34.2%, primarily as a result of a full year of operations of HCP which generated $385 million in
operating income in 2013 as compared to $67 million in 2012, an increase in the dialysis and related lab services net revenues as a result of strong volume
growth in revenue from additional treatments due to non-acquired growth and acquisitions, and from an increase in our average dialysis revenue per treatment
of approximately $8, partially offset by an increase in the provision for uncollectible accounts of $47 miltion. Adjusted consolidated '
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operating income also increased as a result of lower operating losses associated with our ancillary services and strategic initiatives including our international
operations and an overall decline in pharmaceutical costs mainly from a decline in the intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaccuticals and lower
pharmaceutical unit costs. However, consolidated operating income was negatively impacted by higher labor and benefit costs, an increase in our professional
fees for compliance and Icgal initiatives and for information technology matters, an increasc in our dialysis center level impairments, the writc-off of ccrtain
obsolete software costs, an increase in long-term incentive compensation and a slight decline in productivity.

Consolidated operating income of $1,297 million for 2012 incrcased by approximately $142 million, or 12.3%, from 2011 as the 2012 rcsults include
the $86 million legal settlement and related expenses and the $31 million of transaction expenses associated with the acquisition of HCP. Excluding these items
in 2012, adjusted consolidated operating income would have increased by $259 million, or 22.4%, primarily due to an increase in the dialysis and related lab
services net revenues as a result of strong volume growth in revenue from additional treatments as a result of non-acquired growth and acquisitions, and from
an increase in our average dialysis revenue per treatment of approximately $2, partially offset by an increase in the provision for uncollectible accounts of $45
million. Adjusted consolidated operating income also increased as a result of the acquisition of HCP on November 1, 2012, an overall decline in
pharmaceutical costs mainly from a decline in the intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals, lower transaction and integration costs associated with
the acquisition of DSI that occurred in 2011 and from productivity improvements. However, consolidated operating income was negatively impacted by an
increase in the unit cost of certain pharmaceuticals, higher labor and benefit costs, an increase in our professional fees for compliance and legal initiatives, and
for information technology matters and an increase in expenses and operating losses associated with our international expansion. '

U.S. dialysis and related lab services business

Our U.S. dialysis and related lab service businesses is a leading provider of kidney dialysis services through a network of 2,074 outpatient dialysis
centers in 45 states and the District of Columbia, serving a total of approximately 163,000 patients. We also provide acute inpatient dialysis services in
approximately 1,000 hospitals. We estimate that we have approximately a 35% market share in the U.S. based upon the number of patients that we serve. In
2013, our overall network of U.S. outpatient dialysis centers increased by 120 dialysis centers primarily as a result of the opening new dialysis centers and
from acquisitions of dialysis centers. In addition, the overall number of patients that we serve in the U.S. increased by approximately 6.3% as compared to
2012. All referenccs in this document to dialysis and rclated lab services refer only to our U.S. dialysis and related lab scrvices business.

Our dialysis and related lab services stated mission is to be the provider, partner and employer of choice. We believe our attention to these three
stakeholders—our patients, our business partners, and our teammates—represents the major driver of our long-term performance, although we are subject to
the impact of cxternal factors such as government policy and physician practice patterns. Accordingly, two principal non-financial metrics we track are
quality clinical outcomes and teammate turnover. We have developed our own composite index for measuring improvements in our clinical outcomes, which
we refer to as the DaVita Quality Tndex (DQI). Our clinical outcomes as measured by DQI have improved over each of the past several years which we believe
directly decreases patient mortalities. Our patient mortality percentages have decreased from 19.0% in 2001 to 13.9% in 2012. Although it is difficult to
reliably measure clinical performance across our industry, we believe our clinical outcomes compare favorably with other dialysis providers in the U.S. and
generally exceed the dialysis outcome quality indicators of the National Kidney Foundation. In addition, over the past several years our clinical teammate
turnover has remained relatively constant and we believe that a relatively stable teammate turnover in 2013 was a major contributor to our continued clinical
performance improvements and can also be a major driver of our ability to maintain or improve clinical hours per treatment. We will continue to focus on these
stakeholders and our clinical outcomes as we believe these are fundamental long-term value drivers.
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We believe our national scale and size, among other things, allows us to provide industry-leading quality care with superior clinical outcomes that
attracts patients and referring physicians, as well as qualified medical directors, provides our dialysis patient base with a large number of out-patient dialysis
centers to choose from with convenient locations and access to a full range of other integrated services which provides us the ability to effectively and
efficiently manage certain costs while still maintaining strong legal and compliance programs.

Approximately 66% of our 2013 consolidated net revenues were derived directly from our dialysis and related lab services business. Approximately
79% of our 2013 dialysis and related lab services revenues were derived from outpatient hemodialysis services in the 2,045 U.S. centers that we consolidate.
Other dialysis services, which are operationally integrated with our dialysis operations, are peritoneal dialysis, home-based hemodialysis, hospital inpatient
hemodialysis services and management and administrative services. These services collectively accounted for the balance of our 2013 dialysis and related lab

services revenues.

The principal drivers of our dialysis and related lab services revenues are:

» the number of treatments, which is primarily a function of the number of chronic patients requiring approximately three treatments per week, as
well as, to a lesser extent, the number of treatments for peritoneal dialysis services and home-based dialysis and hospital inpatient dialysis

services; and

* average dialysis revenue per treatment.

The total patient base is a relatively stable factor, which we believe is influenced by a demographically growing need for dialysis services as indicated
by the United States Renal Data System that reported an approximate compound growth rate of 4.0% over the last several years for the dialysis patient
population, our relationships with referring physicians, together with the quality of our clinical care which can lead to reduced patient mortality rates as
indicated above, and our ability to open and acquire new dialysis centers.

Our average dialysis and related lab services revenue per treatment in 2013 was primarily driven by our mix of commercial and government (principally
Medicare and Medicaid) patients, commercial and government payment rates, our billing and collecting operations performance, and to a lesser extent the mix
and intensity of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals that are separately billable since payment for these pharmaceuticals are primarily included in
Medicare’s single bundled payment rate system and can also be included as part of a single bundled payment rate for all dialysis services provided under
some of our commercial contracts that cover certain patients.

On average, dialysis-related payment rates from commercial payors are significantly higher than Medicare, Medicaid and other government program
payment rates, and therefore the percentage of commercial patients to total patients represents a major driver of our total average dialysis revenue per treatment.
The percentage of commercial patients covered under contracted plans as compared to commercial patients with out-of-network providers continued to increase
and can also significantly affect our average dialysis revenue per treatment since commercial payment rates for patients with out-of-network providers are on
average higher than in-network payment rates that are covered under contracted plans. In 2013, the growth of our government-based patients continued to
outpace the growth of our commercial patients, which has been a trend that we have experienced for the past several years. We believe the growth in our
government-based patients is driven primarily by improved mortality and the current economic environment that has resulted in a decrease in the number of
individuals that are covered under commercial insurance plans. This trend has negatively impacted our average dialysis revenue per treatment over the last
several years as a result of receiving a larger proportion of our revenue from government-based payors, such as Medicare, that reimburse us at lower payment

rates.
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The following table summarizes our U.S. dialysis and related lab services revenues by source for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Revenue

pereentages
Medicare and Medicare-assigned plans 58%
Medicaid and Medicaid-assigned plans 5%
Other government-based programs 3%
Total government-bascd programs 6 6%
Commercial (including hospital dialysis services) 34%
Total dialysis and related lab services revenues 100%

Government dialysis-related payment rates in the U.S. are principally determined by federal Medicare and state Medicaid policy. For patients with
Medicare coverage, all ESRD payments for dialysis treatments are made under a single bundled payment rate which provides a fixed payment rate to
encompass all goods and services provided during the dialysis treatment, including certain pharmaceuticals that were historically separately reimbursed to the
dialysis providers, such as EPO, vitamin D analogs and iron suppiements, irrespective of the level of pharmaceuticals administered to the patient or
additional services performed. The initial 2011 bundled rate included reductions of 2% from the prior reimbursement and further reduced overali rates by
5.94%. These reductions were tied to an expanded list of case-mix adjustors which can be earned back based upon the presence of certain patient
charactcristics and co-morbiditics at the time of trcatment. There arc also other provisions which may impact payment including an outlicr pool and a low

volume facility adjustment.

The bundled payment system presents operating, clinical and financial risks. For example, with regard to the expanded list of case-mix adjustors, there
is a risk that our dialysis centers or billing and other systems may not accurately document and track the appropriate patient-specific characteristics, resulting
in a reduction or overpayment in the amounts of the payments that we would otherwise be entitled to receive.

Anothcr important provision in thc law is an annual adjustment, or market basket update, to the base ESRD PPS. Absent action by Congress the PPS
base rate will be automatically updated by a formulaic inflation adjustment. '

On November 1, 2011, CMS issued the final ESRD PPS rule for 2012, which increased the base rate by 2.1%, representing a market basket of
increase of 3.0% less a productivity adjustment of 0.9%.

On November 9, 2012, CMS issued the final ESRD PPS rule for 2013 (2013 ESRD Rule). The base rate was increased by 2.3%, resulting from a
market basket increase of 2.9% less a productivity adjustment of 0.6%. This increase in the ESRD PPS base rate was largely offset by BCA sequestration.
The 2013 ESRD Rule implemented the reduction in bad debt payments to dialysis facilities (as well as to all other providers that are eligible for bad debt
payments) mandated under the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 and added new quality reporting measures.

As a result of the BCA and subsequent activity in Congress, a $1.2 trillion sequester (across-the-board spending cuts) in discretionary programs took
effect on March 1, 2013. In particular, a 2% reduction to Medicare payments took effect on April 1, 2013. The across-the-board spending cuts pursuant to the
sequestration have affected and will continue to adversely affect operating results.

Section 632(a) of the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (ATRA) mandated that the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) reduce dialysis
payments beginning in January 2014 to reflect the Secretary’s estimate of changes in patient utilization data from 2007 to 2012 for ESAs, other drugs and
biologicals that would have been paid for separately under the composite rate system, and laboratory services that would have
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been paid for separately under the composite rate system. According to ATRA, the Secretary of HHS had to use the most recently available data on average
sales prices and changes in prices for drugs and biologicals reflected in the ESRD markct basket percentage increase factor.

The final 2014 ESRD PPS rule (2014 ESRD Rule) was formally published by CMS on December 2, 2013. According to thc 2014 ESRD Rule, drug
utilization cuts mandated by ATRA of 12% will be phased in over a three or four year period depending upon future decisions to be made by CMS. The 2014
ESRD Rule provides that there will be no changes to reimbursement levels for 2014 and 2015, largely due to an offset from a market basket increasc. While no
reimbursement reductions are planned for 2014 and 2015 under the 2014 ESRD Rule, it is anticipated that future reductions will occur in 2016, 2017 or
both. If these future reductions are implemented as currently anticipated they could negatively impact our operating results.

We anticipatc that we will continue to experience increascs in our operating costs in 2014 that will outpacc the Medicarc reimburscment rates that we
receive, which could significantly impact our operating results. We expect to continue experiencing increases in operating costs that are subject to inflation,
such as labor and supply costs, regardless of whether there is a compensating inflation-based increase in Medicare payment rates or in payments under the

bundled payment rate system.

In addition, under the original ESRD PPS statute and regulations, beginning January 1, 2014, certain oral-only ESRD drugs (currently paid separately
to pharmacies under Medicare Part D) would have been included in the ESRD bundled payment to dialysis facilities. Under the ATRA, the inclusion of oral-
only medications in the bundled rate will be delayed until January 1, 2016. ATRA also requires CMS to monitor the bone and mineral metabolism of ESRD
patients along with the case-mix adjustments made under the ESRD PPS. Inadequate pricing of these drugs could have a significant negative financial impact
on our dialysis facilities given the volume and value of these drugs.

Dialysis payment rates from commercial payors can vary and a major portion of our commercial rates are set at contracted amounts with payors and are
subject to intense negotiation pressure. Our commercial payment rates also include payments for out-of-network patients that on average are higher than our in-
network contract rates. In 2013, we were successful in increasing some of our commercial payment rates which contributed to an increase in our average
dialysis revenue per treatment. In 2013, we continued to enter into some commercial contracts covering certain patients that will primarily pay us a single
bundled payment rate for all dialysis services provided to these patients. We are continuously in the process of negotiating agreements with our commercial
payors, and payors arc aggressive in their ncgotiations. If our ncgotiations result in overall commercial rate rcductions in excess of ovcrall commercial rate
increases, this would have a material adverse effect on our operating results. In addition, if there are job losses in the U.S. as a result of a downturn in the
economy, or depcnding upon changes to the healthcare regulatory system, including the impact of health care insurance exchanges, we could experience a
decrease in the number of patients covered under commercial plans.

Approximately 5% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013, were from physician-prescribed
pharmaceuticals that are separately billable, with EPO accounting for approximately 3% of our dialysis and related lab services revenues. The impact of
physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals on our overall revenues that are separately billable in 2013 and 2012 has significantly decreased from prior years
primarily as a result of Medicare’s single bundled payment system, as well as some additional commercial contracts that pay us a single bundled payment

rate.

Our operating performance with respect to dialysis services billing and collection can also be a significant factor in the average dialysis and related lab
services revenue per treatment we recognize and are able to collect. Over the past several years we have invested heavily in upgrades to our systems and internal
processes that we believe have helped improve our operating performance and reduced our regulatory compliance risks, and we expect to continue to improve
these systems and processes. In 2013, we continued to upgrade our information technology systems and implemented process changes. We are currently
upgrading our billing and other systems
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and modifying our processes in 2014 to improve our ability to capture the necessary patient characteristics, co-morbiditics and certain other factors under
Mcdicare’s bundlcd payment system. We believe this will potentially cnable us to capture additional reimbursement amounts from Medicarc and enhancc our
overall billing and collection performance. However, as we continue to make upgrades to our systems and processes, or as payors change their systems and
requircments, we could expericnee a negative impact to our cash collection performance which would affcct our average dialysis and related lab services

revenue per treatment.

Our dialysis and related lab services revenue recognition involves significant estimation risks. Our estimates are developed based on the best information
available to us and our best judgment as to the reasonably assured collectability of our billings as of the reporting date based upon our actual historical
collection experience. Changes in estimates are reflected in the then-current period financial statements based upon on-going actual experience trends, or
subsequent settlements and realizations depending on the nature and predictability of the estimates and contingencies.

~ Our annual average dialysis and related lab services revenue per treatment was approximately $340, $332 and $330 for 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. In 2013, the average dialysis and related lab services revenue per treatment increased by approximately $8 per treatment primarily due to an
increase in our Medicare reimbursements, net of the impact of sequestration, and an increase in some of our commercial payment rates, partially offset by a
slight decline in the commercial payor mix, and a decline in the intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals that are billed separately. In 2012, the
average dialysis and related lab services revenue per treatment increased by approximately $2 per treatment primarily due to an increase in our Medicare
reimbursements and an increase in some of our commercial payment rates, partially offset by a decline in the commercial payor mix, and a decline in the
intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals. ’

Our average dialysis and related lab services revenue per treatment can be significantly impacted by several major factors, including our commercial
payment rates; government payment policies regarding reimbursement amounts for dialysis treatments and pharmaceuticals under Medicare’s bundled
payment rate system, including our ability to capture certain patient characteristics; changes in the mix of govenment and commercial patients; and changes
in the mix and intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals that are billed separately.

The principal drivers of our dialysis and related lab services patient care costs are clinical hours per treatment, labor rates, vendor pricing of
pharmaceuticals, utilization levels of pharmaceuticals, business infrastructure costs, which include the operating costs of our dialysis centers, and certain
professional fees. However, other cost categories can also represent significant cost variability, such as employee benefit costs, insurance costs and medical
supply costs. Our average clinical hours per treatment in 2013 increased slightly compared to 2012, which was primarily the result of continued investment in
training of ncw tcammates in our intcmnal procedurcs and practices. We are always striving for improved productivity levels, however, changes in federal and
state policies or regulatory billing requirements can lead to increased labor costs in order to implement these new requirements, which can adversely impact our
ability to achieve optimal productivity levels. In addition, there has been improvement in the U.S. economy which has stimulated additional competition for
skilled clinical personnel resulting in slightly higher teammate turnover in 2013, which we believe also adversely affected productivity levels. In 2013 and
2012, we experienced an increase in our clinical labor rates of approximately 2.0% in both years, as clinical labor rates have increased consistent with general
industry trends, mainly due to the high demand for skilled clinical personnel, along with general inflation increases. We also continued to experience increases
in our infrastructure and operating costs of our dialysis centers, primarily due to the number of new dialysis centers opened, and general increases in rent,
utilities and repairs and maintenance. However, in 2013, we continued to implement certain cost control initiatives to manage our overall operating costs,
including labor rates. In addition, we experienced a decrease in the overall costs of physician prescribed pharmaceuticals primarily as a result of a decline in
utilization.

Our dialysis and related lab services general and administrative expenses represented 8.9% of our dialysis and related lab services net revenues in 2013
and 2012. However, this continues to represent a fairly significant increase in the dollar amount of our general and administrative expenses that we have
experienced over the last
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several years, primarily related to strengthening our dialysis business, improving our regulatory compliance and other operational processes, responding to
certain legal and compliance matters, and professional fees associated with enhancing our information technology systems. We expect that these levels of
expenditures on our dialysis and related lab services general and administrative expenses in 2014 will continue and could possibly increase as we seek out new
business opportunities within the dialysis industry and continue to invest in improving our information technology infrastructure and the level of support

required for our regulatory compliance and legal matters.

Results of Operations
The following table reflects the results of operations for the U.S. dialysis and related lab services business:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 . 2011
(dollar amounts rounded to nearest million)

Dialysis and related lab services patient service revenues $ 8,033 $ 7,317 $ 6,474

Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts (281) (234) (190)

Dialysis and related lab services net patient service

revenues 7,752 7,083 6,284

Other revenues 12 12 11

Total net dialysis and related lab services revenues $ 7,764 100% $ 7,095 100% $ 6,295 100%

Operating expenses and charges:
Patient care costs 5,117 66% 4,703 66% 4,263 68%
General and administrative 694 9% 629 9% 545 9%
Depreciation and amortization 356 4% 310 4% 260 4%
Loss contingency reserve and other legal settlements 397 5% 86 1% — —
Equity investment income (12) — 11y — ()] —
Total operating expenses and charges 6,552 84% 5,717 81% 5,059 80%

Operating income ' $ 1,212 16% $ 1,378 19% $ 1,236 20%

Dialysis treatments 23,637,584 22,053,597 19,599,472

Average dialysis treatments per treatment day 75,495 70,346 62,618

Average dialysis and related lab services revenue per

treatment $ 340 $ 332 $ 330

Net revenues

Dialysis and related lab services net revenues for 2013 increased by approximately $669 million or approximately 9.4% from 2012. The increase in net
rcvenucs was primarily due to strong volume growth from additional trcatments of approximately 7.2% duc to an incrcasc in non-acquired treatment growth at
existing and new dialysis centers and growth through acquisitions of dialysis centers and an increase in the average dialysis revenue per treatment of
approximately $8, or 2.4%, partially offset by an increase in the provision for uncollectible accounts of $47 million. The increase in the average dialysis
revenue per treatment in 2013, as compared to 2012, was primarily due to an increase in our Medicare reimbursements net of the impact of sequestration and
an increase in some of our average commercial payment rates, partially offset by a slight decline in the commercial payor mix and a decline in the intensities of
physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals that are billed separately.
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Dialysis and related lab services net revenues for 2012 increased by approximately $800 million or approximately 12.7% from 2011. The increase in net
revenues was primarily due to strong volume growth from additional treatments of approximately 12.5% due to an increase in non-acquired treatment growth
at existing and new dialysis centers and growth through acquisitions of dialysis centers, an increase in the average dialysis revenue per treatment of
approximately 82, or 0.6%, partially offset by an increase in the provision for uncollectible accounts of $44 million. The increase in the average dialysis
revenue per treatment in 2012, as compared to 2011, was primarily due to an increase in our Medicare reimbursements and an increase in some of our
commercial payment rates, partially offset by a decline in the commercial payor mix and a decline in the intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals.

The following table summarizes our dialysis and related lab services revenues by modality for the year ended December 31 ,2013:

Revenue
perccntages

Outpatient hemodialysis centers 79%
Peritoneal dialysis and home-based hemodialysis 16%
Hospital inpatient hemodialysis 5%

Total dialysis and related lab services revenues 100%

Approximately 66% of our total dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 were from government-based programs,
principally Medicare, Medicaid, and Medicare-assigned plans, representing approximately 90% of our total patients. Over the last several years, we have been
experiencing growth in our government-based patients that has been outpacing the growth in our commercial patients which has negatively impacted our
average dialysis and related lab services revenue per treatment. Our overall percentage of patients and revenues associated with commercial payors continued to
decline in 2013 as compared to 2012 although at a slightly lower rate than we experienced in 2012. Less than 1% of our dialysis and related lab services
revenues are due directly from patients. No single commercial payor associated with our dialysis and related lab services business accounted for more than
10% of total dialysis and related lab services revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013.

In the U.S., on average, our payment rates are significantly higher for services provided to patients covered by contracted commercial insurance plans or
for out-of-network patients than for patients covered by Medicare, Medicaid or other government plans such as Medicare-assigned plans. Patients covered by
commercial health plans transition to Medicare coverage after a maximum of 33 months. As a patient transitions from commercial insurance plan coverage to
Medicare or Medicaid coverage, the payment rates normally decline substantially. Medicare payment rates are insufficient to cover our costs associated with
providing dialysis treatments, and therefore we lose money on each Medicare treatment.

Nearly all of our net carnings from our dialysis and rclated lab services are derived from commercial payors, somc of which pay at established contract
rates and others which pay negotiated payment rates based on our usual and customary fee schedule for our out-of-network patients, which are typically
higher than contracted rates. If we experience a net overall reduction in our contracted and non-contracted commercial rates as a result of negotiations,
restrictions or changes to the health care regulatory system, including the impact of health care insurance exchanges, it could have a material adverse effect on
our operating results.
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Operating expenses and charges
Patient care costs. Dialysis and related lab services patient care costs are those costs directly associated with operating and supporting our dialysis
centers and consist principally of labor, pharmaceuticals, medical supplies and operating costs of the dialysis centers. The dialysis and related lab services
patient care costs on a per treatment basis were $216 and $213 for 2013 and 2012, respectively. The $3 increase in the per treatment costs in 2013 as
compared to 2012 was primarily attributablc to higher labor and benefit costs, a slight decline in productivity and an increase in our other dircct operating
expenses associated with our dialysis centers, partially offset by a decrease in our overall pharmaceutical costs, primarily from a decline in the intensities of
physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals and lower pharmaceutical unit costs. ’

The dialysis and related lab services patient care costs on a ber treatment basis were $213 and $218 for 2012 and 2011, respectively. The $5 decrease
in the per treatment costs in 2012 as compared to 2011 was primarily attributable to a decline in the intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals and
productivity improvements, partially offset by higher labor costs, and higher pharmaceutical unit costs.

General and administrative expenses. Dialysis and related lab services general and administrative expenses in 2013 increased by approximately $65
million, or 10.3%, as compared to 2012. The increase was primarily due to increases in labor and related payroll taxes, an increase in benefit costs, an
increase in our professional expenses for legal and compliance matters and for information technology initiatives, higher occupancy costs, higher long-term
incentive compensation, the write-off of certain obsolete software costs and an increase in our dialysis center level impairments, partially offset by lower
contract labor costs and lower integration costs that were incurred in 2012 as a result of the acquisition of DSI that occurred in 2011.

General and administrative expenses in 2012 increased by approximately $84 million, or 15.4%, as compared to 2011. The increase was primarily due
to incrcascs in labor and bencfit costs, an incrcase in our professional expenses for legal and compliance matters and for information technology initiatives,
partially offset by a decline in the transaction and integration costs associated with the acquisition of DSI that occurred in the third quarter of 2011.

Depreciation and amortization. Dialysis and related lab services depreciation and amortization expenses for 2013 increased by approximately $46
million as compared to 2012 and increased by $50 million in 2012 as compared to 2011. The increases were primarily due to growth through new dialysis
center developments and acquisitions. The increase in 2012 was also due to additional depreciation associated with the opening of our new corporate

headquarters in August 2012.

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable. The provision for uncollectible accounts receivable for U.S. dialysis and related lab services was
3.5% for 2013, 3.2% for 2012, and 2.9% for 2011. The increase in the provision for uncollectible accounts receivable in 2013 was primarily due to higher
non-covered Medicare charges. We currently expect this level of the provision for uncollectible accounts to continue into 2014, although it may increase if we

encounter collection issues as a result of a down turn in the U.S. economy.

Loss contingency reserve and other legal settlements. During 2013, we werc engaged in good faith discussions with the attorncys from the United
States Attorney’s Office for the District of Colorado, the Civil Division of the United States Department of Justice and the Office of the Inspector General in an
effort to find a mutually acceptable resolution to the 2010 and 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations. Discussions advanced to a point
where we believed it was appropriate to accrue $397 million as an estimated loss contingency reserve in 2013, in connection with offers to settle the related
civil, administrative and criminal matters. We have recently agreed to a framework for a global resolution with government officials as described above for
both the 2010 and 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigations. The settlement will include payment of approximately $389 million. The final
settlement remains subject to negotiation of specific terms.
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We reached an agreement to settle all allegations relating to claims arising out of the previously disclosed litigation filed in 2002 in the U.S. District Court
in the Eastern District of Texas. In connection with this settlement we incurred costs and expenses of $86 million in 2012 that consisted of $55 million for the
settlement plus attorney fees and other related expenses. The settlement resolved federal program claims regarding EPO that were or could have been raised in
the complaint relating to historical EPO practices dating back to 1997. Se¢ Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for additional details.

Equity investment income. Equity investment income was approximately $12 million in 2013 as compared to $11 million in 2012 and $9 million in
2011. The increase in equity investment income in 2013 as compared to 2012 was primarily due to the profitability of certain of our dialysis nonconsolidated
joint ventures. Equity investment income increased in 2012 as compared to 2011, primarily due to an increase in the profitability of certain of our

nonconsolidated joint ventures.

Segment operating income
Dialysis and rclated lab services opcrating incomc for 2013 decrcascd by approximatcly $166 million as compared to 2012, including a loss

contingency reserve of $397 million in 2013 and including a legal settlement and related expenses of $86 million in 2012, as discussed above. Excluding these
items from their respective periods, dialysis and related lab services adjusted operating income would have increased by $145 million. The increase in the
adjusted operating income for 2013 as compared to 2012 was primarily due to strong treatment growth as a result of additional dialysis treatments from non-
acquired growth and acquisitions of dialysis centers, and an increase in the average dialysis revenue per treatment of approximately $8 as described above,
partially offset by an increase in our provision for uncollectible accounts of $47 million. The dialysis and related lab sérvices operating income also increased
as aresult of a decline in the intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals and lower pharmaceutical unit costs, and lower integration costs associated
with previous acquisitions. However, the dialysis and related lab services operating income was negatively impacted by higher labor and related payroll taxes,
an increase in benefit costs, a slight decline in productivity, the write-off of certain obsolete software costs, an increase in our dialysis center level impairments
and an incrcasc in our profcssional fecs in conjunction with compliance and Icgal matters and for information tcchnology initiatives.

Dialysis and related lab scrvices operating income for 2012 increased by approximatcly $142 million as compared to 2011 including the lcgal settlement
and related expenses of $86 million, as discussed above. Excluding this item from 2012, dialysis and related lab services adjusted operating income would
have increased by $228 million. The increase in the adjusted operating income for 2012 as compared to 2011 was primarily due to strong treatment growth as
a result of additional dialysis treatments from non-acquired growth and acquisitions of dialysis centers, and an increase in the average dialysis revenue per
treatment of approximately $2 as described above, partially offset by an increase in our provision for uncollectible accounts of $44 million. The dialysis and
related lab services operating ineome also increased as a result of a decline in the intensities of physician-prescribed pharmaceuticals, productivity
improvements and lower transaction and integration costs associated with the acquisition of DSI that occurred in 2011. However, the dialysis and related lab
services operating income was negatively impacted by an increase in the unit cost of EPO , higher labor and benefit costs, payroll taxes, an increase in our
professional fees in conjunction with compliance and legal matters and for information technology initiatives.

HCP business

HCP is a patient- and physician-focused, integrated health care delivery and management company with nearly three decades of providing coordinated,
outcomes-based medical care in a cost-effective manner. Through capitation contracts with some of the nation’s leading health plans, as of December 31, 2013,
HCP had approximately 764,000 current members under its care in southern California, central and south Florida, southern Nevada, central New Mexico and
central Arizona. Of these, approximately 265,000 individuals were patients enrolled in Medicare Advantage. The remaining approximately 499,000
individuals were managed care members whose health coverage is provided through their employer or who have individually acquired health coverage
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directly from a health plan or as a result of their eligibility for Medicaid benefits. In addition to its managed care business, during the year ended December 31,
2013, HCP provided care in all markets to over 472,000 patients whose health coverage is structured on a FFS basis, including patients enrolled through
traditional Medicare and Medicaid programs, preferred provider organizations and other third party payors.

The patients of HCP’s associated physicians, physician groups and IPAs benefit from an integrated approach to medical care that places the physician
at the center of paticnt carc. As of December 31, 2013, HCP delivered scrvices to its members via a network of over 3,000 associated groups and other nctwork
primary care physicians, 204 network hospitals, and several thousand associated group and network specialists. Together with hundreds of case managers,
registered nurses and other care coordinators, these medical professionals utilize a comprehensive data analysis engine, sophisticated risk management
techniques and clinical protocols to provide high-quality, cost effective care to HCP’s members. The total amount of revenue from HCP for the year ended
December 31, 2013, was approximately $3.2 billion, or approximately 27% of our consolidated net revenues.

Key Financial Measures and Indicators

Operating revenues

General. HCP’s consolidated revenues consist primarily of HCP capitated revenues, including revenues attributable to capitated contracts with health
plans and, to a lesser extent, revenues from patient services rendered and other operating revenues, each as described in more detail below.

HCP revenues. HCP capitated revenues consist primarily of fees for medical services provided under capitated contracts with various health plans or
under FFS arrangements with privately insured individuals. Capitation revenue derived from health plans typically results from either (i) premium payments
by CMS to HCP’s health plan customers under Medicare Advantage with respect to seniors, disabled and other eligible persons (which are referred to herein as
HCP’s senior membership), (ii) premium payments by state governments to HCP’s health plan customers under Medicaid managed care programs (which are
referred to herein as HCP’s Medicaid membership), and (iii) premium payments from public and private employers and individuals to HCP’s health plan
customers with respect to their employees (which are referred to herein as HCP’s commercial membership). Capitation payments under health plan contracts
are made monthly based on the number of enrollces selecting an HCP associated group physician employed or associated with one of HCP’s medical group
entities as their primary health care provider. The amount of monthly capitation HCP receives from health plans on behalf of a member generally does not vary
during a given calendar year, regardless of the level of actual medical services utilized by the member. Due to differing state laws affecting health care entities,
HCP’s capitation contracts fall into two general categories. As described in more detail below, in central Florida, southern Nevada, New Mexico and Arizona,
HCP utilizes a global capitation model in which it assumes the financial responsibility for both professional (physician) and institutional (or hospital) services
for covered benefits. In 2013, in southern California, HCP utilized variants of a different model for capitation under which it is directly financially responsible
for covered professional services, but indirectly financially responsible for covered institutional expenses. See below for further discussion regarding changes
to HCP’s revenue recognition for hospital services in 2014. HCP’s associated medical groups also receive specified incentive payments from health plans based
on specified performance and quality eritcria. These amounts are accrucd when carned, and the amounts can be reasonably cstimated.

*  Global capitation model. HCP records the aggregate global capitation PMPM fee as revenue and the amounts paid with respect to claims as
medical expenses or hospital expenses, as applicable, in its combined financial statements (see “Operating Expenses-Medical Expenses” and
“Operating Expenses-Hospital Expenses” below). Revenue with respect to both professional and institutional capitation is recorded in the month in
which enrollees are entitled to receive health care. In HCP’s central Florida market, HCP also receives capitation revenue and is liable for
corresponding expenses for prescription drug activity rendered on behalf of HCP’s senior members through the Part D component under the

Medicare Advantage program.
86




Table of Contents

*  Risk-sharing model. In 2013, as compensation under its various managed care-related administrative services agreements with hospitals, HCP is
entitled to receive a percentage of the amount by which the institutional capitation revenue received from health plans exceeds institutional
expenses, and any such risk-share amount to which HCP is entitled is recorded as medical revenues. In addition, pursuant to such managed care-
related administrative services agreements, HCP agrees to be responsible should the third party incur institutional expenses in excess of
institutional capitation revenue. As with global capitation, revenue with respect to professional capitation is reported in the month in which
cnrollces are cntitled to receive health care. Howcver, risk-share revenues (that is, the portion of the excess or deficit of institutional capitation
revenue to which HCP s entitled less institutional expenses), in contrast, are based on the number of enrollees and estimates of institutional
utilization and associated costs incurred by assigned health plan enrollees, and the amounts accrued when earned can be reasonably estimated.
Differences between actual contract settlements and estimated receivables and payables are recorded in the year of final settlement. In December
2013, HCP obtained a restricted Knox-Keene license in California, which permits HCP to enter into global capitation agreements with health plans
that allow HCP to assume financial responsibility for both professional and institutional services. HCP is in the process of evaluating and
identifying which risk-sharing arrangements, if any, will be converted to global capitation arrangements, subject to HCP’s and the applicable
health plan’s satisfactory negotiation and approval. HCP anticipates that it will be able to recognize revenue under such global capitation
arrangements in 2014. Completion of such evaluation and possible conversion is expected to occur over time.

*  Retroactive revenue-adjustments. The Medicare Advantage revenue received by HCP’s health plan customers is adjusted periodically to give
effect to the relative clinical and demographic profile of the members for whom HCP is financially responsible. The model employed by CMS
bases a portion of the total reimbursement payments on various clinical and demographic risk factors, including hospital inpatient diagnoses,
additional diagnosis data from ambulatory treatment settings, hospital outpatient department and physician visits, gender, age and Medicaid
eligibility. Under this methodology, health plans must capture, collect and submit diagnosis code information to CMS. Capitation payments
under this methodology are paid at interim rates during the year and retroactive adjustments occur in subsequent periods (generally in the third
quarter of the same year, with a final adjustment in the third quarter of the following year) after the data is compiled by CMS. HCP estimates the
amount of thc current year adjustments in revenues during the first and sccond quarters of any given year and adjusts its estimates during the
third quarter, upon receipt of payments from CMS. Differences between actual contract settlements and estimated revenues are recorded in the year
of final scttlement. To datc, all such adjustments have resulted in increasces in revenue.

«  Patient service revenues. Patient service revenues are recorded when the services are provided. Such revenues are based on a negotiated fixed-fee
schedule with the applicable health plan.

Other operating revenues. In addition to the revenues discussed above, other operating revenues primarily represents (i) revenues received by The
Camden Group, a medical consulting firm and HCP’s wholly owned subsidiary, (ii) management fees HCP receives with respect to its role as the manager of
Magan Medical Group (Magan joint venture or Magan) an unconsolidated joint venture with Magan Medical Clinic, Inc., located in southern California, in
which HCPAMG owns a 50% interest, and (iii) revenues recognized under “mcaningful usc” programs established by federal and state governments which
provide financial incentives for providers to implement and utilize electronic health record technology to improve patient care.

Patient care costs

General. HCP’s largest patient care costs are the costs of medical services provided pursuant to its capitation contracts, which consist of medical
expenses, hospital expenses and clinical support and other operating costs, as further described below. Under both the global capitation and the risk-share
capitation models, costs of medical services are recognized in the month in which the related services are provided. In addition, medical expenses and hospital

expenses include an estimate of such expenses that have been incurred but not yet
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reported. For further information on how HCP estimates such claims, see “Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgments—-Medical Claims Liability
and Related Payable, Medical Expense and Hospital Expense” below.

Medical expenses. Medical expenses consist of payments for professional and ancillary services to independent primary care physicians, specialists,
ancillary providers and hospitals (including, with respect to hospitals, for outpatient services) pursuant to agreements with those entities. The structure of
such expenses can consist of, among other things, sub-capitation and FFS payments. In addition, medical expenses include compensation and related expenses
incurred with respect to HCP’s associated group primary carc physicians and specialists, registered nurses, physician assistants and hospitalists.

Hospital expenses. Hospital expenses consist of payments for institutional services to contracted and non-contracted hospitals for both inpatient and
outpatient services, skilled nursing facilities, and to other institutional providers. Hospital expenscs are only incurred in connection with the services HCP
provides in central Florida and southern Nevada. In thosc regions, as described above, HCP enters into contracts with health plans pursuant to which it
assumes the risk for institutional hospital services. In contrast in California, HCP’s medical groups were not permitted to contract with health plans to directly
assume the risk for institutional services. Accordingly, the risk-share revenue that HCP records in Califomia is net of reported claims and estimates of
hospital utilization and associated costs incurred by assigned health plan enrollees, and no portion of institutional hospital costs incurred with respect to
HCP’s California operations is included in hospital expenses as presented. However, as a result of HCP obtaining a restricted Knox-Keene license in
Dcceember 2013 as discusscd above, HCP may now assume the risk for institutional services in California.

Clinic support and other operating costs. Clinic support and other operating costs primarily consist of the costs incurred with respect to compensation
of administrative and other support staff employed at HCP’s medical clinics, clinic rent and utilities, medical supplies and other direct costs incurred to
support clinic operations. Also included in clinic support costs are direct costs incurred to support The Camden Group.

Other operating expenses

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses adrc thosc costs directly related to corporate administrative functions in supporting
HCP and consist primarily of salaries and benefits, professional fces and occupancy costs.

Depreciation and amortization. HCP’s depreciation and amortization expenses represent the depreciation and amortization of the fair value amounts of .
cquipment, leaschold improvements and intangible asscts over their respective estimated useful lives that werc recognized in connection with the acquisition of

HCP.

Equity investment income. As discussed above, HCPAMG is a 50% owner of the Magan joint venture with Magan Medical Clinic, Inc. In addition,
HCP also owns a 67% ownership interest in CMGI. We account for these equity investment interests under the equity method of accounting, meaning that its
assets and liabilities are not consolidated with ours, but we recognize our pro rata ownership share of the entities’ eamnings as equity investment income.
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Results of Operations
The following table reflects the results of operations for the HCP business:

November 1, 2012

Year ended ) Through
December 31, 2013 December 31,2012
{dollar amounts rounded to nearest millions)
Net revenues: . :
HCP capitated revenue : $2,920 91% $ 419 __88%
Patient service revenue 232 36
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts (12) . (2) _
Net patient service revenue 220 _7_% 34 _ I
Other revenues ‘ 56 _2% 24 __ 5%
Total net revenues $3,196 100% $ 477 _100%
Opcrating cxpenscs:
Patient care costs $ 2,405 75% $ 344 72%
General and administrative expense 270 9% 47 10%
Depreciation and amortization 159 5% 24 5%
Equity investment income (23) _M% () _ %
Total expenses ' 2,811 _88% 410 _86%
Operating income ' $ 385 _12% $ 67 4%

Capitated membership information

The table set forth below provides (i) the total number of capitated members to whom HCP provided healthcare services as of December 31, 2013 and
2012, and (ii) the aggregate member months for the year ended December 31, 2013 and for the period November 1, 2012 through December 31, 2012. Member
months represent the aggregate number of months of healthcare services HCP has provided to capitated members during a period of time.

Member months

Members at Member months for the period

December 31, for the year ended November 1, 2012
December 31, through
2013 2012 2013 December 31, 2012
Payor classification:

Commercial 403,400 442,700 4,955,000 885,200
Senior . 265,000 201,300 2,911,700 385,300
Medicaid 96,100 80,000 1,106,700 152,100
764,500 724,000 8,973,400 1,422,600

In addition to the members above, HCP provided healthcare services to members of Magan, an unconsolidated joint venture that is accounted for as an
equity investment. The Magan joint venture provided healthcare services for approximately 45,100 and 49,300 members as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, and for approximately 557,000 and 97,800 member months for the year ended December 31, 2013 and for the period November 1, 2012 through

December 31, 2012, respectively.

The increase in members and member months was primarily attributable to an increase in senior members resulting from organic growth and new
acquisitions, partially offset by a decline in commercial members resulting from the state of California discontinuing the Healthy Family program.
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Revenues
The following table provides a breakdown of HCP’s revenue by source:

HCP revenues:
Commercial revenues
Senior revenues
Medicaid revenues
Total capitated revenues

Patient service revenue, net of provision for uncollectible accounts

Other revenues
Total net revenues

Net revenues

HCP’s net revenue for 2013 was approximately $3.2 billion and was primarily driven by an increase in the number of senior capitated members during

November 1, 2012

Year ended Through
Deeember 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
(doliars in millions)
$ 715 22% $ 112 24%
2,137 67% 298 62%
68 2% 9 _ 2%
2,920 91% 419 88%
220 7% 34 7%
56 2% 24 _ 5%
$3,196 _100% $ 477 _100%

the year, an increase in the average premiums for our senior members and an increase in HCP’s net patient service revenues primarily as a result of
acquisitions, partially offset by a decline in Medicare reimbursements due to sequestration, a decline in the number of commercial members to whom HCP

provides health care services and lower non-patient care related revenues.

On April 1,2013, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) announced its final 2014 Medicare Advantage benchmark rate structure.
While these rates were generally improved from the preliminary rates which were announced in February 2013, the rates still represent a significant decline in

what HCP will rcalize as average revenues for its senior capitated members in 2014 relative to 2013 duc to recalibration of paticnt risk coding. We estimatc that
the final cumulative impact of the 2014 rate structure will represent a reduction of approximately 6% to 9% of HCP’s average revenues it manages on behalf of
its senior capitated members. We expect to be able to offset a portion of this rate reduction through contractual pass-throughs to our provider network and other

revenue enhancement and cost control initiatives.

Patient care costs

The following table reflects HCP’s patient care costs comprised of medical expenses, hospital expenses, clinic support and other operating costs:

Medical expenses
Hospital expenses
Clinic support and other operating costs

Total

For the period
November 1, 2012
Year ended through
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
(dollars in millions)
$ 1,545 $ 226
426 52
434 66
$ 2,405 3 344

90




Tabtle of Contents

Operating expenses

HCP’s patient care costs were approximately $2,405 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, and were approximately $344 million for the period
November 1, 2012 through December 31, 2012. Patient care costs were primarily driven by an increase in medical claim expenses due to increases in Medicare
and Medicaid managed care members to whom HCP provides healthcare services and to a lesser extent contracted rate increases with its provider and hospital

networks.

HCP’s general and administrative costs were $270 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and were $47 million for. the period November 1, 2012
through December 31, 2012. HCP’s general and administrative expenses in 2013 were impacted by a decrease in compensation expenses due to reductions in
overtime and a hold on personnel increases, and a reduction in utilization of professional services, which was partially offset by an increase in acquisition

costs and estimated accruals related to acquired entities.

HCP’s depreciation and amortization was $159 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and was $24 million for the period November 1, 2012.
through December 31, 2012. HCP’s depreciation and amortization reflects the expense based upon the fair value of equipment, leasehold improvements and
intangible assets we recognized in connection with the HCP acquisition.

HCP’s share of equity investment income from our Magan joint venture relationship and our investment in CMGI was $23 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and $5 million for the period November 1, 2012 through December 31, 2012. The equity income was slightly impacted by a decline in

membership in Magan during 2013,

Segment operating income

HCP’s operating income for the ycar ended December 31, 2013 was approximatcly $385 million. HCP’s operating incomc was primarily impacted by an
increase in revenue from an increase in the avcrage premiums for our senior capitated members, an increase in the number of senior capitated members and an
increase in net patient service revenues, partially offset by an increase in our medical claim cxpenses from an increase in utilization and a reduction in the

number of our commercial members.

Other—Ancillary services and strategic initiatives business

Our other operations include ancillary services and strategic initiatives which are primarily aligned with our core business of providing dialysis services
to our network of patients. As of December 31, 2013, these consisted primarily of pharmacy services, disease management services, vascular access services,
ESRD clinical research programs, physician services, direct primary care and our international dialysis operations. The ancillary services and strategic
initiatives generated approximately $852 million of net revenues in 2013, representing approximately 7% of our consolidated net revenues. We currently expect
to continue to invest in our ancillary services and strategic initiatives including our continued cxpansion into ceftain international markets as we work to
develop successful new business operations in the U.S. as well as outside the U.S. However, any significant change in market conditions, business
performance or in the regulatory cnvironment may impact the economic viability of any of these strategic initiatives. Any unfavorable changes in thesc strategic
initiatives could result in a write-off or an impairment of some or all of our investments, including goodwill, and could also result in significant termination
costs if we were to exit a certain line of business or one or more of our international markets.

As of December 31, 2013, we provided dialysis and administrative services to a total of 73 outpatient dialysis centers located in ten countries outside of
the U.S. Our international dialysis operations are still currently in a start-up phasc in which we primarily commenced operations during the fourth quarter of
2011. The total net revenues generated from our international operations, as. reflected below, were less than 1% of our 2013 consolidated net revenues.
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The following table reflects the results of operations for the ancillary services and strategic initiatives:

Year ended
2013 2012 2011
(dollar amounts rounded
to ncarest million)

U.S. revenues
Net patient service revenues

$ 15 $ 8 $ 7

Other revenucs 703 558 401
Capitated revenues 67 62 45
Total 785 628 453
International revenues

Net patient service revenues 61 9 1

Other revenues 6 5 _
Total 67 14 1
$852 $ 642 $454

Total net revenues

Total segment operating loss $ (39) $ (65) $ (34)

Net revenues
The ancillary services and strategic initiatives net revenues for 2013 increased by approximately $210 million or 32.7% as compared to 2012, primarily
from growth in pharmacy services, international dialysis operations and in our ESRD clinical research business, as well as growth from our special needs
plan.

The ancillary services and strategic initiatives net revenues for 2012 increased by approximately $188 million or 41.4% as compared to 2011, primarily
from growth in pharmacy services, and from our special needs plan.

Operating expenses
Ancillary services and strategic initiatives operating expenses for 2013 increased by approximately $184 million from 2012. This increase in operating
expenscs was primarily duc to an increase in volume in our pharmacy busincss, an incrcase in expenses associated with our intcrnational dialysis expansion,
primarily from acquisitions, and an increase in labor and benefit costs.

Ancillary services and strategic initiatives operating expenses for 2012 increased by approximately $219 million from 2011. This increase in operating
expenses was primarily due to an increase in volume in our pharmacy business, an increase in our claims expenses associated with our special needs plan, an
increase in expenses associated with our international dialysis expansion and an increase in labor and benefit costs.

Ancillary services and strategic initiatives operating loss

Ancillary services and strategic initiatives operating losses for 2013 decreased by approximately $26 million from 2012. This decrease in operating
losses was primarily due to an increase in the operating performance of our pharmacy business, our disease management services, international dialysis
operations and ESRD clinical research, partially offset by a decline in performance in other strategic initiatives.

Ancillary services and strategic initiatives operating losses for 2012 increased by approximately $31 million from 2011. This increase in operating
losses was primarily due to an increase in expenses associated with our international dialysis expansion and a decline in the operating performance of our
special nceds plan, ESRD clinical research and our direct primary care, partially offset by an increasc in the opcrating performance of our pharmacy

business.
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Corporate level charges

Debt expense. Debt expense for 2013, 2012, and 2011 consisted of interest expense of approximately $405 million, $273 million, and $228 million,
respectively, and the amortization and accretion of debt discounts and premiums, the amortization of deferred financing costs and the amortization of interest
rate cap agreements of approximately $25 million in 2013, $16 million in 2012 and $13 million in 2011. The increase in interest expense in 2013 as
compared to 2012 was primarily related to the issuance of our term loans for $3,000 million under our amended Senior Secured Credit Facilities that we
entered into in the fourth quarter of 2012. In addition, the increase in debt expense was also due to the issuance of our senior notes for $1,250 million on
August 28, 2012, and as a result of our new swap and cap agreements that were entered into in March 2013, partially offset by lower average interest rates
associated with this new debt. Our overall weighted average effective interest rate in 2013 was 4.84% as compared to 5.16% in 2012.

The increase in interest expense in 2012 as compared to 2011 was primarily attributable to the issuance of our term loans and our senior notes in 2012
as discussed above. However, debt expense in 2012 benefited from lower rates and lower average outstanding balances associated with our Term Loan A-2
which was paid off on November 1, 2012 and with our Term Loan B. Qur overall weighted average effective interest rate in 2012 was 5.16% as compared to

5.28%in 2011.

Contingent earn-out obligation adjustment . As a result of HCP achieving certain financial performance targets in 2012, we made earn-out payments
totaling $137 million on April 1, 2013 to the common unit holders of HCP. During the third quarter of 2013, we reached agreement with the representative of
the former owners and option holders of HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC to settle certain post-closing adjustments, including the 2013 contingent eamn-out
obligation for $68.8 million. This represented a decrease to the previous obligation’s carrying value of approximately $57 million, which was recorded as a
component of operating income in our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Corporate support costs. Corporate support costs consist primarily of labor, benefits and long-term incentive compensation costs for departments
which provide support to all of our different operating lines of business. The 2013 amounts also included the adjustment to reduce a tax asset associated with
the HCP acquisition escrow provisions of approximately $8 million. Corporate support costs were approximately $65 million in 2013, $52 million in 2012
and $47 million in 2011. These expenses are included in our consolidated general and administrative expenses. The increase in corporate support costs in 2013
as comparcd to both 2012 and 2011 was primarily rclated to additional long-tcrm compcensation costs and an adjustment to reduce a tax assct associated with

the HCP acquisition escrow provisions.

Transaction expenses. In 2012, we incurred approximately $31 million of transaction expenses associated with the acquisition of HCP, which are
includcd in our consolidated general and administrative expenses.

Other income. Other income was approximately $5 million, $4 million, and $3 million in 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, and consisted
principally of interest income. Other income in 2013 increased from 2012, primarily as a result of higher average cash balances, partially offset by the sale of
certain securities at a loss. Other income in 2012 increased from 2011, primarily as a result of higher average cash balances.

Provision for income taxes. The provision for income taxes for 2013 represented an effective annualized tax rate of 33.9%, compared with 35.9% and
35.5% of income from continuing operations in 2012 and 2011, respectively. The effective tax rate in 2013 was lower primarily due to eamings created from
the contingent earn-out adjustments which are not taxable.

Impairments and valuation adjustmenis. We perform impairment or valuation reviews for our property and equipment, amortizable intangible assets,
equity investments in non-consolidated businesses, and our investments in ancillary services and strategic initiatives at least annually and whenever a change

in condition indicates that
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an impairment review is warranted. Such changes include shifts in our business strategy or plans, the quality or structure of our relationships with our
partners, or when a center experiences deteriorating operating performance. Goodwill is also assessed at least annually for possible valuation impairment using
fair value methodologies. These types of adjustments are charged directly to the corresponding operating segment. No significant impairments or valuation
adjustments were recognized during 2013.

Noncontrolling interests

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests for 2013, 2012 and 2011 was approximately $124 million, $105 million and $95 million,
respectively. The increases in noncontrolling interests in 2013 and 2012 were primarily due to increases in the number of new joint ventures and increases in
the profitability of our dialysis-related joint ventures. The percentage of U.S. dialysis and related lab services net revenues generated from dialysis-related joint
ventures was approximately 21% in 2013 and 19% in 2012.

Accounts receivable

Our U.S. dialysis and related lab services accounts receivable balances at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 were $1,173 million and
$1,169 million, respectively, which represented approximately 55 days and 59 days of revenue, respectively, which is net of bad debt provision. The
decrease in day sales outstanding (DSO) for the U.S. dialysis and related lab services business, was primarily the result of improved cash collections from
Medicare and higher non-covered Medicare write-ofts during the period. Our DSO calculation is based on the current quarter’s average revenues per day.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our dialysis and related lab services unreserved accounts receivable balances that were more than six months old
were approximately $182 million and $225 million, respectively, representing approximately 16% and 19% of our dialysis accounts receivable balances,
respectively. During 2013, we experienced an increase in our cash collections from certain non-government payors. There were no significant unreserved
balances over one year old. Less than 1% of our revenues are classified as patient pay. Substantially all revenue realized is from government and commercial

payors, as discussed above.

Amounts pending approval from third-party payors as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, other than the standard monthly billing, consisted of
approximately $111 million in 2013 and $41 million in 2012, associated with Medicare bad debt claims, classified as other receivables. Currently, a
significant portion of our Medicare bad debt claims are typically paid to us before the Medicare fiscal intermediary audits the claims. However, the payment
received from Medicare is subject to adjustment based upon the actual results of the audits. Such audits typically occur one to four years after the claims are
filed. As a kidney dialysis provider, our revenue is not subject to cost report settlements, except for potentially limiting the collectability of these Medicare bad

debt claims.

Liquidity and capital resources

Available liquidity. As of Deccember 31, 2013, our cash balance was $946 million and we had an undrawn revolving line of credit under our Scnior
Secured Credit Facilities totaling $350 million, of which approximately $70 million was committed for outstanding letters of credit. In addition, HCP has an
outstanding letter of credit of approximately $1 million that is secured by a certificate of deposit. We believe that we will have sufficient liquidity, operating
cash flows and access to borrowings to fund our scheduled debt service payments and other obligations for the foreseeable future. Our primary sources of
liquidity are cash from operations and cash from borrowings.

Cash flow from operations during 2013 amounted to $1,773 million, compared with $1,101 million for 2012. The increase in our operating cash flows
in 2013 as compared to 2012 was primarily due to an increase in our cash collections from Medicare, a full year of operations from HCP and the timing of

income tax payments,
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partially offset by the timing of other working capital items and an increase in cash interest payments. Cash flow from operations in 2013 included cash
interest payments of approximately $405 million and cash tax payments of $341 million. Cash flow from operations in 2012 included cash interest payments
of approximately $258 million and cash tax payments of $332 million.

Non-operating cash outflows in 2013 included $618 million for capital asset expenditures, including $349 million for new center developments and
relocations, and $268 million for maintenance and information technology. We also spent an additional $310 million for acquisitions. During 2013, we also
received $6 million from the maturity and sale of investments. However, some of these proceeds were either used to repurchase other investments or were used
to fund distributions from our deferred compensation plans. In addition, during 2013, we received $53 million associated with stock option exercises and
other share issuances and the related excess tax benefits. We also made distributions to noncontrolling interests of $139 million, and received contributions
from noncontrolling interests of $37 million associated with new joint ventures and from additional equity contributions. We did not repurchase any shares of

our common stock in 2013.

Non-operating cash outflows in 2012 included $550 million for capital asset expenditures, including $278 million for new center developments and
relocations, and $272 million for maintenance and information technology. We also spent an additional $4,294 million for acquisitions. During 2012, we also
reccived $22 million from the maturity and sale of investments. However, some of these proceeds were cither used to repurchasc other investments or were uscd
to fund distributions from our deferred compensation plans. In addition, during 2012, we reccived $69 million associated with stock option excreises and
other share issuances and the related excess tax benefits. We also made distributions to noncontrolling interests of $114 million, and received contributions
from noncontrolling intcrests of $37 million associated with ncw joint ventures and from additional cquity contributions. We did not repurchase any sharcs of
our common stock in 2012. i

During 2013, we opened 98 new U.S. dialysis centers, acquired a total of 26 U.S. dialysis centers, sold three centers, merged three centers, closed two
centers and added a total of four centers in which we either own a minority equity interest or operate under management and administrative services
agreements. In addition, we acquired 38 dialysis centers, opened two new dialysis centers and closed three dialysis centers, all of which were located outside of

the U.S.

During 2013, our HCP business acquired an independent physician network organization, a hospice care business, an oncology and hematology
physician practice, four primary care physician practices and one private medical practicc. During the period November 1, 2012 through December 31, 2012,
HCP acquired two private medical practices and one integrated physician association.

During 2012, we acquired a total of 93 U.S. dialysis centers (nine of which were previously under management and administrative services
agreements), opened 70 new U.S. dialysis centers, sold one center, merged nine centers and added one center in which we own a minority equity interest. In
addition, we acquired 13 dialysis ccnters, opened nine new dialysis centers and added three dialysis centers under management and administrative service
agreements all of which were located outside of the U.S.

During the ycar ended December 31, 2013, we made mandatory principal payments under our Scnior Secured Credit Facilitics totaling $100.0 million on
the Term Loan A, $67.5 million on the Term Loan A-3, $17.5 million on the Term Loan B and $16.5 million on the Term Loan B-2.

As of December 31, 2013, we maintained several interest rate swap agreements that were entered into in March 2013 with amortizing notional amounts of
thesc swap agreements totaling $1,283 million. Thesc agrecments have the economic cffcct of modifying the LIBOR variable component of our intercst ratc on
an equivalent amount of our Term Loan A-3 to fixed rates ranging from 0.49% to 0.52%, resulting in an overall weighted average effective interest rate of
3.01%, including the Term Loan A-3 margin of 2.50%. The swap agreements expire on September 30, 2016 and require monthly interest payments. During the
year ended
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December 31, 2013, we recognized debt expense of $3.3 million from these swaps. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these swap agreements was
a net asset of approximately $4.4 million. We estimate that approximately $3.4 million of existing unrealized pre-tax losses in other comprehensive income at
December 31, 2013 will be reclassified into income over the next twelve months.

In addition, as of December 31, 2013, we also maintained several forward interest rate swap agreements that were entered into in March 2013 with
amortizing notional amounts totaling $600 million. These forward swap agrecments will be effective Scptember 30, 2014 and will have the economic effcct of
modifying the LIBOR variable component of our interest rate on an equivalent amount of our outstanding debt to fixed rates ranging from 0.72% to 0.75%.
These swap agreements expire on September 30, 2016 and will require monthly interest payments beginning in October 2014. Any unrealized gains or losses
resulting from changes in the fair value of these swaps is recorded in other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these swap
agreements was a net asset of approximately $1.5 million. We estimate that approximately $0.7 million of existing unrealized pre-tax losses in other
comprehensive income at December 31, 2013 will be reclassified into income over the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2013, we maintained several interest rate cap agreements that were entered into in March 2013 with notional amounts totaling
$1,250 million on our Term Loan B debt and $1,485 million on our Term Loan B-2 debt. These agreements have the economic efféct of capping the LIBOR
variable component of our interest rate at a maximum of 2.50% on an equivalent amount of our Term Loan B and Term Loan B-2 debt. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, we recognized debt expense of $1.8 million from these caps. The cap agreements expire on September 30, 2016. As of December 31, 2013,
the total fair value of these cap agreements was an asset of approximately $7.6 million. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded a loss of $1.0
million in other comprehensive income due to an increase in the unrealized fair value of these cap agreements.

As of December 31, 2013, we also maintained a total of nine other interest rate swap agreements with amortizing notional amounts totaling $800 million.
These agreements had the economic effect of modifying the LIBOR variable component of our interest rate on an equivalent amount of our Term Loan A to
fixcd rates ranging from 1.59% to 1.64%, resulting in an overall weighted average effective interest ratc of 4.36%, including the Term Loan A margin of
2.75%. The swap agreements expire on September 30, 2014 and require monthly interest payments. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized
debt expense of $12.4 million from these swaps. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these swap agreements was a liability of approximately $8.0
million. We estimate that approximately $8.0 million of existing unrealized pre-tax losses in other comprehensive income at December 31, 2013 will be
reclassificd into income over the next twelve months. :

As of December 31, 2013, we also maintained five other interest rate cap agreements with notional amounts totaling $1,250 million. These agreements
have the economic effect of capping the LIBOR variable component of our interest rate at a maximum of 4.00% on an equivalent amount of our Term Loan B
debt. However, as a result of the new interest rate cap agreements that were entered into in March 2013, as described above, these interest rate cap agreements
became ineffective cash flow hedges and as a result any changes in the fair value associated with these interest rate cap agreements will be charged to income.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized debt expense of $3.6 million from these caps. The cap agreements expire on September 30, 2014. As
of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these cap agreements was an asset of approximately $0.001 million.

As a result of the embedded LIBOR floors in some of our debt agreements and the swap and cap agreements, our overall weighted average effective
interest rate on the Senior Secured Credit Facilities was 4.18%, based upon the current margins in effect of 2.75% for the Term Loan A, 2.50% for the Term
Loan A-3 and 3.00% for both the Term Loan B and the Term Loan B-2, as of December 31, 2013.

As of December 31, 2013, interest rates on our Term Loan B and Term Loan B-2 debt are effectively fixed because of an embedded LIBOR floor which
_ is higher than actual LIBOR as of such date. Furthermore, interest
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rates on $1,250 million of our Term Loan B and $1,485 million of our Term Loan B-2 are subject to interest rate caps if LIBOR should rise above 2.50%.
Interest rates on our senior notes are fixed by their terms. The LIBOR variable component of our interest rates on our Term Loan A and our Term Loan A-3 are

economically fixed as a result of interest rate swaps.

Our overall weighted average effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2013 was 4.84% and as of December 31, 2013 was 4.86%.

As of December 31, 2013, we had undrawn revolving line of credit totaling $350 million of which approximately $70 million was committed for
outstanding letters of credit. In addition, HCP has an outstanding letter of credit of approximately $1 million that is secured by a certificate of deposit.

Divestiture of HomeChoice Partners, inc.

On February 1, 2013, we completed the sale of HomeChoice Partners Inc. (HomeChoice) to BioScrip, Inc. pursuant to a stock purchase agreement dated
December 12, 2012 for $70 million in cash, subject to various post-closing adjustments of which we receive approximately 90% of the proceeds. The stock
purchase agreement also provides that as additional consideration we may earn up to a total of 90% of $20 million if certain performance amounts exceed
certain thresholds over the next two years. We have not yet assigned any value to this contingent receivable and will only recognize any estimated realizable
value of this receivable when it becomes probable and reasonably estimable. We recorded a gain of approximately $13 million, net of tax, during the year ended
December 31, 2013 related to this divestiture.

HomeChoice is a regional provider of home infusion services that provides specialized pharmacy, nursing and nutritional services to patients in their
homes. HomeChoice generated approximately $68 million in revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 and approximately $6 million in revenues for the
period January 1, 2013 to February 1, 2013.

The asset and liabilities associated with HomeChoice were classified as held for sale on our consolidated balance shcet as of December 31, 2012 and are
included in other current assets and other liabilities, respectively. The operating results for HomeChoice have been reported in income from operations of

discontinued operations, net of tax, for all periods presented.

Stock-based compensation awards
Stock-based compensation awards are measured at their estimated fair values on the date of grant if settled in shares or at their estimated fair values at
the end of each reporting period if settled in cash. The value of stock-based awards so measured is recognized as compensation expense on a cumulative
straight-line basis over the vesting terms of the awards, adjusted for expected forfeitures. During 2013, we granted 3,458,325 stock-settled stock appreciation
rights (SSARs) with a grant-date fair value of $46.6 million and a weighted-average expected life of approximately 4.1 years, 42,651 stock units with a grant-
date fair value of $2.5 million and a weighted-average expected life of approximately 2.0 years, and cash-settled stock-based awards of 40,000 shares with a
fair value at December 31, 2013 of $0.6 million.

Long-term incentive compensation

Long-term incentive program (LTIP) compensation includes both stock-based compensation (principally stock-settled stock appreciation rights and
restricted stock units) as well as long-term performance-based cash awards. Long-term incentive compensation expense, which was primarily general and
administrative in nature, was attributed among the dialysis and related lab services business, HCP, corporate support costs, and the ancillary services and

strategic initiatives.
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Long-term incentive compensation costs of $84.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, increased by approximately $39 million as compared to
2012. The increasc in fong-tcrm incentive compensation was primarily due to a delay in the timing of our normal annual grant cycle during 2012 until late in
that year, an increase in the fair value of LTIP awards that contributed expense to these respective periods, and LTIP award forfeitures realized at a lower rate
than previously expected. Long-term incentive compensation costs in 2012 decreased by approximately $2.9 million as compared to 2011, primarily due to a
delay in the timing of our normal annual grant cycle during 2012 until late in that year.

As of December 31, 2013, there was $134.7 million in total estimated but unrecognized long-term incentive compensation for LTIP awards outstanding,
including $89.4 million for nonvested stock-based awards under our equity compensation and stock purchase plans. We expect to recognize the performance-
based cash component of these LTIP costs over a weighted average remaining period of 1.0 years and the stock-based component of these LTIP costs over a
weighted average remaining period of 1.3 ycars.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201 1, we received $47.0 million, $89.0 million and $38.2 million, respectively, in actual tax benefits
upon the exercise of stock awards. As a result of the Company issuing SSARs, beginning in 2013, we no longer have stock options outstanding and did not
receive cash proceeds from stock option exercises during the year ended December 31, 2013, During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we received
$2.2 million and $5.4 million, respectively, in cash proceeds from legacy stock option exercises.

On June 17, 2013, the stockholders of the Company approved an amendment to the DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan to
increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the Plan by 17.0 million shares.

Stock split
In the third quarter of 2013, the Board of Directors approved a two-for-one stock split of our common stock in the form of a stock dividend payable on
September 6, 2013 to stockholders of record on August 23, 2013. Our common stock began trading on a post-split basis on September 9, 2013. All share and
per share data for all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the effects of the stock split.

Stock repurchases

During 2013 and 2012, we did not repurchase any of our common stock. In 2011, the Company repurchased a total of 7,589,372 shares of its
common stock for $323,348, or an average price of $42.61 per share, pursuant to previously announced authorizations by the Board of Directors. As of
December 31, 2013, the total outstanding authorization for share repurchases was approximately $358,200. The Company has not repurchased any additional
shares of its common stock from January 1, 2014 through February 21, 2014. This stock repurchase program has no expiration date.

2012 Acquisition of HCP
On November 1, 2012 we completed our acquisition of HCP pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 20, 2012, whereby HCP became
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. HCP is one of the country’s largest operators of medical groups and physician networks generating approximately
$3.2 billion in annual revenues and approximately $385 million in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2013. The operating results of HCP are

included in our consolidated financial results from November 1, 2012,

The total consideration paid at closing for all of the outstanding common units of HCP was approximately $4.71 billion, which consisted of $3.65
billion in cash, net of cash acquired, and 18,760,624 shares of our common stock valued at approximately $1.06 billion. During 2013, we paid and

additional $5.3 million in cash
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for post-closing working capital adjustments. The acquisition agreement also provided that as further consideration, we could have paid the common unit
holders of HCP a total of up to $275 million in cash if ccrtain performance targets were achicved by HCP in 2012 and 2013. Sec contingent carn-out obligation
as discussed above for further information.

2012 Capital structure changes and other items )
In conjunction with the acquisition of HCP, on November 1, 2012, we borrowed an additional $3,000 million under an amended Credit Agreement. The

amended Credit Agreement consists of a five year Term Loan A-3 facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,350 million and a seven year Term Loan B-2
facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,650 million. The Term Loan A-3 initially bears interest at LTBOR plus an interest rate margin of 2.50% subject
to adjustment depending upon our leverage ratio and can range from 2.00% to 2.50%. This Term Loan A-3 requires annual principal payments of $67.5
million in 2013 and 2014, $135.0 million in 2015, and $202.5 million in 2016 with the balance due of $877.5 million in 2017. The Term Loan B-2 bears
interest at LIBOR (floor at 1.00%) plus an interest rate margin of 3.00%. The Term Loan B-2 requires annual principal pay-outs of $16.5 million in 2013
through 2018 with the balance of $1,551 million due in 2019. The borrowings under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by substantially all of our direct
and indirect wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all of our and our guarantors’ assets. In addition, we also amended certain
financial covenants and various other provisions to provide operating and financial flexibility. However, the amended Credit Agreement still contains certain
customary affirmative and negative covenants such as various restrictions on investments, acquisitions, the payment of dividends, redemptions and
acquisitions of capital stock, capital expenditures and other indebtedness, as well as limitations on the amount of tangible net assets in non-guarantor
subsidiaries. Many of these restrictions will not apply as long our leverage ratio is below 3.50:1.00. In addition, the Credit Agreement requires compliance with
financial covenants including an interest coverage ratio and a leverage ratio that determines the interest rate margins as described above.

On August 28, 2012, we also issued $1,250 million of 5 3/% Senior Notes. The 5 3/,% Senior Notes pay interest on February 15 and August 15.of
each year, and the first interest payment date was on February 15, 2013. The 5 3/,% Senior Notes are unsecured senior obligations and rank equally to other
" unsccurcd senior indcbtedncss. The 5 3/,% Senior Notes are guaranteed by certain domestic subsidiaries of the Company. We may redeem some or all of the
5 3/:% Senior Notes at any time on or after August 15, 2017 at certain redemption prices and prior to such date at a make-whole redemption price. We may
also redeem up to 35% of the 5 3/:% Senior Notes at any time prior to August 15, 2015 at certain redemption prices with the proceeds of one or more equity

offerings.

We received total proceeds of $4,250 million from these additional borrowings, $3,000 million from the borrowings on the Term Loan A-3 and Term
Loan B-2, and an additional $1,250 million from the 5 3/,% Senior Notes. We used a portion of the proceeds to finance the acquisition of HCP, pay-off the
existing Term Loan A-2 outstanding principal balance and to pay off a portion of HCP’s existing debt as well as to pay fees and expenses of approximately

$71.8 million.

Off-balance sheet arrangements and aggregate contractual obligations

In addition to the debt obligations reflected on our balance sheet, we have commitments associated with operating leases and letters of credit as well as
potential obligations associated with our equity investments in nonconsolidated businesses and to dialysis centers that are wholly-owned by third parties.
Substantially all of our facilities are leased. We have potential acquisition obligations for several joint ventures and for some of our non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries in the form of put provisions. If these put provisions were exercised, we would be required to purchase the third-party owners’ noncontrolling
interests at either the appraised fair market value or a predetermined multiple of earnings or cash flow attributable to the noncontrolling interests put to us,
which is intended to approximate fair value. For additional information see Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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We also have certain other potential cash commitments to provide operating capital advances as needed to several other dialysis centers that are wholly-
owned by third parties or centers in which we own an equity investment, as well as to physician—owned vascular access clinics that we operate under
management and administrative services agreements.

The following is a summary of these contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2013 (in millions):

Less Than 2-3 45 After
1 year Years ears S years Tota!

Scheduled payments under contractual obligations:

Long-term debt $ 268 $2,729 $1,699 $3,585 $ 8,281

Interest payments on the senior notes 173 345 321 390 1,229
Interest payments on the Term Loan B 77 137 — — 214
Interest payments on the Term Loan B-2@ 66 130 127 52 375
Interest payments on the Term Loan A® 22 18 — — 40
Interest payments on the Term Loan A-36) 34 60 46 — 140
Capital lease obligations 7 14 18 114 153
Operating leases 361 ~ 654 526 818 2,359

$1,008 $4087 $2737  $4,959  $12,791

Potential cash requirements under existing commitments:

Letters of credit $ 71 $ — $ — $ — $ 71
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions _ 374 136 72 115 697
Non-owned and minority owned put provisions 10 21 — —_ 31
Pay-fixed swaps potential obligations 12 — — — 12
Operating capital advances 3 — -— — 3

$ 470 $ 157 $§ 72 $ 115 $ 8l4

(1) Assuming no changes to LIBOR-based interest rates as the Term Loan B currently bears interest at LIBOR (floor of 1.50%) plus an interest rate margin
of 3.00%.

(2) Assuming no changes to LIBOR-based interest rates as the Term Loan B-2 currently bears interest at LIBOR (floor of 1.00%) plus an interest rate
margin of 3.00% .

(3)  Based upon current LIBOR-based interest rates in effect at December 31, 2013 plus an interest rate margin of 2.75% for the Term Loan A and 2.50% for
the Term Loan A-3.

The pay-fixed swap obligations represent the estimated fair market values of our interest rate swap agreements that are based upon valuation models
utilizing the income approach and commonly accepted valuation techniques that use inputs from closing prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets as well as other relevant observable market inputs and other current market conditions that existed as of December 31, 2013. This amount represents
the estimated potential obligation that we would be required to pay based upon the estimated future settlement of each specific tranche over the term of the swap
agreements, assuming no future changes in the forward yield curve. The actual amount of our obligation associated with these swaps in the future will depend
upon changes in the LIBOR-based interest rates that can fluctuate significantly depending upon market conditions, and other relevant factors that can affect

the fair market value of these swap agreements.

In addition to the above commitments, we are obligated to purchase a certain amount of our hemodialysis products and supplies at fixed prices through
2015 from Gambro in connection with the Product Supply Agreement with Gambro. Our total expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2013 on such
products were approximately 2% of our total U.S. dialysis operating costs in each year. In January 2010, we entered into an agreement with FMC which
originally committed us to purchase a certain amount of dialysis equipment, parts and supplies from them through 2013. However this agreement has been
extended through 2015. Our total
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expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2013 on such products were approximately 2% of our total U.S. operating costs. The actual amount of
purchases in future years from Gambro and FMC will depend upon a number of factors, including the operating requirements of our centers, the number of
centers we acquire, growth of our existing centers, and in the case of the Product Supply Agreement, Gambro’s ability to meet our needs.

In November 2011, we entered into a seven year Sourcing and Supply Agreement (the Original Agreement) with Amgen USA Inc. that expires on
December 31, 2018. Under the terms of the agreement we will purchase EPO in amounts necessary to meet no less than 90% of our requirements for ESAs.
The actual amount of EPO that we will purchase from Amgen wiil depend upon the amount of EPO administered during dialysis as prescribed by physicians
and the ovcrall number of paticnts that we scrve. In December 2012 we cntered into an amendment to our agrccment with Amgen that makcs non-matcrial
changes to certain terms of the agreement for the period from January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2013. Under the terms of the original agreement before the
amendment, we were required to purchase EPO in amounts necessary to meet no less than 90% of our requirements of ESAs and are still required to do so
after 2013. In addition, all of the other conditions as specified in the original agreement entered into in November 2011 still apply.

Settlements of approximately $73 million of existing income tax liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits, including interest, penalties and other long-term
tax liabilities, are excluded from the above table as reasonably reliable estimates of their timing cannot be made.

Contingencies
The information in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements of this report is incorporated by reference in response to this item.

Critical accounting policies, estimates and judgments

Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles.
These accounting principles require us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets,
liabilities, contingencies and temporary equity. All significant estimates, judgments and assumptions are developed based on the best information available to
us at the time made and are regularly reviewed and updated when necessary. Actual results will generally differ from these estimates. Changes in estimates are
reflected in our financial statements in the period of change based upon on-going actual experience trends, or subsequent settlements and realizations depending
on the nature and predictability of the estimates and contingencies. Interim changes in estimates are applied prospectively within annual periods. Certain
accounting estimates, including those concerning revenue recognition and accounts receivable, impairments of goodwill or long-lived assets, accounting for
income taxes, quarterly and annual variable compensation accruals, consolidation of variable interest entities, purchase accounting valuation estimates, fair
value estimates, stock-based compensation and medical liability claims are considered to be critical to evaluating and understanding our financial results -
because they involve inherently uncertain matters and their application requires the most difficult and complex judgments and estimates.

Dialysis and related lab services revenue recognition and accounts receivable . There are significant estimating risks associated with the amount of
dialysis and related lab services revenue that we recognize in a given reporting period. Payment rates are often subject to significant uncertainties related to wide
variations in the coverage terms of the commercial healthcare plans under which we receive payments. In addition, ongoing insurance coverage changes,
geographic coverage differences, differing interpretations of contract coverage, and other payor issues complicate the billing and collection process. Net revenue
recognition and allowances for uncollectible billings require the use of estimates of the amounts that will ultimately be realized considering, among other items,
retroactive adjustments that may be associated with regulatory reviews, audits, billing reviews and other matters.
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Revenues associated with Medicare and Medicaid programs are recognized based on (a) the payment rates that are established by statute or regulation for
the portion of the payment rates paid by thc government payor (c.g., 80% for Medicarc paticnts) and (b) for the portion not paid by the primary government
payor, the estimated amounts that will ultimately be collectible from other government programs paying secondary coverage (e.g., Medicaid secondary
coverage), the patient’s commercial health plan secondary covcrage, or the patient. Effective January 1, 2011, our dialysis related reimbursements from
Medicare became subject to certain variations under Medicare’s new single bundled payment rate system whereby our reimbursements can be adjusted for
certain patient characteristics and certain other factors. Our revenue recognition depends upon our ability to effectively capture, document and bill for
Medicare’s base payment rate and these other factors. In addition, as a result of the potential range of variations that can occur in our dialysis-related
reimbursements from Medicare under the new single bundled payment rate system, our revenue recognition is now subject to a greater degree of estimating

risk.

Commercial healthcare plans, including contracted managed-care payors, are billed at our usual and customary rates; however, revenue is recognized
based on estimated net realizable revenue for the services provided. Net realizable revenue is estimated based on contractual terms for the patients covered under
commercial healthcare plans with which we have formal agreements, non-contracted commercial healthcare plan coverage terms if known, estimated secondary
collections, historical collection experience, historical trends of refunds and payor payment adjustments (retractions), inefficiencies in our billing and
collection processes that can result in denied claims for payments, slow down in collections, a reduction in the amounts that we expect to collect and regulatory
compliance issues. Determining applicable primary and secondary coverage for our approximately 163,000 U.S. patients at any point in time, together with the
changes in patient coverages that occur each month, requires complex, resource-intensive processes. Collections, refunds and payor retractions typically
continue to occur for up to three years or longer after services are provided.

We gencrally expect our range of dialysis and rclated lab services revenucs estimating risk to be within 1% of its revenue, which can represent as much
as 5% of dialysis and related lab services adjusted operating income. Changes in estimates are reflected in the then-current financial statements based on on-
going actual cxpcricnce trends, or subscquent scttlements and realizations depending on the nature and predictability of the estimates and contingencies.
Changes in revenue estimates for prior periods are separately disclosed and reported if material to the current reporting period and longer term trend analyses,

and have not been significant.
Lab scrvice rcvenues for current period dates of scrvices are recognized at the estimatced nct realizable amounts to be received.

HCP revenue recognition. HCP revenues consist primarily of fees for medical services provided under capitated contracts with various health plans
and under risk-sharing programs. Revenues with respect to both professional and institutional capitation are recognized in the month in which enrollees are
entitled to receive health care and are based on the number of enrollees selecting an HCP associated group physician employed or affiliated with one of HCP’s
mcdical group cntitics as thcir primary health care provider. Capitation payments received for enrollces under Medicarc Advantage plans are subject to
retroactive adjustment depending upon certain clinical and demographic factors. We estimate the amount of current year adjustments in revenues during the
first and second quarters of any given year and adjust our estimates during the third quarter upon receipt of payments from CMS related to prior year. Any
difference between actual contract settlements and estimated revenues are recorded in the year of final settlement. ’

In addition, as compensation under HCP’s various managed care-related agreements with hospitals, we are entitled to receive a percentage of the amount
by which the institutional capitation revenue received from health plans exceeds institutional expenses, and any such risk-share amount to which we are
entitled is recorded as HCP revenues. In addition, pursuant to such managed care-related agreements, HCP agrees to be responsible should the third party incur
a deficit as a result of institutional expenses being in excess of institutional capitation revenue. As with global capitation, revenue with respect to professional

capitation is reported in the month in
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which enrollees are entitled to receive health care. However, risk-share revenues (that is, the portion of the excess of institutional capitation revenue to which
HCP is entitled less institutional cxpenses), in contrast, arc based on the number of enrollces and significant estimating risk relating to institutional utilization
and associated costs incurred by assigned health plan enrollees. The medical groups also receive other incentive payments from health plans based on
specified performance and quality criteria and the amounts accrued when carned can be reasonably estimated. Differences between actual contract settlcments
and estimated receivables and payables are recorded in the year of final settlement. HCP recently obtained a restricted Knox-Keene license in California, which
wili now permit HCP to enter into contracts with health plans allowing it to recognize revenue in 2014 under global capitation arrangements for both

professional and institutional services.

Impairments of long-lived assets. We account for impairments of long-lived assets, which include property and cquipment, equity investments in non-
consolidated businesses, amortizable intangible assets, indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill, in accordance with the provisions of applicable
accounting guidance. Goodwill is not amortized, but is assessed for valuation impairment as circumstances warrant and at least annually. An impairment
charge would be recorded to the extent the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. Impairment reviews on other long-lived assets are also
performed at least annually and whenever a change in condition occurs which indicates that the carrying amounts of assets may not be recoverable.

Such changes include changes in our business strategies and plans, changes in the quality or structure of our relationships with our partners, changes
in reimbursement rates, deteriorating operating performance of individual dialysis centers or other operations. We use a variety of factors to assess the
realizable value of assets depending on their nature and use. Such assessments are primarily based upon the sum of expected future undiscounted net cash
flows over the expected period the asset will be utilized, as well as market values and conditions. The computation of expected future undiscounted net cash
flows can be complex and involves a number of subjective assumptions. Any changes in these factors or assumptions could impact the assessed value of an
asset and result in an impairment charge equal to the amount by which its carrying value exceeds its actual or estimated fair value.

Accounting for income taxes . Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits reflect
management’s best assessment of estimated current and future taxes to be paid. We are subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous state and
foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgments and estimatcs are required in determining the consolidated income tax expense. Deferred incomc taxes arisc from
temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements, which will result in taxable or
deductible amounts in the future. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all
available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and
results of recent operations, éssumptions about the amount of future state, federal, and foreign pre-tax operating income adjusted for items that do not have tax
consequences. The assumptions about future taxable income require significant judgment and are consistent with the plans and estimates we are using to
manage the underlying businesses. To the extent that recovery is not likely, a valuation allowance is established. The allowance is regularly reviewed and
updated for changes in circumstances that would cause a change in judgment about the realizability of the related deferred tax assets.

Variable compensation accruals. We estimate variable compensation accruals quarterly based upon the amounts expected to be earned and paid out
resulting from the achievement of certain teammate-specific and/or corporate financial and operating goals. Our estimates, which include compensation
incentives for bonuses and other awards, including long-term incentive programs, are updated periodically based on changes in our economic condition or
cash flows that could ultimately impact the actual final award. Actual results reflected in each fiscal quarter may vary due to the subjectivity involved in
anticipating fulfillment of specific and/or corporate goals, as well as the final determination and approval of amounts by our Board of Directors, as applicable.
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Consolidation of variable interest entities. We rely on the operating activities of certain entities that we do not directly own or control, but over which
we have indirect influence and of which we are considered the primary beneficiary. Under accounting guidance applicable to variable interest entities, we have
determined that these entities are to be included in our consolidated financial statements. The analyses upon which these determinations rest are complex,
involve uncertainties, and require significant judgment on various matters, some of which could be subject to reasonable disagreement. While this
determination has a meaningful effect on the description and classification of various amounts in our consolidated financial statements, non-consolidation of
these entities would not have had a material effect on our results of operations attributable to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Purchase accounting valuation estimates. We make various assumptions and estimates regarding the valuation of tangible and intangible assets,
liabilities, contingent eam-out consideration, noncontrolling interests and contractual as well as non-contractual contingencies associated with our acquisitions.
These assumptions can have a material effect on our balance sheet valuations and the related amount of depreciation and amortization expense and any

contingent eam-out adjustments that will be recognized in the future.

Fair value estimates. W¢ havce recorded certain asscts, liabilities and noncontrolling intcrests (temporary equity) subject to put provisions at fair valuc.
The FASB defines fair value which is measured based upon certain valuation techniques that include inputs and assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions. We have measured the fair values of our applicable assets, liabilities and
noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions based upon certain market inputs and assumptions that are either observable or unobservable in determining
fair values and have also classified these assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions into the appropriate fair value hierarchy
levels. The fair value of our investments available for sale are based upon quoted market prices from active markets and the fair value of our swap and cap
agreements were based upon valuation models utilizing the income approach and commonly accepted valuation techniques that use inputs from closing prices
for similar assets and liabilities in active markets as well as other relevant observable market inputs at quoted intervals such as current interest rates, forward
yield curves, implied volatility and credit default swap pricing. The fair value of funds on deposit with third parties are based primarily on quoted close or
bid market prices of the same or similar assets. The fair value of our contingent eam-out considerations were primarily based upon unobservable inputs
including projected EBITDA, the estimated probabilities of achieving other performance targets and the estimated probability of the eam-out payments being
made by using option pricing techniques and simulation models of expected EBITDA and operating income and other performance targets. For our
noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions we have estimated the fair values of these based upon either the higher of a liquidation value of net assets or
an average multiple of eamings based on historical earnings, patient mix and other performance indicators that can affect future results, as well as other
factors. The estimate of the fair values of the noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions involves significant judgments and assumptions and may not
be indicative of the actual values at which the noncontrolling interests may ultimately be settled, which could vary significantly from our current estimates.
The estimated fair values of the noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions can also fluctuate and the implicit multiple of earnings at which these
noncontrolling interests obligations may be settled will vary depending upon market conditions including potential purchasers’ access to the capital markets,
which can impact the level of competition for dialysis and non-dialysis related businesses, the economic performance of these businesses and the restricted
marketability of the third-party owners’ noncontrolling interests. ’

Stock-based compensation. Stock-based compensation awards are measured at their estimated fair values on the date of grant if settled in shares or at
their estimated fair values at the end of each reporting period if settled in cash. The value of stock-based awards so measured is recognized as compensation
expensc on a cumulative straight-linc basis over the vesting terms of the awards, adjustcd for expected forfeitures. We estimatc the fair value of stock awards
using complex option pricing models that rely heavily on estimates from us about uncertain future events, including the expected term of the awards, the
expected future volatility of our stock price, and expected future risk-free interest rates.
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Medical liability claims associated with HCP . The medical groups are responsible for the medical services that associated physicians and contracted
hospitals provide to assigned HMO enrollees. The Company provides medical services to health plan enrollees through a network of contracted providers
under sub-capitation and FFS arrangements, company-operated clinics and staff physicians. Medical costs for professional and institutional services rendered
by contracted providcrs arc recorded as medical expenscs and hospital expenscs, respectively, in the consolidated statements of income. Costs for operating
medical clinics, including the salaries of medical and non-medical personnel and support costs, are recorded in clinic support and other operating costs.

An estimate of amounts due to contracted physicians, hospitals, and other professional providers is included in medical payables in the accompanying
consolidated balancc sheets. Medical claims payable include claims reported as of the balance sheet date and estimates of IBNR. Such estimatcs are dcvcloped
using actuarial methods and are based on many variables, including the utilization of health care services, historical payment patterns, cost trends, product
mix, seasonality, changes in membership, and other factors. The estimation methods and the resulting reserves are continually reviewed and updated. Many of
the medical contracts are complcex in nature and may be subjcct to differing intcrpretations regarding amounts due for the provision of various scrvices. We
engage a third-party actuary to assist in the evaluation of the estimated IBNR reserves. Such differing interpretations may not come to light until a substantial
period of time has passcd following the contract implementation. Any adjustments to reserves are reflected in current operations,

Significant new accounting standards

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU No. 2013-10, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of the
Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate (or Overnight Index Swap Rate) as a Benchmark Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes . This standard amends
the acceptable benchmark interest rates to permit the inclusion of the Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate (OIS) to be used as a U.S. benchmark interest rate for
hedge accounting purposcs in addition to U.S. government (UST) and LIBOR. The amcndment also removes the restriction on using different benchmark
rates for similar hedges. This standard is applied prospectively for qualifying new or redesignated hedging relationships entered into on or after July 17, 2013.
The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2013, we adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2013-02 Comprehensive Income. This standard requires an entity to provide information about the
amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component. In addition, an entity is required to present, either on the face of the
statement where net income is presented or in the notes, significant amounts reclassificd out of accumulated other comprchensive income by the respective line
items of net income but only if the amount reclassified is required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period.
For other amounts that are not required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is required to cross reference to other
disclosures required under U.S. GAAP that provide additional detail about those amounts. See Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for further

details.

On January 1, 2012, we adopted the FASB, ASU No. 2011-08, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other. This standard amends the two-step goodwill
impairment test required under the prior accounting guidance. This amendment allows reporting entities the option to first assess certain qualitative factors to
ascertain whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount to determine whether the two-step impairment
test is necessary. If an entity concludes that certain events or circumstances demonstrate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount, then the entity is required to proceed to step one of the two-step goodwill impairment test. The adoption of this standard did not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2012, we adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2011-07, Health Care Entities-Presentation and Disclosure of Patient Service Revenue,
Provision for Bad Debts, and the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. This standard amends the prior presentation and disclosure requirements for health

care entities that recognize
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significant amounts of patient service revenues at the time the services are rendered without assessing the patient’s ability to pay. This standard requires health
carc entitics to reclassify the provision for bad debts from an operating expense to a deduction from patient service revenucs. In addition, this standard requircs
more disclosure on the policies for recognizing revenue, assessing bad debts, as well as quantitative and qualitative information regarding changes in the
allowance for doubtful accounts. This standard was applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented. Upon adoption of this standard, we changed our
presentation of our provision for uncollectible accounts related to patient service revenues-as a deduction from our patient service operating revenues and
enhanced our disclosures as indicated above. See Notes 3 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

On January 1, 2012, we adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2011-05 as amended by ASU No. 2011-12, Comprehensive Income—Presentation of
Comprehensive Income. This standard amends the prior presentation requirements for comprehensive income by eliminating the presentation of the
components of other comprehensive income within the statement of equity. This standard allows two alternatives on how to present the various components of
comprehensive income. These alternatives are either to report the components of comprehensive income separately on the income statement or to present total
other comprehensive income and the components of other comprehensive income in a separate statement. This standard does not change the items that must be
reported in other comprehensive income or when an item must be reclassified into net income. This standard was applied retrospectively. Upon adoption of
this standard, we presented total other comprehensive income and the components of other comprehensive income in a separate statement of comprehensive
income. See Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

On January 1, 2012, we adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement. This standard amends the current fair value measurement and
disclosure requircments to improve comparability between U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The intent of this standard is
to update the disclosures that describe several of the requirements in U.S. GAAP for measuring fair value and to enhance disclosures about fair value
measurements in a manner that will improve consistency between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This standard does not change the application of the requirements on
fair value measurements and disclosures. This standard was applied prospectively, and did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial

statements.

" Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Interest rate sensitivity

The tables below provide information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. The table below presents principal
repayments and current weighted average interest rates on our debt obligations as of December 31, 2013. The variable rates presented reflect the weighted
average LIBOR rates in effect for all debt tranches plus interest rate margins in effect as of December 31, 2013. The Term Loan A and Term Loan A-3 margins
in effect are 2.75% and 2.50% at December 31, 2013, respectively, and along with the revolving line of credit are subject to adjustment depending upon
changes in certain of our financial ratios including a leverage ratio. The Term Loan B currently bears interest at LIBOR (floor of 1.50%) plus an interest rate
margin of 3.00% subject to a ratings based step-down to 2.75%. The Term Loan B-2 bears interest at LIBOR (floor of 1.00%) plus an interest rate margin of

3.00%.

Average
interest Fair
Expected maturity date Thereafter Total rate value
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
(dolars in millions)
Long term debt: .
Fixed rate $56 $59 81,693 8§ 31 $805 $3,697 86,341 5.29% §6,462
Variable rate $219 $787 § 204 $879 $ 2 § 2 $2093  2.76% $2,106
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Notional  _____ Contractmaturitydate " Fair
amount 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Pay lixed Reecive variable value
(dollars in millions)
Swaps:
Pay-fixed rate $2,682 $867 $135 $1,680 $— $— 0.49% to 1.64% LIBOR $(2.1)
Cap agreements $2,735 $— $§— $2,735 $— S— " LIBORabove2.5% $7.6

Our Senior Secured Credit Facilities, which include the Term Loan A, the Term Loan A-3, the Term Loan B and the Term Loan B-2, consist of various
individual tranches of debt that can range in maturity from one month to twelve months (currently, all tranches are one month in duration). For the Term Loan
A and the Term Loan A-3, each tranche bears interest at a LIBOR rate that is determined by the duration of such tranche plus an interest rate margin. The
LIBOR variable component of the interest rate for each tranche is reset as such tranche matures and a new tranche is established. LIBOR can fluctuate
significantly depending upon conditions in the credit and capital markets. However, the LIBOR variable component of the interest rate for the Term Loan A
and the Term Loan A-3 are economically fixed as a result of our swap agreements, as described below.

The Term Loan B and Term Loan B-2 are subject to LIBOR floors of 1.50% and 1.00%, respectively. Because actual LIBOR, as of December 31, 2013,
was lower than either of these embedded LIBOR floors, the interest rates on the Term Loan B and the Term Loan B-2 are treated as “effectively fixed” for
purposes of the table above. We have included both of these Term Loans in the fixed rate totals in the table above until such time as the actual LIBOR-based
variable component of our interest rate exceeds 1.50% on the Term Loan B and 1.00% on the Term Loan B-2. At such time, we will then be subject to LIBOR-
bascd interest rate volatility on the LTBOR variable componcnt of our intcrest rate for the Term Loan B and the Term Loan B-2, but limited to a maximum
LIBOR ratc of 2.50% on $1,250 million of outstanding principal debt on the Term Loan B and $1,485 million of outstanding principal debt on the Term
Loan B-2 as a result of the interest rate cap agreements, as described below. The remaining $448 million outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan B is
subject to LIBOR-based interest rate volatility above a floor of 1.50%. The remaining $149 million outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan B-2 is
subjcct to LIBOR-bascd intcrest rate volatility above a floor of 1.00%.

As of December 31, 2013, we maintained several interest rate swap agreements that were entered into in March 2013 with amortizing notional amounts of
these swap agreements totaling $1,283 million. These agreements have the economic effect of modifying the LIBOR variable component of our interest rate on
an equivalent amount of our Term Loan A-3 to fixed rates ranging from 0.49% to 0.52%, resulting in an overall weighted average effective interest rate of
3.01%, including the Term Loan A-3 margin of 2.50%. The swap agreements expire on September 30, 2016 and require monthly interest payments. During the
year ended December 31, 2013 we recognized debt expense of $3.3 million from these swaps. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these swap
agreements was a net assct of approximately $4.4 million. We estimate that approximately $3.4 million of existing unrealized pre-tax losscs in other
comprehensive income at December 31, 2013 will be reclassified into income over the next twelve months. '

In addition, as of December 31, 2013, we also maintained several forward interest rate swap agreements that were entered into in March 2013 with
amortizing notional amounts totaling $600 million. These forward swap agreements will be effective September 30, 2014 and will have the economic effect of
modifying the LIBOR variable component of our interest rate on an equivalent amount of our outstanding debt to fixed rates ranging from 0.72% to 0.75%.
These swap agreements expire on September 30, 2016 and will require monthly interest payments beginning in October 2014. Any unrealized gains or losses
resulting from changes in the fair valuc of these swaps is recorded in other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair valuc of these swap
agreements was a net asset of approximately $1.5 million. We estimate that approximately $0.7 million of existing unrealized pre-tax losses in other
comprehensive income at December 31, 2013 will be reclassified into income over the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2013, we maintained several intcrest rate cap agreements that were entered into in March 2013 with notional amounts totaling
$1,250 million on our Term Loan B debt and $1,485 million on our
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Term Loan B-2 debt. These agreements have the economic effect of capping the LIBOR variable component of our interest rate at a maximum of 2.50% on an
cquivalent amount of our Term Loan B and Term Loan B-2 debt. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized debt cxpense of $1.8 million from
these caps. The cap agreements expire on September 30, 2016. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these cap agreements was an asset of
approximately $7.6 million. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded a loss of $1.0 million in other comprehensive income due to an increase in

the unrealized fair value of these cap agreements.

As of December 31, 2013, we also maintained a total of nine other interest rate swap agreements with amortizing notional amounts totaling $800 million.
These agreements had the economic effect of modifying the LIBOR variable component of our interest rate on an equivalent amount of our Term Loan A to
fixed rates ranging from 1.59% to 1.64%, resulting in an overall weighted average effective interest rate of 4.36%, including the Term Loan A margin of
2.75%. The swap agreements expire on September 30, 2014 and require monthly interest payments. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized
dcbt cxpense of $12.4 million from these swaps. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these swap agrecments was a liability of approximately $8.0
million. We estimate that approximately $8.0 million of existing unrealized pre-tax losses in other comprehensive income at December 31, 2013 will be

reclassified into income over the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2013, we also maintained five other interest ratc cap agreements with notional amounts totaling $1,250 million. These agreements
have the economic effect of capping the LIBOR variable component of our interest rate at a maximum of 4.00% on an equivalent amount of our Term Loan B
debt. However, as a result of the new interest rate cap agreements that were entered into in March 2013, as described above, these interest rate cap agreements
became ineffective cash flow hedges and as a result any changes in the fair value associated with these interest rate cap agreements will be charged to income.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized debt expense of $3.6 million from these caps. The cap agreements expire on September 30, 2014. As
of December 31, 2013, the total fair valuc of thesc cap agreements was an asset of approximately $0.001 million.

As a result of the embedded LIBOR floors in some of our debt agreements and the swap and cap agreements, our overall weighted average effective
interest rate on the Senior Secured Credit Facilities was 4.18%, based upon the current margins in effect of 2.75% for the Term Loan A, 2.50% for the Term

Loan A-3 and 3.00% for both the Term Loan B and the Term Loan B-2, as of December 31, 2013.

As of December 31, 2013, interest rates on our Term Loan B and Term Loan B-2 debt are effectively fixed because of an embedded LIBOR floor which
" is higher than actual LIBOR as of such date. Furthermore, interest rates on $1,250 million of our Term Loan B and $1,485 million of our Term Loan B-2 are
subject to interest rate caps if LIBOR should rise above 2.50%. Interest rates on our senior notcs are fixed by their terms. The LIBOR variable component of
our interest rates on our Term Loan A and our Term Loan A-3 are economically fixed as a result of interest rate swaps.

Our overall weighted average effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2013 was 4.84% and as of December 31, 2013 was 4.86%.

One means of assessing exposure to debt-related interest rate changes is a duration-based analysis that measures the potential loss in net income resulting
from a hypothetical increase in interest rates of 100 basis points across all variable rate maturities (referred to as a parallel shift in the yield curve). Under this
model, with all else constant, it is estimated that such an increase would have reduced net income by approximately $1.1 million, $4.0 million, and $0.6
million, net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Exchange rate sensitivity
We are currently not exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange rate risk.
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Item8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

See the Index to Financial Statements and Index to Financial Statement Schedules included at “Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.”

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures.

Management has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports
that it files or submits pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) as amended is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

At the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures in accordance with the Exchange
Act requirements. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
are effective for timely identification and review of material information required to be included in our Exchange Act reports, including this report on Form 10-
K. Management recognizes that these controls and procedures can provide only reasonable assurance of desired outcomes, and that estimates and judgments
are still inherent in the process of maintaining effective controls and procedures.

There has not been any change in our internal control over financial reporting that was identificd during the cvaluation that occurred during the fourth
fiscal quarter and that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

In 2002, we adopted a Corporate Governance Code of Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, and to all of our financial accounting and legal professionals who are directly or indirectly involved in the preparation,
reporting and fair presentation of our financial statements and Exchange Act Reports. The Code of Ethics is posted on our website, located at
http://www.davita.com. We also maintain a Corporate Code of Conduct that applics to all of our employces, which is posted on our websitc.

Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines all Board Committees including the Audit Committee, Nominating and Governance Committee and the
Compensation Committee, which are comprised solely of independent directors as defined within the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange, have
written charters that outline the committee’s purpose, goals, membership requirements and responsibilities. These charters are regularly reviewed and updated
as necessary by our Board of Directors. All Board Committee charters as well as the Corporate Governance Guidelines are posted on our website located at

http://www davita.com.

The other information required to be disclosed by this item will appear in, and is incorporated by reference from, the sections entitled “Proposal No. 1.
Election of Directors”, “Corporate Governance”, and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” included in our definitive proxy

statement relating to our 2014 annual stockholder meeting.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item will appear in, and is incorporated by reference from, the sections entitled “Executive Compensation™ and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participations” included in our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2014 annual stockholder meeting.
The information required by Item 407(e)(5) of Regulation S-K will appear in and is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Compensation
Committee Report” included in our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2014 annual stockholder meeting; however, this information shall not be deemed

to be filed.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following tablc provides information about our.common stock that may be issucd upon the cxercisc of stock-settled stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock units and other rights under all of our existing equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2013, which consist of our 2011 Incentive
Award Plan and our Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The material terms of these plans are described in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Numbecr of shares
remaining availahle for

Number of sbares to be Weighted average future issuance Total of shares
issued upon exercise of exercise price of under equity compcnsation reflected in
outstanding options, outstanding options, plans (cxcluding securities columns
Plan catepory warrants and rights warrants and rights reflccted in column (a)) {a) and {c)
@ ®) © d

Equity compensation plans approved by ’ -
shareholders 13,922,690 $ 42.29 37,221,758 51,144,448
Equity compensation plans not requiring

shareholder approval : — N — ——
Toul __13,9226% s o L TIRE 1144448
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Other information required to be disclosed by Item 12 will appear in, and is incorporated by reference from, the section entitled “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” included in our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2014 annual stockholder meeting.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

The information required by this item will appear in, and is incorporated by reference from, the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” and the section entitled “Corporate Governance” included in our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2014 annual stockholder meeting.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this item will appear in, and is incorporated by reference from, the section entitled “Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” included in our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2014 annual stockholder meeting.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Documents filed as part of this Report:

(1) Index to Financial Statements:

_Page_
Management’s Report on lnternal Control Over Financial Reportin F-1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Finn F-2
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-3
Consolidated Statements of Incoine for the vears ended Deceinber 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the vears ended December 31. 2013, 2012, and 2011 F-5
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31. 2013, and 2012 F-6
Consolidated Statemeuts of Cash Flow for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 E-7
Consolidatcd Statements of Equity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 201 | F-8
Nolcs to Consolidated Financial Statements F-10
(2) Index to Financial Statement Schedules:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm S-3
Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifving Accounts S-4
(1) Exhibits:
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., Seismic Acquisition LLC, HealthCare Partners
Holdings, LLC, and the Member Representative.(36)
2.2 Amendment, dated as of July 6, 2012, to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., Seismic
Acquisition LLC, HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and the Member Representative.(37)
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporéition of Total Renal Care Holdings, Inc. (TRCH), dated December 4, 1995.(1)
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of TRCH, dated February 26, 1998.(2)
33 Certificatc of Amendment of Certificatc of Incorporation of DaVita Inc. (formerly Total Renal Care Holdings, Inc.), dated October 5, 2000.(3)
34 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DaVita Inc., as amended dated May 30, 2007.(16)
3.5 Certificate of Ownership and Merger Merging DaVita Name Change, Inc. with and into DaVita Inc., as filed with Secretary of State of the State
of Delaware on November 1, 2012.(41)
3.6 Amended and Restated Bylaws for DaVita Inc. dated as of March 10, 2011.(17)
4.1 Indenture, dated October 20, 2010, by and among DaVita Inc., the guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company, N.A., as Trustee.(28)

42 Indenture, dated October 20, 2010, by and among DaVita Inc., the guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company, N.A, as Trustee.(28)

43 Indenture, dated August 28, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., the guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company, N.A , as Trustee.(38)
44 Form of 5.750% Senior Notes due 2022 and related Guarantee (included in exhibit 4.5).(38)
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10.1 Employment Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2009, by and between DaVita Inc. and Kim M. Rivera.(29)*

10.2 Employment Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2005, effective October 24, 2005, by and between DaVita Inc. and Dennis Kogod.(8)*

10.3 Amendment to Mr. Kogod’s Employment Agreement, effective December 12, 2008.(23)*

10.4 Second Amendment to Mr. Kogod’s Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2012.(23)*

10.5 Employment Agreement, effective September 22, 2005, by and between DaVita Inc. and James Hilger.(10)*

10.6 Amendment to Mr. Hilger's Employment Agreement, effective December 12, 2008.(23)*

10.7 Second Amendment to Mr. Hilger’s Employment Agreement, effective December 27, 2012.*

10.8 Employment Agreement, effective July 25, 2008, between DaVita Inc. and Kent J. Thiry.(20)*

10.9 Employment Agreement, effective August 1, 2008, between DaVita Inc. and Allen Nissenson.(21)*

10.10 Employment Agreement, effective March 3, 2008, between DaVita Inc. and David Shapiro.(23)*

10.11 Amendment to Mr. Shapiro’s Employment Agreement, effective December 4, 2008.(23)*

10.12 Employment Agreement, effective March 17, 2010, by and between DaVita Inc. and Javier Rodriguez.(25)*

10.13 Memorandum Relating to Bonus Structure for Kent J. Thiry.(26)*

10.14 Memorandum Relating to Bonus Structure for Dennis L. Kogod.(26)*

10.15 Form of Indemnity Agreement.(15)*

10.16 Form of Indemnity Agreement.(9)*

10.17 Executive Incentive Plan (as Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2009).(24)*

10.18 Executive Retirement Plan.(23)*

10.19 DaVita Voluntary Deferral Plan.(7)*

10.20 Deferred Bonus Plan (Prosperity Plan).(22)*

10.21 Amendment No. 1 to Deferred Bonus Plan (Prosperity Plan).(23)*

10.22 Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(18)*

10.23 Amended and Restated DaVita Healthcare Partners Inc. Severance Plan.*

10.24 Change in Control Bonus Program.(23)*

10.25 Non-Management Director Compensation Philosophy and Plan.(19)*

10.26 Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(6)*

10.27 Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(14)*

10.28 Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(18)*

10.29 Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(23)*

10.30 DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(27)*

1031 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 1999 Non-Executive Officer and Non-Director Equity
Compensation Plan.(13)*

10.32 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(4)*
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1033

10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
10.41

10.42
10.43

10.44

10.45
10.46
1047
10.48
10.49
10.50
10.51
10.52

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(11)*
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(13)*
Form of Restricted Stock Units Agrecment—Employcc (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(4)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Employec (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(11)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(13)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(23)*

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(11)*
Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(13)*
Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement—Board (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(21)*

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement—Board members (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(32)*
Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Board (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(21)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Board members (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(32)*
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Board (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(21)*
Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement—Executives (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(32)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Executives (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(32)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan). * ‘

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan). *

Form of Long-Term Incentive Program Award Agreement (For 162(m) designated teammates) (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(43)*
Form of Long-Term Incentive Program Award Agreement (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan). *

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2010, by and among DaVita Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, Credit
Suisse AG, Barclays Bank PLC, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Credit Agricolc Corporate and
Investment Bank, RBC Capital Markets, Scotia Capital (USA) Inc., SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. and Union Bank, N.A, as Co-
Documentation Agents, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral
Agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Banc of America Securities LLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Barclays Capital, Goldman
Sachs Bank USA and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners.(34)**
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10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57
10.58
10.59
10.60
10.61
10.62

10.63

10.64
10.65
10.66

10.67

" 10.68

10.69

10.70

Amendment No. 1, dated as of August 14, 2012, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2010, by and among DaVita Inc., the
several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative
Agent and Collateral Agent, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Issuing Lender and Swingline Lender, and the other agents from time to
time parties thereto.(39)

Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., the several banks and other financial
institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A, as Issuing Lender and Swingline Lender, and the other agents from time to time parties thereto.(38)

Perfection Certificate executed as of October 20, 2010 and delivered in connection with the closing of the Credit Agreement filed as Exhibit
10.68.(34)**

Amended and Restated Alliance and Product Supply Agreement, dated as of August 25, 2006, among Gambro Renal Products, Inc., DaVita
Inc. and Gambro AB.(12)**

Dialysis Organization Agreement between DaVita Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. dated December 20, 2007.(22)**

Dialysis Organization Agreement between DaVita Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. dated December 17, 2010.(30)**

Amended and Restated DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan.(31)*

Amendment No. 2 to Dialysis Organization Agreement between DaVita Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. effective as of July 1, 2011.(33)**
Sourcing and Supply Agreement between DaVita Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. effective as of January 1, 2012.(35)**

Amendment No. 1 to Sourcing and Supply Agreement between DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. effective as of January
1,2013.%*

Voting Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and HealthCare Partners
Medical Group.(36)

Support Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and Dr. Robert Margolis.(36)
Support Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and Dr. William Chin.(36)
Support Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and Matthew
Mazdyasni.(36) i

Support Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and Dr. Thomas
Paulsen.(36)

Form of Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, between DaVita Inc. and Dr. Robert Margolis, Dr.
William Chin, Dr. Thomas Paulsen, Mr. Zan Calhoun, and Ms. Lori Glisson.(36) )
Form of Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, between DaVita Inc. and Mr. Matthew Mazdyasni, Dr.
Sherif Abdou, and Dr. Amir Bacchus.(36)

Escrow Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as
trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A, as escrow agent and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.,

as bank and sccurities intermediary.(38)
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10.71 Employment Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, effective as of the November 1, 2012, by and among Dr. Robert Margolis, DaVita Inc.
and HealthCare Partncrs Holdings, LLC.(40)* .
10.72 Amendment to Dr. Margolis’ Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2012.*
10.73 Employment Agreement, effective July 5, 2013, between DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and Garry E. Menzel.(42)*
12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges. v/
14.1 DaVita Inc. Corporate Governance Code of Ethics.(5)
21.1 List of our subsidiaries. v’
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. v/
24.1 Powers of Attorney with respect to DaVita. (Included on Page II-1).
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, dated February 21, 2014, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. v’
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, dated February 21, 2014, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. v/
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, dated February 21, 2014, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.v'
32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, dated February 21, 2014, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. v
101.INS XBRL Instance Document.v’
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. v’
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. v/
{01.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.v”
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. v’
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Prescntation Linkbasc Document. v’
v Included in this filing.
* Management contract or executive compensation plan or arrangement.
*x Portions of this cxhibit arc subject to a request for confidential trcatment and have been redacted and filed scparatcly with the SEC.
(1)  Filed on March 18, 1996 as an exhibit to the Company’s Transitional Report on Form 10-K for the transition period from June 1, 1995 to
December 31, 1995.
) Filed on March 31, 1998 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ycar ended December 31, 1997.
3) Filed on March 20, 2001 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.
“ Filed on November 8, 2004 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004.
(5)  Filed on February 27, 2004 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.
(6)  Filed on May 4, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005.
(@] Filed on November 8, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005.
®) Filed on November 4, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.
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Filed on March 3, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Filed on August 7, 2006 as an cxhibit to the Company’s Quartcrty Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2006.
Filed on July 6, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on November 3, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.

Filed on October 18, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on July 31, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on December 20, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on August 6, 2007 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007.
Filed on March 17, 2011 as an.exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A.

Filed on June 4, 2007 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on May 8, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008.
Filed on July 31, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on November 6, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008.

Filed on February 29, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Filed on February 27, 2009 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008
Filed on June 18, 2009 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on April 14, 2010 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on May 3, 2010 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010.

Filed on April 28, 2010 as Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A.

Filed on October 21, 2010 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on February 25, 2010 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Filed on December 29, 2011 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Filed on April 29, 2013 as Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A.

Filed on August 4, 2011 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011.

Filed on December 29, 2011 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended June 30, 2011.
Filed on January 17, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended March 31, 2011.
Filed on February 24, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.
Filed on May 21, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on July 9, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on August 28, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on September 18, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on September 18, 2012 as an exhibit to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4.

Filed on November 1, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on August 7, 2013 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013.

Filed on February 28, 2013 as an exhibit to thc Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles and which includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

During the last fiscal year, the Company conducted an evaluation, under the oversight of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. This evaluation was completed based on the criteria
established in the report titled “Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission (COSO).

Based upon our evaluation under the COSO framework, we have concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective
as of December 31, 2013.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting, which report is included in this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
. DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2013. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
rcquirc that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are frec of matcrial misstatcment. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that

our audits provide a rcasonablc basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of DaVita HealthCare
Partners Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Wc also havc auditcd, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Statcs), DaVita HealthCarc
Partners Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 21, 2014 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal contro] over financial reporting .

/s/ KPMG LLP
Seattle, Washington

February 21, 2014
F-2
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.:

We have audited DaVita HealthCare Partners Tnc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). DaVita
HealthCare Partners Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.”
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance
sheets of DaVita HealmQare Partners Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2013, and our report dated February 21, 2014
expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Seattle, Washington

February 21, 2014
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Patient service revenues
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts
Net patient service revenues
Capitated revenues
Other revenues
Total net revenues
Operating expenses and charges:
Patient care costs and other costs
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for uncollectible accounts
Equity investment income
Loss contingency reserve and other legal settlements
Contingent earn-out obligation adjustment
Total operating expenses and charges
Operating income
Debt expense
Debt refinancing charges
Other income, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Income from continuing opcrations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from operations of discontinued operations, net of tax
Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
Earnings per share:
Basic income from continuing operations per share attributable to DaVita
HealthCare Partners Inc.
Basic net income per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

Diluted income from continuing operations per share attributable to DaVita
HealthCare Partners Inc.

Diluted net income per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

Weighted average shares for earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted
Amounts attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.:
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income

Year ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

$ 8,307,195 $ 7,351,902 $ 6,470,540
(293,546) (235,218) (190,234)
8,013,649 7,116,684 6,280,306
2,987,315 481,336 45,133
763,086 588,260 406,367
11,764,050 8,186,280 6,731,806
8,198,377 5,583,549 4,633,620
1,176,485 889,879 684,715
528,737 341,969 264,225
4,852 4,339 3,309
(34,558) 16,377) (8,776)
397,000 85,837 —
(56,977) — —
10,213,916 6,889,196 5,577,093
1,550,134 1,297,084 1,154,713
(429,943) (288,554) (241,090)

— (10,963) —
4,787 3,737 2,982
1,124,978 1,001,304 916,605
381,013 359,845 325,292
743,965 641,459 591,313
(139) (222) (13,162)
13,375 — (4,756)
757,201 641,237 573,395
(123,755) (105,220) (95,394)

$ 633,446 $ 536,017 $ 478,001

$ 2.95 2.79 $ 2.62

$ 3.02 $ 2.79 $ 2.53

$ 2.89 $ 274 $ - 257

$ 2.95 $ 2.74 $ 248
209,939,364 192,035,878 189,316,054
214,763,887 195,942,160 193,064,220

$ 620,197 $ 536,236 $ 496,182
13,249 (219 (18,181)

$ 633,446 $ 536,017 $ 478,001

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(dollars in thousands)

Year endcd December 31

— 2013 o —2011

Net income $ 757,201 $ 641,237 $573,395
Other comprchensive income (losscs), net of tax:
Unrealized gain (losses) on interest rate swap and cap agreements:

Unrealized gain (losses) on interest rate swap and cap agreements 169 (6,204) (29,049)

Reclassifications of net swap and cap agreements realized losses into net income 12,889 10,130 9,721
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments:

Unrealized gains (losses) on investments 2,300 1,541 (602)

Reclassification of net investment realized gains into net income (490) (75) 7
Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,216) (1,205) —

Other comprehensive income (losses) 12,652 4,187 (19,987)
Total comprehensive income 769,853 645,424 553,408

Less: Comprchensive income attributable to noncontrolling intcrests (123,755) (105,220) (95,394)
Comprehensive income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. $ 646,098 $ 540,204 $ 458,014

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $237,143 and $245,122
Inventories
Other receivables
Other current assets
Income tax receivable
Deferred income taxes
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,778,259 and $1,522,183
Intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $483,773 and $304,323
Equity investments
Long-term investments
Other long-term assets
Goodwill

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Accounts payable
Other liabilities -
Accrued compensation and benefits
Medical payables
Loss contingency reserve
Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Aliiance and product supply agreement, net
Deferred income taxes

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions
Equity:

Preferred stock ($0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued)

Common stock ($0.001 par value, 450,000,000 shares authorized; 213,163,248 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2013; 269,724,566 shares issued and 210,997,150 shares outstanding at December 31,

2012)
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Treasury stock, at cost (58,727,416 shares at December 31, 2012)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests not subject to put provisions

Total equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
§ 946,249 $ 533,748
6,801 7,138
1,485,163 1,424,303
88,805 78,126
349,090 265,671
176,414 201,572
10,315 52,345
409,441 324,147
3,472,278 2,887,050
2,189,411 1,872,370
2,024,373 2,128,118
40,686 35,150 |
79,557 59,341
79,598 79,854
9,212,974 8,952,750
$17,098,877 $ 16,014,633
$ 435465 b 414,143
464,422 563,365
603,013 566,911
287,452 238,964
397,000 —
274,697 233,042
2,462,049 2,016,425
8,141,231 8,326,534
371,010 443,743
9,327 14,657
812,419 715,657
11,796,036 11,517,016
697,300 580,692
213 270
1,070,922 1,208,665
3,363,989 3,731,835
— (1,162,336)
(2,645) (15,297)
4,432,479 3,763,137
173,062 153,788
4,605,541 3,916,925
$17,098,877 $ 16,014,633
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
(dollars in thousands)

Ycar ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Net income § 757,201 § 641,237 $ 573,395
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Loss contingency reserve 397,000 — —
Depreciation and amortization 528,119 343,908 267,315
Stock-based compensation expense 59,998 45,384 48,718
Tax benefits from stock award exercises 46,898 88,964 38,199
Excess tax benefits from stock award exercises (36,197) (62,036) (20,834)
Deferred income taxes (25,380) 43,765 53,438
Equity investment income, net 2,872 3,384 354
Other non-cash charges and loss on disposal of assets (31,351) 30,390 20,329
Goodwill impairment charge — — 24,000
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions and /
divcstitures:
Accounts receivable (59,640) (47,673) (88,848)
Inventories (8,971) 4,052 10,270
Other receivables and other current assets (108,434) 51,730 53,697
Other long-term assets : 17,731 (1,775) 2,039
Accounts payable 16,666 40,878 84,400
Accrued compensation and benefits ) 38,368 18,476 77,074
Other current liabilities 78,817 11,083 (51,979)
Income taxes 33,499 (129,948) 77,418
Other long-term liabilities 66,145 19,029 11,061
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,773,341 1,100,848 1,180,046
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions of property and equipment, net (617,597) (550,146) (400,156)
Acquisitions (310,394) (4,294,077) (1,077,442)
Proceeds from asset sales 62,258 3,559 75,183
Purchase of investments available-for-sale (12,445) (3,935) (5,971)
Purchase of investments held-to-maturity (1,039) (7418) (37,628)
Proceeds from sale of investments available-for-sale 4,158 7,211 1,149
Proceeds from maturities of investments held-to-maturity 1,376 14,530 47,695
Purchase of equity investments and other assets (3,696) (2,182) (2,398)
Distributions received on equity investments 497 8 340
Net cash used in investing activities (876,882) (4,832,450) . (1,399,228)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings 66,286,097 43,248,175 36,395,105
Payments on long-term dcbt, contingent earn-out obligations and other financing
costs (66,724,104) (39,343,268) (36,267,445)
Purchase of treasury stock — — (323,348)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (139,326) (113,504) (100,653)
Stock award exercises and other share issuances, net 16,423 6,647 11,316
Excess tax benefits from stock award exercises 36,197 62,036 20,834
Contributions from noncontrolling interests 36,996 37,395 21,010
Proceeds from salcs of additional noncontrolling intercsts 8,295 1,664 9,687
Purchases from noncontrolling interests (3,569) (26,761) (13,689)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (482,991) 3,872,384 (247,183)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (967) (786) —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 412,501 139,996 (466,365)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 533,748 393,752 860,117
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $ 946,249 $ 533,748 $ 393,752
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Balance at December 31, 2010
Comprchensive income:

Net income

Other comprchensive income
Stock purchase shares issued
Stock unit shares issucd
Slock options and SSARs exercised
Stock-based compensation expense
Excess tax bencfits from stock awards excreiscd
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Contributions from noncontrolling interests
Salcs and of additional

lling i

F from
Changes in fair value of noncontrolling interests
Expired put provision
Purchasc of trcasury stock
Balance at December 31, 2011
Comprchensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Stock purchase shares issued
Stock unit shares issucd
Stock options and SSARs cxercised
Stock-bascd compensation cxpense
Execss tax benefits from stock awards exercised
I of stock d with thc HCP

Purch ling i

A iption of lling i

acquisition
Distributions to noncontroliing intcrests
Contributions froin noncontrolling interests

Sales and i of additional

olling i

d with the Hi

CP

Purchascs from noncontrolling interests
Changes in fair value of noncontrolling interests
Held for sale reclassification

Purchase accounting adjustment

Balance at December 31, 2012

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(dollars and shares in thousands)

J DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. Shareholders’ Equity

Non-

controlling

Non-controlling —Common stock__ Additional — Treasurystock __ Accumulated interests not
Interests Other subject to
subject to put paid-in Retained . comprehensive put
Provisions Shares Amount capital earnings Shares Amount income (foss) Total provisions
$ 383,052 269,725 & 270 $ 620411 $2,717,817 (77,722) $(1.360,579) $ 503 $1,978422 § 58,712
59,135 478,001 478,001 36,259
(19,987) (19,987)
4,268 351 6,554 10,822
(2,866) 156 2,866 —
{37,370) 2,362 42,813 5,443
48,718 48,718
20,834 20,834
(61,343) (39,310)
12,547 8,463
49343 (1,299) (1,299) 55,566
(2,103) (9,486) (9,486) (2,100)
63,762 (63,762) (63,762)
{26,177) 16,717 16,717 9,460
(7.589) {323.348) (323.348)
$ 478,216 269,725 $ 270 $ 596,165 $3,195818 (82,442) $(1,631.694) $ (19,484) $2,14),075 $ 127,050
66,456 536,017 536,017 38,764
4,187 4,187
4311 203 4,011 8,322
(8,303) 419 8,303 —
(83,558) 4332 85,733 2,175
45,384 45,384
62,036 62,036
684,161 18,760 371,311 1,055,472
29,850
(70,133} (43,371}
26,371 11,024
20,124 1,064 1,064 2,432
(5,229) (20,694) (20,694) (838)
71,901 (71,901) (71,901)
(7.014)
‘ (11,123}
$ 580,692 269,725 § 270 $1,208,665 $3,731,835 (58,728) §(1,162,336) $ (15,297) $3,763,137 § 153,788
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Comprchensive income:

Net income

Other comprchensive income
Stock purchasc shares issucd
Stock unit shares issucd
Stock-scttled SAR shares issued
Stock-based compcensation cxpenise
Excess tax benefits from stock awards exercised
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Contributions from noncontrolling intcrests
Salcs and ptions of additional tting

interests

Purchascs from lling i
Expiration of put option and othcr reclassification
Changes in fair valuc of noncontrolling intcrests
Treasury stock retirement

Balance at December 31, 2013

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY—(continued)
(dollars and shares in thousands)

Non- | DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. Shareholders’ Equity _ conteating
controlling —_Common stock Additional — Treasurystock  Accumulated fnterests not
Interests Other subject to
subject to put paid-in Retatned comprehensive put
Provisions Shares Amount capital earnings Shares Amount inconre {loss) Total provisions
78,215 633,446 633,446 45,540
12,652 12,652
238 12,817 12,817
7 (3,286) 164 3,247 (39)
313 (29,025) 1,444 28,561 (464)
59,998 59,998
36,197 36,197
(80,353) . (58,973)
22,053 14,943
23,642 (1,442) (1,442) 10,77¢
(512) (3,119) (3,119) (147)
(7.141) 7,141
80,704 (80,704) {80,704)
(57,120) (57 (129.179) _(1.001.292) 57,120 1,130,528 —
s 697,300 213,163 § 213 51070922  § 3363989 — $ — 3 (2,645) $4432479 § 173062

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

1. Organization and summary of significant accounting policies
Organization

DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. primarily operates two major lines of business and, to a lesser extent, various other ancillary services and strategic
initiatives, including our international dialysis operations. The Company’s largest line of business is its U.S. dialysis and related lab services business,
which operates kidney dialysis centers and provides related lab services primarily in outpatient dialysis centers and in contracted hospitals within the U.S. As
of December 31, 2013, the Company operated or provided administrative services through a network of 2,074 U.S. outpatient dialysis centers in 45 states and
the District of Columbia, serving approximately 163,000 patients. The Company’s other major line of business is HCP, which is a patient- and physician-
focused integrated healthcare delivery and management company that provides medical services to members primarily through capitation contracts with some
of the nation’s leading health plans.

In addition, as of December 31, 2013, the Company operated or provided administrative services to 73 outpatient dialysis centers located in ten countries
outside of the U.S. The Company’s U.S. dialysis and related lab services business and HCP qualify as separately reportable segments and the Company’s
other ancillary services and strategic initiatives, including its international operations, have been combined and disclosed in the other segments category.

Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). The

financial statements include DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and its subsidiaries, partnerships and other entities in which it maintains a 100% or majority
voting interest, another controlling financia! interest, or of which it is considered the primary beneficiary (collectively, the Company). All significant
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. Non-marketable equity investments are recorded under the equity or cost method of accounting
based upon whether the Company has significant influence over the investee. For the Company’s international subsidiaries, local currencies are considered
their functional currencies. Translation adjustments result from translating the Company’s international subsidiaries’ financial statements from their
functional currencies into the Company’s reporting currency (USD). Prior year balances and amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation and retrospectively revised to reflect purchase accounting entries.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date these consolidated financial statements were issued and has included all necessary
disclosures.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, contingencies and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions. Although actual results in subsequent periods
will differ from these estimates, such estimates are developed based on the best information available to management and management’s best judgments at the
time made. All significant assumptions and estimates underlying the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes are regularly
reviewed and updated when necessary. Changes in estimates are reflected in the financial statements based upon on-going actual experience trends, or
subsequent settlements and realizations depending on the nature and predictability of the estimates and contingencies. Interim changes in estimates related to
annual operating costs are applied prospectively within annual periods.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

The most significant assumptions and estimates underlying these financial statements and accompanying notes involve revcnue recognition and
accounts receivable, contingencies, impairments of long-lived assets including goodwill, valuation adjustments, accounting for income taxes, quarterly,
annual and long-term variable compensation accruals, consolidation of variable interest entities, purchase accounting valuation estimates, other fair value
estimates, stock-based compensation and medical liability claims. Specific estimating risks and contingencies are further addressed within these notes to the

consolidated financial statements.

Patient service net revenues and accounts receivable

Patient service net revenues are recognized in the period services are provided. Revenues consist primarily of payments from Medicare, Medicaid and
commercial health plans for dialysis and ancillary services provided to patients. A usual and customary fee schedule is maintained for the Company’s
dialysis treatments and other patient services; however, actual collectible revenue is normally recognized at a discount from the fee schedule.

Patient service revenues eamned by HCP are recognized in the period services are provided, net of an estimated contractual allowance and are mainly
attributablc to primary care physician services and certain othcr specialty carc services provided to patients.

Revenues associated with Medicare and Medicaid programs are recognized based on: (a) the payment rates that are established by statute or regulation for
the portion of payment rates paid by the government payor (e.g., 80% for Medicare patients) and (b) for the portion not paid by the primary government payor,
estimates of the amounts ultimately collectible from other government programs paying secondary coverage (c.g., Medicaid secondary coverage), the patient’s
commercial health plan secondary coverage, or the patient. Effective January 1, 2011, the Company’s reimbursements from Medicare are now subject to
certain variations under Medicare’s single bundled payment rate system, whereby reimbursements can be adjusted for certain patient characteristics and other
factors. The Company’s revenue recognition will depend upon its ability to effectively capture, document and bill for Medicare’s base payment rate as well as

these other variable factors.

Revenues associated with commercial health plans are estimated based on contractual terms for the patients under healthcare plans with which the
Company has formal agreements, non-contracted health plan coverage terms if known, estimated secondary collections, historical collection experience,
historical trends of refunds and payor payment adjustments (retractions), inefficiencies in the Company’s billing and collection processes that can result in
denied claims for payments, and regulatory compliance matters.

Commercial revenue recognition also involves significant estimating risks. With many larger, commercial insurers the Company has several different
contracts and payment arrangements, and these contracts often include only a subset of the Company’s centers. It is often not possible to determine which
contract, if any, should be applied prior to billing. In addition, for services provided by non-contracted centers, final collection may require specific
negotiation of a payment amount, typically at a significant discount from the Company’s usual and customary rates.

Under Medicare’s bundled payment rate system, services covered by Medicare are subject to estimating risk, whereby reimbursements from Medicare
can vary significantly depending upon certain patient characteristics and other variable factors. Prior to January 1, 2011, services covered by Medicare as well
as Medicaid werc less subject to estimating risks since both Medicarc and Medicaid rates uscd a prospective payment mcthod cstablished in advancc with
definitive terms. Even with the bundled payment rate system, Medicare payments for bad debt claims as established by cost reports require evidence of
collection efforts. As a result, billing and collection of Medicare bad debt ciaims can be delayed significantly and final payment is subject to audit.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Medicaid payments, when Mcdicaid coverage is secondary, can also be difficult to estimate. For many states, Medicaid payment terms and methods
differ from Medicare, and may prevent accurate estimation of individual payment amounts prior to billing.

The Company’s range of revenue estimating risk for the dialysis and related lab services segment is generally expected to be within 1% of its revenue.
Changes in revenue estimates for prior periods are not material.

Capitated revenue

HCP capitated revenue

The Company’s associated medical groups are licensed to contract with health maintenance organizations (HMOs), to provide physician services in
California under capitation contracts, and to provide both hospital and physician services under global risk capitation contracts in Florida, Nevada, New
Mcxico and Arizona. HCP’s revenues consist primarily of fees for medical scrvices provided by these medical group entities’ payments from capitated
contracts with various HMOs and revenues under risk-sharing programs. Capitation revenue under HMO contracts is prepaid monthly based on the number
of enroliees electing physicians affiliated with one of the medical group entities as their health care provider, regardless of the level of actual medical services
utilized. Capitation revenue is reported as revenue in the month in which enrollees are entitled to receive health care. A portion of the capitation revenue
pertaining to Medicare enrollees is subject to possible retroactive premium risk adjustments based on their individual acuity. Due to lack of sufficient data to
project the amount of such retroactive adjustments, the Company records any corresponding retroactive revenues in the year of receipt.

Depending on the applicable state regulation regarding global risk capitation, revenues may be received by the Company or by an independent hospital
with which the Company contracts under various managed care-related administrative services agreements. In the Florida, Nevada, New Mexico and Arizona
service markets, the global capitation revenue is recorded by the Company with the corresponding cost of medical care reported by the Company as patient
care costs. In California, the Company receives professional capitation and either the health plan retains the capitated revenues in a shared risk pool or the -
independent hospitals receive the institutional capitation revenues. The revenues are uscd to pay medical claims for the related cnrollees. The Company is
entitled to any residual amounts and bears the risk of any deficits. In all cases, an estimate is made for the cost of medical services that have been incurred

and where no medical claim has been received (IBNR).

Under risk-sharing programs, the medical groups share in the risk for hospitalization services and earn additional incentive revenues or incur penalties
based on the utilization of hospital services. Estimated shared-risk receivables from the HMOs are recorded based upon hospital utilization and associated
costs incurred by assigned HMO enrollees, including an estimate of IBNR compared to budgeted funding. Differences between actual contract settlements and
estimated receivables or payables are recorded in the year of final settlement. The medical groups also receive other incentive payments from health plans based
on specified performance and quality criteria. These amounts are accrued when eamed and the amounts can be reasonably estimated, and are included in
HCP’s revenues. HCP recently obtained a restricted Knox-Keene license in California, which now permits HCP to enter into contracts with health plans
allowing it to recognize revenue in 2014 under global capitation arrangements for both professional and institutional services.

Other capitated revenues

One of the Company’s subsidiaries operates a Medicare Advantage ESRD Special Needs Plan in partnership with a payor that works with CMS to
provide ESRD patients full service health care. The Company is at risk for all medical costs of the program in excess of the capitation payments.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Other revenues

Other revenues consist of the non-patient service revenues associated with the ancillary services and strategic initiatives, management and administrative
support services that are provided to outpatient dialysis centers that the Company does not own or in which the Company owns a minority equity interest,
rctail pharmacics and medical consulting scrvices. The Company also providcs administrative and management support services to a medical scrvices joint
venture in which the Company owns a 50% interest. Management fees are principally determined as a percentage of the managed operations” revenucs or cash
collections and in some cases an additional component based upon a percentage of operating income. Management fees are included in net revenues when
earned and represent less than [% of total consolidated operating revenues. Revenues related to medical consulting services are recognized in the period services

arc provided.

Allowance for uncollectible accounts

Net revenuc recognition and allowancces for uncollectible billings requirc the usc of cstimates of the amounts that will ultimately be realized considering,
among other items, retroactive adjustments that may be associated with regulatory reviews, audits, billing reviews and other matters. The Company’s policy is
to writc off any uncollectible accounts receivable balance only after all collection efforts have been exhausted or when write off is mandated by federal or state
policics or required by certain payor contracts. It is also the Company’s policy to writc off any accounts rcccivable balance associatcd with any payors or
patients when the Company receives notification of a bankruptcy filing.

- Other income
Other income includes interest income on cash investments and other non-operating gains from investment transactions.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at date of purchase.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market and consist principally of pharmaceuticals and dialysis-related supplies. Rebates
related to inventory purchascs are rccorded when carned and are based on certain qualification requircments which are dependent on a varicty of factors
including future pricing levels by thc manufacturcr and data submission.

Funds on deposit with a third party

The Company has established a risk sharing arrangement with a California hospital, wherein the Company shares in any surplus or deficit. One of the
terms of this agreement is the establishment of a segregated investment fund to ensure adequate cash to pay IBNR. The Company and the hospital monitor the
reserve balance to maintain the adequacy of funds on deposit. The Company has $79,317 in such funds as of December 31, 2013, in other current assets on

the consolidated balance sheet.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—({continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and is further reduced by any impairments. Maintenance and
repairs arc charged to expensc as incurred. Depreciation and amortization expenscs are computed using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the
assets estimated as follows: buildings, 20 to 40 years; leasehold improvements, the shorter of their economic useful life or the expected lease term; and
equipment and information systems, principally 3 to 8 years. Disposition gains and losses are included in current operating expenses.

Amortizable intangibles

Amortizable intangible assets and liabilities include customer relationships, trade names, provider networks, supply agreements, practice management
tools, non-compctition and similar agreements, leasc agrecements, hospital acute services contracts, supply agrcements and deferred debt financing costs, each
of which have finite useful lives. Amortization expense is computed using the straight-tine method over the useful lives of the assets estimated as follows:
customer relationships, ten to twenty years; trade names, provider networks and practice management tools, two to fifteen years; non-competition and similar
agreements, two to ten years; the alliance and product supply agreement, ten years; and lease agreements and hospital acute service contracts, over the term of
the leasc or contract period, respectively. Defcrred debt financing costs arc amortized to debt expense over the term of the related dcbt using the effective interest
method.

Investments

Based upon the Company’s intentions and strategy concerning investments in debt and equity securitics, the Company classifies certain debt securities
as held-to-maturity and measures them at amortized cost. The Company classifies equity securities that have readily determinable fair values and certain other
dcbt sccuritics as availablc for salc and mcasures them at fair value. Unrealized gains or losses from available for sale investments are recorded in other
comprehensive income until realized.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the fair value of businesses acquired and the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible net assets
acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but is assessed for valuation impairment as circumstances warrant and at least annually. An impairment charge would be
recorded to the extent the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. The Company operates several reporting units for goodwill impairment
assessments. See Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment, equity investments in non-consolidated businesses, amortizable intangible assets and indefinite-
lived intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment at least annually and whenever significant events or changes in circumstances indicate that an
impairment may have occurred, including changes in the Company’s business strategy and plans, changes in the quality or structure of its relationships with
its partners or deteriorating operating performance of individual outpatient dialysis centers or other operations. An impairment is indicated when the sum of the
expected future undiscounted net cash flows identifiable to an asset group is less than its carrying amount. Impairment losses are measured based upon the
difference between the actual or estimated fair values, which are based on market values, net realizable values or projections of discounted net cash flows, as
appropriate, and the carrying amount of the asset. Impairment charges are included in operating expenses.
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Self insurance

The Company maintains insurance reserves for professional and general liability and workers’ compensation in excess of certain individual and or
aggregate amounts not covered by third-party carriers. The Company estimates the self-insured retention portion of professional and general liability and
workers’ compensation risks using third-party actuarial calculations that are based upon historical claims experience and expectations for future claims. In
addition, HCP has purchased its primary professional and general liability insurance from California Medical Group Insurance (CMGI) in which the
Company owns an equity interest of 67%.

'

Medical liability costs

The medical groups arc responsiblc for integrated care that the associated physicians and contracted hospitals providc to assigned HMO cnrollees. The
Company provides integrated care to health plan enrollees through a network of contracted providers under sub-capitation and direct patient service
arrangements, company-operated clinics and staff physicians. Medical costs for professional and institutional services rendered by contracted providers are
recorded as patient care costs in the consolidated statements of income. Costs for operating medical clinics, including the salaries of medical and non-medical
personnel and support costs, are also recorded in patient care costs.

An estimate of amounts due to contracted physicians, hospitals, and other professional providers is included in medical payables in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Medical payables include claims reported as of the balance sheet date and estimates of IBNR. Such estimates are developed using
actuarial methods and are based on many variables, including the utilization of health care services, historical payment pattemns, cost trends, product mix,
seasonality, changes in membership, and othcr factors. The estimation methods and the resulting reserves are continually reviewed and updated. Many of the
medical contracts are complex in nature and may be subject to differing interpretations regarding amounts due for the provision of various services. Such
differing interpretations may not come to light until a substantial period of time has passed following the contract implementation. Any adjustments to reserves
are reflected in current operations. :

Income taxes

Federal and state income taxes are computed at currently enacted tax rates less tax credits using the asset and liability method. Deferred taxes are adjusted
both for items that do not have tax consequences and for the cumulative effect of any changes in tax rates from those previously used to determine deferred tax
asscts or liabilitics. Tax provisions include amounts that are currcntly payable, changes in dcferrcd tax asscts and liabilitics that arise because of temporary
differences between the timing of when items of income and expense are recognized for financial reporting and income tax purposes, changes in the recognition
of tax positions and any changes in the valuation allowance causcd by a change in judgment about the rcalizability of the rclated deferred tax asscts. A
valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts expected to be realized.

The Company uses a recognition threshold of more-likely-than-not and a measurement attribute on all tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return in order to be recognized in the financial statcments. Once the recognition threshold is met, the tax position is then measured to determine the actual
amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Stock-based compensation
The Company’s stock-based compensation awards are measured at their estimated fair values on the date of grant if settled in shares or at their estimated
fair values at the end of each reporting period if settled in cash. The value of stock-based awards so measured is recognized as compensation expense on a
cumulative straight-line basis over the vesting terms of the awards, adjusted for expected forfeitures. Stock-based compensation to be settled in shares is
recorded to the Company’s sharcholders’ equity, while stock-based compensation to be settled in cash is recorded to a liability.

Interest rate swap and cap agreements
The Company has several interest rate swap agreements as a means of hedging its exposure to and volatility from LIBOR variable-based interest rate
changes as part of its overall interest rate risk management strategy. These agreements are designated as cash flow hedges and are not held for trading or
speculative purposes. The swap agreements have the economic effect of converting the LIBOR variable component of the Company’s interest rate to fixed rates
on the Company’s Term Loan A and Term Loan A-3 outstanding balances. In addition, the Company has several interest rate cap agreements that have the
economic effect of capping the Company’s maximum exposure to LIBOR variable interest rate changes on specific portions of the Company’s Term Loan B
totaling $1,250,000 and $1,485,000 on the Company’s Term Loan B-2. See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

Noncontrolling interests
Noncontrolling interests represent third-party minority equity ownership interests in consolidated entities which are majority-owned by the Company, as
well as the equity ownership interests in entities that are not owned by the Company but which are consolidated for financial statement reporting purposes. As
of December 31, 2013, third parties held noncontrolling ownership interests in approximately 300 consolidated legal entities.

Fair value estimates
The Company currently measures the fair value of certain assets, liabilities (including contingent eam-out consideration) and noncontrolling interests
subject to put provisions (temporary equity) based upon certain valuation techniques that include observable or unobservable market inputs and assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing these assets, liabilities and temporary equity. The Company has also classified its asscts, liabilitics and
temporary equity into the appropriate fair value hierarchy levels as defined by the FASB. See Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements for further
details.

New accounting standards
In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU No. 2013-10, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of the
Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate (or Overnight Index Swap Rate) as a Benchmark Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes . This standard amends
the acceptable benchmark intcrest rates to permit the inclusion of the Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate (OIS) to be used as a U.S. benchmark interest rate for
hedge accounting purposes in addition to U.S. government (UST) and LIBOR. The amendment also removes the restriction on using different benchmark
rates for similar hedges. This standard is applied prospectively for qualifying new or redesignated hedging relationships entered into on or after July 17, 2013.
The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

On January 1, 2013, the Company adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2013-02 Comprehensive Income. This standard requires an entity to provide
information about the amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component. In addition, an entity is required to present, either
on the face of the statement where net income is presented or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by
the respective line items of net income but only if the amount reclassified is required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified to net income in its entirety in the
same reporting period. For other amounts that are not required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is required to cross
reference to other disclosures required under U.S. GAAP that provide additional detail about those amounts. See Note 20 to the consolidated financial

statements for further details.

On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted the FASB, ASU No. 2011-08, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other . This standard amends the two-step
goodwill impairment test required under the prior accounting guidance. This amendment allows reporting entities the option to first assess certain qualitative
factors to ascertain whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount to determine whether the two-step
impairment test is necessary. If an entity concludes that certain events or circumstances demonstrate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the entity is required to proceed to step one of the two-step goodwill impairment test. The adoption of this
standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2011-07, Health Care Entities-Presentation and Disclosure of Patient Service
Revenue, Provision for Bad Debts, and the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. This standard amends the prior presentation and disclosure requirements for
health care entities that recognize significant amounts of patient service revenues at the time the services are rendered without assessing the patient’s ability to
pay. This standard requires health care entities to reclassify the provision for bad debts from an operating expense to a deduction from patient service revenues.
In addition, this standard requires more disclosure on the policies for recognizing revenue, assessing bad debts, as well as quantitative and qualitative
information regarding changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts. This standard was applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented. Upon adoption
of this standard, the Company changed its presentation of its provision for uncollectible accounts related to patient service revenues as a deduction from its
patient service operating revenues and enhanced its disclosures as indicated above. See Notes 3 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements for further

details.

On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2011-05 as amended by ASU No. 2011-12, Comprehensive Income—Presentation of
Comprehensive Income. This standard amends the prior presentation requirements for comprehensive income by eliminating the presentation of the
components of other comprehensive income within the statement of equity. This standard allows two alternatives on how to present the various components of
comprehensive income. These alternatives are either to report the components of comprehensive income separately on the income statement or to present total
other comprehensive income and the components of other comprehensive income in a separate statement. This standard docs not change the itcms that must be
reported in other comprehensive income or when an item must be reclassified into net income. This standard was applied retrospectively. Upon adoption of
this standard, the Company prescnted total other comprehensive income and the components of other comprehensive income in a separate statement of
comprehensive income. See Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement. This standard amends the current fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements to improve comparability between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The intent of this standard is to update the disclosures

that describe several of the
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(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

rcquirements in U.S. GAAP for mcasuring fair value and to enhancc disclosures about fair value measurements in a manncr that will improve consistcricy
between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This standard does not change the application of the requirements on fair value measurements and disclosures. This standard
was applied prospectively, and did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

2. Earnings per share

Basic net income per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to the Company adjusted for any change in noncontrolling interest
redemption rights in excess of fair value, by the weighted average number of common shares and vested stock units outstanding, net of shares held in escrow
that under certain circumstances may be returned to the Company.

Diluted net income per share includes the dilutive effect of outstanding stock-settled stock appreciation rights (SSARs), stock options and unvested
stock units (under the treasury stock method) as well as shares held in escrow that the Company expects will remain outstanding.
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The reconciliations of the numerators and denominators used to calculate basic and diluted net income per share are as follows:

Basic:

Income from continuing operations attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

Change in noncontrolling interest redemption rights in excess of fair value

Income from continuing operations for basic earnings per share calculation

Discontinued operations attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

Net income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. for basic earnings per share calculation
Weighted average shares outstanding during the period

Vested stock units

Weighted avcrage contingently returnable shares held in escrow as a result of the acquisition of HealthCare

Partners
Weighted average shares for basic earnings per share calculation
Basic income from continuing operations pcr share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
Basic income from discontinued operations per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
Basic net income per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
Diluted:
Income from continuing operations attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
Changc in noncontrolling intcrest rcedcmption rights in exccss of fair valuc
Income from continuing operations for diluted earnings per share calculation
Discontinued operations attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
Net income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. for diluted carnings per share calculation
Weighted average shares outstanding during the period
Vested stock units
Assumed incremental shares from stock plans

Weighted average shares for diluted carnings per share calculation
Diluted income from continuing operations per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

Diluted income from discontinued operations per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

Diluted net income per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
Anti-dilutive stock-settled awards excluded from calculation
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Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(sharcs in thousands)

$620,197  $536,236  $496,182
— — 335
620,197 536,236 496,517
13,249 (219) (18,181)

$ 633,446 $ 536,017 $ 478,336
212,128 192,396 189,309
5 6 7

(2.199) (366) —
209,939 192,036 189,316
$ 295 £ 279 $§ 262
0.07 — (0.09)

$ 3.02 $ 279 $ 2.53
$620,197 $536,236 $496,182
— — 335
620,197 536,236 496,517
13,249 (219) (18,181)

$ 633,446 $ 536,017 $ 478,336
212,128 192,396 189,309
5 6 7

2,631 3,540 3,748
214,764 195,942 193,064

$ 289 $ 2.74 s 257
0.06 — (0.09)

$§ 2.95 $ 2.74 $ 248
4,194 2,616 4,775
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(1)  Shares associated with stock-settled stock appreciation rights and stock options excluded from the diluted denominator calculation because they are anti-
dilutive under the treasury stock method.

3.  Accounts receivable
Approximately 14% and 17% of thc Company’s accounts reccivable balanccs as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, werc more than six
months old, and there were no significant balances over one year old. Accounts receivable are principally from Medicare and Medicaid programs and

commercial insurance plans.

Accounts rcccivable arc reduccd by an allowance for doubtful accounts. In evaluating the ultimate collectability of its accounts receivable, thc Company
analyzes its historical cash collection experience and trends for each of its government payors and commercial payors to estimate the adequacy of the allowance
for doubtful accounts and the amount of the provision for uncollectible accounts. Management regularly updates its analysis based upon the most recent
information available to it to determine its current provision for uncollectible accounts and the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful accounts. For receivables
associated with dialysis patient services covered by government payors, like Medicare, the Company receives 80% of the payment directly from Medicare as
cstablished under the government’s bundled payment system and determines an appropriate allowancc for doubtful accounts and provision for uncollectible
accounts on the remaining balance due depending upon the Company’s estimate of the amounts ultimately collectible from other secondary coverage sources or
from the patients. For rcceivables associated with services to paticnts covercd by commecrcial payors that are cither based upon contractual tcrms or for non-
contracted health plan coverage, the Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts by recording a provision for uncollectible accounts based upon its
historical collection experience, potential inefficiencies in its billing processes and for which collectability is determined to be unlikely. Approximately 1% of
the Company’s net accounts receivable are associated with patient pay and it is the Company’s policy to reserve 100% of the dialysis outstanding accounts
receivable balances when those amounts due are outstanding for more than four months.

During the years ended December 31,2013 and 2012, the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts decreased by approximately $7,979 and
$5,221, respectively. The decrease in 2013 and 2012 were primarily due to an incrcase in the timing of non-covercd Mcdicare write-offs during the period in
the Company’s U.S. dialysis business. There were no unusual non-acquisition transactions impacting the allowance for doubtful accounts.

4,  Other receivables

Other receivables were comprised of the following:

December 31,
—2013 = __2012
Supplier rebates and non-trade receivables $217,100 $ 207,590
Medicare bad debt claims 110,825 41,211
21,165 16,870

Operating advances under management and administrative services agreements

$349,000 $265,671

Operating advances under management and administrative services agreements are generally unsecured.
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5.  Other current assets
Other current assets consist principally of prepaid expenses, funds on deposit with third parties and held for sale assets.

December 31

. —2013_ 2012

Prepaid expenses $ 93,877 $ 75,853

Funds on deposit with third parties 79,317 70,922

Held for sale assets — 51,547

Other 3,220 3,250

$176,414 $201,572

6.  Property and equipment
Property and equipment were comprised of the following:
December 31,

— 2013 —2012

Land $ 34,960 $ 35633

Buildings 157,998 148,881

Leasehold improvements 1,749,632 1,494,676

Equipment and information systems 1,832,221 1,577,976

New center and capital asset projects in progress 192,859 137,387

3,967,670 3,394,553
Less accumulated depreciation _(1,778,259) (1,522,183)

$ 2,189,411 $ 1,872,370

Depreciation expense on property and equipment was $373,107, $299,810 and $247,966 for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Interest on debt incurred during the development of new centers and other capital asset projects is capitalized as a component of the asset cost based on
the respective in-process capital asset balances. Interest capitalized was $6,408, $8,126 and $4,887 for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Intangibles

Intangible assets were comprised of the following:

R December 31,
2013 2012

Customer relationships $1,503,426 $1,486,160
Trade names 170,994 170,494
Provider network and practice management tools 184,558 184,264
Noncompetition and other agreements 495,475 460,011
Lease agreements 8,889 9,574
Deferred debt financing costs ) 121,872 121,176
Indefinite-lived assets 22,932 762

2,508,146 2,432,441
Less accumulated amortization (483,773) (304,323)
Total intangible assets $ 2,024,373 $2,128,118

Amortization expense from amortizable intangible assets, other than lease agreements and deferred debt financing costs, was $160,960, $47,489 and

$21,589 for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Deferred debt issuance costs were amortized to debt expense as described in Note 14 to these consolidated
financial statements. Lease agreement intangible assets and liabilities were amortized to rent expense in the amounts of $(1,447), $103 and $361 for 2013,

2012 and 2011, respectively.

Amortizable intangible liabilities were comprised of the following:

December 31,
2013 2012
Alliance and product supply agreement commitment (See Note 18) $ 68,200 $ 68,200
Less accumulated amortization (58,873) (53,543)
Net Alliance and product supply agreement 9,327 14,657
Lcasc agrcements (net of accumulated amortization of $2,628 and $606) 12,563 14,585

$ 21,890 $ 29,242

Amortization benefit recognized from the alliance and product supply agreement was $5,330 each for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Lease

agreement intangible liabilities are classified in other long-term liabilities and amortized to rent expense.

Scheduled amortization charges from amortizable intangible assets and liabilitics as of December 31, 2013 were as follows:

Provider Alllance and
network and Deferred product
practicc Noncompetition debt supply
Customer Trade managcment and other Lease financing agreement
_relationships names _ tools _agreements agreements, net —costs liability
2014 75,307 16,423 26,394 43,142 (2,156) 18,724 (5,330)
2015 75,358 16,418 26,403 38,439 (2,107) 17,097 (3,997)
2016 75,358 16,418 26,353 29,256 (1,506) 12,888 —
2017 75,328 16,407 26,161 26,068 (1,185 ~ 9,715 —
2018 75,312 16,353 26,075 18,902 (849) 6,885 —
Thereafter 1,037,146 70,209 23,130 47,639 (4,760) 12,133 —
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8.  Equity investments and other investments

Equity investments in non-consolidated businesses were $40,686 and $35,150 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. During 2013, 2012 and
2011, the Company recognized income of $34,558, $16,377 and $8,776, respectively, relating to equity investments in non-consolidated businesses under
the equity method of accounting. In 2013 and 2012, the Company’s equity method investment income included $22,758 and $4,980, respectively, of equity
income from HCP’s equity investments. During 2013, the Company purchased $5,000 of preferred stock in a privately held company that is accounted for
under the cost mcthod as this investment docs not have a readily determinable fair value.

9. Investments in debt and equity securities

Based on the Company’s intentions and strategy concerning investments in debt securities, the Company classifies certain debt securities as held-to-
maturity and records them at amortized cost. Equity securities that have readily detcrminable fair values including those of mutual funds and other debt
securities are classified as available for sale and recorded at fair value.

The Company’s investments in securities consist of the following:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Held to Available Held to Available

maturity for sale Total maturity for sale Total
Certificates of deposit and money market funds due within one year $5,601 §. — $ 5,601 $5938 § — $ 5,938
Investments in mutual funds — 19,421 19,421 — 15,185 15,185

$5,601 $19,421 $25,022  $5,938 $15,185  $21,123
Short-term investments $5,601 $ 1,200 $ 6,801 $5,938 § 1200 § 7,138
Long-term investments — 18,221 18,221 — 13,985 13,985

$5,601  $19,421  $25,022 $5,938 $15,185  § 21,123

The cost of certificates of deposit and moncy market funds at December 31, 2013 and 2012 approximate their fair value. As of Deccember 31, 2013 and
2012, available for sale investments included $5,096 and $2,146, respectively, of gross pre-tax unrealized gains. During 2013 and 2012 the Company
recorded gross pre-tax unrealized gains of $3,752 and $2,524, respectively, in other comprehensive income associated with changes in the fair value of these
investments. During 2013, the Company sold investments in mutual funds for net proceeds of $4,158, and recognized a pre-tax gain of $802, or $490 after
tax, that was previously recorded in other comprehensive income. During 2012, the Company sold investments in mutual funds for net proceeds of $7,211,
and recognized a pre-tax gain of $123, or $75 after tax, that was previously recorded in other comprehensive income.

Investments in mutual funds classified as available for sale are held within a trust to fund existing obligations associated with several of the Company’s
non-qualified deferred compensation plans.

Certain HCP entities are required to maintain minimum cash balances in order to comply with regulatory requirements in conjunction with medical
claim reserves. As of December 31, 2013, this minimum cash balance was approximately $51,000.
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10. Goodwill

Changes in the value of goodwill by reportable segments were as follows:

Year ended December 31,2013

Other ancillary
U.S. dialysis and services and

related lab scrvices HCP strategic initlatives Consolidated total
Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 5,309,152 $3,506,571 $ 137,027 $ 8,952,750
Acquisitions _ 163,037 17,833 90,397 271,267
Divestitures (2,728) — — (2,728)
Other adjustments 12 (8,242) (85) (8,315)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 5,469,473 $3,516,162 $ 227,339 $9,212,974

Year ended December 31,2012
Other ancillary
U.S. dialysis and services and

refated Jab services HCP strategic initiatives Consolidated total
Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 4,865,864 $ — 3 81,112 $4,946,976
Acquisitions 443,997 3,518,790 88,611 4,051,398
Divestitures (709) — — (709)
Held for sale ] — — (31,853) (31,853)
Other adjustments — — (843) (843)
Balance at December 31, 2012 as previously reported $ 5,309,152 $3,518,790 $ 137,027 $8,964,969
HCP purchase accounting adjustments — (12,219) — (12,219)
Balance at December 31, 2012 as adjusted $ 5,309,152 $3,506,571 $ 137,027 $ 8,952,750

Each of the Company’s operating segments described in Note 25 to these consolidated financial statements represents an individual reporting unit for
goodwill impairment testing purposes, except that each sovereign jurisdiction within our intemational operating segments is considered a separate reporting
unit.

Within the U.S. dialysis and related lab services operating segment, the Company considers each of its dialysis centers to constitute an individual
business for which discrete financial information is available. However, since these dialysis centers have similar operating and economic characteristics, and
the allocation of resources and significant investment decisions concerning these businesses are highly centralized and the benefits broadly distributed, the
Company has aggregated these centers and deemed them to constitute a single reporting unit.

The Company has applied a similar aggregation to the HCP operations in each region, to the vascular access service centers in its vascular access
services reporting unit, to the physician practices in its physician services reporting unit, and to the dialysis centers in each sovereign international
jurisdiction. For the Company’s additional operating segments, no component below the operating segment level is considered a discrete business and therefore
these operating segments directly constitute individual reporting units.

During 2013 and 2012, the Company did not record any goodwill impairment charges. As of December 31, 2013, none of the goodwill associated with
the Company’s various reporting units was considered at risk of
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impairment. Since the dates of the Company’s last annual goodwill impairment tests, there have been certain developments, events, changes in operating
performance and other changes in circumstances that have affected the Company’s businesses, however these did not cause management to believe it is more
likely than not that the fair value of any of its reporting units would be less than its carrying amount.

In 2011, the Company estimatcd that the carrying amount of goodwill related to HomeChoice exceeded its implicd fair value by $24,000, rcsulting in a
pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of that amount. This amount is included as a component of losses from operations of discontinued operations as a result of
the divestiture of HomeChoice on February 1, 2013. See Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

11. Other liabilities

Other liabilities were comprised of the following:

Deccmber 31,
2013 2012

Payor refunds and retractions $169,480 $163,520
Contingent earn-out consideration 6,577 142,244
Insurance and self-insurance accruals 84,882 78,073
Accrued interest 45,662 44,884
Other medical payables 31,219 39,698
Held for sale — 18,440
Accrued non-income tax liabilities 18,366 17,976
Interest rate swap agreements 12,069 —
Other 96,167 58,530

$ 464,422 $563,365

12. Medical payables

The health care costs shown in the following table include estimates for the cost of professional medical services provided by non-employed physicians
and other providers, as well as inpatient and other ancillary costs for all markets, other than California, where state regulation allows for the assumption of
global risk. Health care costs payable are included in medical payables.

F-25



Table of Contents

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(doMars in thousands, except per share data)

The following table shows the components of changes in the health care costs payable for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Year ended
December 31, 2013

Health care costs payable, beginning of the year $ 119,512

Acquisitions and other adjustments 26,575
Add: Components of incurred health care costs
1,329,887

Current year

Prior years (16,587)

Total incurred health care costs 1,313,300
Less: Claims paid
Current year 1,169,455
Prior years 117,622
Total claims paid 1,287,077
Hecalth care costs payable, end of the year $ 172,310

Our prior year cstimates of health care costs payable decreased by $16,587 resulting from certain medical claims being settled for amounts less than
originally estimated. When significant (decreases) increases in prior-year health care cost estimates occur that we believe significantly impact our current year
operating results, we disclose that amount as (favorable) unfavorable development of prior-year’s health care cost estimates. Actual claim payments for prior
year services have not been materially different from our year-end estimates.

13. Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes undcr the asset and liability method, which requires the rccognition of deferred tax asscts and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined on the basis of the differences between the financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in

which the differences are expected to reverse.
Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following:

Year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Current:
Federal $334,258 $239,232 $ 202,733
State 68,715 49,178 42,191
International 1,764 660 —
Total current income tax $ 404,737 $ 289,070 $ 244,924
Deferred:
Federal ) (6,695) 64,195 63,661
State (8,941) 6,498 7,140
International 746 — —
Total deferred income tax $ (14,890) $ 70,693 $ 70,801
$389,847 $359,763 $315,725
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The allocation of income tax expense (benefit) was as follows:

Year ended December 31.
2013 2012 2011
Continuing operations $ 381,013 $359,845 $325,292
Discontinued operations (84) (82) (8,873)
Gain (loss) on discontinued operations 8,918 — (694)
$389,847 $359,763 $315,725

The reconciliation between the Company’s effective tax rate from continuing operations and the U.S. federal income tax rate is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Statc incomc taxcs, nct of fedcral bencefit 3.8 4.0 4.1
International rate differential 0.1 — —
Changes in deferred tax valuation allowances 03 — 0.3)
Contingent cam-out adjustments 2.6) — —
Other 1.4 1.1 0.9
Impact of noncontrolling interests primarily attributable to non-tax paying entities 4.1) 4.2) (4.2)
Effective tax rate 33.9% 35.9% 35.5%

The Company has not recognized any deferred taxes for the undistributed eamings of its foreign subsidiaries because the Company currently expects
those earnings to be permanently reinvested. Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred taxes related to undistributed eamings of foreign
subsidiaries is not practicable because such liability, if any, is dependent on circumstances that will exist if and when remittance occurs.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences associated with continuing operations were as follows:

December 31
2013 2012
Receivables $ 63,001 $ 126,263
Accrued liabilities 258,562 231,500
Loss contingency reserve 139,844 —
Net operating loss carryforwards 96,212 103,458
Other 66,839 55,488
Deferred tax assets . 624,458 516,709
Valuation allowance (13,860) (12,585)
Net deferred tax assets 610,598 504,124
Intangible assets (798,106) (698,480)
Property and equipment (210,008) (186,374)
Other (5,462) (10,780)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,013,576) (895,634)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (402,978) $(391,510)
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At December 31, 2013, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $231,711 that expire through 2033, although a
substantial amount expire by 2028. The Company also had state net operating loss carryforwards of $263,461 that expire through 2033 and intemational net
operating loss carryforwards of $17,751, some of which have an indefinite life. The utilization of a portion of these losses may be limited in future years
based on the profitability of certain entities. The valuation allowance increase of $1,275 is primarily due to the realizability of losses in certain foreign

jurisdictions.

Unrecognized tax benefits
A reconciliation of thc beginning and ending liability for unrecognized tax benefits that do not meet the more-likely-than-not threshold wcre as follows:

Year ended December 31,

—2013 —012
Balance beginning $67,546 $ 8,943
Additions for tax positions related to current year 6,005 2,102
(Reductions) additions for tax positions related to prior years (3,901) 58,442
Reductions related to lapse of applicable statute (8,480) (1,941)
Reductions related to settlements with taxing authorities (632) —
Balance ending $ 60,538 $67,546

The additions for tax positions related to prior years represent acquired tax reserves.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s total liability for unrecognized tax benefits relating to tax positions that do not meet the more-likely-than-not
threshold is $60,538, of which $33,758 would impact the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized. This balance represents a decrease of $7,008 from the
December 31, 2012 balance of $67,546, primarily due to statute lapses and the filing of accounting method changes.

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its income tax expense. At December 31, 2013 and 2012,
the Company had approximately $10,742 and $12,073, respectively, accrued for interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, net of federal tax
bencfit.

As of December 31, 2013, it is reasonably possible that $26,779 of unrecognized tax benefits may be recognized within the next twelve months,
primarily rclated to the filing of tax accounting method changes.

The Company and its subsidiaries file U.S. federal and state income tax returns and various international income tax returns. The Company is no
longer subject to U.S. federal and state examinations by tax authorities for years before 2010 and 2006, respectively.

F-28



Table of Contents

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

14. Long-term debt

Long-term debt was comprised of the following:

December 31
2013 2012

Senior Secured Credit Facilities:

Term Loan A $ 800,000 $ 900,000

Term Loan A-3 1,282,500 1,350,000

Term Loan B ’ 1,697,500 1,715,000

Term Loan B-2 1,633,500 1,650,000
Senior notes 2,800,000 2,800,000

Acquisition obligations and other notes payable 67,352 69,527
Capital lease obligations 152,751 96,594
Total debt principal outstanding 8,433,603 8,581,121
Discount on long-term debt (17,675) (21,545)
8,415,928 8,559,576
Less current portion ‘ (274,697) (233,042)
$ 8,141,231 $ 8,326,534
Scheduled maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2013 were as follows:
2014 274,697
2015 845,831
2016 1,897,554
2017 910,263
2018 806,339
Thereafter 3,698,919

Term Loans

Total outstanding borrowings under Term Loan A, Term Loan A-3, Term Loan B and Term Loan B-2 can consist of various individual tranches that
can range in maturity from one month to twelve months (currently all tranches are one month in duration). Each tranche for the Term Loan A and for the Term
Loan A-3 bears interest at a London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) rate determined by the duration of such tranche plus an interest rate margin, currently
2.75% for the Term Loan A and 2.50% for the Term Loan A-3. The Term Loan A interest rate margin can range from 2.25% to 2.75% and the Term Loan A-3
interest rate margin can range from 2.00% to 2.50% depending upon the Company’s leverage ratio. The LIBOR variable component of the interest rate for each
tranche is reset as such tranche matures and a new tranche is established. At December 31, 2013, the overall weighted average interest rate for the Term Loan A
and the Term Loan A-3 was determined based upon the LIBOR interest rates in effect for all of the individual tranches plus the interest rate margin. The
Company has several interest rate swap agreements that have the economic effect of fixing all of the Term Loan A and Term Loan A-3 LIBOR variable
component of the Company’s interest rate, as described below. At December 31, 2013, the Term Loan B bears interest at LIBOR (floor of 1.50%) plus a
margin of 3.00% subject to a ratings based step-down to 2.75% and the Term Loan B-2 bears interest at LIBOR (floor of 1.00%) plus a margin of 3.00%. The
Company is subject to these LIBOR-based floors until such time as the LIBOR-based component of the interest rate exceeds 1.50% on the Term Loan B and
1.00% on the Term Loan B-2. At such time, the
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Company will then be subject to LIBOR-based interest rate volatility on the LIBOR variable component of its interest rate and the overall weighted average
interest rate for the Term Loan B and Term Loan B-2 will then be determined based upon the LIBOR interest rates in effect for all individual tranches plus the
interest rate margin. The Company has several interest rate cap agreements that have the economic effect of capping the LIBOR varjable component of the
Company’s interest rate at a maximum of 2.50% on $1,250,000 of outstanding principal debt on the Term Loan B and $1,485,000 of the Company’s Term
Loan B-2, as described below. The remaining $447,500 outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan B is subject to LIBOR-based interest rate volatility
above a floor of 1.50%. The remaining $148,500 outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan B-2 is subject to LIBOR-based interest rate volatility above a

floor of 1.00%

In 2013, the Company made principal payments totaling $100,000 on the Term Loan A, $67,500 on the Term Loan A-3, $17,500 on the Term Loan B
and $16,500 on the Term Loan B-2. In 2012, the Company made principal payments totaling $50,000 on the Term Loan A and $17,500 on the Term Loan
B. In addition, during 2012, the Company made principal payments totaling $1,500 on the Term Loan A-2 prior to paying off the total outstanding balance in
2012.

Revolving lines of credit
The Company has an undrawn revolving line under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities totaling $350,000, of which approximately $70,000 was
committed for outstanding letters of credit. In addition, the Company has approximately $1,000 of committed outstanding letters of credit related to HCP,
which is backed by a certificate of deposit.

Senior Notes
The Company’s senior notes as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, consisted of $775,000 of 6 3/ % senior notes due 2018, $775,000 of 6 5/5% scnior
notes due 2020 and $1,250,000 of 5 3/,% senior notes due 2022, as discussed below.

Interest rate swaps and caps

The Company has entered into several interest rate swap agreements as a means of hedging its exposure to and volatility from variable-based interest rate
changes as part of its overall interest rate risk management strategy. These agreements are not held for trading or speculative purposes and have the economic
effect of converting the LIBOR variable component of the Company’s interest rate to a fixed rate. These swap agreements are designated as cash flow hedges,
and as a result, hedge-effective gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair values of these swaps are reported in other comprehensive income until such
time as each specific swap tranche is realized, at which time the amounts are reclassified into net income. Net amounts paid or received for each specific swap
tranche that have settled have been reflected as adjustments to debt expense. In addition, the Company has entered into several interest rate cap agreements that
have the economic effect of capping the Company’s maximum exposure to LIBOR variable interest rate changes on specific portions of the Company’s Term
Loan B debt and Term Loan B-2 debt, as described below. Certain cap agreements are also designated as cash flow hedges and, as a result, changes in the fair
values of these cap agreements are reported in other comprehensive income. Certain other cap agreements are designated as ineffective cash flow hedges, and as
a result, changes in the fair value of these cap agreements are reported in net income. The amortization of the original cap premium is recognized as a
component of debt expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the cap agreements. The swap and cap agreements do not contain credit-risk contingent

features.
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As of December 31, 2013, the Company maintains several interest rate swap agreements that were entered into in March 2013 with amortizing notional
amounts of these swap agreements totaling $1,282,500. These agreements have the economic effect of modifying the LIBOR variable component of the
Company’s interest rate on an equivalent amount of the Company’s Term Loan A-3 to fixed rates ranging from 0.49% to 0.52%, resulting in an overall
weighted average effective interest rate of 3.01%, including the Term Loan A-3 margin of 2.50%. The swap agreements expire on September 30, 2016 and
require monthly interest payments. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized debt expense of $3,255 from these swaps. As of
December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these swap agrecments was a nct assct of approximately $4,386. The Company estimatces that approximately $3,415
of existing unrealized pre-tax losses in other comprehensive income at December 31, 2013 will be reclassified into income over the next twelve months.

In addition, as of December 31, 2013, the Company also maintains several forward interest rate swap agreements that were entered into in March 2013
with amortizing notional amounts totaling $600,000. These forward swap agreements will be effective September 30, 2014 and will have the economic effect of
modifying the LIBOR variable component of the Company’s interest rate on an equivalent amount of the Company’s outstanding debt to fixed rates ranging
from 0.72% to 0.75%. These swap agreements expire on September 30, 2016 and will require monthly interest payments beginning in October 2014. Any
unrealized gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of these swaps is recorded in other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2013, the
total fair value of these swap agreements was a net asset of approximately $1,537. The Company estimates that approximately $666 of existing unrealized
pre-tax losses in other comprehensive income at December 31, 2013 will be reclassified into income over the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company maintains several interest rate cap agreements that were entered into in March 2013 with notional amounts
totaling $1,250,000 on the Company’s Term Loan B debt and $1,485,000 on the Company’s Term Loan B-2 debt. These agreements have the economic effect
of capping the LIBOR variable component of the Company’s interest rate at a maximum of 2.50% on an equivalent amount of the Company’s Term Loan B
and Term Loan B-2 debt. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized debt expense of $1,829 from these caps. The cap agreements
expire on September 30, 2016. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these cap agreements was an asset of approximately $7,566. During the year
ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded a loss of $971 in other comprehensive income due to an increase in the unrealized fair value of these cap

agreements.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company also maintains a total of nine other interest rate swap agreements with amortizing notional amounts totaling
$800,000. These agreements had the economic effect of modifying the LIBOR variable component of the Company’s interest rate on an equivalent amount of
the Company’s Term Loan A to fixed rates ranging from 1.59% to 1.64%, resulting in an overall weighted average effective interest rate of 4,36%, including
thc Term Loan A margin of 2.75%. The swap agreecments expirc on Scptember 30, 2014 and require monthly intcrest payments. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, the Company recognized debt expense of $12,423 from these swaps. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these swap
agreements was a liability of approximately $7,988. The Company estimates that approximately $7,988 of existing unrealized pre-tax losses in other
comprehensive income at December 31, 2013 will be reclassified into income over the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company also maintains five other interest rate cap agreements with notional amounts totaling $1,250,000. These
agreements have the economic effect of capping thc LIBOR variable component of our interest rate at a maximum of 4.00% on an equivalent amount of our
Term Loan B debt. However, as a result of the new interest rate cap agreements that were entered into in March 2013, as described above, these interest rate cap

agreements became ineffective cash flow hedges and as a result any changes in the
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fair value associated with these interest rate cap agreements will be charged to income. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized debt
expense of $3,589 from these caps. The cap agreements expire on September 30, 2014. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of these cap agreements

was an asset of approximately $1.

The following table summarizes the Company’s derivative instruments as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Interest rate swap and cap agreements {liabilities and assets

December 31, 2013

December 31,2012

Balance sheet Balance sheet
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments location Fair value location Fair value
Interest rate swap agreements : Other short- Other long-

term liabilities $ 12,069 term liabilities $ 18,994

Interest rate swap agreements Other long- Other long-

term assets $ 10,004 term assets $ —
Intcrest rate cap agrecments Other long- Other long-

term assets $ 7,567 term assets $ 65

The following table summarizes the effects of the Company’s interest rate swap and cap agreements for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011:
Amount of gains (losses) Location of
recognized in OCI (losscs) gains Amount of gains (losscs)
on interest rate swap reclassified reclassified from accomulated

and cap agreements from

Ycars ended December 31

Dcrivatives designated as

OCl into income

Ycars cnded December 31,

OCl into

cash flow hedges 2013 2012 2011 fncome 2013 2012 2011

Interest rate swap agreements $1,251 $(8,838) $(35,767) Debtexpensc $15,678  $(12,989) § (12,622)
Interest rate cap agreements (974) (1,316) (11,777)  Debt expense 5,418 (3,589) (3,289)
Tax (expense) benefit (108) 3,950 18,495 (8,207) 6,448 6,190
Total $ 169 $(6204) $(29,049) $12,889 $ (10,130) § (9,721)

As of December 31, 2013, interest rates on the Company’s Term Loan B and Term Loan B-2 debt are effectively fixed because of an embedded LIBOR
floor which is higher than actual LIBOR as of such date and these term loans are also subject to interest rate caps if LIBOR should rise above 2.50%. See
above for further details. Interest rates on the Company’s senior notes are fixed by their terms. The LIBOR variable component of the Company’s interest rates
on the Company’s Term Loan A and the Term Loan A-3 are economically fixed as a result of interest rate swaps.

As a result of embedded LIBOR floors in some of the Company’s debt agreements and the swap and cap agreemeants, the Company’s overall weighted
average effective interest ratc on the Senior Secured Credit Facilities was 4.18%, based upon the current margins in cffect of 2.75% for the Term Loan A,
2.50% for the Term Loan A-3 and 3.00% for both the Term Loan B and for the Term Loan B-2, as of December 31, 2013.
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Senior Secured Credit Facility and 5 3/,% Senior Notes
In conjunction with the acquisition of HCP, on November 1, 2012, the Company borrowed an additional $3,000,000 under an amended Credit

Agreement. The amended Credit Agreement consists of a five year Term Loan A-3 facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,350,000 and a seven year
Term Loan B-2 facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,650,000. The Term Loan A-3 initially bears interest at LIBOR plus an interest rate margin of
2.50% subject to adjustment depending upon the Company’s leverage ratio and can range from 2.00% to 2.50%. The Term Loan A-3 requires annual principal
payments of $67,500 in 2013 and 2014, $135,000 in 2015, and $202,500 in 2016 with the balance due of $877,500 in 2017. The Term Loan B-2 bears
interest at LIBOR (floor at 1.00%) plus an interest rate margin of 3.00%. The Term Loan B-2 requires annual principal payments of $16,500 in 2013 through
2018 with the balance of $1,551,000 due in 2019. The borrowings under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by substantially all of the Company’s direct
and indirect wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all of the Company’s and its guarantors’ assets. In addition, The Company
also amended certain financial covenants and various other provisions to provide operating and financial flexibility. However, the amended Credit Agreement
still contains certain customary affirmative and negative covenants such as various restrictions on investments, acquisitions, the payment of dividends,
redemptions and acquisitions of capital stock, capital expenditures and other indebtedness, as well as limitations on the amount of tangible net assets in non-
guarantor subsidiaries. Many of these restrictions will not apply as long the Company’s leverage ratio is below 3.50:1.00. In addition, the Credit Agreement
requires compliance with financial covenants including an interest coverage ratio and a leverage ratio that determines the interest rate margins as described

above.

On August 28, 2012, the Company also issued $1,250,000 of 5 3/:% Senior Notes. The 5 3/4% Senior Notes pay interest on February [5 and
August 15 of each year, and the first interest payment date was on February 15, 2013. The 5 3/:% Senior Notes are unsecured senior obligations and rank
equally to other unsecured senior indebtedness. The 5 3/2% Senior Notes are guaranteed by certain domestic subsidiaries of the Company. The Company may
redeem some or all of the 5 3/4% Senior Notes at any time on or after August 15, 2017 at certain redemption prices and prior to such date at a make-whole
redemption price. The Company may also redeem up to 35% of the 5 3/:% Senior Notes at any time prior to August 15, 2015 at certain redemption prices with

the proceeds of one or more equity offerings.

The Company received total proceeds of $4,250,000 from these additional borrowings, $3,000,000 from the borrowings on the Term Loan A-3 and Term
Loan B-2, and an additional $1,250,000 from the 5 3/:% Senior Notes. The Company used a portion of the proceeds to finance the acquisition of HCP, pay-
off the Term Loan A-2 outstanding principal balance and to pay off a portion of HCP’s existing debt as well as to pay fees and expenses of approximately
$71,840. As a result of these transactions the Company incurred debt refinancing charges of $10,963, which consists of the write-off of deferred financing
costs associated with the payoff of the Term Loan A-2, the write-off of a portion of new fees and other debt costs.

On August 26, 2011, the Company entered into an Increase Joinder Agreement under its then existing Credit Agreement. Pursuant to the Increase Joinder
Agreement, thc Company incrcascd the revolving credit facility by $100,000, to a total of $350,000, and cntered into an additional $200,000 Tcrm Loan A-2.
The Term Loan A-2 was paid off on November 1, 2012 in conjunction with the acquisition of HCP as described above.

The Company’s overall weighted average effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2013 was 4.84% and as of December 31, 2013 was
4.86%.
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Debt expense

Debt expense consisted of interest expense of $405,010, $272,134 and $227,667, and the amortization and accretion of debt discounts and premiums,

amortization of deferred financing costs and the amortization of interest rate cap agreements of $24,933, $16,420 and $13,423 for 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The interest expense amounts are net of capitalized interest.

15. Leases

The majority of thc Company’s facilities arc Icased undcr non-cancclable operating leascs, ranging in terms from five to 15 ycars, which contain rencwal
options of five to ten years at the fair rental value at the time of renewal. The Company’s leases are generally subject to periodic consumer price index increases
or contain fixed escalation clauses. The Company also leases certain facilities and equipment under capital leases.

Futurc minimum leasc payments under non-cancelable operating leases and capital leases are as follows:

Operating Capital
leases leases
2014 $ 360,457 $ 15,051
2015 339,667 14,902
2016 314,322 15,060
2017 283,783 15,205
2018 242,532 15,610
Thereafter 818,343 145,670
$2,359,104 221,498
Less portion representing intcrest §68,747)
Total capital lease obligations, including current portion $152,751

Rent expense under all operating leases for 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $424,096, $345,066 and $295,099, respectively. Rent expense is recorded on a
straight-line basis, over the term of the lease, for leases that contain fixed escalation clauses or include abatement provisions. Leasehold improvement
incentives arc deferred and amortized to rent expense over the term of the Icase. The net book value of property and equipment under capital leascs was

$145,615 and $92,667 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Capital lease obligations are included in long-term debt. See Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

16. Employee benefit plans

The Company has a savings plan for substantially all of its non-HCP employees which has been established pursuant to the provisions of
Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). The plan allows for employees to contribute a percentage of their base annual salaries on a tax-deferred
basis not to exceed IRC limitations. The Company does not provide any matching contributions.

HCP also has various savings plans covering substantially all of its employees which have been established pursuant to the provisions of
Section 401 (k) of the IRC. These plans provide for multiple employer matching contributions ranging from 0% to 6% of employee contributions. For the year
ended December 31, 2013, the Company made matching contributions totaling approximately $4,900.
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The Company also maintains a voluntary compensation deferral plan, the DaVita Voluntary Deferral Plan. This plan is non-qualified and permits
certain employees whose annualized base salary equals or exceeds a minimum annual threshold amount as set by the Company to elect to defer all or a portion
of their annual bonus payment and up to 50% of their base salary into a deferral account maintained by the Company. Total contributions to this plan in
2013, 2012 and 2011 were $4,089, 83,935 and $2,416, respectively. Deferred amounts are generally paid out in cash at the participant’s election either in the
first or sccond ycar following retircment or in a specified future pcriod at lcast three to four ycars aftcr the deferral election was effective. During 2013, 2012
and 2011 the Company distributed $4,158, $1,324 and $955, respectively, to participants in this plan. Participants are credited with their proportional
amount of annual earings from the plan. The assets of this plan are held in a rabbi trust and as such are subject to the claims of the Company’s general
creditors in the event of its bankruptcy. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the total fair value of assets held in this plan’s trust were $17,419 and $13,985,
respectively. In addition, the Company maintains a non-qualified voluntary compensation deferral plan, the HealthCare Partners, LLC Deferred Compensation
Plan. As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value of the assets held in this plan’s trust is $572.

As part of the acquisition of DVA Renal Healthcare on October 5, 2005, the Company acquired an Executive Retirement Plan for certain members of
management. This plan is non-qualified and contributions to the plan were made at the discretion of DVA Renal Healthcare based upon a pre-determined
percentage of a participant’s base salary. Effective November 2005, all contributions to this plan were discontinued and the balance of the plan assets will be
paid out upon termination or rctirement of each individual participant. During 2013, the Company made no distributions to participants in this plan. During
2012 and 2011, the Company distributed $226 and $194, respectively, to participants in this plan. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the total fair value
of assets held in this pian’s trust was $1,430 and $1,200, respectively.

The Company also maintains a non-qualificd deferred compensation program for certain key employees of HCP. Under the program, thc cmployccs can
defer a portion of their salary which is invested at the direction of the employee into certain phantom investments as offered by the program. A portion of the
amount deferred by the employees is used to purchase life insurance policies on each of the participating employees, with the Company named as beneficiary
of the policies. The total cash surrender value of all of the life insurance policies totaled approximately $56,300 at December 31, 2013 and is included in long-
term investments. In addition, the total deferred compensation liabilities owed to the participants totaled approximately $62,000 at December 31, 2013 and are
included in other long-term liabilities. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company contributed a total of approximately $4,658 into the deferred

compensation program on behalf of its participants.

The fair value of all of the assets held in plan trusts as of December 31, 2013, and 2012 totaled $19,421 and $15,18S5, respectively. These assets are
available for sale and as such are recorded at fair market value with changes in the fair market values being recorded in other comprehensive income. Any fair
market value changes to the corresponding liability balance are recorded as compensation expense. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Most of the Company’s outstanding employee stock plan awards include a provision accelerating the vesting of the award in the event of a change of
control. The Company also maintains a change of control protection program for its employees who do not have a significant number of stock awards, which
has been in place since 2001, and which provides for cash bonuses to employees in the event of a change of control. Based on the market price of the
Company’s common stock and shares outstanding on December 31, 2013, these cash bonuses would total approximately $533,000 if a control transaction
occurred at that price and the Company’s Board of Directors did not modify the program. This amount has not been accrued at December 31, 2013, and
would only be accrued upon a change of control. These change of control provisions may affect the price an acquirer would be willing to pay for the Company.
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17. Contingencies

" The majority of the Company’s revenues are from government programs and may be subject to adjustment as a result of: (i) examination by government
agencies or contractors, for which the resolution of any matters raised may take extended periods of time to finalize; (ii) differing interpretations of government
regulations by different Medicare contractors or regulatory authorities; (iii) differing opinions regarding a patient’s medical diagnosis or the medical necessity
of services provided; and (iv) retroactive applications or interpretations of governmental requirements. In addition, the Company’s revenues from commercial
payors may be subject to adjustment as a result of potential claims for refunds, as a result of government actions or as a result of other claims by commercial

payors.

Inquiries by the Federal Government and Certain Related Civil Proceedings

Vainer Private Civil Suit: In December 2008, the Company received a subpoena for documents from the OIG relating to the pharmaceutical products
Zemplar, Hectorol, Venofer, Ferrlecit and EPO, as well as other related matters. The subpoena covered the period from January 2003 to December 2008. The
Company has been in contact with the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of Georgia and the U.S. Department of Justice in Washington, DC
since November 2008 relating to this matter, and has been advised that this was a civil inquiry. On June 17, 2009, the Company leamed that the allegations
underlying this inquiry were made as part of a civil complaint filed by individuals and brought pursuant to the qui tam provisions of the federal False Claims
Act. On April 1, 2011, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia ordered the case to be unsealed. At that time, the Department of Justice and
U.S. Attorncy’s Officc filed a notice of declination stating that the federal govemment would not be intervening and not pursuing the rclators’ allcgation in
litigation. On July 25, 2011, the relators, Daniel Barbir and Dr. Alon Vainer, filed their amended complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Northemn
District of Georgia, purportcdly on behalf of the federal government. The allegations in the complaint relate to the Company’s drug administration practices for
the Company’s dialysis operations for Vitamin D and iron agents for a period from 2003 through 2010. The complaint seeks monetary damages and civil
penalties as well as costs and expenses. The Company is vigorously defending this matter and intends to continue to do so. The Company can make no
assurances as to the time or resources that will be needed to devote to this litigation or its final outcome.

2010 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigation : In May 2010, the Company received a subpoena from the OIG’s office in Dallas, Texas. The
. civil subpoena covers the period from January 2005 to May 2010, and seeks production of a wide range of documents relating to the Company’s dialysis

operations, including documents related to, among other things, financial relationships with physicians and joint ventures, and whether those relationships
and joint ventures comply with the federal anti-kickback statute and the False Claims Act. The Company has been advised by the attorneys conducting this
civil investigation that they believe that some or all of the Company’s joint ventures do not comply with the anti-kickback statute and the False Claims Act.
The Company disagrees that its joint venturc structure generally, which the Company believes is widely uscd in the dialysis industry and other segments of
the healthcare industry substantially in the form that the Company uses it, violates the federal anti-kickback statute or the False Claims Act. As to individual
transactions, the Company made significant effort to ensure that its joint venture structures and process complied with the rules, but the Company is talking
with the government about addressing its concerns. The focus of this investigation overlaps substantially with the 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship
Investigation dcscribed below. The Company has agrced to a framcework for a global resolution with the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of
Colorado, the Civil Division of the United States Department of Justice and the Office of the Inspector General for both the 2010 and the 2011 U.S. Attorney
Physician Relationship Investigations. The final settlement remains subject to negotiation of specific terms. The settlement will include the payment of

approximately $389,000,
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entry into a corporate integrity agreement, the appointment of an independent compliance monitor, and the imposition of certain other business restrictions
related to a subset of the Company’s joint venture arrangements. Under the terms of the framework for resolution, the Company has agreed to unwind a
limited subsct of joint ventures that werc created through partial divestiture to ncphrologists, and agreed not to enter into this type of partial divestiture joint
venture with nephrologists in the future. In 2013, the Company accrued an estimated loss contingency reserve of $397,000 related to this matter. The final
scttlement remains subject to ncgotiation of specific terms and will continue to require managemecnt’s attention and significant Icgal cxpensc. The Company can
make no assurances as to the final outcome.

2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigation : In August 2011, thc Company announced it had learned that the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the
District of Colorado would be investigating certain activities of its dialysis business in connection with information being provided to a grand jury. This
investigation relates to the Company’s relationships with physicians, including its joint ventures, and whether those relationships and joint ventures comply
with the federal anti-kickback statute, and overlaps substantially with the 2010 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship Investigation described above. As noted
above, the Company has agreed to a framework for a global resolution with the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of Colorado, the Civil Division
of the United States Department of Justice and the Office of the Inspector General for both the 2010 and the 2011 U.S. Attorney Physician Relationship
Investigations. The final settlement remains subject to negotiation of specific terms and will continue to require management’s attention and significant legal
cxpensc. The Company can make no assurances as to the final outcome.

2011 U.S. Attorney Medicaid Investigation: In October 2011, the Company announced that it would be receiving a request for documents, which could
include an administrative subpoena from the Office of Inspector General for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Subsequent to the
Company’s announcement of this 2011 U.S. Attorney Medicaid Investigation, the Company received a request for documents in connection with the inquiry
by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of New York. The request relates to payments for infusion drugs covered by Medicaid composite
payments for dialysis. The Company believes this inquiry is civil in nature. The Company does not know the time period or scope. The Company
understands that certain other providers that operate dialysis clinics in New York may be receiving or have received a similar request for documents. The
Company is cooperating with the government and is producing the requested documents.

Swoben Private Civil Suit: In April 2013, the Company’s HealthCare Partners (HCP) subsidiary was served with a civil complaint filed by a former
employee of SCAN Health Plan (SCAN), a health maintenance organization (HMO). On July 13, 2009, pursuant to the gqui tam provisions of the federal
False Claims Act and the California False Claims Act, James M. Swoben, as relator, filed a gui tam action in the United States District Court for the Central
District of California purportedly on behalf of the United States of America and the State of California against SCAN, and certain other defendants whose
identities were under seal. The allegations in the complaint relate to alleged overpayments received from government healthcare programs. In or about August
2012, SCAN entered into a settlement agreement with the United States of America and the State of California. The United States and the State of California
partially intervened in the action for the purpose of settiement with and dismissal of the action against SCAN. In or about November 2011, the relator filed his
Third Amended Complaint under seal alleging violations of the federal False Claims Act and the California False Claims Act, which named additional
defendants, including HCP and certain health insurance companies (the defendant HMOs). The allegations in the complaint against HCP relate to patient
diagnosis coding to determine reimbursement in the Medicare Advantage program, referred to as Hierarchical Condition Coding (HCC) and Risk Adjustment
Factor (RAF) scorcs. The complaint sought monetary damages and civil penaltics as well as costs and expenses. The United Statcs Department of Justice

reviewed these allegations and in January 2013
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declined to intervene in the case. On June 26, 2013, HCP and the dcfendant HMO:s filed their respective motions to dismiss the Third Amcnded Complaint
pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and 9(b), challenging the legal sufficiency of the claims asserted in the complaint. On July 30, 2013, the
court granted HCP’s motion and dismissed with prejudice all of the claims in the Third Amended Complaint and judgment was entered in September 2013.
The court specifically determined that further amendments to the complaint would be futile because, in part, the allegations were publicly disclosed in reports
and other sources relating to audits conducted by the Centers of Medicare & Medicaid Services. In October 2013, the plaintiff appealed to the United States
Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit and the court’s disposition of the appcal is pending.

Except for the private civil complaints filed by the relators as described above, to the Company’s knowledge, no proceedings have been initiated against
the Company at this time in connection with any of the inquiries by the federal government. Although the Company cannot predict whether or when
proceedings might be initiated or when these matters may be resolved, it is not unusual for inquiries such as these to continue for a considerable period of time
through the various phases of document and witness requests and on-going discussions with regulators. Responding to the subpoenas or inquiries and
defending the Company in the relator proceedings will continue to require management’s attention and significant legal expense. Any negative findings in the
inquiries or relator proceedings could result in substantial financial penalties or awards against the Company, exclusion from future participation in the
Medicare and Medicaid programs and, to the extent criminal proceedings may be initiated against the Company, possible criminal penalties. At this time, the
Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these inquiries, or the potential outcome of the relators’ claims (except as described above), or the potential

range of damages, if any.

Haverhill Retirement System Shareholder Derivative Civil Suit : On May 17, 2013, Haverhill Retirement System (Haverhill), a shareholder of the

Company, filed a shareholder derivative lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Colorado against the directors of the Company and against the
Company, as nominal defendant. The complaint alleges, among other things, that the Company’s directors breached fiduciary duties to the Company relating
to the inquirics by the federal government described above, the Vainer qui tam private civil suit described above and the Woodard qui tam private civil suit for
which the Company previously announced a settlement in July 2012. On January 7, 2014, the court consolidated the Haverhill action and the Clark action
described below and appointed Haverhill lead plaintiff. The consolidated action is captioned In re DaVita HealthCare Partners, Inc. Derivative Litigation and

will be referred to as such going forward.

Clark Shareholder Derivative Civil Suit: As the Company previously disclosed, on August 7, 2012, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the
U.S. District Court for the District of Colorado against certain of the Company’s current and former directors and executives and against the Company, as
nominal defendant. The complaint alleged, among other things, that such officers and directors breached fiduciary duties to the Company relating to
substantially the same matters that are now the subject of the Haverhill shareholder derivative civil suit described above. As the Company also previously
disclosed, on October 19, 2012, the court ordered that the Clark case be administratively closed, subject to being reopened upon a showing of good cause by
any party. As described above, the court granted Haverhill’s motion consolidating the actions and appointed Haverhill lead plaintiff. The consolidated action is

captioned In re DaVita HealthCarc Partners, Inc. Derivative Litigation and will be referred to as such going forward.

Other
The Company has received several notices of claims from commercial payors and other third parties related to historical billing practices and claims
against DVA Renal Healthcare (formerly known as Gambro Healthcare), a subsidiary of the Company, related to historical Gambro Healthcare billing
practices and other matters covered
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by its 2004 settlement agreement with the Department of Justice and certain agencies of the U.S. govemment. The Company has received no further indication
that any of these claims are active, and some of them may be barred by applicable statutes of limitations. To the extent any of these claims might proceed, the
Company intends to defend against them vigorously; however, the Company may not be successful and these claims may lead to litigation and any such
litigation may be resolved unfavorably. At this time, the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these matters or the potential range of damages, if
any.

A wage and hour claim, which has been styled as a class action, is pending against the Company in the Superior Court of California. The Company
was served with the complaint in this lawsuit in April 2008, and it has been amended since that time. The complaint, as amended, alleges that the Company
failed to provide meal periods, failed to pay compensation in lieu of providing rest or meal periods, failed to pay overtime, and failed to comply with certain
othcr California Labor Code requirements. In September 2011, the court denied the plaintiffs’ motion for class certification. Plaintiffs appcaled that dccision.
In January 2013, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s decision on some claims, but remanded the case to the trial court for clarification of its
decision on one of the claims. The Company has reached an agreement with the plaintiffs to settle the claim that was remanded to the trial court, and the court
has preliminarily approved that settlement. The amount of the settlement is not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company
intends to continue to vigorously defend against the remaining claims. Any potential settlement of the remaining claims is not anticipated to be material to the

Company’s consolidated financial statements. :

In October 2007, the Company was contacted by the Attorney General’s Office for the State of Nevada. The Attomey General’s Office informed the-
Company that it was conducting a civil and criminal investigation of the Company’s operations in Nevada and that the investigation related to the billing of
pharmaceuticals by the Company’s dialysis business, including EPO. In February 2008, the Attomey General’s Office informed the Company that the civil
and criminal investigation had been discontinued. The Attomey General’s Office further advised the Company that Nevada Medicaid intended to conduct
audits of end stage renal disease (ESRD) dialysis providers in Nevada and that such audits would relate to the issues that were the subject of the investigation.
To the Company’s knowledge, no court proceedings have been initiated against the Company at this time. Any negative audit findings could result in a
substantial repayment by the Company. At this time, the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of this matter or the potential range of damages, if any.

In addition to the foregoing, the Company is subject to claims and suits, including from time to time, contractual disputes and professional and general
liability claims, as well as audits and investigations by various government entities, in the ordinary course of business. The Company believes that the
ultimate resolution of any such pending proceedings, whether the underlying claims are covered by insurance or not, will not have a material adverse effect on
its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

18. Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions and other commitments

Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions
The Company has potential obligations to purchasc the noncontrolling interests held by third parties in scveral of its joint ventures, non-owned and
minority-owned entities. These obligations are in the form of put provisions and are exercisable at the third-party owners’ discretion within specified periods as
outlined in each specific put provision. If these put provisions were exercised, the Company would be required to purchase the third-party owners’
noncontrolling interests at either the appraised fair market value or a predetermined multiple of eamings or cash flow attributable to the noncontrolling interests
put to the Company, which is intended to approximate fair value. The methodology the Company uses to estimate the fair values of noncontrolling
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intercsts subject to put provisions assumes the higher of either a liquidation value of net assets or an average multiple of earnings, based on historical earnings,
patient mix and other performance indicators that can affect future results, as well as other factors. The estimated fair values of the noncontrolling interests
subject to put provisions is a critical accounting estimate that involves significant judgments and assumptions and may not be indicative of the actual values
at which the noncontrolling interest may ultimately be settled, which could vary significantly from the Company’s current estimates. The estimated fair values
of noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions can fluctuate and the implicit multiple of eamings at which these noncontrolling interests obligations may
be scttled will vary significantly depending upon market conditions including potential purchascrs’ access to the capital markets, which can impact the level
of competition for dialysis and non-dialysis related businesses, the economic performance of these businesses and the restricted marketability of the third-
party owners’ noncontrolling intcrests. The amount of noncontrolling intcrests subjcct to put provisions that cmploy a contractually predctcrmined multiple of

earnings rather than fair value are immaterial.

Additionally, the Company has certain other potential commitments to provide operating capital to several dialysis centers that are wholly-owned by
third parties or centers in which the Company owns a minority equity investment as well as to physician-owned vascular access clinics or medical practices
that the Company operates under management and administrative service agreements of approximately $3,000.

Certain consolidated joint ventures are contractually scheduled to dissolve after terms ranging from ten to fifty years. Accordingly, the noncontrolling
interests in these joint ventures are considered mandatorily redeemable instruments, for which the classification and measurement requirements have been
indefinitely deferred. Future distributions upon dissolution of these entities would be valued below the related noncontrolling interest carrying balances in the

consolidated balance sheet.

Other commitments
In November 2011, the Company entered into a seven year Sourcing and Supply Agreement with Amgen USA Inc. (Amgen) that expires on
December 31, 2018. Under terms of the agreement, the Company will purchase EPO in amounts necessary to meet no less than 90% of its requirements for
ESAs. The actual amount of EPO that the Company will purchase from Amgen will depend upon the amount of EPO administered during dialysis as
prescribed by physicians and the overall number of patients that the Company serves.

In Deccmber 2012, the Company entered into an amendment to its agreement with Amgen that makes non-material changes to certain terms of the
agreement for the period from January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2013. Under the terms of the original agreement before the amendment, the Company
was required to purchase EPO in amounts necessary to meet no less than 90% of its requirements of ESAs and is still required to do so after 2013. In
addition, all of the other conditions as specified in the original agreement entered into in November 2011 still apply.

In January 2010, the Company entercd into an agrecement with Fresenius which committed the Company to purchasc a certain amount of dialysis
equipment, parts and supplies from Fresenius through 2013. However, this agreement has been extended through 2015, During 2013, 2012 and 2011, the
Company purchased $144,030 and $138,450 and $107,977, respectively, of certain equipment, parts and supplies from Fresenius.

In conjunction with its acquisition of DVA Renal Healthcare, Inc., formerly known as Gambro Healthcare, Inc. in October 2005, the Company entered
into an Alliance and Product Supply Agreement (the Product Supply Agreement) with Gambro AB and Gambro. Because the Product Supply Agreement
results in higher costs for .
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most of the products covered by the Product Supply Agreement than would otherwise be available to the Company, the Product Supply Agreement represented
an intangible liability initially valued at $162,100 as of the acquisition date.

The Product Supply Agreement committed the Company to purchase a significant majority of its hemodialysis products, supplies and equipment at
fixed prices through 2015. The agreement was amended in 2006 (the Amended Product Supply Agreement) to reduce the Company’s purchase obligations for
certain hemodialysis product supplies and equipment, and in 2007, the Company terminated its obligation to purchase certain dialysis machines under the
Amended Product Supply Agreement. However, the Company continues to be subject to the Product Supply Agreement’s requirements to purchase a majority
of its hemodialysis non-equipment product supplies, such as dialyzers, from Gambro at fixed prices.

During 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company purchased $124,555, $147,639 and $120,938 of hemodialysis product supplies from Gambro.

Other than operating leases disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the letters of credit disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, and the arrangements as described above, the Company has no off balance sheet financing arrangements as of December 31, 2013.

19. Stock-based compensation and shareholders’ equity
Stock split
In the third quarter of 2013, the Board of Directors approved a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s common stock in the form of a stock dividend

payable on September 6, 2013 to stockholders of record on August 23, 2013. The Company’s common stock began trading on a post-split basis on
September 9, 2013. All share and per share data for all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the effects of the stock split.

Stock-based compensation

The Company’s stock-based compensation awards are measured at their estimated fair values on the date of grant if settled in shares or at their estimated
fair valucs at the end of cach reporting period if scttled in cash. The value of stock-based awards so measured is recognized as compcnsation cxpense on a
cumulative straight-line basis over the vesting terms of the awards, adjusted for expected forfeitures.

Stock-based compensation to be settled in shares is recorded to the Company’s shareholders’ equity, while stock-based compensation to be settled in
cash is recorded to a liability. Shares issued upon exercise of stock awards are generally issued from shares held in treasury, if available, otherwise from

authorized but not yet issued.

Stock-based compensation plans
On June 17, 2013, the stockholders of the Company approved an amendment to the DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan to
increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the Plan by 17,000,000 shares.

On June 11, 2012, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s 2011 Incentive Award Plan (the 2011 Plan) to increase the
number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the plan by 9,000,000 shares and to increase the amount by which share reserves under the
plan are reduced by grants of full value share awards to 3.5 times from 3.0 times the number of shares subject to the award.
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On June 6, 2011 the Company’s stockholders approved the Company’s 2011 Incentive Award Plan, which constituted an'amendment and restatement
of the Company’s 2002 Equity Compensation Plan (the 2002 Plan, and jointly the Plan).

The Company’s 2011 Incentive Award Plan is the Company’s omnibus equity compensation plan and provides for grants of stock-based awards to
employees, directors and other individuals providing services to the Company, except that incentive stock options may only be awarded to employees. The
2011 Plan authorizes the Company to award stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, restricted stock, and other stock-based or
performance-based awards, and is designed to enable the Company to grant equity and cash awards that qualify as performance-based compensation under
Scction 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The 2011 Plan mandates a maximum award term of five years and stipulates that stock appreciation rights and
stock options be granted with prices not less than fair market value on the date of grant. The 2011 Plan also requires that full value share awards such as
restricted stock units reduce shares available under the Plan at a ratio of 3.0:1, which was changed to 3.5:1 by the June 11, 2012 amendment. The Company’s
nonqualified stock appreciation rights and stock units awarded under the Plan generally vest over 48 to 60 months from the date of grant. At December 31,
2013, there were 12,956,094 stock-settled stock appreciation rights, 80,000 cash-settled stock appreciation rights, 966,596 stock-settled stock units and
7,734 cash-settled stock units outstanding, and 36,087,383 shares available for future grants, under the Plan.

A combined summary of the status of the Company’s stock-settled awards under the 2011 Plan, including base shares for stock-settled stock
appreciation rights and stock-settled stock unit awards is as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2013

Stock apprecigtion rights Stock units
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
exercise remaining remaining
Awards price contractual life Awards contractual life
Outstanding at beginning of year 13,530,642 $ 3733 1,165,054
Granted 3,458,325 59.38 42,651
Exercised (3,178,297) 27.45 (172,260)
Cancelled (854,576) 40.30 (68,849)
Outstanding at end of period 12,956,094 $ 45.44 2.8 966,596 1.4
Exercisable at end of period 3,539,501 $31.98 1.4 5,302 0.5
Weighted-average fair value of grants in 2013 $ 13.47 $ 58.90
Weighted-average fair value of grants in 2012 $ 11.28 $ 54.85
Weightcd-average fair value of grants in 2011 $ 10.97 $ 42.64
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Awards ‘Weighted average Awards ‘Weighted average
Range of SSAR base prices outstanding cxercise price exercisable exercise price
$20.00-$30.00 1,080,160 2344 1,055,863 23.32
$30.01-$40.00 2,524,525 33.28 1,733,104 32.67
$40.01-$50.00 4,186,568 42.97 746,597 42.50
$50.01-$60.00 4,815,641 57.51 3,937 54.17
$60.01-$70.00 349,200 64.55 — —
Total 12,956,094 $ 4544 3539501 §  31.98

The Company also granted 40,000 cash-settled stock appreciation rights at a weighted average base price of $60.40. Liability-classified awards
contributed $338, $175 and $0 to stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. As of
December 31, 2013 the Company had 87,734 liability-classified share awards outstanding, 16,875 of which were vested, and a total stock-based liability

balance of $513.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, the aggregate intrinsic value of stock-based awards exercised was $120,775, $228,698 and
$98.235, respectively. At December 31, 2013, the aggregate intrinsic value of stock awards outstanding was $295,443 and the aggregate intrinsic value of
stock awards exercisable was $111,823.

Estimated fair value of stock-based compensation awards

The Company has estimated the grant-date fair value of stock-settled stock appreciation rights awards using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model
and stock-settled stock unit awards at intrinsic value on the date of grant. The following assumptions were used in estimating these values and determining the
related stock-based compensation attributable to the current period:

Expected term of the awards.: The expected term of awards granted represents the period of time that they are expected to remain outstanding from the

date of grant. The Company determines the expected term of its stock awards based on its historical experience with similar awards, considering the
Company’s historical exercise and post-vesting termination patterns, and the terms expected by peer companies in near industries.

Expected volatility: Expected volatility represents the volatility anticipated over the expected term of the award. The Company determines the expected
volatility for its awards based on the volatility of the price of its common stock over the most recent retrospective period commensurate with the expected term
of the award, considering the volatility cxpectations implied by the market price of its exchange-traded options and the volatilities expected by peer companics
in near industries.

Expected dividend yield: The Company has not paid dividends on its common stock and does not currently expect to pay dividends during the term of
stock awards granted.

Risk-free interest rate: The Company bases the expected risk-free interest rate on the implied yield currently available on stripped interest coupons of
U.S. Treasury issues with a remaining term equivalent to the expected term of the award.
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A summary of the weighted average valuation inputs described above used for estimating the grant-date fair value of stock-settled stock appreciation

rights awards granted in the periods indicated is as follows:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Expected term 4.1 years 3.7 years 4.2 years
Expected volatility 27.2% 28% 30%
Expected dividend yield : 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.7% 0.6% 1.6%

The Company estimates expected forfeitures based upon historical experience with separate groups of employees that have exhibited similar forfeiture
behavior in the past. Stock-based compensation expense is recorded only for awards that are expected to vest.

Employee stock purchase plan
The Employee Stock Purchase Plan entitles qualifying employees to purchase up to $25 of the Company’s common stock during each calendar year.

The amounts used to purchase stock are accumulated through payroll withholdings or through optional lump sum payments made in advance of the first day
of the purchase right period. This compensatory plan allows employees to purchase stock for the lesser of 100% of the fair market value on the first day of the
purchase right period or 85% of the fair market value on the last day of the purchase right period. Purchase right periods begin on January 1 and July 1, and
end on December 31. Payroll withholdings and lump-sum payments related to the plan, included in accrued compensation and benefits and used to purchase
the Company’s common stock for 2013, 2012 and 2011 participation periods, were $12,817, $8,322 and $5,889, respectively. Shares purchased pursuant
to the plan’s 2013, 2012 and 2011 participation periods were 237,961, 202,658 and 182,706, respectively. At December 31, 2013, there were 1,134,375
shares remaining available for future grants under this plan.

The fair value of employees’ purchase rights was estimated as of the beginning dates of the purchase right periods using the Black-Scholes-Merton
valuation model with the following weighted average assumptions for purchase right periods in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively: expected volatility of 28%,
26% and 22%; risk-free interest rate of 0.2%, 0.1% and 0.5%, and no dividends. Using these assumptions, the weighted average estimated fair value of these
purchase rights was $14.24, $10.05 and $8.60 for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expense and proceeds
For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company recognized $59,998, $45,384 and $48,718, respectively, in stock-based
compensation expense for stock appreciation rights, stock options, stock units and discounted employee stock plan purchases, which is primarily included
in general and administrative expenscs. The cstimated tax benefits recorded for this stock-based compensation in 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $22,187,
$16,874 and $18,424, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, there was $89,419 of total estimated unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested
stock-based compensation arrangements under the Company’s equity compensation and stock purchase plans. The Company expects to recognize this cost
over a weighted average remaining period of 1.3 years.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company received $46,898, $88,964 and $38,199, respectively, in actual tax benefits
upon the exercise of stock awards. As a result of the Company issuing SSARs, beginning in 2013, the Company no longer has stock options outstanding and
did not receive
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cash procecds from stock option excrcises during the ycar ecnded December 31, 2013. During the ycars ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company
received 82,175 and $5,443, respectively, in cash proceeds from legacy stock option exercises.

Stock repurchases
During 2013 and 2012, the Company did not repurchase any of its common stock. In 2011, the Company repurchased a total of 7,589,372 shares of
its common stock for $323,348, or an average price of $42.61 per share, pursuant to previously announced authorizations by the Board of Directors. As of
December 31, 2013, the total outstanding authorization for share repurchascs was approximately $358,200. The Company has not repurchased any additional
shares of its common stock from January 1, 2014 through February 21, 2014. This stock repurchase program has no expiration date.

Charter documents & Delaware law

The Company’s charter documents include provisions that may deter hostile takeovers, delay or prevent changes of control or changes in management,
or limit the ability of stockholders to approve transactions that they may othcrwise dctcrmine to be in their best interests. These include provisions prohibiting
stockholders from acting by written consent, requiring 90 days advance notice of stockholder proposals or nominations to the Board of Directors and granting
the Board of Dircectors the authority to issuc up to five million sharcs of preferred stock and to determine the rights and preferences of the preferred stock
without the need for further stockholder approval.

The Company is also subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law that, subject to exceptions, would prohibit the Company from
engaging in any business combinations with any interested stockholder, as defined in that section, for a period of three years following the date on which that
stockholder became an interested stockholder. These restrictions may discourage, delay or prevent a change in the control of the Company.

Changes in DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.’s ownership interest in consolidated subsidiaries

The effects of changes in DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.’s ownership interest on the Company’s equity are as follows:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Net income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. $ 633,446 $536,017 $ 478,001
(Decrease) increase in paid-in capital for sales of noncontrolling interest (1,442) 1,064 (1,299)
Decrease in paid-in capital for the purchase of a noncontrolling interest (3,119) (20,694) (9,486)
Net transfer to noncontrolling interests (4,561) (19,630) (10,785)
Change from net income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and transfers to noncontrolling
interests $628,885 $516,387 $467,216

During 2013, the company acquired additional ownership interests in several existing majority-owned joint ventures for $3,569 in cash and deferred
purchase price of $209. In addition in 2012 and 2011, the Company also acquired additional ownership interests in several existing majority-owned joint
ventures for $26,761 and $13,689, respectively.
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20. Other comprehensive income (loss)

Charges and credits to other comprehensive income (loss) have been as follows:

Beginning balance

Unrealized losses
Related income tax benefit

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) into net income
Related tax

Ending balance

Beginning balance
Unrealized (losses) gains
Related income tax benefit (expense)

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) into net income
Related tax

Ending balance
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For the year ended

Interest rate

swap and cap Investment
agreements securities
— $ 503
(47,544) (986)
18,495 384

(29,049) (602)

15,911 (93)

(6,190) 36
9,721 (57)

$(19,328)

$_(156)

For the year ended
December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)
$ 503
(48,530)
18,879
(29,651)
15,818
(6,154)
9,664
$ (9.489)

Foreign Accumulated
Interest ratc curreney other
swap and cap Investment tr ti compr
agreements securities adjustments income (loss)
$(19,328) $ (156) $ — $ (19,484)
(10,154) 2,524 (1,205) (8,835)
3,950 ©83) — . 2,967
(6,204) 1,541 (1,205) (5,868)
16,578 (123) — 16,455
(6,448) 48 — (6,400)
10,130 (75) — 10,055
$(15,402) $ 1,310 $ (1,205) $(15,297)
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For the year ended

December 31, 2013

Foreign Accumulated
Interest rate currency other
swap and cap Investment translation comprehensive
agreements securities adjustments income loss)
Beginning balance $(15,402) $ 1,310 $ (1,205) $(15,297)
Unrealized gains (losses) 277 3,752 (2,216) 1,813
Rclated income tax benefit (cxpensc) (108) (1,452) — (1,560)
169 2,300 (2,216) 253
Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) into net income 21,096 (802) — 20,294
Related tax (8,207) 312 — (7,895)
12,889 (490) — 12,399
Ending balance $ (2344) $ 3,120 $ (3,421) $ (2,645)

The reclassification of nct swap and cap realized losses into income are recorded as debt cxpense in the corresponding consolidated statements of income.
See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statcments for further details.

The reclassification of net investment realized gains into income are recorded in other income in the corresponding consolidated statements of income. See
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

21. Acquisitions and discontinued operations

Routine acquisitions

During 2013, the Company acquired dialysis-related and other ancillary businesses consisting of 26 dialysis centers in the U.S., 38 dialysis centers

outside of the U.S. and other medical businesses for a total of $310,394 in net cash and deferred purchase price of $24,683. During 2012, the Company
acquired dialysis-related and other ancillary businesses consisting of 93 dialysis centers in the U.S., 13 dialysis centers outside of the U.S. and other medical
businesses for a total of $648,318 in net cash and deferred purchase price of $6,101. During 2011, the Company acquired other dialysis businesses
consisting of 57 centers in the U.S., eight dialysis centers outside of the U.S., and one vascular access center for a total of $354,430 in cash and deferred
purchase price obligations of $12,469.

The assets and Hiabilitics for all acquisitions were recorded at their estimated fair valucs at the dates of the acquisitions and are included in the
Company’s financial statements and operating results from the effective dates of the acquisitions. For several of the 2013 acquisitions, certain income tax
amounts are pending final evaluation and quantification of any pre-acquisition tax contingencies. In addition, valuation of medical claims reserves and certain
other working capital items are pending final quantification.

Acquisition of DSI Renal Inc.

In 2011, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of CDSI I Holding Company, Inc., the parent company of dialysis provider DSI
Renal Inc. (DSI), pursuant to an agreement and plan of merger for
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approximately $723,012 in net cash, plus the assumption of certain liabilities totaling approximately $6,541. DSI had 113 outpatient dialysis centers that
provide services to approximately 8,000 patients in 23 states. The Company also incurred approximately $21,700 in transaction and integration costs during
2011 associated with this acquisition that are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

The operating results of DST are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements effective from September 1, 2011.

The following table summarizes the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the above described transactions and recognized at their acquisition dates
at estimated fair values, as well as the estimated fair value of the noncontrolling interests assumed in these transactions:

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Current assets $ 7,215 $ 18,708 $ 171,619
Property and equipment 23,760 41,741 90,107
Amortizable intangible and other long-term assets 80,646 90,296 28,557
Goodwill 271,267 554,685 889,506
Long-term deferred income taxes (5,666) (1,838) 79,420
Noncontrolling interests assumed (22,880) (21,962) (93,921)
Liabilities assumed (19,265) (27,211) (68,836)

Aggregate purchase cost $ 335,077 $654,419 $1,096,452

Amortizable intangible assets acquired during 2013, 2012 and 2011 had weighted-average estimated useful lives of fourteen, fifteen and nine years,
respectively. The total amount of goodwill deductible for tax purposes associated with these acquisitions for 2013, 2012, and 2011 was approximately

$221,454, $491,457 and $560,000, respectively.

2012 acquisition of HCP
On November 1, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of HCP pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 20, 2012, whereby
HCP became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. HCP is one of the country’s largest operators of medical groups and physician networks generating
approximately $3,200,000 in annual revenues and approximately $385,000 in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2013. The operating results of
HCP are included in the Company’s consolidated financial results from November 1, 2012.

The total consideration paid at closing for all of the outstanding common units of HCP was approximatcly $4,701,231, which consistcd of
$3,645,759 in cash, net of cash acquired, and 18,760,624 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at approximately $1,055,472. During 2013, the
Company paid an additional $5,251 in cash for post-closing working capital adjustments. In addition, the acquisition agreement provides that as further
consideration, the Company could have paid the common unit holders of HCP a total of up to an additional $275,000 in cash if certain performance targets
were achicved by HCP in 2012 and 2013. See contingent carn-out obligation as discussed below for further details.
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The following tablc summarizcs the initial asscts acquired and liabilitics assumed in this transaction and recognized at the acquisition datc at their

estimated fair values at that date:

Current assets, net of cash acquired ) $ 321,235
Property and equipment _ 102,382
Intangible assets 1,882,818
Other long-tcrm asscts 100,143
Goodwill : 3,496,713
Current liabilities assumed ' (559,180)
Other long-term liabilities (169,015)
Long-term deferred income taxcs : (184,015)
Noncontrolling interests (29,850)
84,961,231

The initial allocations of purchase pricc were rccorded at the cstimated fair values of assets acquircd and liabilities assumed based upon the best
information available to management. The fair values of property and equipment, intangible assets, and contingent earn-out obligations were estimated by the
Company with the assistance of an independent third party. During 2013, the Company completed the final valuations of medical claims reserves, certain
noncontrolling interests and certain income tax amounts, including pre-acquisition tax contingencies that were previously unresolved. See below for further

details regarding these final adjustments.

The amortizable intangible assets acquired in this transaction included $1,453,410 for customer relationships, $170,494 for trade names, $74,650 for
non-compete agreements and $184,686 for provider network and practice management tools. See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. These
amortizable intangible assets and liabilities are scheduled to be amortized on a straight-line method over a weighted-average amortization period of 17.2 years.
The weighted-average amortization period for customer relationships is 20 years, trade names is 10.6 years, non-compete agreements is 5.7 years, and
provider network and practice management tools is 7 years.

Of the goodwill recognized in this transaction, approximately $2,426,986 is expected to be deductible for tax purposes over the next 15 years,
assumning all related earn-out and other escrow release conditions are satisfied.

The following is a summary of HCP’s purchase accounting adjustments recorded in 2013 applied retrospectively to the December 31, 2012 balance
sheet and primarily relate to adjustments to medical claims reserves, noncontrolling interests and income taxes:
Adjustments to the

December 31, 2012
halance sheet

Accounts receivable $ 3,000
Medical payables $ 7,000
Other liabilities $ (5,251)
Noncontrolling interest 3 11,123
Goodwill $  (12,219)
Deferred income taxes $ (544)
Income tax payable $ (3,109)
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Contingent earn-out obligations
As a rcsult of HCP achiceving ccertain financial performance targets in 2012, the Company madc carn-out payments of $136,954 on April 1, 2013 to the
common unit holders of HCP. During 2013, the Company also reached an agreement with the representative of the former owners and option holders of
HealthCare Partncrs Holdings, LLC to settle ccrtain post-closing adjustments, including the 2013 contingent carn-out obligation for $68,750, which rcsultcd
in the Company recording a contingent earn-out gain of $56,977 in operating income.

The Company also has several other contingent earn-out obligations associated with other acquisitions that could result in the Company paying the
former shareholders of those acquired companies a total of up to $118,600 or a certain portion of that amount if certain EBITDA performance targets and
quality margins are met over the next three years, if certain percentages of operating income are met over the next five years or if certain percentages of other
annual EBITDA targets are met. As of December 31, 2013, the Company has estimated the fair value of these contingent earn-out obligations to be $28,058.

Contingent earn-out obligations will be remeasured to fair value at each reporting date until the contingencies are resolved with changes in the liability due
to the re-measurement recorded in earnings. See Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements for further details. Of the total contingent earn-out obligations
of $28,058 recognized at December 31, 2013, a total of $6,736 is included in other accrued liabilities and the remaining $21,322 is included in other long-
term liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

The following is a reconciliation of changes in the contingent earn-out obligations for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Beginning balance, January 1, 2013 $292,042
Contingent earn-out obligations associated with acquisitions 12,152
Rcmeasurement of fair value for HCP (56,977)
Remeasurement of fair value for other contingent earn-outs (15,742)
Payments of the contingent earn-outs to HCP (205,704)
Other payments of contingent earn-outs (380)
Other tax-related adjustments 2,667

5 28,058

Discontinued operations
Divestiture of HomeChoice Partners, Inc.

On February 1, 2013, the Company completed the sale of HomeChoice Partners Inc. (HomeChoice) to BioScrip, Inc. pursuant to a stock purchase
agreement (the Agreement) dated December 12, 2012 for $70,000 in cash, subject to various post-closing adjustments, of which the Company receives
approximately 90% of the proceeds. The stock purchase agreement also provides that as additional consideration the Company can earn up to a total of 90% of
$20,000 if certain performance amounts exceed certain thresholds over the next two years. The Company has not yet assigned any value to this contingent
receivable and will only recognize the estimated realizable value of this receivable when it becomes probable and reasonably estimable. The Company recorded

a gain of approximately $13,375, net of tax; during 2013, related to this divestiture.
HomeChoice is a regional provider of home infusion services that provides specialized pharmaey nursing and nutritional services to paticnts in their
homes.
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The operating results of HomeChoice have been reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

The results from discontinued operations related to HomeChoice were as follows:

-
Year cnded December 31

2013 2012 2011
Net revenues $6,351 §67,990 $ 60,174
Loss before income taxes (223) (304) (23,931)
Income tax benefit (84) (82) (9,548)
Loss from discontinued opcrations £ (139) $ (222) $ (14,383)

Nect assets of discontinucd opcrations rclated to HomeChoice as of February 1, 2013, were as follows:

Current assets $ 17,039
Property and equipment, net 2,963
Long-tcrm assets 28
Goodwill 31,853
Liabilities and noncontrolling interests (8,998)
Net assets from discontinued operations $ 42,885

Divestitures in connection with the DSI acquisition

Pursuant to a consent order issued by the Federal Trade Commission on September 2, 2011, the Company agreed to divest a total of 30 outpatient
dialysis centers and several home-based dialysis programs in order to complete the acquisition of DSI. In conjunction with the consent order, on September 30,
2011, the Company completed the sale of 28 outpatient dialysis centers to Dialysis Newco, Inc. (Dialysis Newco), a portfolio company of Frazier Healthcare
VI, L.P. and New Enterprise Associates 13, Limited Partnership pursuant to an asset purchase agreement dated August 26, 2011. Effective October 31, 2011,
the Company also completed the sale of two additional outpatient dialysis centers to Dialysis Newco that were previously pending state regulatory approval.
The Company received a total net cash consideration of approximately $84,000 for all of the outpatient dialysis centers that were divested. As part of this
transaction, Dialysis Newco assumed specific liabilities related to the centers it acquired. All other liabilities were retained by the Company. The Company
recorded a loss of approximately $4,756, net of tax, during the year ended December 31, 2011 related to the divestiture of its historical DaVita centers.

The operating results of the historical DaVita divested centers are reflected as discontinued operations in 2011. In addition, the operating results of the
DSI divested centers are reflected as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements beginning September 1, 2011.
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The results from discontinued operations related to the DSI acquisition were as follows:

Year ended Deccmber 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net revenues $— §— $16,648
Income before income taxcs — — 1,896
Income tax expense — — 675
Income from discontinued operations $— $— $ 1,221

Nect assets of discontinued operations related to the DST acquisition as of September 30, 2011, were as follows:

Current assets $71,384
Property and equipment, net 5,183
Goodwill 7,999
Liabilities and noncontrolling interests (836)
Net assets from discontinued operations $ 83,730

Pro forma financial information (unaudited)
The following summary, prepared on a pro forma basis, combines the results of opcrations as if all acquisitions and divestiturcs in 2013 and 2012 had
been consummated as of the beginning of 2012, after including the impact of certain adjustments such as amortization of intangibles, interest expense on
acquisition financing and income tax effects.

Year ended December 31
2013 2012
(unaudited)

$11,890,346  $10,875,475

Pro forma nct revenucs

Pro forma net income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. 1,009,166 787,403
Pro forma income from continuing operations attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. 1,009,305 787,625
Pro forma basic net income per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. 4.81 4.10

4.70 4.02

Pro forma diluted net income per share attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

22. Variable interest entities
The Company relies on the operating activities of certain entities that it does not directly own or control, but over which it has indirect influence and of
which it is considered the primary beneficiary. These entities arc subject to the consolidation guidance applicable to variable interest entities (VIEs).

Under U.S. GAAP, VIEs typically include (i) those for which the entity’s equity-is not sufficient to finance its activities without additional subordinated
financial support; (ii) those for which the equity holders as a group lack the power to direct the activities that most significantly influence the entity’s economic
performance, the obligation to absorb the entity’s expected losses, or the right to receive the entity’s expected returns; or (iii) those for which the voting rights of
some investors are not proportional to their obligations to absorb the entity’s losses.
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Under U.S. GAAP, the Company has determined that substantially all of the entities it is associated with that qualify as VIEs must be included in its
consolidated financial statements. The Company manages these entities and provides operating and capital funding as necessary for the entities to accomplish
their operational and strategic objectives. A number of these entities are subject to nominee share ownership or share transfer restriction agreements that
effectively transfer the majority of the economic risks and rewards of their ownership to the Company. In other cases the Company’s management agreements
with these entities include both financial terms and protective and participating rights to the entities’ operating, strategic and non-clinical governance decisions
which transfer substantial powers over and economic responsibility for the entities to the Company. In some cases such entities are subject to broad exclusivity
or noncompetition restrictions that benefit the Company. Further, in some cases the Company has contractual arrangements with its related party nominee
owners that effectively indemnify these parties from the economic losses from, or entitle the Company to the economic benefits of, these entities.

The analyses upon which these consolidation determinations rest are complex, involve uncertainties, and require significant judgment on various
matters, some of which could be subject to different interpretations. At December 31, 2013, these consolidated financial statements include total assets of VIEs
of $502,655 and total liabilities and noncontrolling interests of VIEs to third parties of $323,800.

The Company also sponsors certain deferred compensation plans whose trusts qualify as VIEs and the Company consolidates each of these plans as
their primary beneficiary. The assets of these plans are recorded in short-term or long-term investments with matching offsetting liabilities recorded in accrued
compensation and benefits and other long-term liabilities. See Note 9 for disclosures on the assets of these consolidated non-qualified deferred compensation

plans.

23. Concentrations

Approximately 66% of total U.S. dialysis and related lab services net revenues in 2013, 2012 and 2011 are from government-based programs,
principally Medicare and Medicaid. Related accounts receivable and other receivables from Medicare, including Medicare-assigned plans, and Medicaid,
including Medicaid-assigned plans, were approximately $679,006 and $629,178, respectively as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Approximately 69% of HCP’s revenues in 2013 are from government-based programs, principally Medicare and Medicaid. Approximately 67% of
HCP’s capitated and patient services revenues (medical revenues) are associated with three health plans and in addition, approximately 69% of HCP’s
accounts receivables are associated with three health plans.

No singlé payor accounted for more than 10% of total consolidated accounts receivable at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

EPQ is a significant physician-prescribed pharmaceutical that is administered during dialysis and is provided by a sole supplier, Amgen. The amount
of EPO that is separately billable accounted for approximately 3% of U.S. dialysis and related lab services net revenues in 2013 and 2012. As long as certain
conditions are met by the Company, the agreement with Amgen limits their ability to unilaterally decide to increase the price it charges the Company for EPO.
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24. Fair values of financial instruments

The Company measures the fair value of certain assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions (temporary equity) based upon
certain valuation techniques that include observable or unobservable inputs and assumptions that market participants would use in pricing these assets,
liabilities, temporary equity and commitments. The Company has also classified certain assets, liabilities and temporary equity that are measured at fair value

into the appropriate fair value hierarchy levels as defined by FASB.

The following tables summarize the Company’s assets, liabilities and temporary equity measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31,

2013 and 2012:

Assets
Auvailable for sale securities

Intcrest rate cap agrccments
Interest rate swap agreements
Funds on deposit with third parties
Liabilities
Interest rate swap agreements
Contingent earn-out obligations
Temporary equity
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions

Assets
Available for sale securities

Interest rate cap agreements
Funds on deposit with third parties
Liabilities
Interest rate swap agreements
Contingent earn-out obligations
Temporary equity
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions

F-5

December 31, 2013

Quoted prices in Significant
active markets for Significant other unobscrvable
identical assets abservahle inputs inputs
Tatal {Level 1) {Level 2) (Level 3)
$ 19,421 $ 19,421 $ — 3 —
$ 7,567 3 — $ 7,567 A
$ 10,004 3 — 3 10,004 3 —
$ 79,317 $ 79317 $ — $ —
$ 12,069 3 — $ 12,069 5§ —
$ 28,058 $ — $ — $ 28,058
$697,300 3 — 3 — $697,300
Dccember 31, 2012
Quoted prices in, Signlficant
active markets for Signiftcant other unobservable
identical assets observable inputs Inputs
Total Level 1} (Level 2) (Level 3)
$ 15,185 3 15,185 $ — 3 —
$ 65 $ — $ 65 $ —
$ 70,922 $ 16,090 $ 54,832 3 —
$ 18,994 $ — $ 18,994 $ —
$ 292,042 $ — $ — $ 292,042
$580,692 3 — $ — $580,692
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The available for sale sccuritics represent investments in various opcn-cndcd registercd investment companies, or mutual funds, and are rccorded at fair
value based upon quoted prices reported by each mutual fund. See Note 9 to these consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

The interest rate swap and cap agreemerits are recorded at fair value based upon valuation models utilizing the income approach and commonly accepted
valuation techniques that use inputs from closing prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets as well as other relevant observable market inputs
at quoted intervals such as current interest rates, forward yield curves, implied volatility and credit default swap pricing. The Company does not believe the
ultimate amount that could be realized upon settlement of these interest rate swap and cap agreements would be materially different from the fair values
currently reported. See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

The funds on deposit with third parties represent funds held with various third parties as required by regulation or contract and invested by those
parties in various investments, which are measured at estimated fair value based primarily on quoted market prices.

The estimated fair value measurements of contingent earn-out obligations are primarily based on unobservable inputs including projected EBITDA,
estimated probabilities of achieving gross margin of certain medical procedures and the estimated probability of eamm-out payments being made using an option
pricing technique and a simulation model for expected EBITDA and operating income. In addition, a probability adjusted model was used to estimate the fair
values of the quality results amounts. The estimated fair value of these contingent earn-out obligations will be remeasured as of each reporting date and could
fluctuate based upon any significant changes in key assumptions, such as changes in the Company credit risk adjusted rate that is used to discount

obligations to present value.

See Note 18 to these consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the Company’s methodology for estimating the fair value of noncontrolling
interests subject to put obligations.

Other financial instruments consist primarily of cash, accounts receivable, life insurance contracts, accounts payable, other accrued liabilities and debt.
The balances of the non-debt financial instruments are presented in the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2013 and 2012 at their approximate
fair values due to the short-term nature of their settlements. The carrying balance of the Company’s Senior Secured Credit Facilities totaled $5,395,825 as of
December 31, 2013, and the fair value was approximately $5,451,700 based upon quoted market prices. The fair value of the Company’s senior notes was
approximately $2,911,800 at December 31, 2013 based upon quoted market prices, as compared to the carrying amount of $2,800,000.

25. Segment reporting
The Company primarily operates two major lines of business, the largest being its U.S. dialysis and related lab services business and the other being
HCP. The Company also operates various other ancillary services and strategic initiatives.

As of December 31, 2013, the ancillary services and strategic initiatives consisted primarily of pharmacy services, disease management services,
vascular access services, ESRD clinical research programs, physician services, direct primary care and the Company’s international dialysis operations.

The Company’s operating segments have been defined based on the separate financial information that is regularly produced and reviewed by the
Company’s chief operating decision makers in making decisions about
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allocating resources to and assessing the financial results of the Company’s different business units. The chief operating decision maker for the Company, its
U.S. dialysis business, and its ancillary services and strategic initiatives is its Chief Executive Officer. The chief operating decision makers for the HCP
business arc the Chicf Exccutive Officer and HCP’s Chicf Exccutive Officer.

The Company’s separate operating segments include its U.S. dialysis and related lab services business, its HCP operations in each region, each of its
ancillary services and strategic initiatives, and its intemational operations in the European and Middle Eastern, Asia Pacific, and Latin American regions. The
U.S. dialysis and related lab services business and the HCP business each qualify as separately reportable segments, while all of the other ancillary services
and strategic initiatives operating segments, including the international operating segments, have been combined and disclosed in the other segments category.

The Company’s operating segment financial information included in this report is prepared on the internal management reporting basis that the chief
operating decision maker uses to allocate resources and assess the financial results of the operating segments. For internal management reporting, segment
operations include direct segment operating expenses but exclude (i) the HCP contingent earn-out obligation adjustment, (ii) corporate support, which consists
primarily of indirect labor, benefits and long-term incentive based compensation of certain departments which provide support to all of the Company’s
different operating lines of business, (iii) the reduction of a tax asset associated with the HCP acquisition escrow provisions, and (iv) transaction expenses in
2012 associated with the HCP acquisition.
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The following is a summary of segment revenues, segment operating margin (loss), and a reconciliation of segment operating margin to consolidated

income from continuing operations before income taxes:

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Segment revennes:
U.S. dialysis and related lab services
Patient service revenues:
External sources $ 7,998,692 $7,299,032 $6,462,811
Intersegment revenues 34,080 17,786 11,141
Total dialysis and related lab services revenues 8,032,772 7,316,818 6,473,952
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts (281,146) (233,580) (190,234)
Net dialysis and related lab services patient service revenues 7,751,626 7,083,238 6,283,718
Other revenues( 12,600 11,447 11,019
Total net dialysis and rclated lab scrvices revenues 7,764,226 7,094,685 6,294,737
HCP
HCP revenues:
External sources $ 2,919,964 $ 419,431 $ —
Intersegment revenues 250 — —
Total HCP capitated revenucs 2,920,214 419,431 —
Net patient service revenues 220,251 34,407 —
Other revenues 55,723 23,552 —
Total revenues $ 3,196,188 $ 477,390 $ —
Other — Ancillary services and strategic initiatives
Net patient service revenues $ 75,852 $ 16,824 $ 7,730
Capitated revenues 67,351 61,906 45,133
Other external sources 694,763 553,261 395,347
Intersegment revenues 13,916 10,481 5,796
Total ancillary services and strategic initiatives revenues 851,882 642,472 454,006
Total net segment revenues 11,812,296 8,214,547 6,748,743
Elimination of intersegment revenues (48,246) (28,267) (16,937)
Consolidated net revenues $ 11,764,050 $8,186,280 $6,731,806
Segment operating margin (loss): @
U.S. dialysis and related lab services $ 1,211,540 $ 1,378,241 $1,235,869
HCP 385,253 66,930 —
Other—Ancillary services and strategic initiatives (38,595) (64,877) (34,105)
Total segment margin 1,558,198 1,380,294 1,201,764
Reconciliation of segment operating margin to consolidated income from continuing operations
before income taxes:
Contingent eamn-out obligation adjustment 56,977 — —
Corporate support costs® (65,041) (52,457) (47,051)
Transaction expenses — (30,753) —
Consolidated operating income 1,550,134 1,297,084 1,154,713
Debt expense (429,943) (288,554) (241,090)
Debt refinancing and redemption charges — (10,963) —
Other income 4,787 3,737 2,982
Consolidated income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 1,124,978 $ 1,001,304 $ 916,605

(1) Includes management fees for providing management and administrative services to dialysis centers in which the Company owns a minority equity

investment or which are wholly-owncd by third parties.
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(2) Certain costs previously reported in the ancillary services and strategic initiatives have been reclassified to U.S. dialysis and related lab services to

conform to the current year presentation.
(3) Corporate support costs also include $7,721 of an adjustment to reduce a tax asset associated with the HCP acquisition escrow provisions.

Depreciation and amortization expense for the U.S. dialysis and related lab services business for 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $355,879, $310,375 and
$259,685, respectively, and were $14,502, $7,050 and $4,540, respectively, for the ancillary services and strategic initiatives. Depreciation and
amortization expense for HCP for 2013 was $158,356 and for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $24,544.

Summary of assets by segment is as follows:

December 31
2013 2012
Segment assets
U.S. dialysis and related lab services $10,248,993 $9,351,466
HCP 6,265,767 6,228,403
Other—Ancillary services and strategic initiatives 584,117 434,764
Consolidated assets $17,098,877 $16,014,633

(1) Includes approximately $26 million and $13 million, respectively, of net property and equipment related to the Company’s international operations.
In 2013 and 2012, total expenditures for property and equipment for the U.S. dialysis and related lab services were $554,345 and $524,180,
respectively, for HCP were $31,582 and $7,464, respectively, and for the ancillary services and strategic initiatives were $31,670 and $18,502, respectively.

26. Supplemental cash flow information

The table below provides supplemental cash flow information:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Cash paid: N -
Income taxes $341,426 $ 322,018 $145,687
Interest 405,030 257,640 236,446
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fixed assets under capital lease obligations 60,920 55,813 35,764
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27. Selected quarterly financial data (unaudited)

2013 2012
December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

Net revennes $ 3,063,209 $ 2,999,586 $ 2,871,673 $ 2,829,582 $ 2,477,853 $ 1,945,888 § 1.913,006 $ 1,849,533
Opcrating income : $ 484,179 $ 377,074 $ 522,020 $ 166,861 $ 388,056 $ 340,885 8 247,261 $ 320,882
Tncome from continuing opcrations before income taxes $ 380,020 $ 270,766 $ 412,550 $ 61,642 $ 282,162 $ 271,210 $ 187,392 $ 260,540
Discontinued operations, net of tax. $ —_ $ — $ —_ $ 13,236 $ (460) $ 3) $ 352 $ (o1
Net income aliributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. s 212,278 $ 136,628 $ 254376 $ 30,164 $ 155,839 $ 144,721 $ 95337 $ 140,120
Basic ineome from continuing operations per share

attributablc to DaVita HealthCarc Partners Inc. 13 1.01 $ 0.65 $ 1.21 S 0.08 $ 0.77 S 0.76 S 0.50 S 0.75
Basic net income per share attributablc to DaViia HealthCare

Partners Inc. $ 1.01 $ 0.65 $ 1.21 $ 0.14 $ 0.77 S 0.76 S 0.51 $ 0.75
Diluted income from continuing opcrations per sharc

attributablc to DaVita HealthCarc Partners Inc. s 0.99 $ 0.64 $ 1.18 s 0.08 s 0.76 $ 0.75 $ 0.49 $ 0.73
Diluted net income per share attributablc to DaVita

HealthCare Partners Inc. $ 0.99 $ 0.64 $ 1.18 $ 0.14 $ 0.75 $ 0.75 S 0.50 $ 0.73
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28. Consolidating financial statements

The following information is presented in accordance with Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X. The operating and investing activities of the separate legal
entities included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements are fully interdependent and integrated. Revenues and operating expenses of the separate
legal entities include intercompany charges for management and other services. The Company’s senior notes are guaranteed by substantially ail of its domestic
subsidiaries. Each of the guarantor subsidiaries has guaranteed the notes on a joint and several basis. However, the guarantor subsidiaries can be released
from their obligations in the event of a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of such subsidiary, including by merger or consolidation
or the sale of all equity interests in such subsidiary owned by the Company, if such subsidiary guarantor is designated as an unrestricted subsidiary or
otherwise ceases to be a restricted subsidiary, and if such subsidiary guarantor no longer guaranties any other indebtedness of the Company. Certain domestic
subsidiaries, foreign subsidiaries, joint ventures, partnerships and third parties are not guarantors of the senior notes.

Consolidating Statements of Income

DaVita Non-
HealthCare Guarantor Guarantor Consolidating C
Partners lnc. Subsidiarics Subsidiaries Adjustments Total

For the yvear ended December 31, 2013

Patient services revenues $ — $5,989,658 $ 2,344614 § (27,077) $ 8,307,195
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts — (177,415) (116,131) — (293,546)
Net patient service revenues — 5,812,243 2,228,483 (27,077) 8,013,649
Capitated revenues — 1,427,321 1,560,244 (250) 2,987,315
Other revenues 616,155 1,534,310 94,228 (1,481,607) 763,086
Total net revenues 616,155 8,773,874 3,882,955 (1,508,934) 11,764,050
Operating expenses and charges 434,776 7,843,476 3,444,598 (1,508,934) 10,213,916
Operating income 181,379 930,398 438,357 — 1,550,134
Debt (expense) (427,141) (366,188) (39,413) 402,799 (429,943)
Other income, net 402,910 1,903 2,773 (402,799) 4,787
Income tax expensc ~ 59,716 303,603 17,694 — 381,013
Equity earnings in subsidiaries 536,014 260,268 — (796,282) —
Income from continuing operations 633,446 522,778 384,023 (796,282) 743,965
Discontinued operations net of gain on disposal of discontinued

opcrations — — 13,236 — 13,236
Net income 633,446 522,778 397,259 (796,282) 757,201
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests ] — — — (123,755) (123,75%5)
Nect income attributable to DaVita HealthCarc Partners Inc. $ 633446 § 522,778 $ 397,259 $ (920,037) $ 633,446
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Consolidating Statements of Income

DaVita Non-
HealthCare Guarantor Guarantor C idating Consolldated
Partners Inc. Subsidiarics Subsidiaries Adjustments Total

For the vear ended December 31, 2012
Patient services revenues $ — $ 5417,800 $1,988,508 § (54,406) $ 7,351,902
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts ’ — (124,592) (110,626) — (235,218)
Net patient service revenues — 5,293,208 1,877,882 (54,406) 7,116,684
Capitated revenues — 232,744 248,592 — 481,336
Other revenues 514,190 745,920 27,106 (698,956) 588,260
Total net revenues 514,190 6,271,872 2,153,580 (753,362) 8,186,280
Operating expenses and charges 365,680 5,479,531 1,797,347 (753,362) 6,889,196
Operating income 148,510 792,341 356,233 — 1,297,084
Debt (expense) and refinancing charges (331,944) (207,499) (27,193) 267,119 (299,517)
Other income, net 265,508 4,305 1,043 (267,119) 3,737
Income tax expcnse 32,912 320,267 6,666 — 359,845
Equity earnings in subsidiaries 486,855 218,197 — (705,052) —
Income from continuing operations 536,017 487,077 323,417 (705,052) 641,459
Discontinued operations — — (222) — (222)
Net income 536,017 487,077 323,195 (705,052) 641,237
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — (105,220) (105,220)
Net income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. $536,017 $§ 487077 $§ 323,195 § (810,272) § 536,017
For the year ended December 31, 2011 '
Patient services revenues $ — $ 5,047,701 $1,471910 § (49,071) $ 6,470,540
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts — (127,049) (63,185) — (190,234)
Net patient service revenues — 4,920,652 1,408,725 (49,071) 6,280,306
Capitated revenues — 45,133 — — 45,133
Other revenues 457,460 434,754 9,534 _ (495,381) 406,367
Total net revenues 457,460 5,400,539 1,418,259 (544,452) 6,731,806
Operating expenses and charges 301,255 4,699,956 1,120,334 (544,452) 5,577,093
Operating income 156,205 700,583 297,925 — 1,154,713
Debt (expense) (242,730) (218,182) (9,215) 229,037 (241,050)
Other income, net 229,658 1,583 778 (229,037) 2,982
Incomc tax expense 56,681 248,210 20,401 — 325,292
Equity earnings in subsidiaries 391,549 184,475 — (576,024) —
Income from continuing operations 478,001 420,249 269,087 (576,024) 591,313
Discontinued operations net of loss on disposal of discontinued

operations — (4,191) (13,727) — (17,918)
Net income 478,001 416,058 255,360 (576,024) 573,395
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — (95,394) (95,394)
Net income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. $ 478,001 $§ 416,058 § 255,360 § (671,418) § 478,001
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Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the vear ended December 31, 2013

Nct income
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interest
Comprehensive income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners
Inc.
For the year ended December 31, 2012
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interest
Comprehensive income attributable to DaVita HealthCare Partners
Inc.
For the vear ended December 31, 2011
Net income
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interest
Comprehensive income attributable to DaVita HeaithCare Partners
Inc.

DaVita Non-
HealthCare Guarantor Guarantor C lidating C
Partners Ine. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
$ 633,446 $522,778 $397,259 $(796,282) $ 757,201
12,652 — — — 12,652
646,098 522,778 397,259 (796,282) 769,853
— — — (123,755) (123,755)
$646,098 $522,778 $397,259 $ (920,037) $ 646,098
$536,017 $ 487,077 $ 323,195 $ (705,052) $ 641,237
4,187 — — — 4,187
540,204 487,077 323,195 (705,052) 645,424
— — — (105,220) (105,220)
$ 540,204 $ 487,077 $ 323,195 $ (810,272) $ 540,204
$ 478,001 $416,058 $255,360 $ (576,024) $ 573,395
(19,987) — — — (19,987)
458,014 416,058 255,360 (576,024) 553,408
— — — (95,394) (95,394)
$ 458,014 $416,058 $255,360 $(671,418) $ 458,014
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As of December 31, 2013
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net
Other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Investments in subsidiaries
Intercompany receivables
Other long-term assets and investments
Goodwill

Total assets

Current labilities
Intercompany payables
Long-term debt and other long-term liabilities
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions
Total DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests not subject to put provisions
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity
As of December 31, 2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Investments in subsidiaries
Intercompany receivables
Other long-term assets and investments
Goodwill

Total assets
Current liabilities
Intercompany payables
Long-term debt and other long-term liabilities
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions
Total DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests not subject to put provisions
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

DaVita
HeatthCare

Consolidating Balance Sheets

Guarantor

Non-
Guarantor

C

C

Ad[ustments

Partners Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiarics TYotal
$ 602,88 $§ 175004 $§ 169,057 § — $ 946,249
— 939,543 545,620 — 1,485,163
27,910 904,352 108,104 — 1,040,866
630,098 2,019,399 822,781 — 3,472,278
177,633 1,378,017 633,761 — 2,189,411
77,531 1,882,685 64,157 — 2,024,373
8,231,059 1,391,655 — (9,622,714) —
3,983,214 — 480,993 (4,464,207) —
61,391 70,728 67,722 — 199,841
— 7,850,910 1,362,064 — 9,212,974
$13,160,926 $14,593,394 § 3,431,478 $(14,086,921) $17,098,877
$ 328875 $ 1,776,419 § 356,755 $ — $ 2,462,049
— 3,426,433 1,037,774 (4,464,207) —
7,948,390 1,159,483 226,114 — 9,333,987
451,182 — — 246,118 697,300
4,432,479 8,231,059 1,391,655 (9,622,714) 4,432,479
— — 419,180 (246,118) 173,062
4,432,479 8,231,059 1,810,835 (9,868,832) 4,605,541
$13,160,926 $14,593,394 § 3,431,478 $(14,086,921) $17,098,877
$ 195037 $ 166,107 $ 172,604 $ — 533,748
— 963,854 460,449 — 1,424,303
13,928 786,710 128,361 — 928,999
208,965 1,916,671 761,414 — 2,887,050
143,684 1,237,166 491,520 — 1,872,370
96,472 1,995,372 36,274 — 2,128,118
7,444 676 1,313,621 — (8,758,297) —
4,871,310 — 423,626 (5,294,936) —
52,787 67,000 54,558 — 174,345
— 7,730,020 1,222,730 — 8,952,750
$12,817,894 $14,259,850 $2,990,122  § (14,053,233) $16,014,633
$ 362,727 $ 1281305 $ 372393 § —  $ 2,016,425
— 4,598,960 695,976 (5,294,936) —
8,326,266 990,303 184,022 — 9,500,591
365,764 — — 214,928 580,692
3,763,137 7,389,282 1,369,015 (8,758,297) 3,763,137
— — 368,716 (214,928) 153,788
3,763,137 7,389,282 1,737,731 (8,973,225) 3,916,925
$12,817,894  $14,259,850 $2,990,122  § (14,053233) $ 16,014,633
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

DaVita

HealthCare Guarantor Non-Guarantor C idating C idated
Partners Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Tatal

For the year ended December 31, 2013
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income. $ 633,446 $ 522,778 $ 397,259 $(796,282) $ 757,201
Changes in operating assets and liabilities and non cash items

included in net income (443,071) 652,374 10,555 796,282 1,016,140
Net cash provided by operating activities 190,375 1,175,152 407,814 — 1,773,341
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions of property and equipment, net (55,252) (337,042) (225,303) — (617,597)
Acquisitions — (156,830) (153,564) — (310,394)
Proceeds from asset sales . 60,650 1,608 — — 62,258
Purchase of investments and other items (4,944) (3,502) (2,703) — (11,149)
Net cash provided by (used in) by investing activities . 454 (495,766) (381,570) — (876,882)
Cash flows from financing activities: -
Long-term debt and related financing costs, net (421,739) (11,061) (5,207) — (438,007)
Intercompany borrowing 585,441 (664,154) 78,713 — —
Other items 52,620 4,726 (102,330) — (44,984)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 216,322 (670,489) (28,824) — (482,991)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash — — 967) — 967)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 407,151 8,897 3,547) — 412,501
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 195,037 166,107 172,604 — 533,748
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 602,188 $ 175,004 $ 169,057 $ — $ 946,249

For the vear ended December 31, 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income. $ 536,017 $ 487,077 $ 323,195 $ (705,052) $ 641,237

Changes in operating assets and liabilities and non cash items

included in net income (383,619) 15,693 122,485 705,052 459,611
Net cash provided by operating activities 152,398 502,770 - 445,680 — 1,100,848
Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions of property and equipment, net (72,125) (305,885) (172,136) — (550,146)
Acquisitions ~(3,645,760) (564,499) (83,818) — (4,294,077)
Proceeds from asset sales — 3,559 — — 3,559
Proceeds from investment sales and other items 2,841 (1,761) 7,134 — 8,214
Net cash used in by investing activities (3,715,044) (868,586) (248,820) — (4,832,450)
Cash flows from financing activities: '

Long-term debt and related financing costs, net 3,909,760 (23,805) 18,938 — 3,904,893
Intercompany borrowing (586,050) 580,825 5,225 — —
Other items : 68,697 (25,097) (76,109) — (32,509)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitics 3,392,407 531,923 (51,946) — 3,872,384
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash — — (786) — (786)
Net (decreasce) increase in cash and cash equivalents’ (170,239) 166,107 144,128 — 139,996
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 365,276 — 28,476 — 393,752
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 195,037 $ 166,107 $ 172,604 $ — $ 533,748
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For the vear ended December 31, 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income.

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

Changes in operating assets and liabilities and non cash items

included in net income

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions of property and equipment, net

Acquisitions
Proceeds from asset sales

Proceeds from investment sales and other items
Net cash used in by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Long-term debt and related financing costs, net

Intercompany borrowing
Other items

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

DaVita
HealthCare Guarantor Non-Guarantor C C
Partners Inc, Subsidiaries Subsldiarics Adjustments — Total
$ 478,001 $ 416,058 $ 255,360 $(576,024) $ 573,395
(230,599) 287,537 (26,311) 576,024 606,651
247,402 703,595 229,049 — 1,180,046
(52,653) (232,540) (114,963) — (400,156)
— (1,048,136) (29,306) — (1,077,442)
— 75,183 — — 75,183
(6,077) 9,264 — — 3,187
(58,730) (1,196,229) (144,269) — (1,399,228)
113,762 (1,896) 15,794 — 127,660
(502,763) 498,532 4231 — —
(291,198) (4,002) (79,643) — (374,843)
(680,199) 492 634 (59,618) — (247,183)
(491,527) — 25,162 — (466,365)
856,803 — 3,314 — 860,117
$ 365,276 $ — $ 28476 $ — $§ 393,752

29. Retrospective application of new accounting standards

Effective January 1, 2012, the Company adopted FASB’s ASU No. 2011-07 Health Care Entities—Presentation and Disclosure of Patient Service
Revenue, Provision for Bad Debts, and the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts . In addition, cffective January 1, 2012, the Company also adopted FASB’s
ASU No. 2011-05 as amended by ASU No. 2011-12 Comprehensive Income—Presentation of Comprehensive Income. Upon adoption of these standards
the Company was required to change the presentation of its provision for uncollectible accounts related to patient service revenue as a deduction from patient
service revenucs and to cither report the components of comprehensive income separately on the income statement or to present total other comprchensive
income and the components of comprehensive income in a separate statement. These consolidated financial statements have been revised for all periods
presented to reflect the retrospective application of adopting these new presentation and disclosures requirements for the provision for uncollectible accounts

and comprchensive income.

Y
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DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

The effects of the change upon the retrospective application for the presentation and disclosure requirements for patient service revenue and the provision

for uncollectible accounts were as follows:
Year ended

December 31,
2011

Consolidated income statements:
Net revenues as previously reported

Total net revenues under the new presentation requirements:
Dialysis and related lab services patient service revenues

$6,982,214

$ 6,470,540

Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts ' (190,234)
Net patient service revenues 6,280,306
Capitated revenues 45,133
406,367

Other revenues

Total net revenues - 6,731,806

! Year ended
Deccmber 31,
2011
Provision for uncollectible accounts:
Provision for uncollectible accounts as previously reported $ 197,565
Less: Provision for uncollectible accounts (190,234)
Discontinued operations (4,022)
Provision for uncollectible accounts $ 3,309

See footnote 3 to the consolidated financial statements for additional disclosure on the Company’s policies for recognizing revenue, assessing bad debts
as well as quantitative and qualitative information regarding changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts. See also footnotes 25, 27 and 28 to the
consolidated financial statements, which have been updated for the retrospective application of these new presentation requirements.

An additional effect of adopting FASB’s ASU No. 2011-05 as amended by ASU No. 2011-12 Comprehensive Income—Presentation of
Comprehensive Income was that the Company eliminated the presentation of the components of other comprehensive income within the statements of equity
and reported the components of other comprehensive income in a separate statement of comprehensive income. See the statements of equity and statements of
comprehensive income for further details as well as footnote 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be
signed on our behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Denver, State of Colorado, on February 21, 2014.

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

/S/ KENT J. THIRY

Kent J. Thiry
Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Kent J. Thiry, Garry E. Menzel,
and Kim M. Rivera, and each of them his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her
and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises,
as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attomeys-in-fact and agents or any
of them, or their or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has becen signed by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date_
/S/ KENT J. THIRY Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal February 21, 2014
Kent J. Thiry Executive Officer)
/S/ " ROBERTJ. MARGOLIS Co-Chairman of the Board February 21, 2014

Robert J. Margolis

/S/ GARRY E. MENZEL Chief Financial Officer February 21, 2014
Garry E. Menzel
/s/ JAMES K. HILGER Chief Accounting Officer February 21, 2014
James K. Hilger (Principal Accounting Officer)
/S/ PAMELA M. ARWAY Director February 21, 2014
Pamela M. Arway : |
/S/  CHARLES G. BERG Dircctor February 21, 2014

Charles G. Berg

/S/  CAROL A. DAVIDSON Director February 21, 2014
Carol A. Davidson

S-1




Table of Contents

Signature

/S/ PAUL J. DIAZ

Paul J. Diaz

/S/ PETER T. GRAUER

Peter T. Grauer

/S/  JOHN M. NEHRA

John M. Nehra

/S/ _WILLIAM L. ROPER

William L. Roper

/S/- ROGER J. VALINE

Roger J. Valine

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

S-2

Title

Date

February 21, 2014

February 21, 2014

February 21,2014

February 21, 2014

February 21, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.:

Under date of February 21, 2014, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2013, which are included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned
consolidated financial statements, we also audited the related consolidated financial statement Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts included in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K. This financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on this financial statement schedule based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 21, 2014
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Description

Allowance for uncollectible accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2011
Year ended December 31, 2012
Year ended December 31, 2013

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at
beginning

of year

$235,629
$ 250,343
$245,122

Amounts
charged Amounts
to income written off

Balance
at end of
year

{in thousands)

$198,750 $ 200,229
$ 243,377 $256,350
$298,711 $306,690

$ 250,343
$245,122
$ 237,143
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EXHIBIT INDEX
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., Seismic Acquisition LLC, HealthCare Partners
Holdings, LLC, and the Member Representative.(36)
2.2 Amendment, dated as of July 6, 2012, to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., Seismic
Acquisition LLC, HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and the Member Representative.(37)
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Total Renal Care Holdings, Inc. (TRCH), dated December 4, 1995.(1)
32 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of TRCH, dated February 26, 1998.(2)
33 Certificatc of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of DaVita Inc. (formerly Total Renal Carc Holdings, Inc.), dated October 5, 2000.(3)
34 Cecrtificatc of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DaVita Inc., as amended dated May 30, 2007.(16)
3.5 Certificate of Ownership and Merger Merging DaVita Name Change, Inc. with and into DaVita Inc., as filed with Secretary of State of the State
of Delaware on November 1, 2012.(41)
3.6 Amended and Restated Bylaws for DaVita Inc. dated as of March 10, 2011.(17)
4.1 Indenture, dated October 20, 2010, by and among DaVita Inc., the guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A_, as Trustee.(28) .
42 Indenture, dated October 20, 2010, by and among DaVita Inc., the guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as Trustee.(28)
4.3 Indenture, dated August 28, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., the guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A,, as Trustee.(38)
44 Form of 5.750% Senior Notes due 2022 and related Guarantee (included in exhibit 4.5).(38)
10.1 Employment Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2009, by and between DaVita Inc. and Kim M. Rivera.(29)*
10.2 Employment Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2005, effective October 24, 2005, by and between DaVita Inc. and Dennis Kogod.(8)*
10.3 Amendment to Mr. Kogod’s Employment Agreement, effective December 12, 2008.(23)*
10.4 Second Amendment to Mr. Kogod’s Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2012.(23)*
10.5 Employment Agreement, effective September 22, 2005, by and between DaVita Inc. and James Hilger.(10)*
10.6 Amendment to Mr. Hilger’s Employment Agreement, effective December 12, 2008.(23)*
10.7 Second Amendment to Mr. Hilger’s Employment Agreement, effective December 27, 2012.*
10.8 Employment Agreement, effective July 25, 2008, between DaVita Inc. and Kent J. Thiry.(20)*
10.9 Employment Agreement, effective August 1, 2008, between DaVita Inc. and Allen Nissenson.(21)*
10.10 Employment Agreement, effective March 3, 2008, between DaVita Inc. and David Shapiro.(23)*
10.11 Amendment to Mr. Shapiro’s Employment Agreement, effective December 4, 2008.(23)*
10.12 | Employment Agreement, effective March 17, 2010, by and between DaVita Inc. and Javier Rodriguez.(25)*
10.13 Memorandum Relating to Bonus Structure for Kent I. Thiry.(26)*
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10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31

10.32
1033
10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
10.41

Memorandum Relating to Bonus Strucéure for Dennis L. Kogod.(26)*
Form of Indemnity Agreement.(15)*

Form of Indemnity Agreement.(9)*

Exe;:utive Incentive Plan (as Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2009).(24)*
Executive Retirement Plan.(23)*

DaVita Voluntary Dcferral Plan.(7)*

Deferred Bonus Plan (Prosperity Plan).(22)*

Amendment No. 1 to Deferred Bonus Plan'(Prosperily Plan).(23)*
Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(18)*

Amended and Restated DaVita Healthcare Partners Inc. Severance Plan.*
Change in Control Bonus Program.(23)*

Non-Management Director Compensation Philosophy and Plan.(19)*
Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(6)*

Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(14)*

Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(18)*
Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(23)*

DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan.(27)*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 1999 Non-Executive Officer and Non-Director Equity
Compensation Plan.(13)*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(4)*
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(11)*
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(13)*
Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(4)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(11)*
Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(13)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(23)*

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(11)*
Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement—Employee (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(13)*
Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement—Board (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(21)*

20f6




Table of Contents

10.42
10.43

10.44

10.45
10.46
10.47
10.48
10.49
10.50
10.51
10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57
10.58

Form of Stoci( Appreciation Rights Agreement—Board members (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(32)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Board (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(21)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement—Board members (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(32)*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement—Board (DaVita Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan).(21)*

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agrcement—Exccutives (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(32)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agrcement—Exccutives (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(32)*

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan). *

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan). *

Form of Long-Term Incentive Program Award Agreement (For 162(m) designated teammates) (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan).(43) *
Form of Long-Term Incentive Program Award Agreement (DaVita Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan). *

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2010, by and among DaVita Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, Credit
Suisse AG, Barclays Bank PLC, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Credit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank, RBC Capital Markets, Scotia Capital (USA) Inc., SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. and Union Bank, N.A_, as Co-
Documentation Agents, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A_, as Administrative Agent and Collateral
Agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Banc of America Securities LLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Barclays Capital, Goldman
Sachs Bank USA and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners.(34)**

Amendment No. 1, dated as of August 14, 2012, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2010, by and among DaVita Inc., the
sevceral banks and other financial institutions or cntitics from time to timc partics thereto, JPMorgan Chasc Bank, N.A., as Administrative
Agent and Collateral Agent, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Issuing Lender and Swingline Lender, and the other agents from time to
time parties thereto.(39)

Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., the several banks and other financial
institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A , as Issuing Lender and Swingline Lender, and the other agents from time to time partics thereto.(38)
Perfection Certificate executed as of October 20, 2010 and delivered in connection with the closing of the Credit Agreement filed as Exhibit
10.68.(34)**

Amended and Restated Alliance and Product Supply Agreement, dated as of August 25, 2006, among Gambro Renal Products, Inc., DaVita
Inc. and Gambro AB.(12)**

Dialysis Organization Agreement between DaVita Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. dated December 20, 2007.(22)**

Dialysis Organization Agreement between DaVita Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. dated December 17, 2010.(30)**
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10.59
10.60
10.61
10.62

10.63

10.64
10.65
10.66

10.67
10.68
10.69

10.70

10.71

10.72
10.73
12.1
14.1
21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1

31.2

321

Amended and Restated DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Plan.(31)*

Amendment No. 2 to Dialysis Organization Agreement between DaVita Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. effective as of July 1, 2011:(33)**
Sourcing and Supply Agreement between DaVita Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. effective as of January 1, 2012.(35)**

Amendment No. 1 to Sourcing and Supply Agreement between DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and Amgen USA Inc. effective as of January
1,2013.**

Voting Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and HcalthCare Partners
Medical Group.(36)

Support Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and Dr. Robert Margolis.(36)
Support Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and Dr. William Chin.(36)
Support Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and Matthew
Mazdyasni.(36)

Support Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC, and Dr. Thomas
Paulsen.(36)

Form of Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, between DaVita Inc. and Dr. Robert Margolis, Dr.
William Chin, Dr. Thomas Paulsen, Mr. Zan Calhoun, and Ms. Lori Glisson.(36)

Form of Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, between DaVita Inc. and Mr. Matthew Mazdyasni, Dr.
Sherif Abdou, and Dr. Amir Bacchus.(36)

Escrow Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2012, by and among DaVita Inc., The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A_, as
trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as escrow agent and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A,,

as bank and securities intermediary.(38)

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2012, effective as of the November 1, 2012, by and among Dr. Robert Margolis, DaVita Inc.
and HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC.(40)* R

Amendment to Dr. Margolis’ Employment Agreement, effective Dccember 31, 2012.*

Employment Agreement, effective July 5, 2013, between DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and Garry E. Menzel.(42)*
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges. v/ .

DaVita Inc. Corporate Governance Code of Ethics.(5)

List of our subsidiaries. v’

Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. v

Powers of Attorney with respect to DaVita. (Included on Page 11-1).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, dated February 21, 2014, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.v'

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, dated February 21, 2014, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.v'

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, dated February 21, 2014, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.v'
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322 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, dated February 21, 2014, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
_ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.v'
101.INS XBRL Instance Document. v/
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. v/
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. v/
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. v/
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labet Linkbase Document. v/
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document, v/

v Included in this filing.

* Management contract or executive compensation plan or arrangement.

** Portions of this exhibit are subject to a request for confidential treatment and have been redacted and filed separately with the SEC.

m Filed on March 18, 1996 as an exhibit to the Company’s Transitional Report on Form 10-K for the transition period from June 1, 1995 to
December 31, 1995.

?2) Filed on March 31, 1998 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

3) Filed on March 20, 2001 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.

4) Filed on November 8, 2004 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004.

) Filed on Fcbruary 27, 2004 as an cxhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ycar ended December 31, 2003.

6) Filed on May 4, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005.

(@) Filed on November 8, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005.

8) Filed on November 4, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

©)] Filed on March 3, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

(10)  Filed on August 7, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2006.

(11)  Filed on July 6, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

(12)  Filed on November 3, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.

(13)  Filed on October 18, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

(14)  Filed on July 31, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

(15)  Filed on December 20, 2006 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

(16)  Filed on August 6, 2007 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007.

(17)  Filed on March 17, 2011 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A.

(18)  Filed on June 4, 2007 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K:

(19) Filed on May 8, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008.

(20)  Filed on July 31, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

(21)  Filed on November 6, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008.

(22) Filed on February 29, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.
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25)
(26)
@7
(28)
29
(30
€3]
(32)
(33)
(34)
(3%)
(36)
37
(38)
(39)
(40)
@4n
“42)
(43)

Filed on February 27, 2009 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008
Filed on June 18, 2009 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on April 14, 2010 as an-exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on May 3, 2010 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010.

Filed on April 28, 2010 as Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A.

Filed on October 21, 2010 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on February 25, 2010 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Filed on December 29, 2011 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Filed on April 29, 2013 as Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A.

Filed on August 4, 2011 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011.

Filed on December 29, 2011 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended June 30, 2011.
Filcd on January 17, 2012 as an cxhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended March 31, 2011.
Filed on February 24, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.
Filed on May 21, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K. ,
Filed on July 9, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on August 28, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on September 18, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on September 18, 2012 as an exhibit to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4.

Filed on November 1, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on August 7, 2013 as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013.

Filed on February 28, 2013 as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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Exhibit 12.1

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The ratio of eamings to fixed charges is computed by dividing eamings by fixed charges. Earings for this purpose are defined as pretax income from
continuing operations adjusted by adding back fixed charges expensed during the period less noncontrolling interests. Fixed charges include debt expense
(interest expense and the amortization of deferred financing costs), the estimated interest component of rent expense on operating leases, and capitalized interest.

Year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

{dollars in thoussnds)

Earnings adjusted for fixed charges:

Income from continuing operations before income taxes $1,124,978 $ 1,001,304 $ 916,605 $ 741,238 $ 752,632
Add:

Dcbt expense 429,943 288,554 241,090 181,607 185,755

Interest portion of rent expense 137,558 112,424 95,919 86,656 80,710

Less: Noncontrolling interests (124,276) (105,891) (95,899) _ (79,048) _ (57,285)

443,225 295,087 241,110 189,215 209,180

$1,568,203 $1,296,391 $1,157,715 $ 930,453 $961,812

Fixed charges:

Debt expense $ 429943 § 288554 $ 241,090 $181,607  $185,755
Interest portion of rent expense 137,558 112,424 95,919 86,656 80,710
Capitalized interest 6,408 8,127 4,887 2,621 3,627

: $ 573,909 $ 409,105 $ 341,896 $ 270,884 $ 270,092
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 2.73 3.17 3.39 3.43 3.56




Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(as of December 31, 2013)

Jurisdiction
of

Name Structure Incorporation
ABQ Health Partners, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
ABQ Health Partners Endoscopy Center, LLC Limited Liability Company NM
Aberdeen Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Able Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Acton Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Adair Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Alamosa Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
American Fork Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Amery Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Anderson Kidney Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Animas Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Arcadia Gardens Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Astro, Hobby, West Mt. Renal Care Limited Partnership Limited Partnership DE
Atlantic Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Austin Dialysis Centers, L.P. Limited Partnership DE
Bagby Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bainbridge Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Barrington Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Barton Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Basin Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bastrop Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Beachside Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Beacon Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bear Creek Dialysis, L.P. Limited Partnership DE
Beck Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bellevue Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Beverly Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Beverly Hills Dialysis Partnership Partnership CA
Bidwell Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Birch Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company OH
Bladon Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Blake Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Blanco Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bliss Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bluegrass Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bohama Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Borrego Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bottle Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Brantley Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bridges Dialysis, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Bright Dialysis Center, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
Brighton Dialysis Center, LLC Limited Liability Company DE
DE

Brook Dialysis, LLC

Limited Liability Company
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Name_

Brownsville Kidney Center, Ltd
Brownwood Dialysis, LLC
Bruno Dialysis, LLC

Buford Dialysis, LLC
Bulfinch Dialysis, LLC
Bullards Dialysis, LLC
Burmey Dialysis, LLC

Butano Dialysis, LLC

Caballo Dialysis, LLC

Caddo Dialysis, LLC
Calaveras Dialysis, LLC
Camino Dialysis, LLC
Campton Dialysis, LLC
Cannon dialysis, LLC

Canyon Springs Dialysis, LLC
Capelville Dialysis, LLC
Capes Dialysis, LLC

Capital Dialysis Partnership
Carlsbad Dialysis, LLC

Carroll County Dialysis Facility Limited Partnership

Carroll County Dialysis Facility, Inc.
Cascades Dialysis, LLC

Caverns Dialysis, LLC

Cedar Dialysis, LLC

Centennial LV, LLC

Central Carolina Dialysis Centers, LLC
Central Georgia Dialysis, LLC
Central Towa Dialysis Partners, LLC
Central Kentucky Dialysis Centers, LLC
Cerito Dialysis Partners, LLC
Chadron Dialysis, LLC

Channel Dialysis, LLC

Chicago Heights Dialysis, LLC
Chipeta Dialysis, LLC

Churchill Dialysis, LLC

Cimarron Dialysis, LLC

Cinco Rios Dialysis, LLC

Clark Dialysis, LLC

Clayton Dialysis, LLC

Clearee Dialysis, LLC

Cleburne Dialysis, LLC

Clifton Dialysis, LLC

Clinica Central do Bonfim S.A
Clinton Township Dialysis, LLC
Clover Dialysis, LLC

Coast Dialysis, LLC

Cobbles Dialysis, LLC

Colleton Dialysis, LLC

Structure

Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Partnership

Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
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Jurisdiction
of

Incorporation
TX

DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
CA
DE
MD
MD
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
Portugal
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE



Name_
Columbus-RNA-DaVita, LLC

Commerce Township Dialysis Center, LLC
Conconully Dialysis, LLC

Continental Dialysis Center of Springfield-Fairfax, Inc.
Continental Dialysis Centers, Inc.

Court Dialysis, LLC

Cowell Dialysis, LLC

Creek Dialysis, LLC

Crystals Dialysis, LLC

Curecanti Dialysis, LLC

Curlew Dialysis, LLC

Dallas-Fort Worth Nephrology, L.P.

Dallas-Fort Worth Nephrology IT, LLC

Damon Dialysis, LLC

Daroga Dialysis, LLC

Davis Dialysis, LLC

DaVita 3SBio Healthcare Management (Liaoning) Co., Ltd.
DaVita Care Pte, Ltd

DaVita Care (Taiwan) Private Limited

DaVita China Pte, Ltd.

DaVita Dakota Dialysis Center, LLC
DaVita DPC Holding Co., LLC
DaVita El Paso East, L.P.

DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
DaVita HealthCare Partners Plan, Inc.

DaVita Hospital Management Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

DaVita Lehbi Cayman

DaVita Nephrolife (India) Private Limited
DaVita of New York, Inc.

DaVita Renal Pte, Ltd

DaVita-Riverside, LLC

DaVita-Riverside II, LLC

DaVita Rx, LLC

DaVita S.A.S.

DaVita Seri Setia Sdn Bhd

DaVita Tidewater, LLC

DaVita Tidewater-Virginia Beach, LLC
DaVita VillagecHealth Insurance of Alabama, Inc.
DaVita VillageHealth of Ohio, Inc.

DC Healthcare International, Inc.

Desert Rocks Dialysis, LLC

Desoto Dialysis, LLC

Structure

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limitcd Partncrship
Limited Company

Private Limited

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limitcd Partncrship
Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Company

Private Limited
Corporation

Private Company

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Private Company

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company

3of12

Jurisdiction

of

Incorporation
DE

DE

DE

VA

VA

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE
China
Singapore
Taiwan,
Province of
China
Singaporc
DE

DE

DE

DE

DE
China
Cayman
Islands
India

NY
Singapore
DE

DE

DE
Colombia
Malaysia
DE

DE

AL

OH

DE

DE

DE




Name

Diablo Dialysis, LLC

Dializa Grojec Sp. z.0.0.
Dialyse-Zentrum Hamburg-Ost GmbH
Dialysis of Des Moines, LLC

Dialysis of North Atlanta, LLC
Dialysis of Northern Illinois, LLC
Dialysis Specialists of Dallas, Inc.
DNH Medical Management, Inc.

DNP Management Company, LLC
Dolores Dialysis, LLC

Dome Dialysis, LLC

Doves Dialysis, LLC

Downriver Centers, Inc.

Downtown Houston Dialysis Center, L.P.
DPC Vail, LLC

Durango Dialysis Center, LLC

DV Care GmbH

DV Care Netherlands B.V.

DVA (Malaysia) SDN, BHD.

DVA Hcalthcare of Maryland, Inc.
DVA Healthcare of Massachusetts, Inc.
DVA Healthcare of New London, LLC
DVA Healthcare of Norwich, LLC
DVA Healthcare of Pennsylvania, Inc.
DVA Healthcare of Tuscaloosa, LLC
DVA Healthcare Renal Care, Inc.

DVA Healthcare-Southwest Ohio, LLC
DVA Laboratory Services, Inc.

DVA of New York, Inc.

DVA Renal Care Portugal, Unipessoal LDA
DVA Rcnal Healthcare, Inc.

DV A/Washington University Healthcare of Greater St. Louis, LLC

East End Dialysis Center, Inc.
East Ft. Lauderdale, LLC

East Houston Kidney Center, L.P.
Ebrea Dialysis, LLC

Elbcrton Dialysis Facility, Inc.
Elgin Dialysis, LLC

Elitemed sp. z.0.0.

Elk Grove Dialysis Center, LLC
Empire State DC, Inc.
Enchanted Dialysis, LLC
Espeja sp. z.0.0.

Etowah Dialysis, LLC

Eufaula Dialysis, LLC

Eurodial-Centro de Nefrologia e Diilise de Leiria, S.A.

Everglades Dialysis, LLC

Structure

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limitcd Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Private Company
Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limitcd Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Corporation

Limitcd Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
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Jurisdiction
of

Incorporation
DE

Poland
Germany
DE

DE

DE

X
California
DE

DE

DE

DE

MI

DE

DE

DE
Germany
Netherlands
Malaysia
MD

MA

TN

TN

PA

TN

NV

TN

FL

NY
Portugal
TN

DE

VA

DE

DE

DE

GA

DE
Poland
DE

NY

NY
Poland
DE

DE
Portugal
DE




Name

Extracorp Aktiengesellschaft
Fairfield Dialysis, LLC
Falcon, LLC

Fanthorp Dialysis, LLC
Farragut Dialysis, LLC

Fields Dialysis, LLC

Five Star Dialysis, LLC
Fjords Dialysis, LLC

Flagler Dialysis, LLC
Flamingo Park Kidney Center, Inc.
Flor Dialysis, LLC

Forester Dialysis, LLC

Fort Dialysis, LLC

Foss Dialysis, LLC

Freehold Artificial Kidney Center, LLC
Freeportbay Dialysis, LLC
Fremont Dialysis, LLC
Fullerton Dialysis Center, LLC
Gardenside Dialysis, LLC
Garmer Dialysis, LLC

Garrett Dialysis, LLC

Geyser Dialysis, LLC

Give Life Dialysis, LLC
Givhan Dialysis, LLC

Glacier Dialysis, LLC
Glassland Dialysis, LLC
Golden Dialysis, LLC

Golden Sun Bear, LLC
Goldendale Dialysis, LLC
Goliad Dialysis, LLC

Golden Sun Bear, LLC

Grand Home Dialysis, LLC
Great Dialysis, LLC

Greater Las Vegas Dialysis, LLC

Greater Los Angeles Dialysis Centers, LLC

Green County Dialysis, LLC
Green Desert Dialysis, LLC
Greenleaf Dialysis, LLC
Greenwood Dialysis, LLC
Griffin Dialysis, LLC
Griffs Dialysis, LLC

Grove Dialysis, LLC
Guntersville Dialysis, LLC
Hagerstown Dialysis, LLC
Hanford Dialysis, LLC
Harmony Dialysis, LLC
Harris Dialysis, LLC

Hart Dialysis, LLC
Hawaiian Gardens Dialysis, LLC

Structure

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
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Jurisdiction
of

Incorporation
Germany

DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
FL
DE
DE
DE
DE
NI
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE



Name

Hazelton Dialysis, LLC

HCP ACO California, LLC

HealthCare Partners Accountable Care Organization, LLC
HealthCare Partners Arizona, LLC
HealthCare Partners ASC-LB, LLC
HealthCare Partners Holdings, LLC
HealthCare Partners Nevada, Inc.
HealthCare Partners of Nevada, LLC
HealthCare Partners South Florida, LLC
HealthCare Partners, LLC

Heavener Dialysis, LLC

Heyburn Dialysis, LLC

Higbee Dialysis, LLC

Hills Dialysis, LLC

Hochatown Dialysts, LLC

Holiday Dialysis, LLC

Honey Dialysis, LLC

Honeyman Dialysis, LLC

Houston Acute Dialysis, L.P.

Houston Kidney Center/Total Renal Care Integrated Service Network

Limited Partnership
Humboldt Dialysis, LLC
Huntington Artificial Kidney Center, Ltd.
Huntington Park Dialysis, LLC
Hyattsville Dialysis, LLC
Hyde Dialysis, LLC
IDC International Dialysis Centers Lda.
Indian River Dialysis Center, LLC
Tonia Dialysis, LLC
ISD Bartlett, LLC
ISD Bends Dialysis, LLC
ISD Brandon, LLC
ISD Buffalo Grove, LLC
ISD Canton, LLC
ISD Corpus Christi, LLC
ISD I Holding Company, Inc.
ISD IT Holding Company, Inc.
ISD Kansas City, LLC
ISD Kendallville, LLC
ISD Las Vegas, LLC
ISD Lees Summit, LLC
1SD Plainficld, LLC
ISD Renal, Inc.
ISD Schaumburg, LLC
ISD Spring Valley, LLC
ISD Summit Renal Care, LLC
ISD Trenton, LLC

Structure

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership

Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
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Jurisdiction
of

Incorporation
DE

California
California
Arizona
California
California
Nevada
Nevada
Florida
California
DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE

DE
DE
NY
DE
DE
DE
Portugal
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
OH
DE



Name

Jacinto Dialysis, LLC

Jedburg Dialysis, LLC

Joliet Dialysis, LLC

Joshua Dialysis, LLC

JSA Healthcare Corporation

JSA Healthcare Nevada, LLC.
JSA Holdings, Inc.

JSA P5 Nevada, LLC.

Kavett Dialysis, LLC

Kearn Dialysis, LLC

Kenai Dialysis, LLC

Kidney Centers of Michigan, LLC
Kidney Home Center, LLC
Kimball Dialysis, LLC

Kinswa Dialysis, LLC
Knickerbocker Dialysis, Inc.
Kobuk Dialysis, LLC

Lakeshore Dialysis, LLC
Landing Dialysis, LLC

Lapham Dialysis, LLC

Las Olas De Sequoia, LLC

Las Vegas Pediatric Dialysis, LLC
Lassen Dialysis, LLC

Lathrop Dialysis, LLC

Latrobe Dialysis, LLC
Lawrenceburg Dialysis, LLC
Leasburg Dialysis, LLC

Liberty RC, Inc.

Lietor Sp. z 0.0.

Lifeline Pensacola, LLC

Lifeline Vascular Center of South Orlando, LLC
Lifeline Vascular Center — Orlando, LLC
Lighthousc Dialysis, LLC

Limon Dialysis, LLC

Lincoln Park Dialysis Services, Inc.
Lincolnton Dialysis, LLC

Little Rock Dialysis Centers, LLC
Livingston Dialysis, LLC

Llano Dialysis, LLC

Lockhart Dialysis, LLC

Lockport Dialysis, LLC

Lone Dialysis, LLC

Long Beach Dialysis Center, LLC
Longworth Dialysis, LLC

Lord Baltimore Dialysis, LLC
Lory Dialysis, LLC

Los Angeles Dialysis Center

Los Arcos Dialysis, LLC

Structure

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Partnership

Limited Liability Company
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Jurisdiction
of

Incorporation
DE

DE
DE
DE
DE
Nevada
DE
Nevada
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
NY
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
NY
Poland
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
L
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
CA
DE




Name

Loup Dialysis, LLC

Lourdes Dialysis, LLC

Lurleen Dialysis, LLC

Mahoney Dialysis, LLC

Mammoth Dialysis, LLC

Manzano Dialysis, LLC

Maple Grove Dialysis, LLC

Marlton Dialysis Center, LLC

Martin Dialysis, LLC

Marysville Dialysis Center, LLC
Mason-Dixon Dialysis Facilities, Inc.
Mayfield Dialysis, LLC

Medical Group Holding Company, LLC
Memorial Dialysis Center, L.P.

Mena Dialysis Center, LLC
Mendocino Dialysis, LLC

Mesilla Dialysis, LLC

Middlesex Dialysis Center, LLC

Milo Dialysis, LLC

Minam Dialysis, LLC

Mission Dialysis Services, LLC
Monahans Dialysis, LLC

Moncrief Dialysis Center/Total Renal Care Limited Partnership
Morro Dialysis, LLC

Mountain West Dialysis Services, LLC
Mulgee Dialysis, LLC

Munera Sp. Z.o.0.

Muskogee Dialysis, LLC

MVZ DaVita Dusseldorf GmbH

MVZ Dresden Betricbs GmbH

Nadell Dialysis, LLC

National Trail Dialysis, LLC
Natomas Dialysis, LLC

Neff Dialysis, LLC

Nephrology Medical Associates of Georgia, LLC
Neptune Artificial Kidney Center, LLC
New Bay Dialysis, LLC

New Springs Dialysis, LLC

Nisene Dialysis, LLC

North Austin Dialysis, LLC

North Colorado Springs Dialysis, LLC
Northwest Tucson Dialysis, LLC
Nucvo Dialysis, LLC

Qasis Dialysis, LLC

Ohio River Dialysis, LLC

Okanogan Dialysis, LLC

Olive Dialysis, LLC

Structure

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limitcd Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company

80of 12

Jurisdiction
of

Incorporation
DE

DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
MD
DE
NM
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
Poland
DE
Germany
Germany
DE
DE
DE
DE
-DE
NJ
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE




Name

Open Access Lifeline, LLC
Orange Dialysis, LLC

Osage Dialysis, LLC

Owasso Dialysis, LLC

Pacheco Dialysis, LLC

Paladina Health, LLC

Palmetto Dialysis, LLC

Palomar Dialysis, LLC

Parker Dialysis, LLC

Patch Dialysis, LLC

Patient Pathways, LLC

Patoka Dialysis, LLC

Peaks Dialysis, LLC

Pearl Dialysis, LLC

Pckin Dialysis, LLC

Percha Dialysis, LLC

Pfeiffer Dialysis, LLC
Physicians Choice Dialysis of Alabama, LLC
Physicians Dialysis Acquisitions, Inc.
Physicians Dialysis of Houston, LLP
Physicians Dialysis of Lancaster, LLC
Physicians Dialysis Ventures, Inc
Physicians Dialysis, Inc.

Pible Dialysis, LLC

Pike Dialysis, LLC

Pine Dialysis, LLC

Pittsburg Dialysis Partners, LLC
Plaine Dialysis, LLC

Plateau Dialysis, LLC

Platte Dialysis, LLC

Pobello Dialysis, LLC

Pointe Dialysis, LLC

Ponca Dialysis, LLC

Ponderosa Dialysis, LLC

Portola Dialysis, LLC

Powerton Dialysis, LLC

Priday Dialysis, LLC

Prineville Dialysis, LLC

Prings Dialysis, LLC

Quality Dialysis Care Sdn. Bhd.
Rainer Dialysis, LLC

Rancho Dialysis, LLC

Rayburn Dialysis, LLC

Red Willow Dialysis, LLC
Redcliff Dialysis, LLC

Reef Dialysis, LLC

Refuge Dialysis, LLC

Renal Clinic Of Houston, LLC
Renal Life Link, Inc.

Structare
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limitcd Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Private Company

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation
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Jurisdiction
of

Incorporation
DE

CA
DE
DE
DE
DE
- DE
DE .
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
TX
PA
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
Malaysia
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE




Name
Renal Treatment Centers—California, Inc.

Renal Treatment Centers—Illinois, Inc.
Renal Treatment Centers, Inc.

Renal Treatment Centers—Mid-Atlantic, Inc.

Renal Treatment Centers—Northeast, Inc.
Renal Treatment Centers—Southeast, L.P.
Renal Treatment Centers—West, Inc.
Rickwood Dialysis, LLC

Riddle Dialysis, LLC

Rio Dialysis, LLC

Ripley Dialysis, LLC

Rita Ranch Dialysis, LLC

River Valley Dialysis, LLC

RMS Lifeline, Inc.

RNA-DaVita Dialysis, LLC
Robinson Dialysis, LLC

Rochester Dialysis Center, LLC
Rocky Mountain Dialysis Services, LLC
Roose Dialysis, LLC

Ross Clark Circle Dialysis, LLC
Roushe Dialysis, LLC

Royale Dialysis, LLC

Rusk Dialysis, LLC

Russell Dialysis, LLC

Rye Dialysis, LLC

Saddleback Dialysis, LLC
SafeHarbor Dialysis, LLC

Sahara Dialysis, LLC
SAKDC-DaVita Dialysis Partners, L.P.
Sandusky Dialysis, LLC

San Marcos Dialysis, LLC

Sandlin Dialysis, LLC

Sands Dialysis, LLC

Santa Fe Springs Dialysis, LLC
Santiam Dialysis, LLC

Sapelo Dialysis, LLC

Seasons Dialysis, LLC

Seminole Dialysis, LLC

Seneca Dialysis, LLC

Shadow Dialysis, LLC

Shayano Dialysis, LLC

Sherman Dialysis, LLC

Shining Star Dialysis, Inc.

Shoals Dialysis, LLC

Siena Dialysis Center, LLC
Silverwood Dialysis, LLC

Simeon Dialysis, LLC

Skagit Dialysis, LLC

Soledad Dialysis Center, LLC

Structure

Corporation

Corporation

Corporation

Corporation

Corporation

Limited Partnership
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
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Jurisdiction
of

Incorporation
DE

DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
NJ
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE




Name

Somerville Dialysis Center, LLC

South Central Florida Dialysis Partners, LLC
South Fork Dialysis, LLC

South Shore Dialysis Center. L.P.
Southcrest Dialysis, LLC

Southern Colorado Joint Ventures, LLC
Southern Hills Dialysis Center, LLC
Southlake Dialysis, LLC

Southwest Atlanta Dialysis Centers, LLC
Southwest Indiana Dialysis, LLC
Southwest Kidney-DaVita Dialysis Partners, LLC
Springs Dialysis, LLC

St. Luke’s Dialysis, LLC

Star Dialysis, LLC

Steam Dialysis, LLC

Steele Dialysis, LLC

Stevenson Dialysis, LLC

Stewart Dialysis, LLC

Stines Dialysis, LLC

Storrie Dialysis, LLC

Strongsville Dialysis, LLC

Sugarite Dialysis, LLC

Sugarloaf Dialysis, LLC

Summer Dialysis, LLC

Summit Dialysis Center, L.P.

Sun City Dialysis Center, LLC

Sun City West Dialysis Center LLC

Sun Desert Dialysis, LLC

Sunset Dialysis, LLC

Talimena Dialysis, LLC

Tannor Dialysis, LLC

Taylor Dialysis, LLC

Tel-Huron Dialysis, LLC

Tennessee Valley Dialysis Center, LLC
Teton Dialysis, LLC

The Woodlands Dialysis Center, L.P.
Tortugas Dialysis, LLC

Total Renal Care/Crystal River Dialysis, L.C.

Total Renal Care/Eaton Canyon Dialysis Center Partnership

Total Renal Care, Inc.

Total Renal Care North Carolina, LLC
Total Renal Care Texas Limited Partnership
Total Renal Laboratories, Inc.

Total Renal Research, Inc.

Townsend Dialysis, LLC

Transmountain Dialysis, L.P.

TRC-Dyker Heights, L.P.

Structure

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company

- Limited Partnership

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Partnership

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Partnership
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Jurisdiction
of
Incorporation
DE

DE
DE
'DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
FL
CA
CA
DE
DE
FL
DE
DE
DE
NY




Name

TRC-Four Comers Dialysis Clinics, LLC
TRC-Georgetown Regional Dialysis LLC
TRC-Indiana LLC
TRC-Petersburg, LLC

TRC El Paso Limited Partnership
TRC of New York, Inc.

TRC West, Inc.

Tree City Dialysis, LLC

Tugman Dialysis, LLC

Tulsa Dialysis, LLC

Tumalo Dialysis, LLC

Turlock Dialysis Center, LLC
Tustin Dialysis Center, LLC
Tyler Dialysis, LLC

Ukiah Dialysis, LLC

Unicoi Dialysis, LLC

University Dialysis Center, LLC
Upper Valley Dialysis, L.P
USC-DaVita Dialysis Center, LLC
UT Southwestern DVA Healthcare, LLP
Valley Springs Dialysis, LLC
Verde Dialysis, LLC

Victory Dialysis, LLC
VillageHealth DM, LLC
Villanueva Dialysis, LLC

Walker Dialysis, LLC

Wallowa Dialysis, LLC

Wakoni Dialysis, LLC

Wauseon Dialysis, LLC

Wesley Chapel Dialysis, LLC
West Elk Grove Dialysis, LLC
West Sacramento Dialysis, LLC
Weston Dialysis Center, LLC
Whitney Dialysis, LLC

Wilder Dialysis, LLC
Willowbrook Dialysis Center, L.P.
Windcreek Dialysis, LLC

Winds Dialysis, LLC

Wood Dialysis, LLC

Wooten Dialysis, LLC

Wyandotte Central Dialysis, LLC
Wyler Dialysis, LLC

Yargol Dialysis, LLC

Ybor City Dialysis, LLC

Yucaipa Dialysis, LLC
Zephyrhills Dialysis Center, LLC

Structure

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Corporation

Corporation

Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Partnership
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
Limited Liability Company
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Jurisdiction
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Incorporation
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DE
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NY
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
DE
CA
TX
DE
DE
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Forms S-8 (No. 333-190434, No. 333-169467, No. 33-84610, No. 33-
83018, No. 33-99862, No. 33-99864, No. 333-01620, No. 333-34693, No. 333-34695, No. 333-46887, No. 333-75361, No. 333-56149, No. 333-30734,
No. 333-30736, No. 333-63158, No. 333-86550, No. 333-86556, No. 333-144097 and No. 333-158220), Form S-4 (No. 333-182572) and Forms S-3 (No.
333-169690 and No. 333-183285) of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. of our reports dated February 21, 2014, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets
of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2013, and related financial statement schedule, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, which reports appear in the December 31, 2013 annual report on Form 10-K

of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.
/s/  KPMGLLP

Scattlc, Washington
February 21, 2014




Exhibit 31.1

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Kent J. Thiry, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and ] are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and we have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

~ purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting,

/s/  KENT J. THIRY

Kent J. Thiry
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 21, 2014




Exhibit 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

1, Garry E. Menzel, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the

registrant and we have:

(@ Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal contro! over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide rcasonable assurancc rcgarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extcrnal
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have discloscd, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

/S/  GARRY E. MENZEL

Garry E. Menzel
Chicf Financial Officer

- Date: February 21, 2014



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2013 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Periodic Report™), I, Kent J. Thiry, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18.U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Periodic Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

/S/  KENT J. THIRY

Kent J. Thiry
Chicf Executive Officer

February 21, 2014




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of DaVita HealthCare Paitners Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2013 as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Periodic Report™), I, Garry E. Menzel, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18.U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Periodic Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2.

The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/S/  GARRY E. MENZEL
Garry E. Menzel

Chicf Financial Officer
February 21, 2014




